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RESPONSIBILITIES OF BROADCASTING LICENSEES
AND STATION PERSONNEL

MONDAY, FEBRUARY 8, 1960

House oF REPRESENTATIVES,
SPECIAL SUBCOMMITTEE 0N LEGISLATIVE OVERSIGHT
oF THE COMMITTEE ON INTERSTATE AND FOREIGN CoMMERCE,
Washington, D.C.

The special subcommittee met, pursuant to call, at 10 a.m., in the
caucus room, Old House Office building, Hon. Oren Harris (chair-
man of the special subcommittee) presiding.

Present: Representatives Harris (presiding), Mack, Rogers of
Texas, Moss, Bennett, Springer, Derounian, and Devine.

Also present: Robert %V E?shman, chief counsel; Herman C. Beas-
ley, chief clerk to the special subcommittee; Beverly M. Coleman,
%rincipal attorney; Jack Marshall Stark, minority counsel; Oliver

astland, chief investigator; and James P. Kelly, investigator.

The Ciarryan. The committee will come to order.,

Today the Special Subcommittee on Legislative Oversight begins
hearings and I wish to now announce the schedule.

Pursuant to a commitment of the committee of last N ovember, the
hearings today are related primarily to the question of payola, and
other matters relating thereto

At its hearings in November 1959, the subcommittee learned from
Max Hess, owner of the Hess Bros. Department Store, of Allentown,
Pa., about numerous secret payments made to obtain plugs for that
store, or its wares, on radio and television programs. Hess testified
that this “is a common practice.”

At the close of those hearings, a letter was inserted into the record
which alleged that commercial bribery has become a prime factor in
determining what music is played in many broadcast programs and
what musical records the pu%lic is surreptitiously induced to buy.

Since that time, the subcommittee has been flooded with complaints
from all parts of the country about this, and related practices,
whereby the selection of material sent over the airwaves 1as been
influenced by undisclosed economic inducements. When this hap-
pens, we are told, the public interest suffers in many ways. The
quality of broadcast programs declines when the choice of program
materials is made, not in the public Interest, but in the interest of
those who are willing to pay to obtain exposure of their records.
The public is misled as to the popularity of the records played.

Moreover, these practices constitute unfair competition with honest
businessmen who refuse to engage in them. They tend to drive out
of business small firms who %ac the means to survive this unfair
competition.

1



2 RESPONSIBILITIES OF BROADCASTING LICENSEES

Under House Resolution 56, 86th Congress, this subcommittee is
charged with the responsibility of investigating advertising, fair com-
petition and labeling, and the administration and enforcement by
departments and agencies of the Government of provisions of law
relatig to subjects within the jurisdiction of the Committee on Inter-
state and Foreign Commerce. Therefore, it has a duty to investigate
these complaints to determine whether practices are being followed
which are contrary to the public interest, and if so, whether they can
be prevented by a diligent enforcement of existing laws or whether
additional legislation is necessary.

In the hearings beginning this morning, the inquiry will be directed
to four major questions:

1. Payments to licensees and employees thereof to obtain the broad-
casting of material for the commercial advantage of the payor, with-
out having any announcement made of such payments.

2. Unfair advantages obtained by manufacturers, distributors and
others through the use of licensed facilities for the broadcasting of
hidden commercials and presentation of material intended to deceive
the viewing and listening public.

3. Misrepresentation to prospective advertisers that they will be
served more advantageously and economically through the use of a
particular licensed broadcasting station than t irough the use of other
advertising media.

4. The extent to which station licensees are delegating control to
others of the type of material broadcast.

The subcommittee has not, and I repeat, has not prejudged anfy of
these matters. 'The object of these hearings is to learn what the facts
are. Since the subcommittee’s only purpose is to obtain information
necessary for the discharging of its legislative duties, it has not under-
taken an exhaustive inquiry, indeed, there has not been sufficient time
or personnel, into all the cases of alleged wrongdoing which have come
to its attention. Its purpose, rather, is to look into representative
situations which will reveal the nature and scope of the problem.

The last 2 or 3 days it has been called to my attention there is great
concern in the fact that the subcommittee may be singling out one or
two persons or a particular station or a particular situation. I do not
know where such rumors or reports started, but they are wholly un-
founded, and I sincerely hope that those who are concerned will realize
that it is not the subcommittee’s objective to single out any particular
place, area, group, station, or party involved.

We are after, as I have said, the facts, to determine if we can, a
pattern in this particular matter. I want that to be made very clear
at the outset.

The hearings scheduled for this week are but the beginning. At
a later date the subcommittee will hold hearings concerning these
practices in Pennsylvania and man{{other parts of the country.

The first witness this morning is Mr. Norman Prescott. Mr. Pres-
cott has requested the committee for an executive session. I have a
wire under date of February 7, 1960, at 2:07 p.m. which reads in
part as follows:

The undersigned, having been summoned to appear before your committee on
Monday, February 7, 1960 hereby requests an executive hearing as provided for
under the rules of the House.
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That comes under rule X1, 26, Rules of the House of Representa-
tives, paragraph (m), and I quote for the record :

If the committee determines that evidence or testimony of an investigative
hearing may tend to defame, degrade, or incriminate any person, it shall-—

(1) Receive such evidence or testimony in executive session ;

(2) Afford such person an opportunity voluntarily to appear as a wit-
ness; and

(3) Receive and dispose of requests from such persons to subpena addi-
tional witnesses.

In view of the official request which the committee has received,
and in view of the rules of the House, we must go into executive ses-
sion with the committee for the purpose of determining whether or
not such request shall be granted. Therefore, the subcommittee will
recess this hearing for the moment and will retire into executive ses-
sion. T assume that it will probably take an hour, or something like
that, for the information of those present who are interested in that.
Therefore, we are at recess in this hearing, and the committee will
retire to its committee room for an executive session.

(Whereupon, at 10:20 a.m., the committee went into executive ses-
sion in room 1334, New House Office Building.)

The special subcommittee met, pursuant to call, at 10:25 a.m., in
room 1334, Old House Office Building, Hon. Oren Harris (chairman
of the special subcommittee) presiding, a quorum being present.

(The testimony taken at this executive session was released by the
subcommittee by vote taken February 17, 1960.)

The CrairMaN. The committee will come to order.

Are you Mr. Prescott ?

Mr. Prescorr. Yes, sir; I am.

The CHairmaN. Mr. Prescott, I have a wire purported to be one of
yours from Palm Beach, Fla., dated February 7, 1960, received 2:07

.m., requesting an executive hearing under the Rules of the House.
s this your request ?

Mr. Prescort. Yes,sir. I sentthe wire yesterday.

The Cuamrman. Will you be sworn ?

Mr. Prescorr. Yes, sir.

The Cuamrman. Do you solemnly swear that the testimony you will
give to this subcommittee will be the truth, the whole truth, and
nothing but the truth, so help you God ?

Mr. Prescorr. I do.

The Cuairyan. Have a seat, Mr. Prescott.

Mr. Prescorr. Thank you.

TESTIMONY OF NORMAN PRESCOTT, NEWTON, MASS.

The Cuamnan. Mr. Prescott, what is your home address?

Mr. Prescorr. I live in Newton, Mass.

The CHAIRMAN., Where?

Mr. Prescorr. Newton, Mass. 1, also, spend 3 or 4 days a week in
New York. My business takes me there.

The CHaRMAN. What is your business?

Mr. Prescorr. I now work for Embassy Pictures which is, pri-
marily, a motion picture production and releasing company.

The CrarmaN. You have an attorney present, is that true?

Mr. Prescorr. Yes; I do.
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The CraIrRMAN. For the record I think that he had better state his
name and address. :

Mr. Kvarrerp. My name is Myron Klarfeld, attorney at law, 20
Pemberton Square, Boston.

The CHAIRMAN. Are you familiar with the rules of procedure based
on the rules of the House ?

Mr. KLARFELD. Yes, Mr. Chairman. I have had an opportunity to
read the rules prior to coming to this session this morning.

The CuatryaN. You, therefore, are aware of vhe fact that under
the rules a witness may be accompanied by counsel for the purpose of:
advising him of his constitutional rights?

Mr. Krarrerp. Yes, sir.

The Cramman. Very well. Mr. Prescott, the rules of the House
provide that if the committee determines that evidence or testimony
will tend to defame, degrade, or incriminate a person it shall:

(1) Receive such evidence or testimony in executive session; (2) afford such
a person an opportunity voluntarily to appear as a witness ; and (3) receive and
dispose of requests from such person to subpena additional witnesses.

Do you feel that the testimony you give to this subcommittee would
come within the provision of the rule just read ?

Mr. Prescorr. Yes, sir; I do. -

The Cuamryman. That is the reason that you make the request to be
heard in executive session ?

Mr. Prescorr. Yes, sir. :

The Cuammax. I think a copy of the subpena should be included
in the record. And it will so be included at this point in the record,
unless there is objection.

(The document referred to follows:)

By AUTHORITY OF THE HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES OF THE CONGRESS OF THE
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

To

You are hereby commanded to summon Norm Prescott, also known as Norman
Pransky to be and appear before the Special Subcommittee on Legislative Over-
gights (vested under authority of House Res. 56 and 136 86th Congress) of the
Interstate and Foreign Commerce Committee of the House of Representatives of
the United States, of which Committee and Subcommittee Honorable Oren Harris
is chairman, in their chamber in the city of Washington, on Monday, February
8, 1960 at the hour of 9:30 a.m., then and there to testify touching matters of
inquiry committed to said Committee, and he is not to depart without leave of
said Subcommittee.

Herein fail not, and make return of this summons.

Witness my hand and the seal of the House of Representatives of the United
States at the city of Washington, this 8th day of January, 1960.

[sEAL] OREN HARRIS,

Chairman.

Subpena for Norman Prescott before the Committee on the 8th day of Feb-
ruary 1960.

Served 3 p.m., January 23, 1960 Rockefeller Center, 1270 6th Avenue, New
York City.

By : James P. Kelly.

The CrammaN. Mr. Prescott, is it your position that your testi-
mony might defame, degrade or incriminate someone ?

Mr. Prescorr. Yes, it is.

The Caarman. Other than yourself?

Mr. Prescorr. Yes, sir.
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The Crairuan. Mr. Lishman, I believe that you can proceed.

Mr. Krarrerp. I would like to make a short statement off the rec-
ord, if I may—a very brief one to yourself and the members of your
committee regarding my client, Mr. Prescott, with your permission,
sir.

The 7CHAIRMAN. You say that you would like to make this off the
record ?

Mr. Krarrerp. I do not think the contents of my statement would
affect materially the testimony that my client is going to give and,
therefore, I request that, perhaps, if the chairman feels it should be
on the record it may be taken, if not it does not particularly make
any difference to me, but in my own opinion I do not think it will
affect what will transpire here.

The CrairyaN. We will put it on the record, and then if we feel
1t is appropriate to do so, we can take it out.

Mr. Kuarrerp., Yes, this is our second trip to Washington, Mr.
Chairman. And my client’s position in the business world to(iay is
of such a delicate nature, with regard to this particular hearing, that
I would like to make two requests in his behaf)f for the chairman and
the committee to consider, at the conclusion of the evidence given by
my client today.

The first would be, considering what he will testify to, the com-
mittee and the chairman would use their sound discretion with rela-
tion to his testimony as to other persons.

" And my second request in behalf of my client is, if it is at all pos-
sible we should like to be excused, if we can be of no further assistance
to the committee.

Thank you.

The Cramyax. I think that in view of the request that it should
remain on the record.

Proceed, Mr. Lishman. _

Mr. Lisaman. Before beginning an interrogation of the witness, I
should like the record to be clear, that as a result of the work of our
investigators before they interviewed Mr. Prescott, they discovered a
considerable amount of documentary proof revealing t¥1at Mr. Pres-
‘cott was an active participant in many different practices which, ap-
parently, go on in the field of payola. I think the record should show
that Mr. Prescott seriously debated, as to whether he would appear
here, because he felt originally that he would be accused of putting
the finger on someone. As a matter of fact, according to the docu-
mentary proof we had already discovered we were able to confront Mr.
Prescott at every turn with facts from these documents. So the re-
sult is, that this morning I think we are in the position where we can

roceed with leading questions of Mr. Prescott and to introduce the
cplocuments which support the conclusions that may be drawn from his
answers.

Mr. Prescott, prior to July 1959, you were employed, were you not,
as a diskjockey on radio station WBZ and television station WBZ-
TV?

Mr. Prescorr. Yes, I was.
Mr. Lisaman. Before that you worked at station WNEW—what
kind of station was that?
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Mr. Prescorr. That was an independent station in New York, pri-
marily on news, et cetera, and I worked for them almost a year while
I was going to school in New York in 1955.

Mr. Lisuman. Is it a fact that you also broadcast some tapes on
WORL?

Mr. Prescorr. Yes, I did—I also—

Mr. Lisaman. Where is WORL located ?

Mr. Prescorr. That is a Boston radio station; also, an independent
music and news station, where I was employed from 1950 through
1954, and for 3 or 4 months simultaneously while working at WNEW
in New York.

Mr. LisumaN. What were your duties during that period ¢

Mr. Prescorr. My prime duties on the air?

Mr. LisuMAaN. Yes.

Mr. Prescorr. To play records and perform the duties of what we,
you know, consider the duties of a diskjockey.

Mr. Lisuman. What are those duties?

Mr. Prescort. There are different interpretations of them. A disk-
jockey, primarily, from my point of view, is the fellow who plays
Ehonogra h records, talks about the phonograph records and tries to

e generally entertaining to his audience.

Mr. LisuimaN. And from October 1950, to December 1954, you were
employed by WORL, is that correct ¢

Mr. PrescotT. Yes.

Mr. Lisiman. In February 1948, you obtained a position with
WHDH in Boston ?

Mr. Prescorr. Yes, I was with them for roughly 3 years.

Mr. Listiatan. What were your duties with that station ¢

Mr. Prescort. At that time I was a staff announcer, and my duties
were, generally I did everything, sports, news programs, diskjockey
shows, interviews, et cetera, until I finally felt that my capabilities
were better directed in the diskjockey field of the business, and from
that point I began to specialize in diskjockey work.

Mr2 Lisuman. Did you remain with that station until February
1950 ¢

Mr. Prescorr. T was with WHDH until 2 weeks prior to October
of 1950, when I joined WORL.

Mr. Lisuman. Is it a fact that you have been employed almost 12
years as a diskjockey at various radio and TV stations in Boston, and
for a short period in New York?

Mr. Prescorr. Yes, sir.

Mr. Lisivan. You left employment with station WBZ in Boston
in July 1959, is that correct ?

Mr. Prescorr. Yes, sir.

Mr. Lisuman. And did you not leave WBZ and conclude your ca-
reer as a diskjockey chiefly because you were disgusted with the payola
conditions in the industry ?

Mr. Prescorr. Mr. Lishman, I was not only disgusted with the
payola conditions, but I, frankly—and I admit this—that for the
8 or 9 years of my career, I feel that I performed in an idealistic
capacity, and I had no guilt feelings about doing anything improper.
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The last 2, 215 years of my career, as I explained it to myself, I
apparently became contaminated by the situation and was just so dis-
gusted with myself and with the industry that I wanted to walk away
from it, because I think something happens to every man when he
realizes somewhere in his life that he is no longer just an immature
boy, having a lot of fun, but he now has the responsibilities of a
parent, an({D he does not want to reflect in any way on his family some
of the things that he is ashamed of.

1 was ashamed of myself; I was ashamed of the industry; and I
walked away from it for that reason.

The Cuairman. Pardon the interruption, Counsel.

What industry are you talking about ¢

Mr. Prescorr. The radio industry I am talking about. T have seen
what happened to it from the time I broke into it in 1947. And in a
general simple way it has become a deplorable situation.

The Cratrman. When you talk about payola, what do you mean
by the term “payola”?

Mr. Prescorr. Well, payola exists in many different fashions. It
is almost big business, so far as I can see, because it is the only way
that you can honestly exist today in terms of the manufacturer, pub-
lisher, or an artist.

The opportunities without payola are very limited in this business,
because it seems that in the last 5 years, which have been the big years
of radio, with the diminishing importance of network radio and the
sudden rise of independent radio, everything today is based on the
phonograph record. It is the backbone of the radio station.

And because of the tremendous output of records, and the fierce
competition that exists within the industry, it is a matter of who
can play what, when there is a limited amount of play on the air.
And so now bribery, payola, has become the prime function of this
business to get the record on the air at any cost and to dispose of it
because if you do not, you cannot sell it, you cannot get individual
income.

The Cuarrman. Do you consider payola a form of bribery, then?

Mr. Prescorr. I think it is a form of moral or immoralrgribery;

es, sir.
v The CrarMaN. All right.

You may proceed, Counsel.

Mr. Lisiiman. During approximately the last 4 years of your em-
ployment as a_diskjockey, you accepted payola from various persons
or companies interested in the manufacture, distribution, and sale of
phonograph records, did you not ¢

Mr. Prescort. Yes; Idid, Mr. Lishman.

Mr, Lisuman. When did you first begin to consider taking pay-
ments from record manufacturers, distributors, or promoters for the
playm% of phonograph records on a radio or television station ?

Mr. Prescorr. 1 would say during the period of my last 214 years
in radio.

Mr. Lisuyan. When did you decide to begin accepting payola?

Mr. Prescorr. Just about that time. I would like to qualify that
by simply saying that it was all around me, more so than ever at that
time, and it was very difficult for me to say “No* to it.
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Mr. LisumaN. When you say it was all around you, what do you
mean by that?

Mr. Prescorr. Well, during the course of an average week on the
air in my personal case, I think I received a great deal of offers of
money or gifts to play particular phonograph records. I had my
own personal philosophy about it. I do not want to go into it now,
unless you find it is important later on. But it was around me, and
I am sure it was around everybody else.

Mr. Lisayan. From whom did you receive these offers?

Mr. Prescort. Distributors, publishers, personal managers.

Mr. Lisunan. Of the talent,g

Mr. Prescorr. Of the talent—record companies. I would say that,
generally, from those areas.

- The CramMan. The distributors of what?

Mr. Prescorr. Phonograph records.

Mr. Lisuman. Well, do you wish to add to your testimony con-
cerning the reasons in your opinion why phonograph record manu-
facturers, distributors, promoters, and salesmen were willing to give
payola to diskjockeys, program directors, record librarians, and
others in the position of influencing the programing of phonograph
records on radio and television stations?

Mr. Prescorr. Well, if I can take a typical 4-hour segment on the
radio station—assuming that a diskjockey is on the air from 2 to 6,
the average amount of records that he can play in any 1 hour is
generally speaking roughly 12 to 14 records. That means that over
a total period of 4 hours he might be able to play, roughly, 50 or 52
records. When you stop to analyze that you receive close to 200
sides every week, and you can expose only a certain amount of rec-
ords on a 4-hour show, and one exposure 1s not significant any more,
although it was many years ago, because the so-called radio pie is
so subdivided by so many stations that are playing phonograph
records that you have to——and I think most diskjockeys will agree—
generally play a record for a period of, at least, 4 to 6 weeks today.
At one time you could play records for 3 or 4 days, and you suddenly
got a tremendous reaction on the distributor level, and it would re-
flect in the retail sales.

So because you have to stay with the record for a long period of
time and keep in mind the exposure of it, it is almost impossible to
play the big percentage of the output by the manufacturers. That
1s why payola is functioning today and will continue to function if
something is not done about it, because you have got to get it on the
air. That is the basic premise.

And if it costs money to do it, let us spend the money, and now it
it becoming a case of where a play would bring in maybe $20 or $25
for a couple of weeks period—the competition becoming so fierce that
people are spending $50 and $100 and $150, because they know that
the remuneration on the record, if it is a sell, can mean an awful lot
of money—they could easily recoup what they have invested in getting
it played and establish them with the company. And if they es-
tablish themselves, at the same time they have valuable property that
can go on for a long period.
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Mr. Lismman. During your long experience as diskjockey did
you become aware of station licensees and management views to-
wards payola?

Mr. Y’Rmsco'rr. I would like to answer that question and give my
own %Jersonal opinion.

I, frankly, feel that up until these hearings were brought to light
and the whole payola situation became public that most station man-
agers—and again I qualify this, in my own opinion—were not aware
of the fact t%at payola existed to any great extent. And I do not
think they understood its functions, because there is a marked differ-
ence between the executive staff and the talent staff of a radio station.
And many of them, in my personal relationship—and I do not say
this in their defense—I just Ezel that they never really were interested
in the diskjockey and the distributor and the phonograph manufac-
turer, because they never took the time to become interested in it.

Mr. Lisuman. Is it a fact that the licensee and management are
aware of the payola situation ?

Mr. Prescorr. They are now. They should have been a long time
ago.

gThe Citaryman. I hope that you do not mind an interruption. Let
us try to keep the record clear, if we can, as we go along. You used
that in general terms, Mr. Prescott, about the attitude and the pos-
sibility of the station licensee’s knowledge. Are you trying to indicate
that this situation exists among all radio stations?

Mr. Prescorr. Noj; I cannot go so far as to say that, but I can say
that it exists—you are talking about what attitude and now, Mr, Chair-
man—TI am sorry.

The Crmamman. The attitude of the management. You said that
they should have known a long time ago. .

Mr. Prescort. Noj; I cannot say that for all stations, I say that for
some stations. I know that in my experience, occasionally somebody
would say, “I hope you fellows are not takin payola” and brush it off
like that, and then there were other cases where management would
say, “What is this thing payola that I hear about ?”

You know, is seemed to be a situation where nobody took it seriously.

The Crratrman. Were those inquiries within the last few months
or were they inquiries made from a year or 2 or 3 years ago?

Mr. Prescorr. I am going back to the very inception of payola
which I think started back in 1947, when the record business really
began to flash at that point. I think that was the beginning of the
growing years for the record business, that is what I am talking
about—I am not talking about the situation as it exists now,

The Cnamrman. Did you apply the term “payola” then?

Mr. Prescorr. In 1947¢

The CHAIRMAN. Yes.

Mr. Prescorr. It existed then. That was the beginning of it.

The CuarMAN. You may proceed.

Mr. Prescorr. Of course, it existed before that in terms of the
situation which was different. And, of course, that goes back to the
band leader, when it was customary for the song plugger to walk up to
a famous player and slip him an envelope with some money in it and
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say, “Look, you have got a coast to coast show and you will be heard
by millions of people here tonight—why not get my song on?®”

I think that is the counterpart of payola, except the form of promot-
ing the song in those days was different, because the independent radio
station was not an important factor pre-1945, let us say.

Mr. Lisuman. Mr. Prescott, do you know whether it is true that
station licensees and management personnel engage in certain practices
with respect to advertising which might fall within the definition of
“payola ¢”

Mr. Prescorr. Yes, I do, Mr. Lishman.

Mr. Lisuman. Could you describe what those practices are?

Mr. Prescorr. I have witnessed competitive situations in selling
radio time in my career, situations such as the following:: For instance,
a motion picture is being released in an area by the distributor through
his advertising agency who is being allocated X number of dollars
to be spent on radio for the promotion of that movie. If the picture
is a musical, and there are two or three songs in it, and phonograph
records are available, many a salesman will walk over to the agency
and say, “If you buy time on our station we will not only deliver the
1-minute spot but we will, also, back it up with a guaranteed play of
one of the songs from the Picture. We will, also, spot the song several
times throughout the day.” And let ussa that every plug for thesong
you mention for the papers you will get that amount of extra exposure
and promotion for the dollars spent. I have seen that happen on oc-
casion.

Mr. Lisnaan. Could you name any station where you saw this
occur?

Mr. Prescorr. I was told while under the employee of WHDH in
Boston and WBZ by one of the sales people there in charge, either
through a memorandum or verbally, to make sure that I followed each
commercial with, at least, one of these songs from a musical picture, or
that T make sure that I play the song once a day, every day on the show
for a period of time while they were on the air.

Mr. Lismax. Is it correct that in that connection station manage-
ment had a bulletin put on the announcers’ bulletin board to that
effect?

Mr. Prescort. Yes, they did.

Mr. Tasiiaan. Directing you to do that?

Mr. Prescorr. Yes.

Mr. Lisiiyan. And do you know of the Music Suppliers of New
England, Ine.?

Mr. Prescorr. Yes, I do.

Mr. ILasiax. Do you know that Music Suppliers, from your own
experience, was one of the principal sources of payola among record
distributors in Boston?

Mr. Prescort. Yes, they were. ) )

Mr. Lisian. Are you familiar with Dumont Record Distributing
Corp. in Boston ?

Mr. Prescort. Yes, I am.

. Mr. Lisian. And is that, also, another principal source of payola
among the record distributors in the Boston area !

Mr. Prescorr. They were.
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MaN. Are you familiar with Records, Inc., in Boston?
scorT. Yes, I am.
s+ IMAN. And is it not also another principal source for the
§4\,‘n of payola in the Boston area ?
~scorr. It is.
1iMAN. How would these companies proceed to make their
ients of payola?
tesCOTT. They could do it in several ways. It all depended
» relationship of the distributor with the diskjocke , on both
ss and social level. Some distributors carried a diskjockey
Jayroll and sent him a check every week for X number of
o There are other times when a distributor would confront a
~wskjockey and say, “Here is the record, lay on it for at least 2 or 3
weeks, and this is for you.” Or from time to time during the course
of the year gifts would arrive at the homes of diskjockeys. And that
becomes a_qualitative way of evaluating whether or not it was for
prior services or for future services, but it comes under the same
heading.

Mr. Lisnaan. Mr. Prescott, to clarify the record, what was the
name of the station on which the announcement was made on the disk-
jockey bulletin board that he should lay on certain records?

Mr. Prescorr. That was WHDH.

Mr. Lisuman. WHDH ¢

Mr. Prescorr. Yes.

Mr. Lisuyman. Mr. Chairman, at this point I would like to have
Mzr. Keelan, who is an accountant on loan to this subcommittee from
the Greneral Accounting Office, who has, as the result of an investiga-
tion of the books of the three record distributors just mentioned, made
a computation showing the amount that these companies have paid to
diskjockeys, including Mr. Prescott, and I think it would expedite the
hearings if we could have Mr. Keelan sworn and have him read into
the record at this point the computations that he has made from these
records, subpenaed by the committee, and then we will proceed to
back up that tetsimony with photostatic copies of canceled checks
received by Mr. Prescott.

The CriamrmaN. Where are the records from?

Mr. Lisirnan. These records were subpenaed from Music Suppliers,
Dumont Record Distributing Co., and Records, Inc. Through the
use of the subpenaed records and other subpenaed material, we were
able, in eftect—I do not like to use the word—we were able, in effect,
to compel Mr. Prescott to testify the way he is doing this morning.
It was not until he realized that he was being confronted with docu-
mentary proof that he began to feel that the time had come when he
would have to speak up.

The CiramyaN. Do you have a copy of that report ?

Mr. LisnmaN. There are copies of these in each member’s folder.

The Citatryan. We have it.

Will you be sworn ?

Do you solemnly swear that the testimony you are about to give
this subcommittee will be the truth, the whole truth, and nothing but
the truth, so help you God?

Mr. Keeran. I do.

The Crrairyan. You may proceed.
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TESTIMONY OF DONALD R. KEELAN

Mr. Lisnyman, Will you state your name for the record ?

Mr. Keevan. Donald Keelan.

Mr. LisnyaN. Mr. Keelan, would you state your occupation, pi

Mr. Keeran. I am an employee of the U.S. General Accoun.
Office in Boston.

Mr. Lisuman. And you were assigned on loan to act as an account
ing investigator for this subcommittee, is that correct ?

Mr. Keevan. That is correct.

Mr. LisumaN. At what time was that assignment given to you?

Mr. Keevan. That assignment was given to me approximately
January 4, this year.

Mr. II—{ISHMAN. In carrying out your duties under that assignment,
did you investigate the books and records of Music Suppliers, Inc.?

Mr. Keean. Yes, I did.

Mr. LisumaN. Did you also investigate the books and records of
DuMont Records Distributing Corporation ¢

Mr. Keevan. I obtained a list from the attorney for the Dumont
Corp. which was purported to be a photostatic copy of a signed
statement that was given by the Dumont Corp. to the Federal Trade
Commission.

Mr. Lisiaran. And did you also investigate the books and records
of Music Suppliers, Inc.?

Mr. KeevaN. Yes, sir, I did.

Mr. Listiman. And as a result of that investigation, did you make
certain computations and calculations?

Mr. KeeLan. Yes, I did.

Mr. LisumaN. And what was the nature of these computations?

Mr. KeeLan. I examined certain records of Music Suppliers, Inc.,
from the period January 1, 1957, through November of 1959.

1 also examined cash disbursements of Music Suppliers, Inc., of
Boston, for the same period of time.

Mr. Lismax. And did you make up a schedule showing these
computations?

Mr. Keevan. Yes; I made up a schedule of the amounts of moneys
paid from these distributors. And I also included in that schedule,
which I believe every member of the committee has, entitled “Boston
Record Distributing Companies Schedule of Payments Made” to
Mr. Prescott for the 3-year period 1957 to 1959.

And I also included in that schedule certain payments made from
Records, Inc., and these amounts were obtained from excerpts of the
books of Records, Inc. That was in the possession of the committee.

Mr. Lisuman. I would like to offer the schedule that has just been
described by Mr. Keelan into the record at this point.

The CuairMaN. Do you have a copy of the schedule, Mr. Keelan ?

Mr. Keeran. Yes, sir; I do.

The CiarMaN. From what you have testified ?

Mr. KeeLan. I have the original schedule that I prepared.

The CuairmMaN. You may submit it for the record. It will be put
into the record at this point.

(The document referred to follows:)
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BOSTON RECORD DISTRIBUTING COMPANIES
Schedule of payments made to Norm Prescott for the S-year period 1957-59

Date ngreck I Source Account Amount Company Total
0.
1957
June 17 | 13772 | Musjc Suppliers, Inc...| Advertising......... $200. 00
Aug. 30 | 14027 |.__.. [« - TSI SO do 150. 00
Sept. 16 150. 00
27 150. 00
Dec. 20 200. 00
30 100. 00
950. 00
1958
Jan. 17 Music Suppliers, Inc...| Advertising.___.___. 50. 00
Mar. 17 do. do__.. 133. 24
Apr. 17 133. 24
4 100. 00
May 4 133. 24
June 23 133. 24
July 18 133. 24
Aug. 7 133. 24
Sept. 17 100. 00
17 133. 24
Oct. 18 133. 24
Nov. 6 200. 00
17 133. 24
20 400. 00
Dec. 10 Universal 133. 24
C.1.T.
17 300. 00
2,482 40
1959
Jan. 10 Ur(l}h;ersal 133. 24
Feb. & S
5
Mar. 19
30
Apr. 15
May 15
June 2
2
15
July 20
1958
Aug. 4| 15619 | Music Suppliers, Inc.._{ Exch
1958
Jan. 9| _..___. Dumont Record Dis- | Unknown. 200 200.
tributing Corp.
Feb, 12 L« 1 RN SRR [ SR, 200. 00
21 105.00
350. 00
200. 00
300. 00
200, 00
200. 00
335,00
200. 00
200. 00
Total. ceumenmcees|-anen 2,490 .- 2,480.00

56861—60—pt. 1——2
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Schedule of payments made to Norm Prescott for the S-year period 1957-59—

Continued
Date Cll\}eck Source Account Amount Company Total
0.
1959
Jan. 6 |.cco..-- Dumont Record Dis- | Unknown...........
tributing Corp.
Mar. 12
May 15
July 6
Total.... ———- -
1957
Dec. 17 5443 qutua.l Distributors, | Advertising....._...
ne.
1958
Dee. 21 6380 [.-..- [ 1 YA, Selling expense...... 100 | occcccieicaaee 100. 00
1957
Dec. () 2427 | Records, Inc..coooo.. Unknown........... (1) 100. 00
1958
Nov. § 1859 |..... [ [/ YRR SRR [ [ S 800 |aceneccamancane 300. 00
1959
Mar. 28 805 |-.... 1 [ TSP I [ 1 Y, 180 |acocmoncmcocnnnnnas 150. 00

Source: Audit of Music Supgllers and Material Distributors, Inc.; sudit checking papers. List of
Dumont Record Distributing Corp. payments. Records, Inc., canceled checks.

SUMMARY
Source Account k 1957 I 1958 1959 Total

Music Suppliers, InC. v Advertising......... $950 [$2. 482.40 |$1,082.68 | $5,415.08
1) O e S e vy ey Exchange.__. None 100. 00 None 100. 00
Dumont Record Distributing Corp -...| Unknown... None | 2,490.00 | 1.200.00 | 3,690.00
M utual Distributors, Inc..oaecaeoeeoooo- Advertising. 100 None None 100. 00
L S, | Sclling expen None 100. 00 None 100. 00
Records, Inc.. | Unknown. - 100 300.00 150.00 550.00

1 |
R U SN | 1,150‘5,472.40 3,332.68 | 9,955.08

The CiiaikmMaN. Anything further?

Mr. Lisuyax. Yes, sir. Ie made another investigation showing
gifts as distinguished from cash, that were made by these record dis-
tributors to Mr. Prescott and others.

Mr. Keelan, according to your examination of the books of Music
Suppliers, Inc., for the period June 17, 1957, to December 30, 1957,
what was the total those books and records showed as having been
paid to Mr. Prescott ?

Mr. KeeraN. The total amounts of money paid by Music Suppliers,
Inc., to Norman D’rescott, from the period June T, 1957—would you
like that for the whole period, through 1959 ¢

Mr. Lisiimax. Just for that period.

Mr. Keepan. From Music Suppliers, Inc., $950—that is from June
17, 1957, to December 30, 1957—$950.

Mr. Listaax. And was that payment made from the advertising
account of Music Supliers, Inc. ?

Mr. KerLax. Those payments were made from the advertising
account.
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Mr. LisumaN. Now, coming to 1958, January 17 to December 17,
1958, what was the total paid during that period to Mr. Prescott by
Music Suppliers, Inc.?

Mr. KeeLan. Music Suppliers, Inc., paid through that period of
time in 1958 a total of $2,582.40, $2,482.40 of which went through
the advertising account, and $100 went through what they called the
exchange account.

Mr. Lisuman. And coming to the period January 10, 1959, to
August 20, 1959, what was the total paid by Music lg;ppliers, Ine,,
during that period to Mr. Prescott ?

Mr. KeerLan. The total payments made to Mr. Prescott during that
period of January 10, 1959, through July 20, 1959, from the adver-
tising account, was $1,982.68.

Mr. Lisuman. Was that also charged on the books of that com-
pany to its advertising account ?

Mr. KeeLan. Yes; it was.

Mr. Lisuyan. Now, turning to Dumont Record Distributing Corp.,
for the period January 9, 1958, to December 19, 1959, what was the
total amount paid to Mr. Prescott during that period by Dumont?

Mr. Keeran. The total amount of $2,490 was paid by Dumont.

Mr. LisuaaN. To what account was that total charged ¢

Mr. Keevax. The lists of payments supplied by Mr. Dumont did
not indicate what accounts those amounts of money were entered
in.

Mr. Lisaman. Coming to 1959, and still with Dumont, during the
period January 6, 1959, to August 6, 1959, what was the total amount
paid during that period by Dumont to Mr. Prescott ?

Mr. KeeLan. In that same schedule, a total of $1,200.

Mr. Lisiax. And to what account was that charged ?

Mr. KeeLax. That was not indicated on the schedule.

Mr. Lisiiman. Now, in 1957, what did you find had been paid to
Mr. Prescott by Mutual Distributors?

Mr. KeeLan. The year 1957, Mutual Distributing paid $100 to Mr.
Prescott, and that was charged to the advertising account.

Mr. Lisiyrax. Did you assume that to be a Christmas present ?

Mvr. Prescorr. Yes. .

My, Lasunas. 1n 1958, on January 21, did your investigation reveal
that the books of Mutual showed an amount of $100 paid to Mr.
Prescott ?

Mr. KeeLaN. In the year 1958, $100 was paid to Mr. Prescott, and
was entered in their selling expense,

Muv. Lisnimax. Now, turning to Records, Inc., 1957 in December, did
Records, Inc., pay Mr. Prescott, according to its books, $100?

Mr. KeeLan. During the year 1957, based on canceled checks that
the committee had in its possession, Records Inc., paid some time in
December, to Mr. Prescott, $100.

Mr. Lisuyman. And in 1958, according to your investigation, didn’t
Records, Inc., pay Mr. Prescott $300?

Mr. KeeLaN. Ihave an amount of $300, yes, sir.

Mr. Lisaman. And to what account was that charged ?
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Mr. Keeran. That expense was charged to promotion, according to
the list of canceled checks.

Mr. Lisiman. In 1959, did your investigation of the Records, Inc.,
books disclose that Mr. Prescott had received $150¢

Mr. KegLaN. $150 was received by Mr. Prescott from Records, Inc.,
in 1959. That was also charged to promotion.

Mr. Lisiatan. Now, will you read the grand totals of the amounts
as shown from your study of the books and records of the distribut-
ing companies involved, as shown at the foot of this exhibit just in-
troduced into the record?

Mr. KeeLaN. For the 3-year period 1957 through 1959, Music Sup-
pliers, Inc., entered through their advertising account a total of $5,-
415.08, plus an additional $100 that was entered in their exchange ac-
count, or a total of $5,515.08. Dumont Distributing Corp. for the

eriod 1958 and 1959 had entered in their records a total of $3,690.

futual Distributors, Inc., 1957, 1958, had in their books a total of $200,
and Records, Inc., had paid Mr. Prescott $550, or a grand total of $9,-
955.08 for the 3-year period, from those four record companies.

Mr. Lisaman. Now, Mr. Chairman, at this point I would like to
ask Mr. Prescott, who has been here during this testimony of the
accountant, Mr. Keelan, and ask him if that testimony is in accord
with the facts, so far as he can recollect.

Mr. Prescorr. They do.

Mr. LisumaN. Now, Mr. Keelan, in addition to investigating the
books of these record distributing companies with respect to payments
either by check or by cash to Mr. Prescott, did you also ascertain from
the books any other valuable considerations that appears to be given
to Mr. Prescott ?

Mr. KeeLan. During our examination of the books of Music Sup-
pliers, Inc., it was noted during 1958 and 1959, there were payments
made to the Universal CIT Corp. in the amounts of $133.24, from the
period March 17, 1958, through August 20, 1959. These items were
noted in the Music Suppliers book as paid for Norman Prescott, and
these amounts totaled 32,265.08. These amounts were entered in the
advertising account, and they are included in the amounts that I have
given.

We also noted in 1957, in the Music Suppliers Inc.’s books, there
were four payments of $110 to Universal CIT, that is the same
corporation.

e could not definitely ascertain to whom these payments—for
whom these payments were made, but we believe tﬁat they were
payments for an automobile for Norman Prescott. This may not be
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correct. We could not definitely ascertain this from the people at
Music Suppliers, Inc.

Mr. LisumaN. Now, Mr. Chairman, before introducing in evidence
a_tabulation of the testimony and breakdown of the testimony just
given by Mr. Keelan, I would like to ask Mr. Prescott for what pur-
pose these payments were made on his behalf by Music Suppliers, Inc.

Mr. Prescorr. The payments were made with the understanding
that because they were an independent distributor, and they repre-
sented many, many labels, as many as 25 or 30, that T would at least
play a selection of a minimum of 8 to 10 records a day, anything that
I wanted to play, or that I felt that I wanted to include on my show,
so long as it was represented by their distributorship.

Mr. Lisuaan. Do you agree that the figures just testified to by Mr.
Keelan are correct, according to the best of your recollection ¢

Mr. Prescort. To the best of my recollection, I would say they are
correct.

Mr. Lisuyman. And with that authentication, Mr. Chairman, I
would like to offer as an exhibit this sheet, prepared by Mr. Keelan,
reflecting his study of the books and records of Music Suppliers, Inc.,
in connection with payments made by that company for the benefit
of Mr. Prescott.

Mr. Moss. Mr. Chairman, I would like to ask if, in the last question
directed to the witness, you were making it quite clear as to whether
or not the payments mentioned by Mr. 2f{eelan, which he assumed to
be to Universal CIT on behalf of Mr. Prescott, were in fact made on
his behalf. The payments of the Universal CIT, were they payments
made on behalf of Mr. Prescott? There seems to be some doubt in
Mr. Keelan’s testimony.

Mr. Lismman. I will have to ask Mr. Prescott the answer to that
question.

Mr. Prescorr. I can clarify that. The paid a total of $2,000 in
CIT payments. Anything over that would be a plicable to somebody
else, or something else. But the $2,000 in CI payments were paid
on my behalf. :

Mr. Lisuman. Mr. Keelan, what is the total of the payments by
checks, and these payments for this car?

Mr. Keeran. The total payments for UCIT for the years 1958
gnd 1959, that were designated to Mr. Norman Prescott’s behalf was

2,265.08

Mr. Lisuymawn. Mr. Chairman, may we have this sheet prepared by
the accountant witness, Mr. Keelan, in the record? It has already
been described and authenticated.

The CrammaN. Yes. Let it be included in the record.

(The document referred to is as follows :)
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BosToN RECORD DISTRIBUTING COMPANIES

Schedule of payments charged to advertiging for automobiles for Norm Prescott

Date CIPICCk Source Credit company Amount
0.

Mu.s(;c Suppliers, INC. .. ccccvvmcmannnnaans Uni:riersal C.1.T
.do

133.24
133.24
133.24

133.24
133.24
Total, 1959 Universal C.I.T-..cooo 932, 68

Total, all Universal C.I.T., 1958-59, 2,265.08
Norm Prescott.

PAYMENTS CHARGED TO ADVERTISING FOR AUTOMOBILE ITEMS8 NOT MARKED
IN CASH BOOK BUT BELIEVED TO BE FOR NORM PRESCOTT

1967

June 17 Universal C.1.T. .. cceeeoem $110
July 17 d 110
Aug. 10 : 110
Sept. 10 | 14015 |.....dO. . cocrmconiiimnnan 110

Total, 1957 Universal C.L T .. cooofoummmmaracmiamanc oo ma e 440

Sources: Audit of Music S8uppiiers, Inc., and Mutual Distributors, Ine.; audit of work papers; canceled
checks of Records, Inc.

Mr. Serincer. I would like to get the total amount paid to Mr. Pres-
cott from everybody.

Mr. Keernax. Sir, the total payments made to Mr. Prescott from
everybody is on a summary on page 2 of the schedule that I prepared,
and T believe that there is a copy, a Thermo-Fax copy in each mem-
ber’s file. $9,955.08.

The Caamrman. Does that include the CIT payments?

Mr. Keeran. That includes the CIT payments, yes, sir.

Mr. Moss. Mr. Chairman, I have one additional question.

Mr. Prescott, in stating that the payments to Universal for the
automobile amounted to $2,000—

TESTIMONY OF NORMAN PRESCOTT—Resumed
Mr. Prescorr. I would like to clarify that, Mr. Moss.

ll\gr. Moss. That would be principal payment—payment on princi-
palz

Mr. Prescotr. Yes.

Mr. Moss. So that the total here of $2,265.08 undoubtedly repre-

sents the gross total paid on your behalf?
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Mr. Prescorr. Yes.

Mr. Lisuman. I think the record should be clear, Mr. Chairman,
that $2,000 was not the total cost of the car. I would like to ask Mr.
Prescott to state for the record how the balance of the cost of the car
was paid.

Mr. Prescorr. I paid the balance personally, by trading in one of
my cars.

Mr. Moss. Well, did you pay one payment? I notice this is 17 pay-
ments listed.

Mr. Prescorr. They paid all the payments. 1 paid the initial down-
payment, by trading in the car. And they carried the balance.

r. LisiimaN. Mr. Prescott, is it correct that you were well ac-
quainted with Harry Carter, the president of Music Suppliers, Inc.?

Mr. Prescorr. Yes.

Mr. Lisaman. And is it a fact that early in 1958, you were think-
ing of buying an automobile, and you knew then that Harry Carter
had a connection with a Mercury agency in Boston ¢

Mr. Prescorr. Yes, sir.

Mr. LisuaaN. And you asked Mr. Carter if he could use this con-
nection to get you a break or a discount in the buying of the car?

Mr. Prescorr. Yes, I did, Mr. Lishman.

Mr. Lisiyan. And what did Mr. Carter say to you at that point?

Mr. Prescort. He said that he would try. And then the following
day, when I came in, he said to me, “I wil pay $2,000 of the automo-
bile for you.”

Mr. Lisnmax. Anditisa fact, isn’t it, that he did pay $2,000 toward
the purchase price of the car you bought ?

Mr. Prescorr. Yes, sir.

Mr. Lisuman. Now, although Mr. Carter made the downpayment,
isit a fact that the car was registered in your name?

Mr. Prescorr. Yes, it was.

Mr. Lasiaan. And it is also a fact that subsequent monthly pay-
ments on the car were made by Music Suppliers?

Mr. Prescorr. Yes, sir.

Mr. Lisuman. Now, including the payments on the automobile, isn’t
1t true that you received an average of $40 to $50 a week in payola
from Music Suppliers, Inc., alone?

Mr. Prescorr. Yes, I did.

The Cuatkman. Over what period of time?

Mr. Prescorr. I think it is a total period, Mr. Chairman, of about
1 year—the last 6 months of 1958 and the first 6 months, roughly,
of 1959.

Mr. Lisuman. Did Harry Carter, the president of Music Suppliers,
Inc., select the records he desired to have played over the air on WWBZ
or WBZ-TV and deliver them to you?

Mr. Prescort. Deliver the records that he wanted particularly
plugged on the air?

Mr. Lisuuman. Yes, sir.

Mr. Prescorr. I don’t know, you know, what his relationship may
have been with other people, but when I did my show, I think I ex-
plained this earlier, and that is the reason that I only had this relation-
ship with three distributors, or two distributors, actually, in Boston,
although there are about 11—and that is, I would never allow them to
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tell me what records to play. I would only play a certain amount of
records for them. But I had to make a choice of material, because I
felt that if they, in my particular case, for whatever it is worth, and
this was only a personal philosophy—if they could dictate all the
records to me, then I would have had no show. But they had enough
records to make the selection easy enough so that I could live up to
my responsibility to them for the payola that I received.

Mr. LisumaN. Now, when you got

The Crraraan. Mr. Bennett would you like to ask a question?

Mr. BEnnert. Did you share this payola you received with others?

Mr. Prescorr. No, I did not, Mr. Bennett.

Mr. Bennerr. Did the people you were working for know you were
receiving this money?

Mr. Prescorr. No, they did not.

Mr. BeEnNETT. You never informed them about it?

Mr. Prescorr. Well, they had never confronted me with it or men-
tioned it to me.

Mr. Bennert. Did they have a way of finding out?

Mr. Prescorr. Well, I think a little bit earlier when we talked
about this thing, I may have made a jumble of my conversation.
Let’s put it this way. If I were general manager of a radio station,
personally, I could prevent payola. There are many general mana-
gers who don’t know the function of payola. And s was a foreign
aren to them. I don’t say this in their defense. I think it is their
responsibility to know that it does exist, and to find out the mechanics
of it. But it is a matter of the individual. If a diskjockey graduates
into the executive end of radio, I think he will be familiar with the
workings of payola. If a man has never had any experience in that
picture, then I think that it is pretty difficult for Kim to really under-
stand it, because he has very little relationship with the people who
spend this money.

Mr. Lisiaan. Mr. Prescott, I would like to clarify the record a
little bit. What station was it that caused the bulletins to be placed
on the announcer’s bulletin board ?

Mr. Prescorr. That was WHDH.

Mr. LisuymaN. And WBZ, too?

Mr. Prescorr. Orally.

Mr. Lisuaan. Well, if the management didn’t know that payola
was involved, how would they know enough to instruct you as to what
records to plug?

Mr. Prescorr. Well, we are talking about different areas of ayola.

That, of course, they were more familiar with than anybody else,
because they used that as a sales tool or vehicle of payola which is
different, and apart from playing the record for the promotion of the
record’s sake.

Mr. Lisaman. But isn’t the end result the same?

Mr. Prescorr. Exactly.

Mr. LisamaN. Your testimony is to the effect that the management
or licensee of a station did know that some kind of payola was going
on in the station?

Mr. Prescort. I agree with you.
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Mr. Lisaman. What was the consideration that the station licensee
received for plugging the record, we will say, from a score of a movie
that was advertised on the station ?

Mr. Prescott. Income to the station by getting a piece of the allo-
cated budget, for the promotion.

Mr. Lisnman. Wouldn’t that in effect take away business from
competing advertisers?

Mr. Prescorr. Sure, it would.

Mr. Lisuman. Advertising medium ?

Mr. Prescorr. Yes, sir.

Mr. Lisuman. Do you recall the name of any movie where this
kind, of what we call management payola, went on’?

Mr, Prescort. Yes; I do. One picture was the Frank Sinatra pic-
ture, “Hole in the Head.”

Mr. Lisnman. What station was that ¢

Mr. Prescorr. WBZ.

Mr. LisumaN. And about when was that ?

Mr. Prescorr. Oh, I am guessing, but it was within the last year,
I would say.

Mr. Lisuman. And what did the management do with respect to
instructing the diskjockey to plug a record from that show ?

Mr. Prescorr. Well, they would verbally tell you to make sure
that you get it on at least once a day in your show, either after the
commercial, or some time later, but make sure that you play it.

Mr. Lisaman. What member of the management told you that?

Mr. Prescorr. In that particular case, I tﬁink it came from the
sales department.

Mr. Lisuman. Do you know who in the sales department ¢

Mr. Prescort. I believe that the account executive at that time
was Mr. Fitzpatrick.

Mr. Lisuman. Well, now, returning——

Mr. Rocers. Mr. Chairman, may I ask a thing about this? He
hasn’t said who told him. He said the chairman of this thing was
ahce;'tain man. Could we get it stated definitely who told him to do
this ?

Mr. Prescorr. I said it was the account executive, sir, at that time.

Mr. Rocers. You said the account executive was this man. But
you never did say affirmatively he is the one who told you.

Now, is he the one who told you to do it ?

Mr. PrescoTT. Yes, sir.

Mr. LisumaN. Was this a general management practice?

Mr. Prescorr. It has happened on many occasions.

Mr. Lisaaan. So the management knew what was going on in that
situation ?

Mr. Prescort. They should have.

Mr. Lisaman. Did Mr. O’Friel ever give you any such instruc-
tions?

Mr. Prescorr. Well, Mr. O’Friel gave me instructions relative to
another situation.

Mr. Lisuman. Will you describe that situation #

Mr. Prescorr. Yes, sir.
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As you know, radio stations are constantly going through the
battle of the ratings, and so they are very promotional conscious.
They want to do something in the local community that will attract
attention and boost their ratings. And Mr. O’Friel called a meeting
one day of the entire diskjockey staff.

Mr, Lisuaan. Just a minute. Mr. O'Friel—will you please iden-
tify who he is?

Mr. Prescorr. He is the general manager of radio station WBZ.
And it was in the form of a peptalk, to see if we could create some
ideas or promotional ideas that would set the station apart from the
others. And as a result of that peptalk, I happened to mention to
Dumont Record distributors that he ought to do something with the
Lester Lanin orchestra. I thought it might be a good idea to offer
this orchestra, let’s say, as a wedding present to a young couple in
June, to have one of the big society orchestras of New York come
to Boston and play for the wedding. And he thou ht it was a good
idea. And I told Kun from that point on he would have to approach
management, because I could not do it. We are relegated only to
creating ideas, but we cannot implement them on an executive level.

So he apparently went to management and told them that he would
make the Lester Lanin orchestra available.

‘As a result of another staff talk session that we had, the idea was
changed from giving it away as a wedding present, to having a block
party, which we did %ave, and it was very successful.

From that point on, it was entirely in the hands of mana ment, and
Dumont Record distributors. I know what the end result was, that
{he station never got paid for the orchestra, because we were in-
structed to play the records by that orchestra, you know, as a re-
ciprocal kind of thing, to keep the station from having to pay any-
thing for the musicians.

Mr., Lisuyan. Well, now, let’s get that clear for the record, Mr.
Prescott.

Do we understand that Mr. O°Friel issued instructions to you and
other diskjockeys, that in order to take care of the payments which
should have been made to the Lanin Orchestra that station WBZ
should plug the records which were distributed by Dumont Dis-
tributors?

Mr. Prescorr. Yes, sir.

Mr. Listaan. And is it a fact that among the labels distributed
by DuMont was the label Epping?

Mr. Prescorr. Yes, sir.

My, LisuyaN. And is it a fact that the label Epping contains
recordings of the Lanin Orchestra?

Mr. Prescorr. Yes, sir.

Mr. LisuymaN. And is it a fact, therefore, that you received in-
structions to plug Lanin’s records in lieu of paying them anything
for his appearance at a promotion party on behalf of WBZ?

My. PrescorT. Yes, sir.

Mr. Liszaax. When these records were played by your station,
pursuant to station management instructions, was any announcenient
made on the station, at the time, that payments or consideration had
been received by the station, in return for the playing of these
records?
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Mr. Prescorr. No, sir.

Mr. Lisuman. Now, let’s go back to Mr. Harry Carter, whom you
have testified would select records he desired to have played over
WBZ, or WBZ-TYV.

Did he supply such records to you?

Mr. Prescort. The records were sent to the station, and I occa-
sionally picked up records personally during the course of the week.
I would make the rounds OF all the distributors and pick up the new
releases.

Mr. Lisirman. Were these records turned over to the record librar-
ian at station WBZ?

Mr. Prescort. Yes, they were.

Mr. LisuyaN. And were these records inserted in the station’s so-
called top 50 list ?

Mr. Prescorr. Some of them were, yes.

Mr. Lisraax. And what was the purpose of this top 50 list?

Mr. Prescorr. Well, that was the existing format of radio. Each
station had its own top 40 or to 50 list, and these were the records that
management wanted us to play, because they felt that they were the
most popular records, and since there were so many releases, let’s play
only what the public theoretically wants to hear.

Mr. Lisuatan. Well, is it true that the station librarian supposedly
compiled this list of popular records from those listed in trade papers,
and on the basis of calls to local music stores, to inquire what records
were selling the best ?

Mr. Prescorr. Mr. Lishman, if I can answer that question, I will
say that whatever the mathematical computation was for arriving at
the top 50, it is the most implausible system in the world, because I
don’t think anybody can understand it, and it varies with every radio
station in the country. There is no system for really compiling the
top 50. No matter where you get your information, it is just not
right. And it really is not reflective of American taste.

Mr. Lasiyan, So this reduces itself to a question of personal choice,
which, in turn, depends upon payola or other considerations ?

Mr. Prescorr. I would say that payola is one of the biggest in-
fluences in establishing the top 50 hits.

Mr. Lastiaean. Now, it is true, isn’t it, that Music Suppliers handle
a large number of labels, and that gave you a rather wide choice in
selecting the top 502

Mr. Prescorr. They were always well represented.

Mr. Lisuyman. Isn't is correct that station WBZ advertised over the
air that the list of the top 50 records was available at a chain store
known as Stop ‘N Shop Supermarkets ?

Mr. Prescorr. Yes, sir.

Mr. Lisaman. Do you know who paid the cost of printing this list
of 50 top records?

Mr. Prescorr. The list was paid for by a rack jobber, and was dis-
tributed to some 90 Stop *N Shop Supermarkets, and the radio sta-
tion did not pay anything for it, but plugged the fact that it could
be found at these supermarkets, as a promotion.

Mr. Lisinytan. And who was the rack jobber involved ?

Mr. Prescorr. 1 forgot the name of the company. But the fellow
in charge of it was a fellow by the name of Abbott Gordon.
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Mr. LisamaN. And isn’t it correct that for some time the top 50 list
consisted in part of records which Lambert and Gordon sold as rack
jobbers in the supermarket?

Mr. Prescorr. Yes, they did.

Mr. Lisuman. Now, what are rack jobbers?

Mr. Prescorr. WVeIi, rack jobbing, in a simplified explanation, is
the newest addition in selling records, the theory being that the small
dealer today does not do enough volume, and so the best thing to do
is to try to make the records available in impulse buying stores, such
as supermarkets, where women will go in and buy the daily food, and
as they are walking out, they will see a rack of songs currently popular
and on impulse buy it. It is a better kind of visual display of records
in more outlets, and of course it has grown into a pretty sizable busi-
ness in the last 5 or 6 years. It isa fairly new business.

Mr. LisamaN. Now, Mr. Prescott, in order to clarify the record, be-
fore we pass on to another topic, is it a fact that the payments totaling
$995.08, made to you by the various record distributors already identi-
fied, were made for the purpose of playing records on the air?

Mr. Prescorr. Yes,

Mr. Lisuman. Was any of that total paid to you as appreciation for
conducting so-called record hops?

Mr. Prescorr. None at all, because I never did record hops.

Mr. Lisaman. Would a distributor pay, in your opinion, substan-
tial sums of money as a token of appreciation for record hops alone,
apart from the diskjockey situation ?

Mr. Prescorr. I do not think that he would pay substantial amounts
of money in our area. But I think that he would supply the disk-
jockey with all the free records and albums for giveaways, and con-
tests, that he would probably want, which would amount to a sizable
amount of money over a period of a year.

Mr. Lisiyan. Well, would you consider it to have been standard
practice for a record distributor to pay money solely to a diskjockey
for appreciation of his record hop activities?

Mr. Prescorr. I have had no personal contact with it, but I can as-
sume or believe that it probably does exist. I think every avenue of
getting the record played is important to any distributor. And I am
sure that he would do anything to get the record played.

Mr. Lisaman. Well, what is the importance of a record hop as com-
pared with the importance of having the record played over the air?

Mr. Prescorr. Well, actually it is a kind of preliminary way of tak-
ing a group of records, trying them out, let’s say, on a captive audi-
ence of 300 or 400 kids, and if three or four or five of those records
meet with any kind of response, the diskjockey could go back to the
distributor and say, “Look, I think this record has it, and the kids like
it. Do you want me to lay on it?” And at that point, they might
consummate some kind of a financial arrangement.

Mr. Lisaman. Now, Mr. Prescott, while you were with WBZ, is it
correct that the station conducted a number of contests periodically,
and that phonograph records for albums were used as prizes in con-
nection with the contest?

Mr. Prescorr. That is true.

Mr. Lisaman. And wasn’t it the practice of the head of the pro-
motion department of WBZ, Mr. Jack Williams, to request you and
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other diskjockeys to obtain phonograph records or albums to be used
as prizes?

Mr. Prescorr. Yes, sir.

Mr. LisumaN. And isn’t it true that Mr. Williams told you and
other diskjockeys that WBZ would “lay on” that is, give favorable
treatment to records of that distributor by playing the records over
the air on numerous occasions ?

Mr. Prescorr. Yes, sir.

Mr. LisitmaN. Who is Mr. O’Friel 2

Mr. Prescorr. The general manager of WBZ radio.

Mr. Lisitman. Now, Mr. O’Friel knew, did he not, that the albums
’ai%fi?records given out as prizes were not paid for by WBZ or WBZ-

Mr. Prescort. He was very budget conscious, Mr. Lishman, and he
knew about it.

Mr. Lisuman. He knew they were not being paid for.

Mr. Prescorr. Yes, sir.

Mr. Lisusman. He also knew, did he not, that some kind of consid-
eration must be given if the station was to compensate the donors of
the record albums?

Mr. Prescorr. Yes, sir.

Mr. LisumaN. And he knew, did he not, that the consideration con-
sisted of plugging the records of the donors over the air ?

Mr. PrescoTT. Yes.

Mr. Lisuman. Now, do you know Mr. Bill Givens?

WMr. Prescorr. Yes, 1 370. I worked with him, Mr. Lishman, at

BZ.

Mr. ListtmaN. What was his position at WBZ?

Mr. Prescorr. He was in charge of the library. I think his official
title was musical director. :

Mr. Lisuman. Is it correct that in November 1958 you and Mr, Bill
Givens, at that time music director of WDBZ, were sent to New York
by Mr. O’Friel to solicit free record albums, free records, for the sta-
tion’s record library, from record manufacturers and distributors?

Mr. Prescorr. Yes, sir.

Mr. Lisumax. And did Mr. O’Friel authorize you to promise in
return for the gifts of these free records, or albums, that the station
would lay on the records manufactured and distributed by the donor
companies ?

M[x)'. Prescorr. Yes, sir.

Mr. Lisiiman. And you actnally went on this trip to New York
for that purpose, with Mr. Bill Givens?

Mr. Prescorr. Yes, sir. As a diskjockey, I was not required to do
that. I wasasked todothat. And——

Mr. Lisiiman. Who asked you to do that?

Mr. Prescorr. Mr. O’Friel. And for the record, you know, the
reasoning is generally, “We are a big station, we can do them a lot of
good. Get as many records as you can, and make sure that you tell
them that.”

Mr. Lisiyan. Well, isn’t the fact that you were a very popular
diskjockey in New York and had very good contacts, and Mr. O’Friel
desired to take advantage of that for the benefit of getting free
records for WBZ?
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Mr. PrescoTT. Yes, sir.

Mr. Moss. I wonder at that point, Mr. Chairman, if I could ask a
question. Iam justalittle puzzled.

When you were sent to New York to get records, what kind of
recordings were you trying to get ?

Mr. Prescorr. Well, Mr. Moss, let me explain this. The record
companies have changed their modus operandi somewhat in the last
few years, and they do not give away free albums en masse to radio
stations, because it is a very costly situation for them, and today
albums are manufactured at the greatest productive rate ever. Con-
sequently you have to subscribe to the RCA Victor, Capital, London,
and so forth, free album—not free, but monthly album releases. You
pay an initial fee of something like $50 to the record company, and
they give you a copy of every release that comes in.

So in view of that, and also the fact that when Mr. O’Friel came
to WBZ, our record library had nothing in it to speak of, because
the station had never been given any attention—it had been a former
network station, and they were never serviced really—and he wanted
to build up a library as quickly as possible. And to the best of my
recollection, he said, “How many albums do we need?” Aud I think
the fizure was somewhere between $10,000 and $15,000 worth of
albums. He said, “That is an awful lot of money. Why don’t you
%o to New York, and you are a big diskjockey,” as Mr. Lishman has

rought out—I don’t mean to be egotistic—‘‘you know a lot of people,
go ahead.”

Mr. Moss. Were you trying to get the albums of better music for
the library ¢

Mr. Prescorr. He did not care what it was. He just said fill up
the room.

Mr. Moss. Of the current releases, you get all of the popular rec-
ords, do you not?

Myr. Lisuyax. These are popular albums, is that correct ¢

Mr. Prescorr. Well, popular albums, show tunes. He did not
mix into the seelction of the music. He just said, “I want to see it
up there.”

Mr. Moss. Did he say get something better than rock and roll?

Mr. Prescorr. He didn’t say it specifically.

Mr. Moss. A little better?

Mr. Prescorr. He did not specify, sir.

Mr. Lisaman. Now, Mr. Prescott

Mr. Prescorr. Rock and roll is not prevalent album material. It
is primarily single records.

r. Listiman, Now, Mr. Prescott, isn’t it true that you spoke to
Mr. Sid Goldberg at the Decca Record Co., and that WBZ received
250 free record al%ums from that company?

Mr. Prescorr. Yes, sir, and I think we broke an all-time precedent.

Mr. Lisuman. Why is that?

Mr. Prescorr. Because they ain’t very free with merchandise.

Mr. Lisuamax. What would be the value of this, of those 250 record
albums, according to the market value?

Mr. PrescorT. 250—you can multiply that by roughly $4 an album,
$3.98, which is the retail selling price.
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Mr. Lisnyan. And isn’t it true that you and Mr. Givens were
promised 200 to 300 albums by Mitch Miller of the Columbia Record
Co., a subsidiary of the Columgizl Broadcasting System ?

Mr. Prescorr. Yes, sir.

Mr. Lisiiman. And did you get those records?

Mr. Prescorr. Yes; we did.

My, LisaaaN. And didn’t you and Mr. Givens also talk to a Bob
Shad at Mercury Records Corp.?

Mr. Prescort. Yes; we did, and he got authorization from Mercury
Records in Chicago to let us go down to the local Mercury distributor
and take whatever we wanted.

Mr. Lisunax. Is it a fact that as a result of that you mnaaged to
Procure between 100 and 200 free albums for WBZ through Mercury’s
Boston distributor?

Mr. Prescorr. Yes, sir.

Mr. Lisumax, Now, on your mission to get these free albums, did
you call on Mr. Samuel Clark of Am-Par Record Corp. ?

Mr. Prescorr. Yes; I did.

Mr. Listimax. And what did Mr. Clark agree to do in connection
with this donation project ?

Mr. Prescorr. Carte blanche.

Mr. Lisuman. And did Am-Par Record Corp. actually supply
some free record albums to WBZ?

Mr. Prescorr. Well, we picked them up through Music Suppliers,
and I guess they made them good.

Mr. Lisuyax. About how many of such albums did you pick up?

Mr. Prescort. I am not qualified to answer that one, Mr. Lishman.
I lt)hink Mr. Givens will, because he did the actual picking up of the
albums,

Mr. LisimaN. And Mr. Samuel Clark, referred to as president of
Am-Par Record Corp., at one time had been associated with Music
Suppliers, Inc.?

ﬁ. Prescorr. Yes, sir.

Mr. Lisiima~. In what capacity had he been with Music Suppliers?

Mr. Prescorr. He was a coowner, with Harry Carter.

Mr. LisuMaN. And while he was coowner of Music Su pliers, Inc.,
isn’t it a fact that he had been one of the persons who hag distributed
payola to you ?

Ar. Prescort. Yes, sir.

Mr. LisuMan. Do you recall that about 2 years ago Cecil Steen, of
Records, Inc., had a show on WBZ known as “Record Shop Hop”?

Mr. PrescorT. Yes, sir; I remember the show.

Mr. Lisuman. And who is Mr. Steen ?

Mr. Prescorr. He is the owner of a distributorship in Boston, called
Records, Inc.

Mr. LisumaN. And is it correct that on this show he picked the top
10 records of the week ?

Mr. Prescorr. Yes, sir.

Mr. LisumaN. And isn’t it correct that at least four or five of the
records he picked were on labels that were distributed through his
company, Records, Inc.?

r. PrREscorT. Yes, sir.

Mr. Lisuyan. Do you recall that Bob Clayton personally managed

Cindy Lord and Bob %ini?
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Mr. Prescorr. I remember; yes.

Mr. Lisuman. And who was Bob Clayton ¢

Mr. Prescorr. He is a Boston diskjockey.

Mr. Lisuman. What station?

Mr. Prescorr. WHDH.

Mr. LisamaN. And do you know that Clayton made deals with
record companies to have records made by his artists, which he could
then put on the air ¢

Mr(.1 Prescorr. Well, he obviously made the deal, because he got the
records.

Mr. Lisuman. Are you familiar with the fact that at one time there
was a record company in California, the Crystallite Record Co., which
issued 1 million shares of stock, which it distributed free of charge,
to diskjockeys who would accept it ?

Mr. Prescorr. Yes.

Mr. Lisuman. Did you ever get any of this stock ¢

Mr. Prescorr. They sent it to me. I sent it back to them. I think
it has since gone up to 10 million shares.

Mr. LisumaN. And this was done, was it not, on the theory that the
diskjockeys would favor the records of that company, because they
wou]d share in the company’s profits$

Mr. PrescorT. Yes, sir.

Mr. Lisuman. Did you not recently receive a letter from this com-
pany, suggesting that diskjockeys should get rid of the stock or throw
it away, so that the company could not be accused of payola?

Mr. Prescort. Yes.

Mr. Lisaman. Do you still have that letter?

Mr. Prescorr. No; unfortunately I threw it away.

Mr. Lisuman. Can you repeat t{ne substance of that letter?

Mr. Prescorr. It sald something of the fact that in view of the re-
cent investigations into payola, it may be embarrassing to any stock-
holder in this company as well as to us to be a participant in the cor-
poration, and we suggest that dyou forget that you own stock, and we
will forget we issued stock, and see you later.

The CuairmaN. When was thatg’

Mr. Prescorr. The Crystallite idea, Mr. Chairman, was formed
about 4 years ago. It personally was very laughable and ludicrous to
me, because to be 1 of 10 million stockholders in a company just was an
obviously funny premise. But it functioned, I guess, for about 4
years. They had a hit record somewhere along the line. I think it
was called “Pink Shoelaces,” which your children may remember. I
do not know what they have had since, and I do not {mow too much
about their activities, because they are a California company. But
they were quite brazen, anyway.

The Criairman. When was the letter you refer to sent ?

Mr. Prescorr. This was a recent letter I got a few weeks ago. It
was a form letter. I was not a stockholder 1n the company, but they
assumed everybody they talked to jumped at the idea, so they treated
everybody as stockholders.

Tl;e CuairMAN. Was the letter sent out since January or prior
to it

Mr. Prescorr. It was sent out since the investigation began.

The Crairyan. Can you pinpoint it a little more than that?
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Mr. Prescorr. I would say it was prior to J. anuary—somewhere in
the November-December area of 1959.

The Cuamman. After these particular hearings developed last
October and November ?

Mr. Prescorr. Yes. I know it was after the Van Doren case be-
came a part of the public eye.

Mr. Lisayma~. Now, is it correct that between 1950 and 1954 some
of the record companies set up a network of diskjockeys in key areas,
and paid them flx)"om the profits from certain records which they
plugged ?

Mr. Prescorr. Yes. I was approached on that, but I turned it
down.

Mr. Lismman. Can you identify the record companies involved
and give us further details about this proposal ¢

Mr. Prescorr. Well, it goes back many years. I am not trying
to evade the question.

I think it was done, primarily in many cases, with publishers of
music, who would set up a key diskjockey in each major area, and
let us say cover a territory of 15 top markets in the country, and
promise them a percentage of the profits of the records, or try to set
up a separate publishing firm, an£ they would, if any moneys were
accrued in the firm, they would share in the profits. But when you
say specifically—and I mean this quite openly—I do not remember
specifically. I remember that I was approached and I did not like
the idea, and I turned it down.

Mr. Lisnyan. You do not remember the names of the record
companies ?

Mr. Prescorr. I really do not; no. I do know, that it was in ef-
fect because I would get calls from diskjockeys from other areas who
either assumed I was a part of this network and wanted me to help
the total picture, and they would ask me at that time to lay on a
particular record.

Mr. Lismaran. Were some of those calls from Chicago?

Mr. Prescort. Diskjockeys?

Mr. Lisumax. Yes, or companies.

Mr. Prescorr. It is hard to remember, Mr. Lishman, honestly.

Mr. Lisayan. Well, has it been a practice of some diskjockeys to
claim to be the writers of certain songs on records which they antici-
pated would prove to be popular ?

Mr. Prescorr. Well, that is common practice. There is an old
saying in the music business, “If you find a song, put your name
on it, and take advantage of it,” because you know the value of a
song 1s the fact that if you write a song that is a hit song, and it be-
comes a standard, as you probably know there is a resicglual income
that can come in for many many years. And many diskjockeys can
put their names on songs, because they wanted to take advantage of
the record royalties and the residual value.

Mr. Lasayan. In other words, this was done so they could share
in the royalties from the mechanical reproduction.

Mr. Prescorr. Mechanical reproduction, sheet music sales, and per-
formance value. I would like to add, p.s., I never did it, honestly.

56861—60—pt. 1——3
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Mr. Listayan. Now, when you were employed at WORL in Boston,
isn’t it true that the programs of that station were never listed in the
Boston Herald Traveler?

Mr. PrescoTT. Yes, sir; that is quite true.

Mr. Lisayan. Do you know of any reason why that was not done?

Mr. Prescorr. Well, the situation that existed 1n 1950 was a strange
one in Boston, because we only had one independent music station at
that time of any consequence, and that was WIIDII. When WORL
went

Mr. Listatay. Who owned WITDH?

Mr. Prescorr. Herald Traveler. When WORL went on the air,
from the onset we were their only competition. And quite & fight
ensued for almost a year and a half, trying to get owr station call
Jotters listed in the 1Terald Traveler. They just would not pay atten-
tion to us. They used to give us the excuse, “IWe are out of space,”
or that there was no room for us. But whatever the reason was, they
never listed us. And this was, you know, a bad blow for a new station
that had to get that kind of listing, so that people would be made
aware of our existence. 1 don’t think even today that they list the
station.

Mr. Listuyax. Now, do you remember that in connection with the
show on WIIDH, the diskjockey, Bob Clayton, at one time had an
arrangement with Boston record distributors to give WHDH the ex-
clusive right to play certain records for a 2-week period ¢

Mr. Prescorr. Indeed I do, Mr. Lishman.

Mr. Lisumax. .And as a result of this exclusive arrangement, did
not the distributors keep such records from other stations and from
retail outlets until the end of the 2-week period?

Mr. Prescorr. Yes,sir. Asa matter of fact, I would like to add—
because at that. time we were in competition with the station, and they
did everything that they possibly could to keep us from geting off
the ground—that they would blatantly, on the air, mention the fact
that this record was exclusive, that no other Boston station would
have it or conld have it, for 2 weeks, and that was because of the
recognition of the popularity of WHDH.

Mr. Listay. Were not the distributors told by Mr. Clayton, and
WHDH, that if they did not give WHDH the exclusive performance
rights on these specific records, WIIDII would penalize them by re-
fusing to play any of their other records?

Mr. Prescorr. Definitely.

Mr. Lismray. And was it a fact that there were announcements
over the air by WIIDH in connection with such records to the effect
that this record is being played exclusively on WHDH—no other
Boston station will be playing it in the next 2 weeks?

Mr. PrescorT. Yes.

Mr. Lisnyan. And you have heard such an announcement ?

Mr. Prescort. Yes, sir. I lived with it for almost 3 years.

Mr. Lisnvan. Didn’t you and the other diskjockeys in that area
protest this practice to the distributors?

Mr. Prescorr. Not only that, but we called a meeting of the dis-
tributors one day and we thonght, by virtue of the fact that there were
16 or 17 of us present, that we could try to break down this exclusive
barrier, which was injurious to us because you could not get started
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so long as they got the exclusive records by the well-known stars on
a_priority or exclusive basis. And the distributors were very nice.
They smiled, they listened. But the practice continued for another
2 years.

}I,\Ir. Lisunman. Now, wasn’t RCA Vietor the worst offender in this
exclusive practice setup ?

Mr. Prescorr. Yes, they were.

Mr. Lisuatan. Did the distributors deny they had any arrangement
for this exclusive proposition to you?

Mr. Prescorr. Some of them did, and some of them also cried to
the effect that “YWe need this station, we need this diskjockey, and if
we don’t give it to Lim, we will be penalized, and we cannot afford
that.”

Mr. TasuyaN. Do you recall a time when you obtained a copy of
Johnny Ray’s first album and announced you were going to play it on
your station?  And at that time had not Bob Clayton obtained this
record from Columbia Records to play as an exclusive ?

Mr. Prescorr. Yes, sir. That was one of those freak situations
where he had an exclusive album, and unknown to everybody it was
also available in the stores at that time. So I went down to the store
and I bought a copy, and I started to announce on the air that we
were going to play it at the same time. That is when the pressure
began. WIIDII apparently called Columbia Records and told
them—however they told them—that they did not want us to play it.
And then a delegation from Columbia Records came u b to WORL
and begged us not to play the album. I said, “Why ?”  You have an
album.” You want the thing promoted. Why should you ask s not
to play an album and reserve the exclusive right for one station 2
Of course, I did it tongue in cheek, because we had been living with
the situation for quite awhile. And they finally got us to agree that
we would allow Clayton to go on the air for one-half hour and play
all the music, and we would not begin the first selection unti] that
half hour had gone by.

1 do not know if you are interested, but we were selling the album
on the air at that time. WHDH had a tie-in with Promotion Music
Co., which is a record store in Boston, and we were tied in with the
Cray Music Co. And with all their strength and power, this was
actually the breaking point. He sold 9 albums and we sold 243,
From that point on we started to command a little more respect from
the distributors and the exclusive thing slowly began to fall apart
at the seams,

Mr. Lisuman. How did you get around this situation during the
first half hour?

Mr. Prescorr. Well, that was what we call creative programing.
I decided that I would talk for 30 minutes and tell the g ohnny Ray
life story. And believe me, he could not have lived all the things
that I talked about.

Mr. Lisiman. Did you interview Johmny Ray by longdistance
telephone over the air?

Mr. Prescorr. Yes, I did. I got him backstage at one of the the-
aters in Washington and I had him do one line introduction to the
songs I subsequently played.
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Mr. Lismyay. Isn't it true after that incident that the practice
of exclusives on WHDH ended ?

Mr. Prescorr. Slowly. Not entirely—but we began to win the
confidence of the distributors. But the situation for the first 3 years,
anyway, was, if I might use the phrase, the worst form of unfair
competition that T had ever witnessed in radio.

Mr. Lisuaax. Didn’t Bob Clayton also have an exclusive arrange-
ment regarding talent, whereby he rohibited the appearance of
artists on his show who had previous{)y appeared on a rival station
in Boston?

Mr. Prescort. Yes, sir. A lot of stars would come up to me and
say, “Look, please understand. I want to be your frieng. But if I
go on your show first, or within 6 hours after I appear on his show
I am going to get into a lot of trouble.” As a result of that, most of
the stars for the first 3 years of WORL’s newborn existing life ig-
nored the station. We could not get any interviews, we could not
get any stars, and we could not get any help, because they all favored
WDHD. They were afraid of the threats.

Mr. LisiiaraN. Mr. Prescott, do you recall that Arnie Rosen, rec-
ord librarian at WBZ, put the record “Growing Love” on the top 50
IIist i?:'or Ilarry Weiss, a record promotion man, with Music Suppliers,

ne.?

Mr. Prescorr. Yes, sir, I remember the record being listed on the
top 50. And I often wondered why, because I did not feel it was a
hit at that time. In fact, we had conversations about it.

Mr. Lisiman. And did you have a disagreement with Mr. Weiss
over the record?

Mr. Prescorr. Well, T had a disagreement with him and the li-
brarian because, as I say, it was a hit record to me, or according to
my standards, and I did not even like the record, and I did not want
to play the record. But being on the top 50, of course I was forced to.

Mr. g;ISHI\[AN. Did Mr. Weiss ever pay you any money to play that
record ¢

Mr. Prescorr. Well, the strange situation was, and it refers back to
what I said, I was receiving payola from Music Suppliers, but the
right that I had reserved for myself to select what I wanted to play
was obvious in this particular situation. This was one of the records
that I did not want to play, because I did not like it, and I did not feel
it was a good record.

Mr. Lisiatan. Well, you were aware that Musie Suppliers, Inc., had
an interest in this record, and for that reason they were having it
plugged and “hyped” on lists around Boston ?

Mr. PrescorT. Yes, Sir.

Mr, Lisiax. Now, what does “hyped” mean in the trade?

Mr. Prescort. Well, there are many ways to hype a record. It
seems that there is always a new reason or a new way born to hype a
record, depending upon the prevailing situations. When the top 40
lists came into popularity, somebody got the idea that we ought to poll
the record stores. We would take 20 key record stores and ask them
what their best selling records were, and by this you could compute
what the top 40 songs were. But of course distributors and record
companies find a way so they would walk into a record store and say
to a man, “Well, here are 10 free records, and all you have to buy is 2.
But make sure you get it on the list.”
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So when a radio station would call a record store, because of the
fact that they got 10 free records, and would realize a bigger profit,
they would say this is one of their best-selling records. gﬁle record
may not have even been played on the air yet. But it was one of their
best-selling records. So this is the way you could hype a record
throngh a retail outfit, because the radio stations were now using retail
outfits to form their survey.

Mr. Lisiiman. And would hyping lead to freebies sometimes?

Mr. Prescorr. I think freebies are a necessary part of hyping.

Mr. Lisuman. Well, would you describe what are meant by free-
bies?

Mr. Prescorr. What we just talked about—giving free records to
induce the listing or the featuring or the playing in any area of a par-
ticular song.

Mr. Lisuyax. Now, Music Suppliers pushed this record “Growing
Love” at the record stores they serviced.

Mr. Prescort. Yes,sir. Asa matter of fact, I would like to add one
more point. The record business changed, too, in another great extent,
and that is that because of the competition again in getting records
purchased by stores, many distributors would put. in a hundred records
and guarantee them at no risk to the retailer. If he did not sell them,
he could return them for a credit.

Mr. Lisuman. Mr. Chairman, I have no further questions.

I would like to thank the witness for his testimony today. I
know, in my first discussions with him, that he was very reluctant
to be in a situation where someone miﬁht accuse him of having
fingered anyone. And I certainly think his testimony this morning
has added a great deal of valuable information to our record.

Mr. Prescorr. I just want to say something, if I may, and I hope
it does not sound the way it might sound, Mr. Chairman, with your
permission.

As I told you, I have been in radio for 12 years. I was contam-
inated by the industry. I have no excuses for it. I guess I feel
a little better about it in the fact that for the first 8 or 9 years of
my career I was not in any way connected with this kind of asitua-
tion. I did succumb toward the latter part of my career, and I
voluntarily got out. But that is only a personal thing.

But one of the reasons that I enjoyed coming to the committee
is because I honestly believe, in my heart, that the purpose that the
committee stands for is a wholesome one, and a necessary one. I
could talk for hours—I won’t—about the general situations that I
have seen in radio in the last 8 or 4 years that in my humble opinion
are deplorable; not only the payola, because that is only part of
it—in the areas of public service, the tremendous neglect that exists
among radio stations. The fact that they have very little or no
respect for the audiences who listen to them. They take advantage of
them by treating them as some kind of stupid individuals. Their
responsibilities to them are so neglected that it made me sick to my
stomach.

That is one of the reasons I left the industry, and I dont’ intend
ever to go back to it.

I hope that in the future, and I hope that as a result of all these
hearings, that legislation of some sort is created so that radio sta-
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tions will have to function wtihin a tighter bound of responsibility,
so that they will, for the first time, I think, in many, many years give
the public the important things that they are entitled to.

It is a powerful force as a medium, and what it is doing is just
wrong.

The reason I wanted to say that is because I know now that I am
away from radio, in the last 9 months, and in meeting a world that
1 never really saw—I only spoke to—but I was never in real contact
with them—even though they are not aware of it, because the pub-
lic is always apathetic of fhese things, that they have to be led
l}]ul'otg%h radio, and I hope that they will be, and I am sure that they
will be.

The Crramryax. Mr. Prescott, it seems to me that what you have
said about the radio industry is certainly most appropriate. But
your testimony has not indicated to me that the sole responsibility is
with tlhe broadcasting industry, which you seem to criticize rather
severely.

I think insofar as these instances you have explained, they justi-
fy the criticism.

But you did say, as I understood, in answer to a question from Mr.
Bennett, that these decisions primarily, with reference to the records,
mnusic, were made by you as the diskjockey.

Mr. Prescorr. Not what I played, Mr. Chairman. That was
dictated to me.

The CamrmaN. That part of it was dictated to you?

Mr. Prescorr. Yes. Radio in the last 4 years has become——

The Cramyax. I thought you said a moment ago that you would
take in a lot of records, but you reserved the right to determine which
ones you played.

Mr. Prescorr. Yes, I did, sir. What I mean is that the records that
I played were dictated by a formula of the top 50, and I was allowed
to play maybe four songs an hour of my own choice.

The Criairaran. Well, that is the other thing that I was going to
mention, which it seems gets beyond the broadcast industry’s control
under the present proceﬁure, and that is the music companies. It
seems to me that they were the primary factor in the methods of pro-
moting these records.

Mr. Prescorr. There is no question about it that we are all terribly
guilty in one way or another.

The CrramaaN. It séems to me that is a part of the industry which
gets back to the talent, managers, and so forth, and their keen desire
to develop a top record.

Mr. Prescorr. That is vight. The amazing thing is—I don’t know
whether you had noticed it or not—but it has been reflected in the last
few weeks—things that should have been done a long time ago. But
many radio stations suddenly, as you probably know, have abandoned
the fop 40 format, because of the investigations, and they have gone
the other way. A lot of new stations are cropping up that are playing
a different grade of music, a better grade of musie, which is a wonder-
ful thing. Dut it should have happened a long time ago.

The Criamyan. Now, you have been in the business these years, and
I think you are an experienced man, and you can answer some of
these questions. But I will say that I join Mr. Lishman, our counsel,
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for commending you in your willingness to talk very freely about this
entire situation f}rom your experience. It certainly has given me an
insight into how this thing actually operates.

You having been in the business a good long while, isn’t there some
kind of a weekly sheet that comes out that is called some kind of a
rating on records, and so forth, that diskjockeys adhere to pretty
carefully ?

Mr. Prescorr. Cash Box, Billboard, Variety—things like that, there
are several of them.

The Criamryman. Which is the one that so many of them use as their
guide to determine what records are most popular, say, for a particu-
lar week ? ‘

‘Mr. Prescorr. The two prominent guides are the Cash Box maga-
zine and Billboard magazine.

The Cramryan. Well, are they followed mostly by diskjockeys, or
do they follow—you mentioned a moment ago the suggestions that
come from the stores.

Mr. Prescort. Oh, sure. I have no personal faith in either one of
those two surveys. I think stations adhere to them on an executive
level because it is easier, it is printed for them, and they can say,
“Here’ it is; our work is done for us, and it is as good as anything that
exists.”

But I do not place any credence in either one.

The Cramman. Do you think those ratings are rigged, in order to
get—-

Mr. Prescorr. Do I think that they are?

The CHAIRMAN. Yes.

Mr. Prescorr. Oh, sure. I do not believe that they are reflective
of what exists in the country.

. The Cuamman. I think you have a lot of people who agree with
ou.
Y Mr. Prescorr. That, too, is another bad thing—to have to take a
whole broadcasting industry of over 3,000 stations and for lack of
ambition or what have you, simply say, “There it is. It is printed for
us. Let’s use it,” without really Knowing how good or bad it is.

When a whole industry depends on something like that, I think it
is a tragedy.

The CuammaN. You said a moment ago that if you were a station
manager, you would know how to prevent payola.

Mr. Prescorr. Yes, sir.

The Cramaan. How would you do it ?

Mr. Prescorr. Well, there are many ways of doing it. No. 1, I
would set up a kind of—first of all, you would have to determine the
format of tﬁe station obviously in terms of what you want to play.
But assuming it is a popular music station, I would set up a kind of
control and take away the selection of the music, No. 1, from the disk-
jockeys so that they would have no personal contact in any way with
any distributors or publishers or record companies. You would have
to do that.

Now, then you would say, “Well, whoever is in charge would have
a personal contact with them.” I think that would depend largely
upon who you select to do it, or whether it is one or two or three
people, and who the people are. But I think it can be controlled on
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that level, if the music is taken away from the diskjockey’s selection,
because that is where it will probably exist in its biggest form.

There are other ways of controlling it, and that is by buying records
instead of being served, if a station is so inclined. The mere fact
that they will buy their records instead of accepting free records will
in no way obligate them.

Another way is to keep distributors, promotion men, away from the
radio stations so that they are not allowed to visit the stations at all
during business hours.

Then, of course, the most important thing, and I think this is
probably the toughest problem, is that radio itself is responsible for
exposing whatever it exposes, and if it does not expose what is ob-
viously rank or bad music, then these companies cannot continue to
function. And let us face it.

Mr. Harris, you can go into the record business tomorroy, sir, for
$150, with a chance of making $100,000. It is as simple as that. All
you need are four musicians at a cost of $200——

The Crmamuman. Is that a proposition?

Mr. Prescorr. No. All you need is the musicians, a singer for
$100—there is a total outlay of maybe $250. And $1,500, if you want
to go a little bit further, for payola, and you are in the ring.

ut anybody can go into the record business. They record songs
in cellars, in telephone booths, it doesn’t make any difference—
wherever there is a tape machine and a plug.

As long as you can do these things, and stations—and I do not
understand why they are willing to expose these things, or they allow
it to be exposed—they just keep the level of music, the basic level of
music down.

The thing that bothers me is you begin to wonder what is going
to happen to the kids of today when they grow up—they are going to
have a heck of a musical education and heritage to pass on to their
children.

The Cuarrmax. Did you attend the diskyjockey convention in
Florida ¢

Mr. Prescort. No. When I got throngh at 6 o’clock, I resigned as
a diskjockey and went home. I never did record hops or never social-
ized with the stars or went to night clubs to a great extent, unless I
took my wife out to dinner or something. But I tried to live two
separate lives. I often wonder why.

Mr. BEnnerT. Would you play records of the companies that were
paying you that you would not otherwise have played !

Mr. Prescorr. Well, Mr. Bennett, I do not want to sound as though
I am a lily-white boy who did not do anything wrong. I had my own
set of ideals. I wounld not play records personally, although I know
it exists, just for money—"“Here is a record, you must play it.” Why
or how, you know, I became associated with two distributors in this
town—it is just one of those things. Maybe it was too tempting. But
T always reserved the right to play what I wanted to play. I wonld
never allow anybody personally to dictate to me that I must play a
particular record. But I think I was a little different than most
people. I am certainly the exception in that area. DBut that does
not. change the situation at all. T mean, it does not make me any
nicer.
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Mr. Bexxerr. Well, you don't feel you did anything wrong?

Mr. Prescort. Oh, yes; I have.

Mr. BennNerr. You did not play any records that you would not
otherwise have played had you not Keeu paid.

Mr. Prescorr. Well, as I have often said, and it sounds strange, I
probably would have played the records anyway. Isut it is just that
In my particular case, it was very tempting at that time. I had to
get away from it for that reason. And I did. I walked away at a
time when I felt I could have gone on for many more years. But
I just did not like myself,

Mr. BExNETT. 1t 1s hard for me to believe they would pay for play-
ing something that you would play anyway.

Mr. Prescorr. They were guaranteed a certain amount of exposure
on their labels. They do not care what became a hit, as long as it was
their record that you played, and not somebody else’s.

Mr. Ben~err. What you were getting paid for, then, actually was
to play a certain percentage of their records.

Mr. Prescort. Yes.

Mr. BenyerT. But you claim you only played, of that percentage,
the ones that you would have played anyway, whether you got paid
or not.

Mr. Prescort. Probably—yes. That is why I, unlike a lot of other
diskjockeys, never had relationships with any other distributors in
Boston, except the 214 that we talked about, in a market of 11 dis-
tributors. I¥ I was contaminated in my own opinion to the point
where I would take anything to play anything, I probably would have
had relationships with all of them.

Mr. Bennerr. I wanted to ask you a question about this exclusive

laying; that is, by your competitors in Boston. I haven’t looked
into that at all. T don’t know whether it is against the law, or whether
it comes under the Federal Trade regulations or not.

But this practice of manufacturers giving an exclusive to some one
dealer is a very common one in other areas.

Mr. Prescorr. Talking about clothing, things like that ?

Mr. Bennert. Clothing, automobiles, cameras, almost anything you
can think of—a manufacturer will select one dealer in an area and
give him a franchise.

Mr. PrescorT. You see, records are not franchised, that is the differ-
ence. Records are theoretically available to everybody.

Mr. Ben~NErT. I mean, do record manufacturers have one outlet,
sa

{Ir. Prescort. Franchise distributors; 7yes.
Mr. Bexyerr. Is that a common thing ?

Mr. Prescorr. Ol, sure.
Mr. Ben¥ETT. Well, what is the difference between that and giving
it to—— )

Mr. Prrscort. Well, the distributor would then go to only one
radio station and prevent the others from having it. You see, we are
talking about the exposure of the record on an exclusive basis, not the
selling of it.

Mr. BenxeTT. Well, we get down to a pretty fine point. That is,
between exposure——
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Mr. Prescorr. If there are 11 stations in a market, that distributor
theoretically, as he does today, services all the radio stations, and he
wants—the backbone of his business is exposure. He has to get it
played on as many stations as he possibly can. But this situation was
the reverse. They kept it away from other stations because they
wanted to put all their eggs in one basket.

Mr. BExNETT. They were causing you a good deal of harm.

Mr. Prescort. Terrible.

Mr. Bex~Nerr. Was the station owner aware of this practice?

Mr. Prescort. Ol, sure, the whole city was aware of it. But there
was nothing we could do. 'We could not combine as a unit of seven or
eight stations and say we are not going to play your record, because
then we would have violated the law.

Mr. Bennerr. Did you ever complain to anybody about it ?

Mr. Prescorr. In my case, I was probably too young to appreciate
it, but I should have. I would do that now.

Mr. Bennerr. Did the station owner complain ?

Mr. Prescorr. I don’t think so.

Mr. Ben~Nerr. Did he complain to the FCC?

Mr. Prescorr. I really do not know. I assume he did not, because
nothing was ever done to eliminate that situation.

Mr. B?ENNE’I'I‘. Did you take it up with your attorney to get a legal
opinion ?

Mr. Prescorr. Probably not. But the tragedy of it is you get a 3-
year jump on all the other stations in the market, as a result of a little
insignificant thing like that, and you can maintain the ratings you
develop in those 3 years and reflect them for many more years in the
future. And that is one of the bad results of that thing, because it
kept a lot of stations down and kept revenue off the air.

Mr. Bennerr. Now, I assume there are many stations around the
country that have engaged in this practice.

Mzr. Prescorr. Yes, sir.

Mr. Bexnerr. 1 just assume that. By your indictment of the prac-
tice, which I concur in, you did not mean to indict the whole 3,000
stations, did you?

Mr. Prescorr. Oh no. I take a situation that exists in Boston.

Mr. BenNerT. You are indicating those guilty of practices you are
talking about here.

Mr. PrescorT. Yes.

Mr. BEnnerr. What about WNEW in New York?

Mr. Prescorr. WNEW in New York? I worked for them for a
year. I think it is perhaps one of the best-run stations in the entire
country. It is a fine station.

Mr. Bexnerr. Did they do the same thing on payola?

Mr. Prescorr. Well, if you want a personal and objective opinion,
I do not think they are guilty of payola in total. They are a pretty
good station. You see, they rely on a very fine point that is hard to
put into words. But they rely on a kind of creativity and being dif-
ferent for their popularity. I do not know how many of you are
familiar with the station, %ut records really are not important on a
show that they have in the morning—the “Clavin and Finn Show”—
you are listening primarily for the personalities. There are other
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peO{)le on the station that reflect wonderful taste in music, becanse most
of them play a lot of the things you do not hear on most stations.

They are not a station out to sell records, where many stations
predicate their image on selling the record because selling it makes
you popular, and it gets the teenagers. They have always had a
philosophy, “We do not care if the teenagers listen to us—but we are
not going after them specifically.”

Mr. BenNerr. Well, do you think without payola that a lot of this
so-called junk music, rock and roll stuff, which appeals to the teen-
agers would not be played, or do you think that kind of thing would
be played anyway, regardless of the payola?

Mr. Prescorr. Never get on the air.

Mr. Bexxetr. Do you think payloa is responsible for it?

Mr. Prescorr. Yes; it keeps it on the air, because it fills pockets.

The Ciramrmax. Mr. Mack, do you have any questions?

er. Mack. Mr. Prescott, you mentioned that payola started in 1947,
I believe.

Mr. Prescorr. I feel that 1947, Mr. Mack, was the beginning of the
tremendous growth of the record business as a business. You see,
prior to that I don’t think there were any more than 15 million or 18
million record players in the United States, over a long period of
time, since the first record was made. But beginning with 1947 and
through 1955 I think that number almost tripled. And then of course
RCA Victor introduced the 45—I don’t know whether you remember
the battle of the speeds, but they spent a tremendous amount of
money to force the 45-revolutions-per-minute speed. And when the
45 was finally adopted by the record-buying public, it killed the life
of the 78, and those machines sold like hotcakes. So 1947 was the
beginning of the growth of the record business. Even albums did
not really come into a big productivity until about 1952.

Mr. Mack. Well, then, would you say that 1947 was the beginning
of payola as such, as the definition of the word ¢

Mr. Prescorr. It began at that point, yes. But you see, in those
days the biggest payola was the exclusive record, believe it or not,
because diskjockeys were just beginning to become popular around
that time. And 1t was more important for a jockey at that time to
get an exclusive record and be able to shout, “I have got it,” where
nobody else had it on the one or two other stations, than money.
But then as the diskjockey grew into a business, he realized his power.
At that time he did not know what his image was, because he was
just starting in a relatively new business. So he went into the areas
of personnel management, publishing, putting his name on songs, and
whatever it is. It has been a natural evolution in a more or less
new business.

Mr. Mack. What did yon mean by the exclusive record ?

Mr. Prescorr. What we talked about earlier—where he would get
the record and his competitors would not have it. This was the great-
est kind of payola.

Mu. Macic. That is what I waated to find out. That is a result of
payola.

Mr. Prescorr. That was the prevalent payola at that time. Then
it developed into money, and more money for more people. But the
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diskjockey life, and of course the independence radio, as you know,
is relatively just a short thing.

Mr. Mack. Then you worked as a diskjockey from this time, 1947
to 1957, participating in this business.

Mr. Prescorr. That is right. I have nothing to hide.

Mr. Mack. Isthat correct?

Mr. Prescorr. Yes, sir.

Mr. Mack. Well, in this 10-year period you must have had many
opportunities to join the club.

Mr. Prescort. All the time.

Mr. Mack. And that datesback to 1947.

Mr. Prescorr. Oh sure.

Mr. Mack. I have no other questions.

Mr. DErounianN. No questions.

The CuarrMax. Mr. Moss.

Mr. Moss. Yes, sir.

You indicated that a librarian at WBZ had placed a record on the
top 50. I think you indicated that if a record appeared on this list
of 40 or 50 tunes, whatever it might be, that you were obligated to
play it, even though you might not otherwise have played it.

Mr, PrescoTT. Yes.

Mr. Moss. Was this a list of your own station ¢

Mr. Prescorr. It was made up by the librarian, to represent the
programing of the station.

Mr. Moss. By the station librarian. It was an individually com-
piled list.

Mr. Prescorr. Yes.

Mr. Moss. Do you suspect the librarians took some payola ?

Mr. Prescorr. Unquestionably.

Mr. Moss. So the payola did finally force you to put records on the
air you would not otherwise have played.

Mr. Prescorr. Sure, that is the top 40. You see, Mr. Moss, payola
is a wonderful way of finding the avenue where it is accepted. And
if you take it from the diskjockey and you put it in the hands of a
librarian, it just seems to find itself in that area. I guess the only
thing you can say is that if you can just reach one pomt somewhere
where you know that the people are honorable, and that they would
not accept it, and put them in charge of the thing, I guess maybe that
is the only way you can do it.

Management, unfortunately, for too many years never really took
an active interest in what was played on the air.

Mr, Moss. Well

Mr. Prescorr. I mean that wasterribly neglected, I think.

Mr. Moss. Are you convinced that management was unaware of
payola?

Mr. Prescorr. Well, when you say unaware—you know, I cannot
talk about an entire industry. I can talk about isolated situations.

Mr. Moss. I only expect you to speak of that management with
which you are familiar.

Mr. Prescorr. When I worked at WORIL, I think my boss at
that time, who is a prett}}i wonderful guy, was very naive and just did
not believe that any such a thing could exist. I think at WBZ they
certainly knew that there was payola.
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Mr. Moss. They took it ¢

Mr. PrescoTr. You are talking about management now ¢

Mr. Moss. Yes.

Mzr. Prescorr. Well, they practiced it in their own way.

Mr. Moss. How many alﬂums did they get ?

My, Prescorr. Well, close to $10,000 or more of musie.

Mr. Moss. Were you authorized in soliciting these albums to permit
yourself to favor their music on the air?

Mr. Prescorr. Personally, no.

) Mr; Moss. Or was Mr. Givens authorized to make such representa-
tions!?

Mr. Prescorr. To make the representation to a company—oh sure,

Mr. Moss. Then the management of your station there was engaged
in soliciting payola.

Mr. Prescorr. If you did not promise them something, Mr. Moss,
there was no reason for them to give it to you.

Mr. Moss. I recognize that we have re seatedly heard how naive
management is. But somehow I could not believe that to be true also
in the record business.

Mr. Prescorr, At WBZ I think they knew what payola was. I think
they practiced it in their own way. I think they were aware of it.
I think in their case it was delinquency. T hey just did not do any-
thing to try to in any way stop it. As I say, in the case of WORIL
we just happened to have a very nice guy who did not believe it
existed.

Mr. Moss. The librarian is the music director, and the one who has
general supervision over what the diskjockeys are going to play.

Mr. Prescorr. For the most part in today’s radio, he has a much
stronger role than he ever has had.

Mr, Moss. Of course, the important difference today is that radio
uses its own news and features very little network time. It is all
locally programed, and the cheapest way of programing is to record.

Mr. Prescorr. Definitely. The last 4 years, with the crombling of
the networks—independent radio has become almost most of your sta-
tions throughout the country.

Mr. Moss. Now, I just want to go back to some earlier questioning,
merely to clear up the record, because it seenis to me we have a point
that is a little confused. You mentioned that Mr. Carter, of Music
Suppliers, made a downpayment on this automobile, and Music Sup-
pliers then paid the monthly payments?

My, Prescorr. Noj I remember that. And I didn’t say anything. I
made the downpayment, with my automobile; traded it in.

Mr. Moss. That constituted the downpayment ?

Mr. Prescorr. They carried $2,000 \\'Ol't])l’ of the payments.

Mr, Moss. I just wanted that clear, because it was confused on the
record.

That is all ¥ have, Mr. Chairman.

The CizaiRMAN. Mr. Devine.

Mr. Devine. Yes.

Mbr. Prescott, the word itself, payola, is that a word that was coined
by diskjockeys for this practice? T am frank to say I never heard of
the word before our hearings last year.

Mr. Prescort. Yes; I think 1t was coined by the industry, the
record people, diskjockeys.
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Mr. DeviNe. About 19477
. Mr. Prescorr. A little later than that. But it goes back, I would
say, a good 10 or 12 years.

Mr. DeviNe. You seem to have a vocabulary that is perhaps con-
fined to the diskjockey industry—this “laying on,” the hype, the free-
bees—all those words, are they just lingo of the diskjockeys?

Mr. Prescorr. Yes. Those are slangular expressions that are typi-
cal of the industry. They savea lot of time and explanation.

Mr. Devixe. Take an independent station at 8 o’clock at night says,
“Iere is a new record that is 31 on the list.” And they play 1t. And
then at 8 o'clock the following morning they play the same record and
say it is 17 on the list.

Mr. Prescorr. 1le probably forgot his list that day and was trying
to remember.

Mr. Devine. There is no accuracy ?

Mr. Prescorr. I will show you something else that is unbelievable—
two things. If you play a record that is number 50, and you will play
a record that is No. 1, t{e only difference is in the mathematical num-
ber that you give it on a piece of paper. But in terms of the air, it is
exactly the same thing. Number 50 is getting the same exposure as
No. 1. It makes no difference what the position is when it is being
played, except either orally or on paper, because it is getting a play for

a pay. . . . .
{r. DevixE. It is misleading the public as to which is the most
popular.

Mr. Prescorr. But this is the most interesting thing, and I have
seen this happen, and a good mathematician would probably pull his
hair out. A radio station will call a record store and say, “YWhat are
your top 40 best selling records this week?” And he will give them
a list.

Now, the radio station will get on the air and play those 40 songs
and say these are the reflected sale of a record store. Now,a distribu-
tor will come in and say, I would like you to buy this recorc 2 Te
says, “How can I buy it? It is not on the top 40.” So he can’t buy
it So the distributor will say, “Well, I'll tell you what I will do.
Ilere are three free records for every one that you buy.” Next week
it is on the top 40. Another record has to be taken off. A record that
may be actually selling and more popular than all of them may no
longer be on that top 40. And yet a song that has not even been ex-
posed on the air yet. is in the top 40. ¥Tow do you justify it ?

Mr. DEvinEe. Generally a thought-control operation; isn’t it? That
is all.

The CriairMaN. A payola operation.

Well, Mr. Prescott, again I want to compliment you for your very
frank and forthright testimony here today. Iven though you were
at first, understandably so, reluctant to provide information or talk
about it to the investigators, or our staff, after you got into 1t and
found out what the situation was, you have been very helpful, ex-
plaining for the record just. how this business operates from the stand-
point of an experienced man.

I know we have asked you a good many questions, and you have
been very free with your answers. I mean by that you have not hesi-
tated to give very frank answers to us.
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May I ask you if there is anything else, any other information you
care to give the committee, anything we have overlooked that might
be helpful to us?

Mr. Prescorr. You are talking primarily in the area we talk about,
records and so on ?

The CuamrMaN. Yes. Or any other particular station or company
or operation we have not discussed this morning ?

Mr. Prescorr. Noj I think, frankly, we have covered most of the
important things. )

'izhe Cuamyan. Do you know from your own knowledge that this
same situation is going on in other places, in Boston, where you work ?

Mr. Prescorr. Oh, sure.

The Cramraan. What are some of the areas you know of, that are
rather outstanding in this type of operation ?

Mr. Prescorr. Well, I think that the situation exists in many
Boston stations. I think you are probably aware of it, through your
investigating committee.

The Ciraryan. I mean outside of Boston, in other areas.

Mr. Prescorr. Other areas? Well, it is primarily what you hear,
you know. Things happen in Cleveland that I think bear out the fact
that have existed in Cleveland. There was an unleaval in Detroit.
I.think almost anywhere you go, you are going to find it.

The Ciamaan. From your association with the record companies
in New York, one would not suppose it was limited just to your visits
with Mr. Givens.

Mr. Prescorr. No; I think other stations could probably accom-
plish that. But I think frankly that would be predicated on the
strength and popularity of the individual station. In other words, I
know many diskjockeys who never receive records from record comni-
panies, because they do not consider the station as valuable enough to
even spend 50 cents a record on them, as a free service. So I think
that the power of the station and also its accomplishments has a lot
to do with getting what you want. The bigger the station, the more
you can get, is what it amnounts to.

Mr. DeviNe. Mr. Prescott, I had occasion to talk to a diskjockey
who is not necessarily friendly with this committee or the work we are
doing, and he indicated to me that an experienced diskjockey, such as
you are, could listen to any diskjockey program for a period of 10
minutes and tell whether they were receiving payola or not.

Mr. Prescorr. Ie's got a point, sir.

Mr. Deving. Is there anything you could tell this committee that
would be a tipolt at least to the investigators on the type of thing to
look for?

Mr. Prescort. Well, the type of thing to look for-

Mr. Duvixe. In the pitch of the diskjockey on the air?

Mr. Prescorr. You mean in terms of what ?

Mr. DeviNe. Well, just listening to a diskjockey perform for 10
minutes or half an hour, the pitch he uses, the type of thing, whether
he mentions a label, things like that.

Mr. Prescorr. Well, I can tell you that mentioning a label is very
imsignificant. It has nothing to do in relationship to the popularity
of the sale of a record, because people just do not buy that way. I
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can say this. Sometimes a diskjockey will play a record six times
in4 hours. He is not doing that for nothing.

Mr. Devine. That’s what I mean. Are there other key things like
that, that would reveal it to you?

Mr. Prescorr. Sure, there are little tricks you become aware of.
He might say: “IHere is Frank Sinatra to sing. Hereisa lovely song
by Dinah Shore. But right now I have a record that is going to
gas you, the biggest record in the world,” and just talk about it and
eulogize it for 10 minutes. Beware of that record.

The CrairyMan. Thank you very much.

Mr. Prescorr. Thank you.

Mr. BennEerT. Just one final question. Did you attend the Disk-
jockey Convention in Miami?

Mr. Prescorr. Mr. Bennett, I did not attend the Diskjockey Con-
vention. I have heard a lot of stories about it. It must have been
quite a time. I think that the article in Time magazine was probably
the greatest caption I have ever seen, which was taken from a Miami
paper when it said that the convention was nothing but “booze, broads,
and bribes.” And I think that summed up the whole meaning of the
convention in Miami. As a matter of fact, if you ever get into hotel
investigations, find out why the Americana won the account and not
the Fontainebleu or the Eden Roc, because there must have been some
“hanky-panky” there, too.

The CratrmaN. Well, again, thank you very much, Mr. Prescott.

Do you have anything else, Mr. Lishman ¢

Myr. LisayaN. No, siT.

The Cramrman. I think that if you have something you wanted to
say

Mr. Krarrerp. Very, very briefly, Mr. Chairman. I just wanted to
say that my client’s reluctance, which appeared at the outset, was due
primarily not because he had anything to hide, or not that he was
going to try to pull the wool over anyone’s eves, but he does have a
very important position in a field which is somewhat allied to this
record business. e did feel that without a certain feeling of security
to some degree, to come to Washington and tell what he knew volun-
tarily, would seriously impair his right to even a livelihood. And I
want to let the committee know that this was the underlying factor
about his original reluctance—because I think that you are all quite
aware today of his willingness to cooperate. We have been here
twice.

Along that line, sir, T would respectfully like to request that what
he has said be handled with the discretion that you gentlemen possess
insofar as greater interrogations of other witnesses are concerned—
try to protect my client to the best of yonr ability, so that it will not
interfere with the purposes of the committee.

I should also like to call to your attention—I am referring to para-
graph O of the rules here—which state that no evidence or testimony
taken in this session, in substance, may be released in a public session
without the consent of the committee. This is the consent. of the com-
mittee that T am asking for. And also if it is possible, sir, we would
like to be excused, if the committee has no further use for us.
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The Cuairman. I can appreciate, of course, the reasons for your
statement. The committee will make the determination as to whether
or no: this testimony will be made public, and if so, when. It is very
likely that a great deal of this will come out in public hearings. Con-
sequently, if that develops there would be little point in not making
available this testimony, as a matter of fact, in connection with the
investigation. But at the present time I do not personally think
it should be made public.

Aud the other point—well, of course, naturally the committee sta ff,
having made these investigations, and having a great deal of this in-
formation, will undoubtedly ask questions of other witnesses on some
of the same things we have been talking about today. That, of course,
cannot be avoided.

I do not think we will need you any further. Consequently, you
may be excused. Should the committee later find it necessary to talk
with you further, we will let you know and give you ample time. But
so far as I can see at this time, we will not need you further. You
may be excused if you like.

Mr. Prescorr. Thank you very much, sir.

The CuairMaN. Again, with the thanks of the committee.

The committee will adjourn until 2 o’clock and we meet in the
caucus room again.

(Whereupon, at 12:45 p.m., the committee stood in recess until 2
p.m. of the same day.)

AFTERNOON SESSION

(The subcommittee reconvened in the caucus room, Old House
Office Building, Washington, D.C.)

The Criarman. The committee will come to order.

Permit the Chair to make this statement at this time. There seems
to be a great deal of concern and so much urgency for a witness list,
that is, the witness list of today. I do not know why it is so important
that everybody has got to have the witness list well in advance of
the time when the witnesses are going to be called.

The Chair and the comnmittee, of course, like to cooperate, but we
cannot tell every time, which witness is going to be called next. And
it is impossible to tell how many witnesses are going to be reached in
a given period of time,

So I ask that everyone bear with us: It will be our purpose to de-
velop what we can, the facts in these matters. And we are going
to use such witnesses as will be helpful to us in bringing out the
facts, and the truth.

I hope that will be sufficient for everyone to understand the reason
behind this, We cannot be giving out names, or be sure that they will
be heard this day or even be heard at all later.

Mr. Paul G. O'Friel.

Just a minute, gentlemen, this committee is in session. Gentlemen,
you have been around here long enough to know what the rules are,
and if you want the Chair to cooperate with you, I hope that you will
do the same thing. T have tried to cooperate in the past on these
things. Therefore, I do not intend to permit this going on when a
witness is presented here.

56861—60—pt. 1——4
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1 hope that T can have your cooperation in the future, because, after
all, there is a responsibility in the operation of this committee as pro-
vided for in the rules.

Mr. O'Friel, do you object to having pictures taken in connection
with your appearance here?

Mr. O’Frier. Not before I testify, no.

The Cratrman. For 30 seconds you gentlemen can continue and
we will recess the committee for that purpose.

(A brief recess was taken.)

The Ciratraan. Will you rise and be sworn

Do you solemnly swear the testimony you are about to give to this
subcommittee will be the truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the
truth, so help you God ?

Mr. O’Frier. Ido.

The Crnairyan. Iave a seat.

1 hope that we may have the attention of everyone here. T did call
attention to the fact that you are here as guests of the committee. Con-
sequently, we hope we will have order, just as much as possible.

TESTIMONY OF PAUL @. O’FRIEL, WEST NEWTON, MASS.

The CrairMaN. State vour name, please.

Mr. O’Frier. Paul G. O’Friel.

The CratrMaN. Mr. O’Friel, where do you live; what is your ad-
dress?

Mr. O'Frrern. I reside at 29 Vincent Street, West Newton, Mass.

The Cizairaax. What is your business or profession ?

Mr. O’Frier. I am general manager of WBZ Radio in Boston, Mass.

The Cuairyax. Mr. Lishman, youmay proceed.

Mr. Lisuaaan. Mr. O'Friel, how long have you been general man-
ager of WBZ and WBZ-TV %

Mr. O’Frier. I have been general manager of WBZ Radio since
July of 1958. Iam not general manager of WBZ-TV.

Mr. Listaan. In November and December of 1959, did you in your
capacity as general manager, cause an investigation to be made to de-
termine whether diskjockeys, program directors, music librarians, or
other personnel of WBZ had been engaging in so-called pavola prac-
tices?

Mr. O’Frien. Yes,sir.

Mr. Lisiarax. And would you state for the record what you believe
pavola practices tobe ?

Mr. O’Frier. I believe payola practices to be the payment or gifts
from third parties to individuals to influence their selection of pro-
graming material.

Mr. Lisuyay, That is people who receive and accept money or other
things of value for playing records over the air; is that correct ¢

Mr. O’Frizr. Yes, sir. As I said, to influence their selection of
programing material. And this would include records.

Mr. Lisuayan. Without making announcements of the fact that they
had received paymeuts for such ?

Mr. O'Frien. Yes. This was receiving gifts from third party in-
tevests to influence them in their selection of programing.
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Mr. LisumaN. As the result of that investigation, did you determine
whether anyone connected with WIBZ had accepted moneys or other
valuable considerations for playing certain records on the air?

Mr. O’FriL. The results of our investigation were negative.

Mr. Lisnyan. Did you find, as the result of that investigation, that
some personnel connected with WBZ had received either money or
gifts fll)'om record distributors ?

Mr. O’FrieL. Yes; we did.

Mr. Lisaman. And what did your investigation show to be the pur-
pose of such money or other gifts?

Mr. O’Frier. In one case, it was a business gift—a regular business
amenity.

In the second one it was a case where they received money for advice
in the selection of records for record hops.

Mr. LisiiaraN. What is a record hop ¢

Mr. O’Frirr. A record hop is an outside activity by a diskjockey,
usually it is put on by some c]llaritable organization to raise funds, and
they ask the diskjockey there, to spin records.

Mr. Lisuyan. But they do not go out over the air?

Mr. O'FrieL. Noj this is entirely separate and distinet from the air
appearances.

Mr. Lisuivan. Well, as the result of that investigation was it ascer-
tained that two diskjockeys employed by WBZ; namely, Mr. David
Maynard and Mr. Alan Dary lhad accepted money and other gifts
from record distributors?

Mr. ’FrieL. We did ascertain that these two gentlemen, Mr. May-
nard and Mr. Dary, did receive gifts from record distributors.

Mr. Lasmorax. Ks a result of your investigation what action was
taken by \WWBZ with respect to Mr. Maynard ?

Mr. O'Frien. In Mr. Maynard’s case, for a period of 5 weeks, we
suspended him from the air, during which time we reviewed the facts
of the case thoroughly and then * * * period.

Mr. Lismiax. What if any action did WBZ take with respect to
Alan Dary? '

Mr. O’Frien. In completion of my last answer to the last question,
and in_answer to this, too, both of these individuals were put on a
probationary status and strict control put over their activities.

Mr. Listiyrax. What is the present situation—that of Mr. Maynard,
with respect to WBZ?

Mr. O'Frirr. Heis on a probationary status.

DMr.? Listiaran. And does that same thing hold true for Mr. Alan
ary?

Mr. O’'Fre1L. Yes.

Mrs. Lisiiaan. Did Mr. Maynard admit to you or other representa-
tives of WBZ that he had received money or other things of value from
record manufacturers, distributors, promoters, or retailers?

Mr. O’FrieL. Yes,sir.

Mr. Lisnman. Did he admit receiving anything of a valuable nature
from Music Suppliers, Inc.?

Mr. O’FrieL. Yes, sir.

Mr. Lisiyan. Did he admit receiving money or other things of
value from Donald Dumont of Dumont Records Distributors?



48 RESPONSIBILITIES OF BROADCASTING LICENSEES

Mr. O’FrIEL. Yes,sir. )

Mr. Tastaax. Did you or other representatives of WBZ obtain an
affidavit from Mr. Maynard with respect to money or other things of
valne which he received from Music Suppliers, Inc., or DuMont Rec-
ords Distributors?

Mr. O’FrieL. Yes, sir.

Mr. Listiaan. Is it correct that Mr. Maynard admitted receiving
checks totaling $400 in 1958 and totaling $1,175 during 1959%

Mr. O’FrieL. Yes,sir.

Mr. Lisiiazan. Did he indicate from whom these checks had been
received ?

Myr. O’Frien. Yes,sir.

Mr. LisinniaN. Did he, also, state that Music Suppliers made pay-
ments on his behalf for a 1957 Mercury station wagon, and subse-
quently, on a 1959 Buick, amounting to about $1,300 a year for a 2-
year period ¢

Mr. O’Frier. I believe that is correct, ves, sir—I am not sure of
the amounts.

Mr. Lisiatan. Did Mr. Maynard, either in the affidavit or other-
wise, admit receiving any other checks, money, or things of value?

Mr. O’Frien. I donotrecall.  As Isay, 1 do not think so.

Mr. Lisiiatan. What was the approximate date of the first discus-
sion, of this matter, with Mr. Maynard ?

Mr. O’FrieL. It was the middle of November—the early part of
November, I would say. Somewhere probably—if you have a calen-
dar, I could refresh my memory.

Mr. Lisuyan. If I'should mention November 24, would that refresh
your recollection ¢

Mr. O'Frier. Yes, I think it possibly, was maybe, a week before that.

Mr. LisuyaN. Did you make any notes of the meeting you had with
Mr. Maynard about this subject matter?

Mr. O’FrieL. Yes, sir.

Mzr. LisiaaN. Do you happen to have those notes with you?

Mr. O'Frier. No, I do not.

Mr. Listaan. On that occasion, what did Mr. Maynard tell you
with reference to the receipt of money or other valuable considera-
tion in connection with his duties as a diskjockey for WBZ?

Mr. O'Frier. He stated that at no time did he receive money, or
gifts of value, in connection with his duties as a diskjockey.

Mr. Lisiinzan. What explanation did he give you for the receipt of
the money he admitted receiving and the payments on the two auto-
mobiles?

I\Ig. O’Frirn. May I have that statement—may I look at a statement
here?

Mr. Lisuman. Yes, you may look at anything you wish.

(11\11'. O’Frier. I am sorry—I do not have a copy here. I thought I
did.

Mr. Lisiiaran. Do you have it ?

Mr. O'Frien. I do. Mr. Maynard stated that the checks were nov
given to him to play records on the radio, but only as an expression
of appreciation for playing them at the numerous record hops which
he conducted during the course of the year. It is true that these:
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record hops were as to the popularity and the potential of these
records, and to obtain immediate public reaction for the same.

Mr. LisayaN. And at the first meeting you had with Mr. May-
nard—what is the date of that affidavit?

Mr. O'FrieL. November 30.

Mr. Lisnman. And that is repetitious of what he told you, at your
first meeting with him, on this matter?

Mr. O’FrieL. Yes, he consistently maintained this position.

Mr. Lisayan. Why would Westinghouse suspend Mr. Maynard
if the money and other valuables he had received were not in connec-
tion with his services as a diskjockey?

Mr. O’FrieL. At first glance, we-were suspicious of this, and de-
cided that we had to get further facts and information.

Mr. Lisuaax. What steps did you take to ascertain the facts?

Mr. O’FrieL. We had numerous interviews with Mr. Maynard.
And we had interviews with the record distributors themselves. And
I caused a review to be made of the music over a period of time—the
music he had played on the air.

Mr. Lisuyax. After vour first conversation with Mr. Maynard,
did you discuss the situation with anyone connected with Westing-
house Broadcasting Co.?

Mr. O’Frien. Yes, I did.

Mr. LisumaN. With whom did you have such discussion ?

Mr. O’Frier. With the area vice president, Mr. Swartley, with Mr.
Woodward, and Mr. Tooke.

My, LisayaN. And did you give these gentlemen a report concern-
ing your conversation with Mr. Maynard ?

Mr. O’Frier. Yes, I did.

Mr. Lisiiaran. Was that report in writing?

Mr. O’FrieL. Yes.

Mr. Lisiyan. Do you have copy of your report?

Mr. O’FrieL. Yes.

Mr. Lisiiman. Mr. O’Friel, I will hand you a copy of a document,
a three-page document, dated December 7, 1959. It appears to be a
report from you to Mr. Swartley, and I will ask you if you can identify
it as being a correct Thermo-Fax copy of that report ?

Mr. O’FrieL. Yes, sir.

Mr. Lasiyan. Mr. Chairman, I would like to have this in the record
a_this point, this report dated December 7, 1959, of Mr. O’Friel to
Mr. Swartley.

The Crramaan. Has it been identified ?

Mr. LisiaaN. Yes.

The Cuamyav. It may be included in the record at this point.

(The document dated December 7, 1959, follows :)

[Confidential]
WBZ, Bostox,
December 7, 1959.
Mr. C. C. Woobarp, Jr.,

Vice President,
WBC, Inc., New York, N.Y.:

On Wednesday, December 2, Bill Swartley and I met with Harry Carter, presi-
-dent, and Gordon Dynerstein, vice president in charge of sales, Music Suppliers,
Inc, 263-265 Huntington Avenue, Boston. Mass. We met in the WBZ radio
suite, room 778, in the Somerset Hotel from 2:35 p.m. to 3:50 p.m.
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Carter and Dynerstein confirmed that they had given a car to Dave Maynard,.
and that they had made the payments on his Buick convertible. They also
said that during 1959 they had given him checks of $100 and $75, totaling $175.
They stated that these checks and car payments were made on the basis of
appreciation for Dave testing new records at record hops. They stated that
they handled many different labels, among which were: MGM, Kmber, ARBC.
Parmnount, ete. They stated that they reecived over 100 records each week,
and it is difficult for them to decide which side might prove more popular and
should be pushed and promoted to the various radio stations to play. They
stated that by giving these records to Maynard to play at record hops he is able
to determine firsthand from those who attend the hop which side might prove to
be worth while. They stated that they felt this played a very valuable part in
their business arrangement. They stated that even the recording companies
felt that record hops were important, and from time to time sent recording
stars to appear at record hops. They were unable to specifically advise the
names and dates of any recording stars who appeared at Maynard’s hops, and
made a halfhearted promise that they would try to work up such a list, if’
possible.

We asked them whether or not they would be able to show from their records
whether or not any sales were made in record stores as a result of record hops
by Maynard; for example, if Maynard gave a record hop in Framingham would
there be any noticeable increase in a particular record sale the next day in the
stores in the Framingham area. Carter and Dynerstein stated that it would
be extremely difficult to verify this by virtue of their records. They further
stated that Maynard conducted more record hops than any three other disk-
jockeys in this area, and his advice was extremely helpful to them.

Also, on Wednesday, December 2, from 4:05 to 5:10 p.m,, we talked with Don
Dumont, who owns Dumont Record Distributing Co., 1280 Tremont $treet. Du-
mont stated that he had been in business approximately 2 years for himiself, and
that prior to that, for about 6 years, he had been associated with Cecil Steen at
Records, Inc., 790 Commonwealth Ave. Dumont advised that he had made pay-
ments of approximately $1,000 to Dave Maynard ; and that they were all by check,
in the amounts of $250, $400, and $100, running from July through October 1959.
He stated that prior to this time he had never been able to show his appreciation
for Maynard's help.

Dumont stated that he was successful on two records over this period of time,
namely, “Mr. Blue”’ and “Mack The Knife.” Dumont stated that he usually sup-
plied records to Maynard to take on record hops and relied on Maynard's judg-
ment to tell him whether or not a record was worthwhile pushing and promoting,
and, more particularly, which side was the side to push. He gave as an example
one instance where everyone thought that one side should be pushed, and then
Maynard, as a result of a record hop, told him the kids reacted to the side on
which was recorded “40 Miles of Bad Road.”

Dumont stated further that on no occasion did Maynard request any remuner-
ation, and, in all cases these checks were volunteered by Dumont to show his
appreciation to Maynard; he said these gifts of appreciation were not paid to
Maynard to influence his selection of music to be played on the air.

Dumont likewise stated that record hops were important, and pointed to the
evidence that recording stars were sent out to appear at record hops. Ile did
not have a list of record hops where recording stars appeared for Maynard. Xow-
ever. he estimated that this has happened on approximately 6 times. He promised
to review his records to see whether or not he could give us further verification.

Dumeont also stated that it would be rather difficult to show a relationship be-
tween the appearance of Maynard at a record hop in a given city, such as Fram-
ingham, and the sale of records resulting therefrom. Ile stated the only way it
would be possible would be if Maynard played a record which the kids liked
and the dealer ordered it before it was available for general distribution. Du-
mont further stated that he belicved Maynard would be unique inasmuch as he
would probably be the only diskjockey to receive gifts of appreciation for a
record that he did at record hops.

In summary, I feel that of these interviews, neither of them were too conclusive
or helpful in either disproving or proving the story which Maynard had given
us. They both stated that they were prepared to testify that the checks which
they had made out to Maynard, and which appeared on their books as sales
promotion expenses, were paid to Maynard in appreciation for his testing records
at record hops.

P. G. O'FrIEL.
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Mr. Lisumaxn. Did you make another report in writing to Mr.
Woodward and Mr. Swartley ?

Mr. O’FrieL. Yes, sir.

Mr. Listiman. I hand you a seven-page document dated January 4,
1960, which appears to be a memorandum from you to Mr. Woodward
and Mr. Swartley of Westinghouse concerning David Maynard, and
ask if you can identify this as a correct Thermo-Fax copy of such
report ?

Mr. O’FrreL. Yes, sir.

Mr. Lisnian. I would like to have this report of January 4, 1960,
from Mr. O’Friel to Mr. Woodward and Mr. Swartley, introduced
into the record at this point.

The CrAIRMAN. It may be received.

(The document dated January 4, 1960, follows :)

[Confidential]
WDBZ GENERAL MANAGER,
January 4, 1960.
Mr. RoLLAND V. TOOKE,
Ezccutive Vice President,
WBC, Inc., New York, N.Y.:

On December 1, 1959, David Maynard was suspended from his on-the-air
assignments on WBZ and WBZ-TV pending further investigation on our part
of the claims he made concerning payments and other consideration accepted
by him from record distributing companies while a radio personality on WBZ.

I think that it is appropriate at this time that we review this case.

In Maynard’s original statement which he submitted in writing to me and W. C.
Swartley, he stated that he had received checks and small gifts from record dis-
tributors but these were not given to him to play records on any radio or tele-
vision programs, but only as an expression of appreciation for playing them at
the numerous record hops which he conducts during the course of the year. He
further stated that these mauny record hops gave him an opportunity to test the
popularity and hit potential of records and to obtain inmediate public reaction,
knowledge which he later shared with the record distributors.

Subsequent to giving us the written statement, Maynard has reiterated its
content on several oecasions. specifically in a meeting with me at 10:15 a.m.
to11: 30 a.m. Tuesday, December 8, 1959 a meeting with John Steen and John J.
MeCarty of the Federal Trade Conunission at 3 p.m. December 9, 1939 : a meet-
ing with his attorney, I’d Smith, Bill Swartley, and the writer at 9: 30 a.m. De-
cember 15. 1959. On this latter occasion, Maynard’s denial was unprompted,
unplanned, and vigorous in his denial of any wrongdoing. Maynard again took
this same stand in another meeting with me in my office at 12:25 p.m. to 1: 05
p.m. December 21, 1959.

On December 19, 1959, after our having requested a sworn statement, stressing
that the sworn statement showld be complcte, accurate, and the whole truth,
Maynard delivered to us a sworn statement to the same effect that he haad given
us in writing on November 30, 1959. Copies of both of these statements have been
furnished to Chuck Woodward.

In both of these statements Maynard admitted the receipt of checks totaling
$400 in 1938, and a total of $1.175 in checks during 1959. In both of his state-
ments Maynard stated that all moneys received by him from all sources were
duly reported by him to the Internal Revenue Bureau and all taxes were paid
in full. The other consideration received by him in addition to the above-men-
tioned checks were the payments on a Mercury station wagon, and beginning
November 1958 on a 1959 Buick, which amounted to about $1,300 a year for 2
years.

After the receipt of Maynard’s original written statement, W. C. Swartley
and the writer on December 2, 1959, met with Harry Carter, president and Gordon
Dynerstein, vice president in charge of sales of Music Suppliers, Inc., of 263-265
Huntington Avenue, Boston, Mass. At this meeting Carter and Dynerstein con-
firmed that they had made payments on the 1959 Buick convertible, and that they
had made payment to him during 1959 of two checks, one of $100, and one $75,
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totaling $175. They stated that these checks and car paynients were made on the
basis of appreciation for Maynard testing new records at record hops. They
stated that this helped them to decide which side of a record should be pushed
and promoted, and they felt that this was a very valuable and worthwhile part in
their business arrangement. They also stated that record hops were important
in their business. so much so that recording stars often appeared if possible.

On December 2, 1059, W. C. Swartley and the writer also met with Don Du-
mont who owns Dumont Record Distributing Co. of 1280 Tremont Street. At this
meeting, Dumont stated that he had niade payments to Maynard in 1959 of
approximately $1,000 between July through October 1959 in the amounts of $400.
$100, and two checks of $250 each. Dumont stated that on no oceasion did May-
pard request any remuneration, and in all cases these checks were volunteered
by Dumont to show his appreciation to Maynard, and that these gifts of appre-
ciation were not paid to Maynard to influence his selection of music to be played
on the air but were given to him because of Maynard’s lielp in testing records at
record hops.

Maynard has stated in our various interviews that he has taken money and
gifts from only two sources, namely, Music Suppliers of New Fngland and Du-
mont Record Distributing Co. Ile stated that he has refused it from all other
sources, and took it only from these two because they are his friends and
neighbors.

During the course of our interview at 2:30 p.m. Monday, December 14, 1959,
with Oliver Eastland and James Kelly, investigators from the House Subcommit-
tee on Legislative Oversight, they asked us questions concerning how Maynard
finuanced his home at 32 Locke Lane, Lexington whether or not we knew if
Maynard received clothes from Louie’s (men’s haberdasher) and charged them
to Music Suppliers; and whether he had an RCA color set in his home: and
whether or not he owned any interest in a recording publishing and distributing
company. While they did not allege anything specific in this regard, they did
plant the seeds of suspicion. They would not furnish us any definite facts,
and, in fact, on our direct request they advised they could not give us any infor-
mation either to prove or disprove our suspicions of Maynard.

In questioning Maynard concering the points raised by the IHouse investiga-
tors, he denied that he received any help on the financing of his home, and
claimed to have a conventional mortgage. He further denied that he has any
clothes from Louie's. He does not have an RCA color TV set in his home nor
has he ever received one.

One of the investigators hinted that possibly Maynard had received a loan of
$1,000 from a record distributor and had repaid it. I checked this with May-
pard and he denied this.

A newspaper reporter furnished us a rumor that Maynard had purchased a
delicatessen, and implied that it was with help from a record distributor. May-
nard did recently purchase the Countryside Delicatessen in Lexington. He was
very frank in furnishing me details of the transaction which appear to me to be
an ordinary personal business venture and definitely not connected with a record
company or a record distributor in any way, shape, or form.

In regard to a trip Maynard took to Pinehurst, N.C., with Gordon Dynerstein
of Music Suppliers in November 1959, Maynard advised me that he withdrew
$1.500 from the bank to cover his own expenses on this trip.

In discussing all allegations and rumors with Maynard he has denied each
and every one of them. Ile has been frank and cooperative in our efforts to
find out the true story.

On December 19, 1959, after asking Maynard to furnish same, we received a
sworn statement from Maynard’s accountant, Mr. Albert F. Orlandino of the
Bedford Accounting Service. In this statement Orlandino stated that he has
been the accountant for Dave Maynard for about 6 years, and that he has pre-
pared his Federal and State tax returns. He stated that in April 1958 when he
filed Maynard’s Federal tax returns he requested a ruling from the Boston office
of the Internal Revenue Service as to the proper method of declaring Maynard’s
outside income. He further stated that at an audit and conference with an
internal revenue agent in the Boston office that Maynard stated that lhe had
received moneys from major record companies for promoting their records at
the numerous record hops at which he appeared during the year. As a result
of such conferences Orlandino, on advice of the internal revenue agent, prepared
a separate schedule C which was attached to Maynard’s tax return, and that it
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contained a statement “Principal Business Activity: Record Hops—Sales Pro-
motion for Major Record Companies.”

A photostatic copy of such schedule C which was filed in April 1959 for the
tax year 1958 has been furnished to C. C. Woodard, together with the sworn
statement of Albert F. Orlandino.

In the course of our investigation we asked Maynard to furnish us with a list
of record hops during the years 1958 and 1959. A copy of these are enclosed, and
I think a review of them will indicate that he is extremely active in this endeavor.
I might add that it is with our blessing and encouragement, that we ask him,
as well as all our personalities to participate in outside appearances, including
record hops, as we feel this outside exposure not only helps to get our diskjockeys
better known among their own audiences, but also helps to build their audiences
and gives them a better feel of the trend of popular music on a firsthand basis.
Maynard does more record hops than any diskjockey in town.

As was indicated during our conversations with record distributors, recording
stars find record hops to be very valuable and appear at them often without
charge in order to promote themselves and their records. There is attached
hereto, also, a list of artists who have appeared at Maynard’s hops during the
last 2 years.

Mel Bailey has reviewed the daily music sheets which Maynard has made up
during June to December 1959. He has found, as a result of this survey, nothing
that would indicate in any way that Maynard may be plugging or playing any
record or records in particular, or for any special reasons or purposes which
would be at variance with our policies.

During the entire course of our inquiries and investigation of this matter, since
Maynard first volunteered the details of this on November 24, 1959, Maynard has
been cooperative and anxious to obtain for us all information possible. During
this period of time he has stuck to the same story without deviation, and has con-
startly maintained that it was the truth and the full extent of his involvement.
He has consistently stated that he has never played a tune because of having
received money or gratuity.

Since his suspension Maynard has lost at least $600 because he has not been on
the air to receive fees, and has not appeared on his regular television show.

Since Maynard has been off the air we have replaced him with other on-the-air
personalities which has meant that these individuals are appearing on their own
shows, as well as Maynard’s. This means that some of our diskjockeys are
working a 7-day week and an extended schedule, even through the holiday season.
This has now created a severe operational problem which I feel will affect our
overall sound and hurt our entire on-the-air sound if action is not taken imme-
diately to resolve this Maynard matter, either one way or the other.

In addition to the loss of money and the loss of exposure during the past 5
weeks, Maynard has also suffered severe personal shock and emotional experi-
ences because of his suspension. His wife, who is expecting their fourth chilld
#nd has had a history of miscarriages and even lost a child in infaney, has not
been in very good health. His children have heen sick, and bis mother-in-law,
who suffers from asthma, was confined to the hospital and on the danger list for
gseveral days.

I am sure that Maynard realizes that he has exercised bad Jjudgment, and in
light of the current situation wishes he had not taken this money and gifts of
appreciation. He is also very much aware of WBC policy in regard to this.

There is no doubt in my mind that Maynard has learned his lesson and will not
repeat the situation. I am also sure that he will conform to any policies, direc-
tives, or conditions that we might enact or set down for him to follow should he
be allowed to return to the air.

From all the facts that we have been able to gather to date we have not been
able to disprove his story that he received these moneys and gifts for his services
at record hops. There is nothing to indicate that the receipt of these things
influenced his musical selections and his programing on our stations. In fact,
we believe that our controls would effectively block any such intentions on his
part. While the facts. as originally brought to our attention, gave us full
reason to move as we did, on closer examination and investigation it does appear
that Maynard's participation in these arrangements with these two record
distributors were geared to his unique activity in the field of record hops.
Nevertheless, any such arrangement obviously shows very poor judgment he-
cause of the tendency that it possibly might have on an individual’s objectivity
and perspective in his employment with us, and the conclusions, adverse to us
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as well as Maynard, that may be reached by others who do not have these
facts.

I believe that based upon what we now know this is a unique situation. It is
definitely distinguishable from pay-for-play which was the basis of our earlier
suspicion that now appears to be unfounded after our investigation and review
over the period of the past 5 weeks, during which we have tracked down every
possible lead, rumor, and innuendo.

Maynard continues to be a valuable piece of talent. We never have had any
quarrel with his on-the-air performance, and he is a cooperative, popular per-
sonality. I would like to see this suspension lifted and return him to the air
immediately, but on a probationary status for an indefinite period of time. This
would be on the conditions that:

(1) Maynard agree that henceforth he will take no moneys, consultation
fees, or substantial gifts from any record companies, distributors, suppliers,
or any other third-party interests.

(2) Maynard cooperate fully with the current investigations by govern-
mental agencies.

(3) Strict control of his music selections and on-the-air appearances be
established during his period of probation.

(4) Maynard assume all payments for his 1959 Buick convertible as
of December 1, 1959.

I recommend that Maynard’s suspension be lifted, and that he be returned to
the air immediately on a probationary basis under the aforementioned condi-
tions, and in this recommendation W. C. Swartley concurs.

After you have had a chance to review this memorandum, if there are any
further questions I would be happy to answer them, but as I have said earlier
1 do feel that it is urgent that we try to resolve Maynard's status immediately in
order to relieve the undue hardship on our other on-the-air personalities as soon
as possible.

Please let me hear from you at the earliest possible time.

PauL G. O'FrIEL.

Mr. Lisuman. Now, following the first discussion you had with
I\'lI)r. M.a);nard on this subject, did you have later discussions with him
about 1t %

Mr. O'Frie. Yes, sir.

Mr. Lisuyax. And did you discuss this matter in the presence
of Mr. Maynard’s attorney, Mr. Edward Smith?

Mr. O’FrieL. Yes, sir.

Mr. Lisunan. Were you and other officials of WBZ, at that time,
aware of the fact that Mr. Smith was also an attorney for Music Sup-
pliers, Inc.?

Mr. O'Frier. No, sir.

Mr. Lisiiman. When did you first learn that Mr. Smith was attor-
ney not only for Mr. Maynard but also Music Suppliers, Inc.?

Mr. O’Frier. On December 14, 1959.

Mr. Lisiaan., December 14, 19597

Mr. O’Frier. Yes, sir.

.I\Il;. Lisnaax. How was that brought to your attention at that
time*

Mr. O’Frier. It was brought to my attention by Mr. Kelly and Mr.
Eastland.

Mr. Lisuyan. And Mr. Kelly and Mr. Eastland are members of
the subcommittee staff?

Mr. O’Frien. Yes, sir.

Mr. Listiatan. Were you also aware at any time that Mr. Smith was
also an officer of DuMont ?

Mr. O'Frien. No, sir.

Mr. Lisinyay. Do you know whether he is an officer of Dumont
Record Distributors?
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Mr. O’FrieL. I cannot verify that. ) )

Mr. Lasiiaan. Well, it is correct, is it not, that Music Suppliers and
DuMont Distributors were the principal sources of payment of money
or other valuable considerations to Mr. Maynard ¢

Mr. O’Frier. Yes, sir. He stated he took it only from those two.

Mr. Lisitsran. What was Mr. Maynard’s explanation to you and the
other WBZ representatives in your presence with reference to the
money and other things given by Music Suppliers, Inc., Dumont Rec-
ords Distributors, zm(ig any other similar sources?

Mr. O’Frien. On all occasions, as I said before, he said this was an
expression of appreciation for playing these numerous record hops
which he conducted during the course of the year.

Mr. Listiaran. Did Mr. Maynard ever tell you that he had received
moneys from Records, Inc., or other record distributors?

Mr. O’FrikL. No,sir,

Mr. Lasivan. Did Mr. Maynard ever admit to you, or other repre-
sentatives of WBZ, in your presence, that he had received money or
other valuable considerations from outside sources for the purpose of
inducing him to play certain phonograph records or p onograph
records manufactured, distributed, or sold by certain companies?

Mr. O’Frirzr.. Would you repeat the question, sir?

Mr. Lisiyan. Did Mr. Maynard ever admit to you, or other repre-
sentatives of WBZ, that he had received money or other valuable con-
siderations from outside sources for the purpose of inducing him to
Play phonograph records or the phonograph records manufactured,
distributed, or sold by such companies?

Mr. O’FrieL. No, sir.

Mr. Lisuman. Did he at all times insist that the money and other
things of value were received by him solely as expressions of apprecia-
tion for his having played records at record hops?

Mr. O’Frien. Yes, sir.

Mr. Listiaan. Did Mr. Maynard ever admit to you or other WBZ
representatives, in your presence, that he had received any money or
any other considerations of value, in advance, either for the playing of
records over the air or for the playing of records at record hops?

Mr. O’FrieL. No, sir.

Mr. Lisraran. Did you have a meeting with Mr. Maynard on De-
cember 8, 1959, with reference to this matter?

Mr. O’Frikern. Yes, sir.

Mr. Lisinrax. What occurred at that meeting ?

Mr. O’Frier. This is a meeting at which John F. McCarthy of the
Federal Trade Commission—I am sorry—this was a private meeting
between Maynard and myself in which, generally, he reemphasized,
not in detail, the original statement, but told us, yon know, what he had
told us originally, that he had received these only for his appearances
at the record hops, and never to do anything that he did on the air.

Mr. Listiaran. Was there, also, a meeting attended by Mr. Maynard,
Mr. John Steen, attorney for Westinghouse Broadeasting, and a rep-
resentative of the Federal Trade Commission on December 9, 19597

Mr. O'FrieL. Yes, sir.

Mr. Lasiian. And what happened at that meeting?

Mr. O'Frier. I was not present at this meeting, as I recall.
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Mr. Lisiiman. Did you meet with Mr. Maynard, attorney Smith,
and Mr. William Swartley, vice president of Westinghouse Broad-
casting at Boston at about 9:30 a.m., December 15, 19597

Mr. O’FrieL. Yes, sir.

Mr. Lisuman. At that meeting did Mr. Maynard furnish an ex-
planation of the money and other things he had received ?

Mr. O’Frier. Onee again, he denied vigorously any such thing
whatsoever.

Mr. Lisuman. Is it a fact that Mr. Maynard had agreed to furnish
an afidavit to station WBZ regarding this matter on December 14,
1959

Mr. O’Friev. Yes, sir.

Mr. Lisuman. Do you remember that on December 14, Mr. May-
nard telephoned you and said that he would be in on the following
day with his attorney?

Mr. O’Frier. I do not recall.

Mr. Lisuman. There is not any question but that Mr. Maynard
attended a meeting at 9:30 a.m., on December 15, 1959¢

Mr. O’FrieL. Yes, sir.

Mr. Lisuman. Do you recall receiving a telephone call at WBZ at
about 4:30 p.m. on December 15, 1959, from Mr. Kelly, an investiga-
tor on the staff of this subcommittee?

Mr. O’Frier. Yes, sir, the 15th?

Mr. LisuMAN. Yes, sir.

Mr. O’FrieL. Yes.

Mr. Lismax. Do you recall at that time you informed Mr. Kelly
that neither Mr. Maynard nor his lawyer had contacted you or WBZ
in spite of the fact that he was supposed to turn in to you the affidavit
on that day?

Mr. O’Frier. I do not recall the conversation.

Mr. Lisiixan. Do you recall that on December 17, 1959, you re-
ceived a telephone call from Mr. Oliver Eastland, investigator for
this subcommittee, and you told him that you had not heard from
either Mr. Maynard or his lawyer, Mr. Smith ?

Mr. O’FrieL. Yes, sir, I do.

Mr. Lisrman. Is it not a fact that you had been in conference with
both Mr. Maynard and Mr. Smith during the morning of December
15, 19592

Mr. O’FrieL. Yes, sir.

Mr. Lisunan. Then the statements you made on the telephone to
Mr. Kelly and Mr. Eastland were not exactly correct, were they?

Mr. O’Frier. I do not recall the conversation with Mr. Kelly. As
I recall the conversation with Mr. Eastland, it was whether or not
we had received the sworn statement.

Mr. Lisuman. Did you report to Mr. Tooke, executive vice presi-
dent, Westinghouse, on January 4, 1960, that in discussing the allega-
tions and rumors with Maynard he had been cooperative in efforts to
find out the true story?

Mr. O’Frien. Is that in the memorandum—will you repeat the
question again?

Mr. Lisiiman. We will find the wording in the memorandum.

Mr. O’FrieL. I think it is page 5.
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Mr. Lisuman. I will quote from your memorandum on page 5:

During the course of our inquiry and investigation of this matter, since May-
nard first volunteered the details of this on November 24, 1959, Maynard has
been cooperative and anxious to obtain for us all information possible.

Is that correct ?

Mr. O’FrieL. Yes, sir.

Mr. Lisuman. Do you still believe that he was cooperative?

Mr. O'Frier. Yes, sir.

Mr. Lisaman. And did you have a meeting in the WBZ radio sta-
tion in the Somerset Hotel in Boston between 2:35 p.m. and 3 :50 p.m.
on December 2, 1959, with Harry Carter, president, and Gordon
Dinerstein, vice president of Music Suppliers, Inc.?

Mr. O’FrieL. Yes, sir.

Mr. Lisnman. How was that meeting arranged?

Mr. O’Frien. The meeting was arranged at our request in our effort
to find out further information concerning the payments, the exact
status. d

Mr. Lisiiman. Did anyone attend that meeting besides Mr. Carter,
Mr. Dinerstein and yourself ?

Mr. O’FrieL. Yes, sir.

Mr. LisumaN. Who else?

Mr. O’FrieL. Mr, Swartley.

Mr. Lisayaw. At that time did Mr. Carter and Mr. Dinerstein
confirm that they had given a car to Mr. Maynard ?

Mr. O’FrIEL. Yes, sir.

Mr. Lisuman. Did they also confirm that they had made the pay-
ments on a 1959 Buick convertible?

Mr. O'Frier. Yes, sir. I think this was all part of the arrange-
ment.

Mr. Lisiman. And later, did you report to Mr. Woodward that
Carter and Dinerstein confirmed that they had given an autombile
to Mr. Maynard ?

Mr. O’FrieL. Yes, sir; but I think that is all part of the same
sentence.

Mr. Lisuman. Did Mr. Carter and Mr. Dinerstein also say that
during 1959 they had given Mr. Maynard checks of $100 and $75
totaling $175.

Mr. 6’FRIEL. Yes, sir.

Mr. Lisaman. What reasons did Mr. Carter and Mr. Dinerstein
give for donating this money, and for having made these car pay-
ments on behalf of Mr. Maynard ¢

Mr. O’Frier. They stated that these checks and car payments were
made on the basis of appreciation for Dave Maynard pushing new
records at record hops.

Mr. Lisaman. Did they inform you as to the identity of recording
stars who appeared at Maynard’s record hops?

Mr. O’FrieL. No, sir.

Mr. Lisuman. Did you ask them ?

Mr. O’FrieL. Yes, sir.

Mr. Lisirman. Did they ever supply that information?

Mr. O’FrieL. No, sir.
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Mr. Listaran. Did Mr. Carter and Mr. Dinerstein tell you in sub-
stance that Mr. Maynard conducted more record hops than any other
three diskjockeys in the Boston area?

Mr. O'Frier. Yes, sir. )

Mr. Lisinnax. Did you attend a meeting from approximately 4
o’clock to 5, a little after 5 p.m., on December 2, 1959, in the WBZ
suite in the Somerset 1Totel with Donald Du Mont, the owner of Du
Mont Record Distributing Co.?

Mr. O'Frien. Yes, sir.

Mr. Lisinan. ITow was that avranged ?

Mr. O’Frier.. That was arranged the same way as the other meeting.

Mr. Lisiiyan. How wasthat?

Mr. O'Frikn. Through David Maynard.

Mr. Lisuyax. Was it not a little unusual for a man under suspen-
sion to be called upon to arrange a meeting on behalf of you and the
people who are alleged to have made payments of money to him?

Mr. O’FrieL. At this point we put the burden of proof on him.

Mr. Lisnaax. Did My, Du Mont admit having made payments to
My, Maynard ?

Mr. Frien. Yes, sir.

Mr. Lisuyax. When was Mr. Maynard first employed by your
station as a diskjockey ?

Mr, O’FrieL. Roughly, November 1958.

Mr. Lisuxax. Did Mr. Du Mont tell you on December 2, 1959
that he had been in business himself for approximately 2 years, and
prior to that, for about 6 years, had been associated with Cecil Steen
at Records, Inc., in Boston?

Mr. O'Frien. Yes.

Mr. Lisuyan. How much money did Mr. Du Mont admit having
paid to Mr. Maynard?

Mr. O’FrixL. Approximately, $1,000.

Mr. LisumaN. During what period was such payment made?

Mr. O’Frier. July through October 1959.

Mr. Lisuyan. Were these payments made by checks in amounts
ranging from $100 to $250 or $400?

Mr, O’Frien. That is what I recall.

Mr. Lisuamax. Did Mr. Du Mont deny having made any payments
of money or having given any other consideration to Mr. Maynard
before July 1959 ¢

Mr. O’F‘)I'HEL. I am not clear on this point.

Mr. LisiimaN. Are you aware of the fact that Mr. Du Mont had

rotten in touch with Mr. Carter and Mr. Dinerstein immediately
fore this meeting with you ¢

Mr. O’FrieL. No, sir.

Mr. Lisuyan. Did you get the same corroboration of Mr. May-
nard’s story from Mr. Du Mont that you received from Mr. Carter
and Mr. Dinerstein ¢

Mr. O’FrieL. Yes, sir,

Mr. Lisiiman. Did Mr. Du Mont tell you that Mr. Smith was an
officer in his corporation %

Mr. O'Frien. No, sir.

Mr. Lisirman., With reference to Mr. Alan Dary, did you make
any investigation regarding the possibility that he accepted money
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or other things from outside sources in connection with his duties
as a diskjockey ?

Mr, O'Frien. Yes, sir.

Mr. Lasiinan. To your knowledge, was Mr. Dary interviewed by
Mr. Steen, the Westinghouse attorney, and a representative of the
Federal Trade Commission on September- 9, 1959 7

Mr. O'Frien. Yes, sir.

Mr. Lisinswax. ITlas Mr. Dary admitted receiving money from Mu-
sic Suppliers, Inc. ?

Mr. O’Frien. Yes, sir.

My, Lisumax. How much money has he admitted receiving from
that company ¢

My, O'Frien. I believe it is a $100 Christmas gift.

Mr. Lisiiyax. On how many occasions ¢

Mr. O'Fraen. Just one, I think.

Mr. Lisnaax. What kind of an investigation did you make con-
cerning whether or not Mr. Dary had received more than this $100
payment?

Mr. O’Frier. We took a signed statement from Mr. Dary.

Mr., Lisnyan. And did you do anything to ascertain whether his
signed statement, was correct or incorrect

Mr. O’Frien. No, sir.

Mr. Lisunaan. And you believe that that is the only moneys that
Mzr. Dary received from Music Suppliers, Inc., a record distributor?

Mr, O’Frien. That is all he told us about.

Mr. Lisuyan. Did he tell you about receiving money from any
other record distributors in Boston ?

Mr. O’Frier. Yes, sir.

Mr. Liststan. And what were those companies?

. Mr. O'Frier. One other company he received money from, Records,
nc.

Mr. Lisuman. Did he tell you that he received money from Mu-
tual Distributors, Inc.?

Mr. O'Friec. No, sir; I do not recall that he did.

Mr. Lasuaan. Did he tell you about receiving cases of whisky from
any record distributors?

Mr. O’Frien. No, sir.

Mr. Lisuman. Did he tell you about any other gifts from any
record distributor?

Mr. O’FrieL. Yes, sir.

Mr. Lisunyan, Did he tell you about gifts he had received from per-
sons who advertised over WBZ?

Mr. O'Friev. No, sir.

Mr. Lisinran. Well, in effect, then, your investigation of the situ-
ation consisted of asking Mr. Dary how much money someone had
paid him and he told you $100. So far as you were concerned, that
ended the matter: is that correct ?

Mr. O’Frien. Yes, sir.

Mr. Lisuman. When you were in your conference with Mr. Carter
and Mr. Dinerstein and later with Mr. Dumont, did you ask then
how much money they had paid Mr. Dary?

Mr. O’Frien. Not specifically that; no, sir.

Mr. Lisusan. What did you ask them?
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Mr. O’Frier. We asked about any other WBZ diskjockeys.

Mr. Lisuman. Is he not a diskjockey?

Mr. O'Friern. Yes, sir. We asked rather specifically, and asked
the question, “Any other WBZ diskjockeys,” and we got no informa-
tion or an affirmative reply.

Mr. Lisnyan. Well, did not Mr. Dary admit to you and Mr.
Steen, the Westinghouse attorney, that he had received a hi-fi set?

Mr. O’FrieL. Yes.

Mr. Lisuxax. From Twentieth Century Fox?

Mr. O’FrieL. Yes, sir.

Mr. Lisnyax. Is the reason for your placing Mr. Dary on proba-
tion the fact that he had received a %$100 Christmas present from
one source and a hi-fi set from another?

Mr. O’FrieL. Yes, sir.

Mr. Lisaman. Has Mr. Dary admitted receiving money from, or
things of value for, plugging records on the radio?

Mr. O’Frien. No, sir.

Mr. Lisnyax. Do you recall WBZ's block party, called the
“Lester Lanin Block Party”?

Mr. O’FrieL. Yes.

Mr. Lisiman. That was held, was it not, September 26, in the
evening, in 1958%

Mr. O’Frier. I believe that is correct.

Mr. Listtman. At Brockton, Mass?

Mr. O’FrIEL. Yes.

Mr. Lisuman. Was the party given as a charity party?

Mr. O’Frien. Yes.

Mr. Lisuman. Was it advertised as such?

Mr. O’FrieL. Yes, sir.

Mr. Lisiian. Where did you advertise it as a charity party?

Mr. O'Frier. I believe on our station in cooperation with the Old
Colony Mental Health for Youth kickoff, for their drive in Brockton.

Mr. Lisuyan. Did you advertise that on the air?

Mr. O’FrieL. Yes, sir.

Mr. Lisiman. Did you advertise it that way in newspapers in
Boston ¢

Mr. O'Frier. I do not believe we had any Boston newspaper ads.
I could be refreshed on that.

Mr. Lisuman. Ishow you a copy of a page from a magazine called
Sponsor, a New York publication, and this was taken from the file
OF WBZ, and this is a photostatic copy, and I ask you if this is a
cmigect representation of what appears to be an ad sponsored by
WBZ¢?

Mr. O'Frier. Yes, this is correct. It was taken from Sponsor, and
this is not an ad—this is a story that Sponsor wrote after the facts.

Mr. Lisunan. Did you give the information to the person who put
this article in the magazine?

Mr. O’Frier. I, personally, did not give the information; no.

Mr. LisnMaN. Are you aware that someone in WBZ gave such in-
formation to the writer of that story ?

Mr. O'Frien. Yes, sir.

Mr. Lisnaan. Is it correct where it says that for this $1,200 worth
of advertising on WBZ you would get this turnout of 35,000 people
at a block party?
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Mr. O’Frier. I do not see any mention of that in here. I can read,
I am sure.

Mr. Lismrax. Let me help you. I will read what it says here,
It purports to be on this page in Sponsor, the magazine. There is a
picture of numerous people, and across the top in large-sized type it
says, “Radio’s $1,200 Draw.” And underneath the picture it says:

This is what 52 announcements (with $1,200 at commercial rates) did for a
charity party at Brockton, Mass,, sponsored by Stition WIBZ, Boston ; the crowds
numbered over 35,000.

Was that information furnished to this paper by WBZ?

Mr. O’FrieL. Sir, 1 am not sure what information was furnished by
us to this specific publication.

Mr. Listatan. Well, was this sheet taken from the files of WBZ?

Mr. O’FrixL. Yes, sir.

Mr. Lisayan, Is it a fact that this block party was advertised ex-
tensively in the Boston Globe newspaper, some time in advance of the
giving of the block party ?

Mr. O’Frier. I cannot recall.

Mr. Lisiman. You cannot recall ?

Mr. O’FrieL. No, sir.

Mr. Lisinntaw. I have, Mr. O’Friel, before me a photostatic copy of
page 36 of the Boston Daily Globe, for Wednesday, September 24,
1958, and ask you to look in the lower left-hand three columnns, and see
if that is not an ad that was placed in the paper by WBZ.

Mr. O’Frier. Yes, sir; [ recall the ad.

Mr. Listdran. Well, now do you recall that you ran a series of these
ads, with pictures in the Boston Daily Globe during this period ¢

Mr. O'Friec. Yes, sir.

Mr. Lisuman. How much did Westinghouse pay to the Boston
Globe for these ads of this Brockton block party ?

Mr. O’FrieL. I am not sure exactly. I don’t have that figure with
me.

Mr. Lisuaran. Was it a considerable amount ?

Mr. O’Frien. This I wouldn’t know.

Mr. Lisiiman. More than $1,2002

Mr. O’Frien. I wouldn’t be able to answer that.

Mr. Listian. Was it approximately $2,300¢

Mr. O’Frier. I wouldn’t know.

Mr. LisumaN. And isn’t it a fact that Westinghouse could pay
off the $2,300 advertising commercial charge in the Boston Globe and
did so by giving it advertising time on WBZ?

Mr. O'FrieL. Yes, sir.

Mr. Lisinan. At their usual rates?

Mr. O’Frier. Yes, sir.

The CuairmaN. Could you state the size of the ad ?

Mr. Lisuman. Mr. O’Friel, I would like you to look at this——

The CirairmaN. Do you know the approximate size of these ads?

Mr. O’Friew. No, sir; I would not know. It appears to me to
be——

The Citamraran. Take it over there so you can see it.

Mr. O'Frien. This appears to me to be a three-column ad. I don’t
know the measurements of it.

The Cramman. Approximately what is it ?

56861—60—pt. 1—&
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Mr. O’Frier. I would say 6 inches, perhaps.

The CrarmAN. Three columns by 6 inches ?

Mr. O’FrieL. Yes, sir.

The CuairMAN. And you pay the regular commercial rate, I as-
sume.

Mr. O’FrreL. Yes, sir.

Mr. Lisuman. And isn’t it a fact that that same ad appeared on
four different pages on the 24th of September in the Globe?

Mr. O’Frier. I would not know, sir.

Mr. Lisuman. On page 6 of the September 24, 1958, issue of the
Globe, I will ask you to identify the ad that appears in the middle of
the page at the bottom, and ask you if that is not with regard to the
same subject matter.

Mr. O’FrieL. Yes, sir. It isnot the same ad.

Mr. Lisuman. No.

Mr. O’FrieL. This is a two-column ad, probably 2 inches.

Mr. Lisiiaan. Now, I will show you three photostatic copies of
pages from the Boston Globe of September 24, pages 28, 25, and 30,
respectively, and ask you if, on these pages, there does not also appear
ads with respect to the WIBZ block party ?

Mr. O’FrieL. Yes,sir. Two of the ads are similar, and the third is
different.

_Mr. Lisuman. Now, I show you another photostatic copy of page 13
of the Boston Daily Globe, September 24, 1958, and ask you if the ad
on behalf of the WBZ good neighbor block party does not also appear
thereon ?

Mr. O’FrieL. Yes, sir.

Mr. Lisumax. I also show you a photostatic copy of page 10 of the
Boston Daily Globe, for Thursday, September 25, and ask you if that
does not contain an ad about the WBZ block party at Brockton.

. Mr. O’FrieL. Yes, sir.

Mr. Lisunman. Ishow you a photostatic copy of page 7 of the Boston
Globe, for September 25, 1958, which also contains a WBZ ad about
the block party, and ask you if that is correct ¢

Mr. O’Frier. Yes, sir.

Mr. Lisayman. The Boston Daily Globe, Friday, September 26, I
will show you three photostatic copies—respectively, page 6, page 16,
page 23, and 10. I ask you if on these pages there does not appear
to be an ad by WBZ pertaining to the block party?

“ Mr. O’FrirL. Yes, sir.

Mr. Lisayax. Now, Mr. O’Friel, do you know what the circulation
of the Globe was at the time these ads about the WBZ Brockton block
party appeared?

Mr. O’Frien. No, sir.

Mr. Lisiraran. Well, would you dispute it if I said it was approxi-
mately 350,000 in September 1958¢

Mr. O’Frixe. I would have to rely on your statement on that. I
wouldn’t know of firsthand knowledge.

Mr. Listiaax. Well, don’t you think that the ads that appeared
in the Boston Globe about this block party contributed substantially
to getting the 35,000 people to attend it, which is claimed here in the
magazine Sponsor ?

Mr. O’Frier. I would like to think not, sir.
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Mr. Lisumax. Well, it must have had some effect. )

Mr. O’Friew. I think it supplemented our main efforts, sir. )

Mr. Lisumax. And you still insist that Westinghouse had nothing
to do about putting this blurb in Sponsor that for payment of $1,200
worth of radio advertising time you can get a crowd out of 35,000 ¢

Mr. O’Frier. Sir, I wish I could control what the sponsor wrote.

Mr. Lisuman. IIave you ever disputed this?

Mr. O'Frier. I personally have not, no.

Mr. Lisuyax. Well, where do they get this information?

Mr. O’Friew. I think some information was supplied by the sta-
tion. But I have no control over what information is furnished to
them, how they use it.

Mr. Lisiyax. Well, wouldn’t prospective advertisers believe that
by paying only $1,200 for advertising time on WBZ they could achieve
this tremendous result? When they read this story ?

Mr. O’Frier. I would be unable to conjecture on that, sir.

Mr. Lisiiman. And this story, by the way, makes no reference what-
soever to any expenditures of money for all these ads that appeared
in the Boston Globe, does it ?

Mr. O’Frier. I wouldn’t know, sir.

Mr. Lisamax. I will ask you to look at it. ~

Mr. O’Friec. No, this does not make any specific mention to our
ad campaign in the Boston Globe.

Mr. Listtman. Well, over the period of these ads, was WBZ billed
by the Boston Globe for advertisements of the block party in the
amount of approximately $2,300? .

Mr. O’FrieL. I wouldn’t be able to testify to that, sir.

Mr. Lisumax. Did the Lester Lanin Band appear and furnish
music for the block party?

Mr. O’FriEL. Yes, sir.

b l\'flr6 Lisiiman. Who made arrangements for the appearance of this
and 4

Mr. O’Friec. I don’t understand the question. _

Mr. Lisuman. How were the services of the Lanin Band oltained
for this block party ?

Mr. O’Frier. This was a joint promotion block party with us and
the Lester Lanin Band. The arrangements were made through
Don Dumont.

Mr. Lisuman. Of Dumont Distributors?

Mr. O’FrieL. Yes, sir.

Muv. Listiaax. By whom was the band to be paid ¢

Mr. O’Friec. I don’t know, sir.

Mr. Lisiyan. Ilow much was the band to be paid ?

Mr. O’Friec. I don’t know, sir.

Mr. Lisaman. Do you know whether the band has been paid for
its services ?

Mr. O’FrieL. No, I do not, sir.

Mr. Lisiiman. Does WBZ employ salesmen to solicit advertising
to be carried on the programs of WBZ?

Mr. O’FrieL. Yes, sir.

Mr. Lisnman. Have these salesmen solicited advertising from mo-
tion picture companies or agencies representing such companies?

Mr. O’Frier. Yes, sir.
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Mr. Lisinzan. In order to sell such advertising, have your sales-
men agreed to play records of the stars in the motion pictures to be
advertised immediately after the paid commercial has been broadcast?

ll\Ir O’Frier. Not to my knowledge, sir. That is contrary to our
policy.

Mr. Lisuaan. Is it a fact that on the announcement bulletin board
diskjockeys at that station were instructed to do this?

Mr. O'FrieL. Would you repeat the question, sir?

Mr. LisumaN. Read the question.

(The reporter read from his notes as requested.)

Mr. O’Frier. Not to my knowledge, sir.

Mr. Lisaman. Were t,Key ever orally instructed by you or anyone
else to do this?

Mr. O’FrieL. Not to my knowledge.

Mr. Lisiiman. Well, you would know if you did it.

Mr. O’Frier. I don’t recall ever doing it.

Mr. Lisuaman. Do you recall at one time, when the library of
WBZ had little if any stock of records in it?

Mr. O’Frie. Yes, sir.

Mr. Lisiaax. Do you recall instructing personnel of WBZ to go
out and solicit the obtaining of free record albums from record dis-
tributors?

Mr. O’Frier. Yes, sir.

Mr. Lisiman. To whom did you give these instructions?

Mr. O’FrieL. Mr. William Givens.

Mr. Lisuman. And who else?

Mr. O'Fritr. Mr. Givens was the management personnel, and I
would give it directly to him, I think.

Mr. Lisnaax. Did you give the same instructions to Mr. Prescott?

Mr. O'Frier. I believe the instructions were given to Mr. Givens.

Mr. Lisuaan. Did you ask Mr. Prescott to go to New York City
in an attempt to get free record donations from record distributors?

Mr. O'Frier. 1 know that he went, and went with our approval;

es, SIT.
Y Mr. Lisinran. And did they succeed in obtaining between $10,000
and $15,000 worth of free record albums from numerous record dis-
tributing companies on representations that by making this donation
their records would be plugged on that station?

Mr. O’Frien. I can’t answer that, sir. I don’t know.

Mr. Tasian. Well, is it a fact that as a result of the trip under
your direction as station manager, of these gentlemen to New York,
that they did succeed in obtaining for the station free record albums
with the market value in excess of $10,000?

Mr. O’Frier. Sir, they obtained record albums and records. I
could not testify to the price or value.

Mr. Tasiaran. Coan you testify that they obtained 200 $4 retail
value, record albwms from Decca?

Mr. O’Frier. No, sir; Icouldn’t.

Mr. Tasiran, Mercury?

Mr. O'FrikL. No, sir; I couldn’t. Iecan’t be specific.

Mr. Listman. Do you have any records in your office showing the
results of the record soliciting trip of Mr. Prescott and Mr. Givens?,

Mr. O'Frien. T wouldn’t know offhand, without searching our files.
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Mr. Lisuman. But it is a fact they succeeded in bringing back a
substantial amount of free donated albums; is that right ?

Mr. O’Frien. Yes, sir.

Mr. Lisnama~. But you don’t know exactly the value of that col-
lection?

Mr. O’Frien. No, sir.

Mr. LisinaN. Now, what did you expect Mr. Givens and Mr. Pres-
cott to tell the would-be donors on this soliciting trip for donations
to your recovd library ?

Mr. O’Frier. Sir, 1 did not instruct them in any way, shape, or
form. It has been a longstanding practice in our industry that we
receive record and record albums for use on the air,

The Cratryan. Mr. Lishman, one point which you just made is
not clear to me.

Mr. O’Friel, did you say you did instruct Mr. Prescott and Mr.
Givens to go down to New York to obtain these free albnms?

Mr. O’Frier. Yes, sir.

The CrramryaN. You, yourself, instructed them to do that?

Mr. O’Friec. Yes, through me; yes, sit. 1 instructed Mr. Givens.
Whether or not I instructed Mr. Prescott, I don’t know. I approved
his going on the trip.

T%le CHuARMAN. In other words, as manager, you did instruct your
personne] to go get. the free albums?

Mr. O’FrieL. Yes, sir.

Mr. Lisinan, Well, isn't it a fact that after receiving free albums
from nunerous record companies, that records bearing the labels of
the distributors who had made these gifts to the station were played
over the air on many occasions?

Mr. O'FrieL. Yes, sir. As I said before, it has been the practice
in the broadcasting industry for many years, for record companies
and record distributors to give free copies of records.

Mr. LisitmaN. Was any announcement made at the time the record
labels of these donors were being plugged on the air that they had
been paid for by donations of free record albums?

Mr. O’Frier. Not to iy knowledge, sir.

Mr. Lismaran. Wouldn’t you consider this to be another form of
payola?

Mr. O’FrieL. No, sir.

Mr. Lasuaran. I have no further questions.

The CramryMan. Mr. Mack, any questions ?

Mr. Mack. I haveno questions at this time.

The CrarMAN. Mr. Derounian ?

Mr. DerouN1aN. No questions,

The Cruamrman. Mr. Rogers?

Mr. Rogers. 1 have just one or two questions, Mr. Chairman.

Mr. O’Friel, how did you find out, originally, about the payola,
when you said you found out about it, and you put these fellows on
probation ?

Mr. O’Friec. Sir, we started our own investigation several weeks
before this.

Mr. Rocers. When was that now ?

Mr. O’Frien. I would say the early part of N ovember, of 1959,
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Mr. Rocers. That was after the revelations of the TV quiz hearings?

Mr. O’FrieL. It was about the same time.

Mr. Rocers. You hadn’t done anything before that ? .

Mr. O’FrieL. Well, specific investigation of this nature; no, sir.

Mr. Rocers. And you say you started your own investigation to
find out?

Mr. O’FrieL. Yes, sir.

Mr. Rocers. And did you find out from that investigation?

Mr. O’Frie. Yes, sir. The two incidents that were brought up
earlier in my testimony. And we voluntarily made this available to
the committee.

Mr. Rocers. Now, you say you put these men on probation. How
many do you have on probation at the present time?

Mr. O’Friec. Two.

Mr. Rocers. Now, what is probation ?

Mr. O'FrierL. This is a period of time during which we continue
to review their activities, and control even tighter than before, if this
is possible, the music they play on the air, and their activities.

Mr. Rocers. Well, do you mean by probation that if they do this
again you are going to discharge them?

Mr. O’Frier. We would look at the facts at that time, as they are
developed.

Mr. Rocers. Do they understand that? Do they understand they
are to be discharged if you catch them doing this again!?

Mr. O'Frier. I think they are well aware of our company policy,
both before and after this.

Mr. Rocers. You think what?

Mr. O’Frier. I think they are well aware of our policy, both before
and after this.

Mr. Rocers. What is your policy now ?

Mr. O'Frier. Our company policy, in the event of payola, if all
the facts pin down to this, is that there will be dismissal.

Mr. Rocers. But they never have been taken off the payroll? They
have been on the payroll at all times receiving the same amount of
money, have they not?

Mr., O’'Frier. It is kind of difficult to answer that. Substantially,
yes. They have been on the payroll. The same amount of money,
this varies, because—— :

Mr. RogErs. Well, let’s say this. They haven’t had their earnings
reduced measurably on account of this.

Mr. O’Frier. In one case, 1 think the earnings were somewhat re-
duced. And this is by virtue of not being in a position to earn fees.

Mr. Rocers. You mean because they were not getting any more
payola, their income dropped ?

Mr. O’FrieL. No, sir.  Only their payments for services rendered
on the air.

Mr. Rocers. By the company ?

Mr. O’Frier. By our company. :

Mr. Rocers. And was that, In a way, a punishment for what they
had done ?

Mr. O’Frier. Very definitely, sir.

Mr. Rocrrs. Now, Mr. O’F};iel, have you been approached by any
of these payola artists?
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Mr. O’Frier. Definitely not, sir.

Mr. Rocers. You never have been ?

Mr. O’Frier. No,sir. .

Mr. Rocers. As manager of the station, you have never had it dis-
cussed with you?

Mr. O’Frier. That is correct, sir.

Mr. Rocers. Have you ever received any gifts from them?

Mr. O’Frier. Not to my knowledge, sir.

Mr. Rocers. Well, what do you mean not to your knowledge? I
noticed you answered some questions that way a minute ago. You
mean that it could have happened, but it wouldn’t be to your knowl-
edge now?

r. O’Frier. I dont’ recall any, sir.

Mr. Rocers. If you had gotten any, you think you would have re-
called it?

Mr. O’Friec. Idon’t recall any, sir.

Mr. Rogers. Mr. O’Friel, just one other 1‘hin%{l

You spoke at length a minute ago of telling Mr. Givens to go down
to New York and get these albumns.

Now, was there any discussion by your company as to this particu-
lar action? T mean by people above you, your superiors—did you
discuss it with them, as to whether or not to send those boys down
there to get those records?

Mr. O'Frier. No, sir.

Mr. Rocers. You did not?

Mr. O’Frier. No, sir.

Mr. Rocers. That was your own decision ?

Mr. O’FrieL. Yes, sir.

Mr. Rogers. Now, have you ever had any arrangements, which you
made, with any organization or group or artists, or anyone else, where
you would sort of trade goods for goods—that if they would put on
a free exhibition or an exhibition or performance that wouldn’ cost
you anything, that your station would plug records or plug songs?

Mr. O’Frien. Never for plugging specific songs or records.

Mr. Rocers. Well, now, you say never for p ugging specific songs
or records. What about songs and records in general?

Mr. O'FrieL. No, sir.

Mr. RocErs. You mean then, your answer is, that you never did have
angl kind of arrangement of that kind at all?

fr. O’Frier. To the best of my knowledge not, sir.

Mr. Rocers. And your testimony is, that if anyone says that did
happen, it didn’t happen at all? It is not to your knowledge or recol-
lectron—it just didn’t happen, because you didn’t do it ?

Mr. (’Frien. I wish you would repeat the question.

Mr. Rocers. I say regardless of what anyone else says about that, if
anyone accused you of doing that, your testimony is that those things
did not happen, that you did not receive any payola, you did not re-
ceive any gifts, and you did not receive any exchange of goods for
goods by plugging any records, or songs, because someone else ren-
dered a service to you without charge?

Mr. O’FrieL. To the best of my knowledge not, sir.

Mr. Rocers. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.
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Mr. Devise. Mr. O'Friel, I don’t want to treat this too lightly, the
trip to New York. This was not initiated by the record companies,
was it

Mr. O’'FrirL. No, sir.

Mr. Devine. Was this your idea?

Mr. O'Frien. 1t was the station’s idea, sir.

Mr. Devine. And you gave the instructions to the music director
and the diskjockey to go to New York!?

Mr. O'Fuiee. Yes, I participated in the instructions,

Mr. DeviNe. Isn't it a fact that your instructions were to this ef-
fect—make whatever representations that are necessary in order to
obtain free records for our music library ?

Mr. O'FrieL. No, sir, not to my knowledge.

Mr. Devine. Isn't it a fact that the music library at WBZ at that
time was miserably sparse?

Mr. O'Frier. Ithink that puts it well, sir.

Mr. Devine. And as a result of this little trip you promoted, you
received about 200 albums from each of about five music distributions?
Mr. O’Frixr. As I said earlier, I couldn’t testify exactly to that.

Mr. DeviNe. What happens to all these records after they are in
the library? Do you keep those forever?

Mr. O’Trier. Some are kept forever, and those that are not used for
programing purposes, are disposed of.

Mr. Devine. Are they ever disposed of by sale?

Mr. O'FrieL. No, sir, not to my knowledge.

Mr. Devine. Is it a policy of your station not to sell records?

Mr. O’FrieL. Yes, sir.

Mr. Devine. Whether they were bought by you or given to you?

Mr. O’FRrieL. Yes, sir.

Mr. Devine. And just in order that the record inay be clear, you say
you do not consider this as a payola practice—that is, for a record dis-
tributor to give your station $10,000 worth of records?

Mr. O'Frier. That is correct, sir.

Mr. Devine. One other thing—getting back to the affidavits that you
took from Mr. Maynard and Mr. Dary, I believe you indicated that
you just went into two fields in your investigation, 1s that correct?

Mr. O’Frier. I don’t understand the question, sir.

Mr. Devine. Well, when you put these two men on probation, do you
consider that you conducted a complete, comprehensive, thorough in-
vestigation of these two men and their activities?

Mr. O’FrieL. As thorough as I could, with the tools available.

Mr. Devine. You do personally have an investigative background,
do you not?

Mr. O’FrieL. Yes, sir.

Mr. Devine. That is all, Mr. Chairman.

Mr. Mack. I would like to ask about this same matter.

What led you to believe these men would be successful when they
went to New York to get the records?

Mr. O’Frier. As I said earlier, sir, it has been the practice in the
broadeasting industry for many years for companies and record dis-
tributors to give free copies of records to radio stations for use in their
programing.
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Mr. Mack. So you had that information before you sent them to
New York?

Mr. O’FrieL. Yes, sir.

Mr. Mack. And this information was to the effect that other
studios or licensees had received substantial quantities of records from
these concerns, is that correct ?

Mr. O’Friec. I don’t know specifically. I can’t state for other
licensees. I just know it has been the general practcie in the radio
and broadcasting industry, to receive free records.

Mr. Mack. No, where did you get this information? Was there
some particular manager of another station someplace that gave you
the information, or did you just hear it rumored in the trade?

Mr. O’Frier. I couldn’t pinpoint it to any specific person, no, sir.
I'think it is just general knowledge of the broadcasting business.

Mr. Mack. Just a standard procedure for any broadcaster who
needed records to go to any of the distribution companies, to get un-
limited amounts, is that correct ?

Mr. O’Frier. It has generally been the practice in the industry
as far as I know, sir.

Mr. Mack. Was it necessary for them to go to New York to get
records, or could they get them someplace other than New York ?

Mr, O'Frier. I think they could get some in Boston, and some in
New York.

Mr. Macxk. Well, is it not a fact that when you went to the Boston
record concerns, they turned you down ¢

Mr. O’Frier. I wouldn’t know that of firsthand knowledge, sir.

Mr. Mack. In other words, you didn’t try to secure the records in
Boston before you went to New York ?

Mr. O’FrieL. I would not be familiar with this. I couldn’t an-
swer this.

Mr. Mack. Well, I thought this was your idea.

Mr. O’Frier. Well, it was the station’s idea. I gave my approval

Mr. Mack. Are you general manager of the station ?

Mr. O’Friec. Yes, sir.

Mr. Mack. Well, then, don’t you assume—this is not your idea,
then? Am I correct in that?

Mr. O’FrieL. Well, 1 participated in arriving at the conclusion,

es, Sir.
Y Mr. Maick. Could you tell me whose idea this was? You men-
tioned the station. But I wanted to know who the specific individuals
are who I’)ut the idea into your head.

Mr. O'Frier. Well, I don’t think I could pinpoint it to the indi-
viduals as such. T think Mr. Givens, as well as myself, participated
in arriving at this decision.

Mr. Mack. When you referred to the station in the testimony
today, then, you would say that was referring to Mr. Givens and
yourself, is that correct?

Mr. O’Friec. In what connection, sir?

Mr. Macx. Well, I heard you a few minutes ago say it was the
station’s idea.

Well, as I understand it, you testified that this was the station’s
idea, that these men go down to New York.

Mr. O’FrieL. Yes, sir.
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Mr. Mack. And when you refer to the station, you are actually
referring to yourself, aren’t you?

Mr. O'Fritr. Yes, sir.

Mr. Mack. And then when you sent Mr. Givens to New York you
had to have some kind of instructions for him, is that correct?

Mr. O'Frier. Well, not necessarily so. He is a very qualified man
in this particular area.

.M;-. Mack. e understood what you wanted to accomplish by the
trip

Mr. O’'Fraer. Yes, sir, he was newly reappointed musical director.

Mr. Mack. Did he understand, then, that these certain records
would be played on your radio station when he returned ?

Mr. O’Frikn. Yes, sir. They may or may not have been. I don’t
think there is any guarantee in this regard.

Mr. Mack. Well, then, that would be the only reason for your
station receiving the records free, because they would be played on
the station when they returned, isthat correct ?

Mr. O'Frier. Well, not necessarily so. We don’t play all records
that we receive. Only those that make suitable programing.

Mr. Mack. Well, can you think of any excause, then, for receiving
the records free?

Mr. O’FrieL. PPardon me, sir?

Mr. Mack. Can you think of any other excuse for receiving $15,000
worth of records free?

Mr. O°Frier. I can’t verify the amount, sir, other than we have re-
ceived records for quite a long time in the broadcasting industry.

Mr. Maick. This seems to me to be a formn of piayola. There is no
question in my mind. But I understood you indicated it was not a
form of payola, is that correct ?

Mr. O’FrieL. That is correct, sir.

Mr. Mack. And under those circumstances, you felt they just gave
the records to you out of the goodness of their heart?

Mr. O'Frien. In accordance with long-standing practice in the
broadcasting industry.

Mr. Mack. This has nothing to do with the long-standing practice.
In this particular transaction, do you think they gave them to you just
out of the goodness of their heart?

Mr. O'FurrL. No, sir.

Mr. Mack. Mr. Chairman, I have no further questions.

The Citarrman. Any further questions of this witness?

Mr. O’Friel, thank you very much for your appearance here.

Mr. O'FrieL. Am I excused?

The CirairMaN. You are excused.

Mr. O’Frien. Thank you, sir.

The Citairman. Could I ask you one other question before you
leave?

Mr. O’Frien. Yes, sir.

The Ciairaan. Have there been any other people, that you know
of, who have been engaging in the practices of payola from your
station ?

Mr. O’Frier. No, sir.

The CramrMaN. You have mentioned how many here today—two?

Mr. O’FrieL. Yes, sir.

The Crairmax. Only two?
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Mr. O'Frier. Yes, sir. This is 2 out of approximately 17 or 18 on-
the-air personnel.

The Cuamraan. Pardon?

Mr. O’Frrer. This is 2 out of approximately 17 or 18 on-the-air
personnel.

The Cramman. Is that diskjockeys you mean—17 or 18 so-called
diskjockeys?

Mr. O’Frier. No, on-the-air personnel. People who appear on the
air on a regular basis.

The Crarrarax. How many diskjockeys do you have?

Mr. O’FrixL. Six.

The CramryaN. How many have you had in the last 4 years?

Mr. O’Friec. I wouldn’t be able to answer that without checking
our records.

The Crarrmax. Would it be several ?

Mr. O’FrreL. Yes; some have gone and come.

The Criarrman. Have you had a pretty rapid turnover ¢

Mr. O’Frien. No, sir; I don’t think it could be considered a rapid
turnover, no.

The Cnamarax. Could you supply for the record the number of
people who have worked for you as diskjockeys, say in the last 4 years?

Mr. O’FrieL. Yes, sir; we will be happy to forward it to the com-
mittee,

The Ciramema~. And name those who are still with you, and those
who have been employed by you, but no longer with you.

Mr. O'Frmr. Yes,sir. We would be happy to comply.

(The information referred to follows:)

WBZ RapIo, WESTINGIIOUSE BROADCASTING Co., Ixc.,
Boston, Mass., February 10, 1960.

The HONORARLE OREN HARRIS,

Chairman, House of Representatives, 8Special Subcommittee on Legislative Over-
sight, Committee on Interstate and Foreign Commerce, House Office Building,
Washington, D.C.

Dear CoNaressMaN HARRIS : In accordance with your request during my testi-
mony on February 8, 1960, I herewith attach a list of the individuals who have
worked at WBYZ radio as diskjockeys during the past 4 years. Those who are
no longer with us are indicated by their termination dates.

Very truly yours,
PavuL G. O’FrieL,
WBZ—Boston

Present diskjockeys: Hired
Frederick J. Bernard October 26, 1959
Allan H. Dary ——-- March 15, 1956
Carlyle deSuze March 29, 1942
James B. Ilolt — May 18, 1959
David H. Maynard-_—_________________________ November 24, 1958
John M. Murphy July 20, 1939

Former diskjockeys:

Henry Elliott (summer relief)___________ June 21, 1959-September 3, 1959
Edwin J. Kane March 2, 1932-October 31, 1959
Sherman Brown (summer relief) __________ June 3, 1953-October 4, 1938
Vernon T. Williams__ —— - April 18, 1949-September 5, 1959
Robert A, Rissling Aprit 28, 1946-October 11, 1957
Leonard Zola__ - - January 21, 1959-April 25, 1959
Norman Prescott --- August 20, 1955 July 18, 1959
John ¥. Bassett --- June 3, 1956-January 3, 1959
William Marlowe March 11, 1957-December 26, 1958
Keith Sattler (Jack Loring)___________ April 30, 1936-September 20, 107"

Philip Christie — May 19, 1958-August 2~
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The CirardaN. Thank you very much.

Mr. O’Frier. Am I excused?

The CirarMAN. Yes, you may be excused. Thank you for your
appearances here today.

The CriatkMaN. Mr. Dave Maynard.

Are you Mr. Maynard ?

Mr. MayNaRrD. Yes, sir.

The Ciiamrman. Mr. Dave Maynard ?

Mr. May~arp. That is right.

The CuamyaN. First, do you mind having your picture taken?

Mr. MaynNarp. No.

"The CrzairyMaN. You have no objection

Mr. May~arp. No.

The Crratryax. The committee will be in recess for 30 seconds for
that purpose.

(Brief recess.)

The CriamaN. Mr. Maynard, will you be sworn, please?

Do you solemnly swear that the testimony you give to this com-
mittes to be the truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the truth, so
help you God ?

Mr. Mav~aro. I do.

TESTIMONY OF DAVID H. MAYNARD

The CHATRMAN. You may have a seat.

State your name for the record.

Mr. May~arp. David Maynard.

The CrramyaN. Your residence or address?

Mr. May~axp. I live at 26 Lock Lane, in Lexington, Mass.

The CAIRMAN. What is your business or profession ¢

Mr. May~nagp. I am a radio announcer for radio stations WBZ and
WBZ-TV in Boston.

The Ciramryan. s that your present position?

Mr. May~arp. Yes, it is.

The CitairmanN. Mr. Lishman, you may proceed.

Mr. Lisiraran. Mr. Maynard, when did you first become associated
with WBZ?

Mr. May~agp. 1 started working 1 day a week for WBZ-TV in, I
believe, the month of April 1958. That was a 1-day-a-week show, on
Saturdays. I started full time on June 2, 1958.

Mr. Lisuaan. Was that on both radio and TV #

Mr. May~arn. No, it was not.

%.Ir.? LisuyaN. When did you start as a diskjockey with WRZ
radio?

Mr. Maynarp. In November of 1958. The exact date I don’t know.

Mr. Lisuax. And were you suspended by Westinghonse Broad-
casting Co. on or about December 1, 1959 ¢

Mr. May~arp. Approximately, yes.

Mr. Lisnyan. What were the reasons for this suspension ?

_i\:Ir. MayNagrp. I made a statement to WBZ that I had received
aifts.

Mr. Lisusran. I show you a copy of an affidavit, and ask you if vou
can identify this.
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Mr. May~arp. Yes. Yes. ) )

Mr. Lisaman. This paper that I have just handed you is dated
November 30, 1959, and it is a letter from. you, addressed to Westing-
house Broadcasting Co., and notarized December 19, 1959, before
Edward F. Smith, notary public, is that correct ?

Mr. May~arp. Did you say December 19 it was notarized ?

Mr. LisayaN. Yes.

Mr. May~arp. Yes, that is right. ) )

Mr. LisnmaN. Mr. Chairman, I would like to have this notarized
letter already identified by the witness be introduced into the record
at this point. )

Mr. Mack. Without objection, the letter will be included at this
point.

(The document referred to is as follows:)

NovEMBER 30, 1959,
WESTINGHOUSE BroapcastIing Co., INc,,
Allston, Mass.,

GENTLEMEN : I, Dave Maynard, voluntarily make the following statement to
Paul O’Friel and W. C. Swartley, of Westinghouse Broadcasting Corp.:

I have received checks and small gifts but never cash from record distributors.
As this practice has existed in the record industry for many, many years without
any complaint or suggestion of impropriety, I never felt it wrong to accept the
same. These checks were n~t given to me to Dlay records on the radio or on my
television program, but only as an expression of appreciation for playing them
at the numerous record hops which I conduct during the course of the year.
Through these many record heps I was able to test the popularity and hit poten-
tial of records and to obtain immediate public reaction to the same.

In June 1958 when I started with Westinghouse Broadcasting Corp. on a
regular basis I owned a 1957 Mercury station wagon toward which I had traded
my 1955 Moarcury station wagon, the balance being assumed and paid for by a
record d'stributor. These payments amounted to about $600 for 1958. In
November 1958, this car was traded for a 1959 Buick on which the record dis-
tributor assumed the payments of about $1,300 a year for 2 years. All moneys
received by me from all sources hive been duly reported my me to the Internal
Revenue Bureau and all taxes were paid in full. In 1958 I received a total of
$400 in checks. During 1959 I received a total of approximately $1,175 in checks.

Davip H. MAYNARD.

BosTon, Mass.

COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUBETTS,
Suffolk, s8:

On this 19th day of December 1959 there personally appeared before me David
H. Maynard, to me known, and made oath that he has read the foregoing state-
ment by him subscribed and that statements therein contained are true.

Epwarp F. SMITH,
Notary Public, Commonwealth of Massachusetts.

My crnimission expires May 10, 1963.

Mr. LisumaN. Now, is Edward F. Smith, the notary public who
took your verification on December 19, your attorney ¢

Mr. MayNaRrD. Yes, heis.

Mr, Lisuyan. And do you know that he is also attorney for Music
Suppliers, Inc.?

Mr. May~arp. I did know that, yes..

Mr. Lisuman. Did you know that he is also an officer of Dumont
Record Distributors?

Mr.: May~arp. No, I did not.

Mr. Lisaman. Now, following your suspension, have you since been
reinstated ¢ '
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Mr. MaYNARD. Yes.

Mr. Lisuaax. On what basis have you been reinstated?

Mr. Maynarp. On the basis that my testimony—my statement,
rather, was investigated to an extent that I was reinstated on the air.
Reinstated and put back on the air.

Mr, Lisuman. As a diskjockey on WBZ or WBZ-TV, have you
ever accepted money or anything of value to play records on your
radio or television programs?

Mr. May~arp. No, I have not.

Mr. LisnmaN. Did you ever receive or accept money, or anything
else of value, to promote record hops on any of your programs?

Mr. May~arp. To promote record hops, no.

Mr. Lisuman. Did you ever receive, or accept money, or anythin
else of value, as gifts in appreciation of your having promoted recor§

hops?

{Ir. May~arp. I have never promoted record hops. I don’t quite
understand the question.

Mr. Lisintan. Well, did you ever receive or accept money or any-
thing else of value as gifts in appreciation for your consultation serv-
ices in connection with record hops?

Mr. May~arp. Yes. If you mean did I promote records at record
hops, yes.

Mr. Lisyan. Whose records did you promote?

Mr. Maynarp. Well, I promoted everybody’s records. I played
everybody’s records.

Mr. Lisiran. How many record distributing companies made gift
payments in appreciation of your record hop services?

Mr. May~arp. As far as I can recall, three.

Mr. Listiman. Will you please name the three?

Mr. Maynarp. Music Suppliers of New England, Dumont Record
Distributors, Records, Inc.

Mr. LisuMAN. When were these payments for your services at rec-
ord hops made? ere they made Ee¥ore the record hop or after the
record hop?

Mr. May~arp. They were not made at any specific time.

Mr. Listyan. By that, you mean that sometimes you might get a
check from one of these record distributing companies in advance of
the record hop?

Mr. May~arp. No, I never received money in advance.

Mr. Listman. Did you say never? You never received money in
advance?

. Is that your answer?
*-Mr. MaYNarop. I received no money in advance, sir.

Mr. Lisuman. Well, did you receive anything of value in advance?
. Mr. May~aro. No, not to my knowledge, not in advance.

* “Mr. Lisaman. Do you still own the 1959 Buick which you pur-
chased and on which you traded a 1957 Mercury ¢

,X,Mr. MaYNARD. Yes. . "o :

"My ListimaN. By whonrarethe payments made?

Mr. May~Narp. Myself. .
1,,_.Mlj._LI$HM;AN. Since what date? .

*“Mr, MAyNarp. As of December 1959: e : _ _

Mr. Lisuyman. Prior to that time, who made the payments? . - .-
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Mr. May~aro. Music Suppliers of New England.

Mr. Lisaaman. Under what arrangements did you have with Music
Suppliers to make these payments?

Mr. May~aro. I don’t understand the question, sir.

Mr. Lisaman. Well, you said that you were not paid, in apprecia-
tion, gifts in advance of the record hops, yet you have testified, that

rior to December 1959, payments on your car had been made by

usic Suppliers. And I just wanted to know what arrangements
you had with Music Suppliers in return for their agreeing to make
payments on your car. .

Mr. May~narp. The car was given to me as a gift. I had no knowl-
edge of how they were making payments.

Mr. Lisiiman. Well, why are you making payments on the car now,
if it was an outright gift

Mr. May~aro. I found out afterwards that they were makin pay-
ments on the car. And in light of the investigation, I decided that
I had been guilty of rather bad judgment, so% requested they give
the book back to me, the payment book, which they did.

Mr. Lasiimax. Now, when you acquired the 1957 Mercury, did you
trade it in on a 1955 Mercury automobile, as part payment?

Mr. May~aro. I think that is just the other way around. I traded
a 1955 on a 1957.

Mr. Lisayan. Where did you get the 1955 Mercury ¢

Mr. May~narp. I had purchased that myself.

Mr. Lisuman, Mr. Maynard—Mr. Chairman, I think at this point
I would like to have Mr. Keelan, who is an accountant loaned to the
subcommittee from the General Accounting Office, read into the
record computations he has made from the books and records of
Music Suppliers, Inc., which relate to payments by that company to
Mr. Maynard, including the finance charges on one or more automo-
biles on his behalf. And I think that with the testimony of Mr.
Keelan—we will have a clearer picture of this situation.

Mr. Mack. That would be agreeable.

Is Mr. Keelan here?

Mr. Keenan. Yes, sir.

Mr. Mack. Would the witness step aside momentarily, and let
Mr. Keelan appear as a witness?

TESTIMONY OF DONALD R. KEELAN

Mr. Mack. Mr. Keelan, you may have a seat. Are you the same
Mr. Keelan who was sworn in and gave testimony before this com-
mittee this morning?

Mr. Keevan. Yes, sir, I am.

Mr. Mack. Counsel, you may proceed.

Mr. Lisuman. Mr. K}eelan, iytﬁink for the public record you should
state the nature of the duties you are performing for the subcom-
mittee. : . .

Mr. Keeran. My name is Don Keelan. I am an employee of the
U.S. General Accounting Office, Boston, Mass. From approximately
January 4 to date, I have been helping the committee in this investi-

ation. ) .
. Mr. Lisuman. And in helping the committee—you are an account-
ant, are you not? ’
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Mr. KeeLan. That is true. :

Mr. Lisaman. And in helping the committee, you have been as-
signed the job of reviewing the books and records of Music Suppliers,
Inc., Dumont DistributorsbRecords, Inc., and other record distributors
in Boston? :

Mr. Keeran. That is correct, sir.

Mr. Lisuman. And have you had occasion—. In the performance
of your duties, have you had occasion to examine the books and rec-
ords of Music Suppliers, Inc., so far as they pertain to payments
made to Mr. Davif glaynard?

Mr. Keevan. Yes,sir; I have.

Mr. Lisiiman. As a result of such studies, have you prepared a two-
age schedule, showing such payments made to Mr. Maynard by
Tusic Suppliers, Inc., and by Dumont Records, Mutual Distributors,

and by Records, Inc.? ‘

Mr. KeeraN. Yes,sir; I have.

Mr. Lisaman. What period did your study of the books and records
of these companies cover?

Mr. Keeran. The review that was made of the books and records of
these companies was from January 1, 1957, through November 30,
1959.

Mr. Lisiman. Now, Mr. Keelan, will you turn to the bottom of
page 2 of this schedule, and read into the record the summary of the
totals which the books and records of these various record distributors
show2 as having been paid to Mr. Maynard during the period 1957 to
1959¢

Mr. Keeran. The summary on the bottom of page 2 of the exhibit,
which was prepared by me, shows that $6,817.16 was paid_to Mr. May-
nard from the Music Suppliers, Inc., Dumont Record Distributors,,
Mutual Distributing, Inc., and Records, Inc.

Mr. Lisuyan. Now, included in that amount, is there anything con-
cerning payments on automobiles ?

Mr. IkepLan. Included in that amount of $6,817.16, amounts paid
in 1957 to the Universal CIT Corp.; 1958 Universal CIT Corp.; 1938,
December, ueneral Mowors Acceptance Corp.; 1959, General Motors
Acceptance Corp.; and also in 1957, seven payments paid to the New-
ton-Waltham Bank.

Mr. Lisnaran. On an automobile?

Mr. Krenan. Yes, sir.

Mr. Lisnman. Now, what is the total shown as having been paid
by Music Suppliers, Inc., to obtain an automobile for Mr. Maynard?

Mr. Kreran. The total payments paid by Music Suppliers, Inc., for
an auntomobile for David Maynard was $3,217.17, plus an additional
$887.74, for an automobile that was being financed by the Newton-
Waltham Bank, and after my review we were told that this was for
David Maynard.

Mr. Lisirman. Who told you this?

Mr. KeeLan. Mr. Gordon Dinerstein, vice president of Music Sup-
pliers, Inc.

Mr. Lisuman. And all the figures that are contained in these com-
putations accurately reflect the books and records of the companies
named ?

Mr. Keevan. They do.
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Mr. Lisgman. Mr. Chairman, in order to complete the record, 1
would like to have introduced at this time a two-page schedule which
the witness has just identified, entitled, “Schedule of Payments Made
to Dave Maynard for the 3-Year Period 1957 to 1959, by Record Dis-
tributing Companies.”

Mr. Mack. Without objection, it will be included in the record.

(The document referre(f to is as follows:)

BosToN RECORD DISTRIBUTING COMPANIES
Schedule of payments made to Dave Maynard for the S-year period 1957-59

Date ngleck Source Account Amount Company Total
0.
1957
Mar. 25 | 13446 | Music Suppliers, Inc.... 00 | ircemcaeee
Apr. 8| 13482 |._... L [+ TR, d

June 6| 13707 ..do .
July 19| 13394
Sept. 17 14112
Oct. 17 14238
Nov. 21 | 14366
Dec. 19 14492

Y| s2BERREaEE
B/ I2LBLLILER

19 1450t
27 14556 | ... do..
Total. - 1,
1958
Jan. 21 | 11677 | Music Suppliers, Inc.___ 50.00
21 14679 d 125. 50
Feb. 20 14797 125. 50
Maur. 17 14943 125. 50
Apr. 7 15009 125. 50
May 18 | 1519¢ 125. 50
June 23 15352 125. 50
July 18 15164 125. 50
Aug. 10 15532 125. 50
Sept. 17 | 15697 125, 50
Oct. 16 | 15872 125. 50
Dec. 17 15981 100. 00
22 | o133 General Motors 121. 68
Acceptance
Corp.
Total. oo | el 1,526.68 |.. ... 1,526. 68
1959 I
Jan. 10 | 16243 | Music Suppliors, Inc...| Advertising._.....__ 121. 68 | Gieneral Motors 121.68
Acceptance
Feb. 19 121.68
Mauar, 20 121. 68
Apr. 17 121.68
May 2! 121.68
June 25 121. 68
July 2u 121. 68
fept. 10 243.38
Oct. 14 121.68
Nov. 20 121.68
1,338.48
1957

Aug. 7 " Dumont Record Dis-
tributing Corp.

24 L) N P, do.
Sept. 4 D) |l do
Oct. 15 L B P do

1 Not given,

56861—60-—pt. 1—86
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Schedule of payments made to Dave Maynard for the 3-year period 1957-59—

Continued
Date Cgeck Source Account Amount Company Total
0.

1957

Dec. 18 5455 MIl:ltual Distributors, | Advertising. _....... $50.00 |.oococaccnnmananan $50. 00
c.

Mar. 22 547 | Records, InC...ccccunee- Unknown 200, 00 . 200. 00
Dec. 18 2425 |(..... do d e do o 100.00 |ceieamocmncconane 100. 00
Total .. _eeeenneee 300. 00 300. 00

1968
Jan. 50. 00
Mar. 17 200. 00
Apr. 14 100. 00
18 100, 00
25 100. 00
May 2 100. 00
9 100. 00
16 100. 00
23 100. 00
950. 00

1959
July 15 | 16979 | Music Suppliers, Inc ...| Promotion.._.ccoo... 75.00
Aug. 3| 17024 |-.... do. -e.--do 100. 00
Total... 175. 00

SUMMARY
Source Account 1957 1958 1959 Total
Music Suppliers, In¢. cccanceeene-- Advertising....... $1,227 | 81, 526.68 | $1,338.48 $4,002.16
Do oo reoeener oo Promotion........ None None 175,00 175. 00
Dlémom, Record Distributing | Unknown......... 1, 250. 00 None None 1, 250. 00
orp.

Mutual Distributors, InC.......... Advertising. ... 50 None None 50,00
Records, INCoeeeeocumcacacecennan Unknown... 300 950. 00 None 1, 250. 00
Total 1,577 2,476.68 2,763.48 6,817.16

Source: Audit of Music Suppliers, Inc., and Mutual Distributors, Inc., audit work papers; Dumont, list
of payments; Records, Inc., canceled checks.

Mr. Lisuman. I should also like to have included in the record
at this time a separate one-page document, entitled “Boston Record
Distributing Company, Schedule of Payments Charged to Adver-
tising for Automobiles for Dave Maynard.”

Mr. Mack. Without objection, it will be included in the record.
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(The document referred to is as follows:)

BosTON RECORD DISTRIBUTING COMPANIES

79

8chedule of payments charged to advertising for automobile for Dave Maynard

Date

Check
No.

Source

Credit company

Amount

Total, Universal C.I.T. Corp........
Music Suppliers, Inc

Total, General Motors Acceptance
Corp.

Corp.

Total, all payments. ..._............

1, 460.16

3,217.16

PAYMENTS CHARGED TO ADVERTISING FOR AUTOMOBILE FOR DAVE MAYNARD;

INFORMATION SUPPLIED BY GORDON DINERSTEIN

Total, Newton-Waltham Bank_____.
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Mr. Lisiaman. That is all the questions I have for Mr. Keelan.
The Criairaan. Mr. Keelan, you may step aside.
Mr. Maynard, take the witness stand again.

TESTIMONY OF DAVID MAYNARD—Resumed

Mr. Lisiiaan. Now, Mr. Maynard, you have just heard the testi-
mony of Mr. Keelan, taken from the books and records of Music Sup-
pliers, Inc., Dumont Record Distributors, Records, Inc. The records
purport to show, from their books, the total payments during the years
1957 to 1959, by these record distributing companies, to you, of $6,-
817.16. Does that corvectly reflect the amount of payments that you
have received from these companies?

Mr. MayNarp. Yes, sir; it is a matter of record.

Mr. Lisinvan. Well, now, I would like to call your attention to the
notarized letter, which is already in the record, over your signature—
and have you read the last paragraph in it.

Mr. May~arp (reading) :

In June 1938, when I started with Westinghouse Broadcasting Corp. on a regular
basis, I owned a 1957 Mercury station wagon toward which I had traded my 1955
Mercury station wagon, the balance being assumed and paid for by a record dis-
tributor. These payments amounted to about $600 for 1958. In November 1938,
this car was traded for a 1959 Buick on which the record distributor assumed the
payments of about $1,300 a year for 2 years. All moneys received by me, from ail
sources, have been duly reported, by me, to the Internal Revenue Bureau and all
taxes were paid in full. In 1958 I received a total of $400 in checks. During
19539 1 received a total of approximately $1,175 in checks.

Mr. Lisuaan. Well, now, Mr. Maynard, I call your attention, ac-
cording to the figures that have just been introduced into the record,
in the year 1958, there was a total of $1,250, paid on your behalf, to the
Universal CIT Corp., for an automobile, by Music Suppliers, Inc

Mr. Maynarp. Yes, sir.

Mr. Lisinax. And 1 notice that your aflidavit states that the
amount of such payments was $600.

Mr. Mayxarp. The statement here, I believe, is made to Westing-
house, sir. They were interested in any gifts that I had received while
in their employ. And that, to the best of my knowledge, as I recall,
was the amount of gifts I received in their employ—since 1 entered
their employ.

Mr. Lisunmax. Well, is it a fact, then, that part of the $1,200 pay-
ments that were made on your behalf by Music Suppliers, Inc., was
made prior to the time that you went with Westinghouse ?

Mr. May~narp. As far as I can recall, I believe so, sir; yes, sir.

Mr. LisuMmaN. Now, Mr. Maynard, you have testified that Music
Suppliers, Inc., did not pay you in advance.

Mr. MaYNARD. Yes, Sir.

Mr. Lisuman. For its appreciation of your services at record hops.
Would your same testimony hold true of Dumont Distributors?

Mr. May~Narp. Yes, sir.

Mr. LisamaN. Did Dumont ever pay you in advance?

Mr. May~arD. No, sir.

Mr. Lisaman. Well, Mr. Maynard, I would like to show you a
photostatic copy of a check dated October 15, 1959, of Dumont Rec-
ord Distributing Corp., to your order, in the amount of $400. I ask



RESPONSIBILITIES OF BROADCASTING LICENSEES 81

you if you can identify this check as having been paid to you, and
endorsed by you? .

Mr. May~arp. That is my signature; yes, sir. I endorsed that
check.

Mr. LisumaN. What was that check for?

Mr, May~agp. It was in appreciation for any help I was able to
give Mr. Dumont, in selecting records, and in trying to test the po-
tential at record hops.

Mr. LisiMaN. \Vrt)all, was that in appreciation of services you had
already performed ?

Mr. MayNarD. Yes, sir; it was.

Mr. Lisiaan. Well, I call your attention to the fact that on the
stub of the checkbook of Dumont there is a notation, and I will show
it to you, and this is a photostatic copy—“Dave Maynard, Sales Pro-
motion. October and E‘Iovember,” And the check is dated October
15.  And I ask you if that will refresh your recollection as to whether
you had not, in fact, been paid in advance for some of these services.

Mr. Maxy~arp. Yes; I see it says October-November, sir.

Mr. Lisiaran. Does that refresh your recollection that

Mr. May~narp. No; I have never seen that check stub before.

Mr. Lisiyan. Well, isn't it a fact, Mr. Maynard, that you were paid
this money, principally, because you were able to air the records of the
record distri{iuting companies as a diskjockey over WBZ1

Mr. MayNarp. No, it 1s not, sir.

Mr. Lisuman. Had you performed any record hops for this com-
pany in November ¢

Mr. May~arp. I don't perform record hops for any com any.

Mr. Lisuman. Well, had you assisted them in any November record
hops when you received this check in October ?

Mr. May~Narp. Would you rephrase that?

Mr. Lisaman. All right.  Had you, in October, when you received
this check of $400, performed any November services for the Dumont
Record Distributing Co.?

Mr. May~arp. Noj; I did not.

Mr. Lisiyan. Well, why did they give it to you in advance?

Mr. Mav~Narp. To my knowledge, the money was not given to me
in advance, sir.

Mr. Lisumax. Well, the record of the company seems to indicate
otherwise.

Did you ever have any conversations with Mr. Harry Carter of
Music Suppliers, Inc., or with Don Dumont, of Dumont Record Dis-
tributing Co., in which it was agreed that you and Mr. Carter and
Mr. Dumont, would tell the officials of station WBZ the same story,
that you had received money from Music Suppliers, and Dumont
Distributing, only for appearing on record hops, and not for playing
records distributed by either or both of these two companies?

Mr. Mayxarp. I am sorry. You will have to rephrase that, sir.
It is such a long sentence.

Mr. Lisiman. I will start in and break it down.

Did you ever have any conversations with Harry Carter of Music
Suppliers of New England, Inc., in which it was agreed that you and
Mr. Carter would tell the same story to the officials of WBZ, that you
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had received money from Music Suppliers only in appreciation for
having appeared at record hops?

Mr. May~arp. Not that I recall; no, sir.

Mr. Lisuman. Did you ever have any conversation with Don Du-
mont, of Dumont Record Distributing Corp., in which you agreed
with Mr. Dumont that you and he would tell the officials of WBZ that
you had received money from Dumont only for appearing at record
hops?

fr. May~arp. Not that I recall, no, sir.

Mr. Lisinran. Were you instructed by officials at WBZ to go and
talk with Mr. Harry Carter, of Music Suppliers, Inc.?

Mr. May~axp. No, I was not instructed, no.

Mr. Lisunan. Was it suggested that you do that?

Mr. May~arp. Not that I recall, sir, no.

Mr. Lisinan. Did you arrange a meeting with Mr. Carter of Music
Suppliers, Inc., pursuant to a suggestion from someone in Westing-
house?

Mr. Mayxarp. I don’t think it was pursuant to a suggestion, as I
recall, sir, no.

Mr. Lisiaax. Did you hear Mr. O’Friel’s testimony ¢

Mr. May~arp. I heard most of it, sir.

Mr. Listiman. Did you hear him say that you had arranged for this
meeting ?

Mr. %L\YNARD. Yes. I arranged it. I have never stated that I
didn’t arrange the meeting.  Yes, I arranged it.

Mr. Lisintax. Well, who suggested you should have this meeting?

Mr. May~narp. That is what I can’t recall.

Mr. Lisiarax. Who suggested that you should have the meeting
with Don Dumont ¢

M. May~arnp. I can’t recall, sir.

Mr. Lisuman. Well, it is a fact that you received money and other
things of value from both of these companies.

Mr. May~axp. I received checks, yes, sir.

Mr. Lisiiman. And payments on antomobiles?

Mr. May~arp. Yes, sir.

Mr. Lisiax. Did vou ever receive any money or anything of value
from Mr. Harry Weiss, a record promotion man with Music
Suppliers?

Mr. May~arp. Not as I recall, no, sir.

Mr. Lisiaan. Isn't it a fact that Mr. Weiss delivered to you, in
December 1958, an envelop containing a check for $100 made out to
you for cash by Music Suppliers, Inc.?

Mr. May~arp., Well, I don’t recall that. He might have. I don’t
recall it.

Mr. Lisaman. I show you a photostatic copy of a check dated De-
cember 17, 1958, of Music Suppliers, Inc., to your order, in the amount
of $100, and signed by Harry Carter.

Mr. May~agp. Yes, sir.

Mr. Lisiaan. For what purpose did you receive that $100.

Mr. Mayxarp. I haven’t the slightest 1dea, but I would imagine it
was a Christmas gift, noting that it is dated December 17.
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Mr. Lisuman. Did Mr. Harry Weiss ever bring records to you
while you were a diskjockey at WWBZ, and request you to buy them?

Mr. May~arp. He has brought records to the station, yes, sir,

Mr. LisumaN. And they have been played ?

Myr. Max~arp. Some of them.

Mr. Lisuman. Are you acquainted with Mr. Cecil Steen, president
of Records, Inc., a record distributor in Boston 2

Mr. May~arp. Yes, I am.

Mr. Lisnyan. Have you ever received any money or other things
of value from Mr. Steen, or Records, Inc.?

Mr. May~aro. I believe so, sir, yes, sir.

Mr. Lisiaran. Could you state about how much you have received
from him?

Mr. Max~arp. No, I haven’t the slightest idea.

Mr. Lasuman. Why should you receive these checks from Mr.
Steen, or from Records, Inc.?

Mr. May~Naro. What checks, sir?

Mv. Lisunan. Any. We have some here. But I will ask you in
general, first.

Mr. May~aro. I don’t know.

Mr. Lismaran. Well, isn't Records, Inc., in the business of dis-
tributing records?

M. Maxy~aro. Yes, they are.

Mr. Lisuma~. Did you receive any of these checks for the purpose
of inducing you to play records distributed by them over the air?

Mr. May~arp. No, sir. Some of the checks might have been pay-
checks.

Mr. Lisuman. Paychecks? Did you at one time work for Records,
Inc.?

Mr. May~aro. I at one time did a television show, which was spon-
sored by Records, Inc., for which I received a sum of—I don’t know
exactly what it was, That is when 1 was working 1 day a week.

Mr. Lisuyan. Well, T will ask you some specific questions about
a few of these checks, to find out for what purpose they were paid.

Mr. May~arp. Yes, sir.

Mr. Lisuman. Now, I will show you a check of Records, Inec., to
your order, on December 18, 1957, in the amount of $100, and I ask
you zif you can remember for what purposes this check was made to

ou?
Y Mr. May~arp. I have no recollection, but, once again, I would
have to imagine that it was a Christmas gift.

Mr. LisumaN. When did your emplggyment by Mr. Steen termi-
nate?

Mr. May~arp. It terminated in—as I recall—June of 1958,

. Mr.9 Lisayan. And when did your employment begin with Mr.
teen?

Mr. May~Nago. I don’t know, sir. I don’t know exactly when it did
start.

M? Lisunan. Was it for a number of weeks, or a month, or a

ear
v Mr. May~arp. Well, pre aratory to doing the TV show, I worked
for him, and I don’t know how long. No, no, not a Year—no,
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Mr. Lismaan. Well, I show you another check, photostatic copy
of a check, which bears your endorsement on the back, in the amount
of $200, of Records, Inc., signed by Cecil Steen, and ask you for
what purpose this $200 payment was made to you.

Mr. May~arp. This gate is not very legible, sir—is it 1957 ¢

Mr. Lisnman. It looks like 1957 to me. The endorsement is
stamped with a 1957 date on it.

Mr. Mayxarp. I cannot really say. T donot know what it was for.
I imagine it was in appreciation of any exposure I had given his
records at the record hops, but I do not know.

Mr. Lisimax. Did you receive a check for $300 from DuMont
Record Distributing Co. on August 24,1959 %

Mr. May~aro. I believe S0, SIT, yes.

Mr. Lisnman. Was that check given to you for playing records
produced by Gone Recording Co., or for exposing Gone records?

Mr. May~Narp. Not to my knowledge, sir, no.

Mr. Lisinax. Well, why was that payment made to you?

Mr. MayNaro. For helping him select records and playing them—
tr%'ing to test the potential of them at record hops, which I %lid quite
a few.

Mr. Lisiaran. Do you know the principal owners of Gone Records?

Mr. Mayxarp. No, sir, I do not. I do not know the owners, no.

Mr. Lisuman. Well, shortly before you were paid that check
didn’t you have a conversation with a George Gollzlner in Boston?

Mr. May~aro. I cannot recall. I met George Goldner. I had
spoken to him.

CMr. Lisirax. Isn’t he one of the principals in Gone Recording

o. ¢

Mr. May~arp. He is with Gone Recording. I had no knowledge
he was an owner of it, no, sir.

Mr. Lisaman. Did you receive any help in the financing of your
home from any Fersons or companies, manufacturing, distributing,
promoting, or selling phonograp records?

Mr. May~arp. No, sir.

Mr. Lisinnrax. Have you ever puchased any clothing or other items
and charged them to Music Suppliers, Inc.?

Mr. May~arp. No,sir. As I recall, I have not.

Mr. Lisran. Do you now own, or have you in the past owned,
any interest in any company or enterprise, mannfacturing, distribut-
ing, promoting or selling phonograph records?

Mr. MayNarD., Some time ago, yes. I started what I hoped was
to be a record company, and we made one record, and lost about $700,
and that was the extent of my venture into the record business.

Mr. Lisiiaan. What was the name of that company ?

Mr. May~arp. RMS, I believe it was—RMS, yes.

Mr. Lisunan. I have no further questions.

The CrarmaN. Mr. Mack.

Mr. Mack. Mr. Maynard, I understood you to say one of the auto-
mobiles was a gift, is that correct?

Mr. MAYNARD. Yes, sir.

Mr. Mack. A 1959 model ¥

Mr. MayNarDp. Yes, sir.
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Mr. Mack. 1959. Well, what made you think it was a gift? Did
someone pick out the car for you, or did they ask you to pick it out?

Mr. May~arp. No, I picked out the car, sir.

Mr. Mack. And then you told him how nuch you wanted him to
pay on it?

Mr. May~narp. No. I merely

Mr. Mack. I was interested in seeing how you worked out these
arrangements for receiving funds or something of value in this case.

Mr. May~arp. No. I picked out the car, sir.

Mr. Macgr. You picked out the car.

Mr. Mayxarp. Yes.

Mr. Macr. And then they were to pay—someone was to pay a
certain amount of money? You traded in a used car, and someone
else was to pay a certain amount of money ?

Mr. May~arp. Yes, sir.

Mr. Mack. And that was approximately how much ?

Mr. Maynarp. I do not recall the exact amount. I do not think
I could some close—$300 to $400. No, about—I think it is in the
statement—but it is somewhere in the vicinity of $2,000, I believe.

Mr. Mack. Was it $1,300 a year for 2 yearsa,

Mr. May~arp. I believe that was it.

Mr. Mack. $2,600.

Mr. May~arp. Yes. The $2,600, though, was not paid by them.

Mr. Mack. Did someone agree to pay the $2,600?

Mr. Mayw~arp. I do not know whetﬁer the amount was stated, sir.

Mr. Mack. Well, in other words, you thought someone was giving
you a gift, but you did not know how much of a gift they were
giving you; is that correct?

Mr. May~arp. Yes, sir.

Mr. Mack. But you did negotiate the transaction, the sale?

Mr. May~arp. Yes; I did.

Mr. Mack. And then a salesman told you how much you owed,
and you went back to tell someone else how much that was; is that
correct ?

Mr. May~arp. I did not go back to tell them. I said “Yes”—I
traded the car in.

Mr. Mack. That is what I am getting at. I am trying to find out
how the automobile agency were sure they would get pa,ig the $2,600.

Mr. Maynarp. I am sorry. I do not think I follow you, sir.

" Mr. Mack., Well, what I am trying to determine is how this $2,600
was to be paid, and how the firm wﬁich sold you the car knew that
it would be paid?

Mr. May~arp. How did they know it would be paid?

Mr. Mack. Yes.

Mr. May~arp. Well, they wanted to give me a car, so I traded
my own car in for another.

Mr. Mack. Then you thought it was an even trade. You did not
know that there was some money being paid by some of your friends?

Mr. May~narp. No; I knew there was to be a balance; yes.

Mr. Mack. Well, I certainly do not understand the transaction
very well, and I do not think that you have thrown much light on
it during my questioning.




86 RESPONSIBILITIES OF BROADCASTING LICENSEES

Mr. May~arp. I have tried to, sir. Perhaps I just do not follow
you. )

Mr. Mack. Well, was the $2,600 an unpaid balance ?

Mr. May~Narp. Approximately, yes. ) )

Mr. Mack. Well, do you do business normally in approximate
terms? If he said it would be $3,600, would that still suit you all

ri%\}llt?
r. Mayw~arp. I believe so, yes.
Mr. Mack. It did not make any difference to you?

Mr. May~arp. Noj; the car was a gift.

Mr. Mack. But the whole car was not a gift, was it?

Mr. Maynarp. No.

Mr. Mack. Just some portion of it.

Mr. May~narp. That is right.

Mr. Mack. And you did not know how much the other portion
would be?

Mr. May~arp. I knew approximately. That is why I made it in
the statement upproximate y $2,600.

Mr. Mack. Now, did you agree to pay so much money difference?
Did you agree with the salesman to pay so much money difference
between your car and a new car?

Mr. Mayn~arp. Yes; I did.

Mr. Mack. You did not pay the difference however, did you ?

Mr. May~arp. No.

Mr. Mack. So you must have gone to someone else and asked him
to pay that balance.

Mr. May~agp. Noj; I did not ask him at all, sir.

Mr. Mack. He was very happy to pay it?

Mr. May~arp. I do not know how happy he was to pay it.

Mr. Mack. Ile was willing to pay it. ge agreed to pay it.

Mr. May~arp. Yes, sir.

Mr. Mack. But as 1t developed, he did not pay it; is that correct?

Mr. May~Narp. He paid some of it, yes.

Mr. Mack. Why didn’t he pay the balance of it?

Mr. May~Narp. Because I requested that he return the booklet to
me in December of 1959. :

Mr. Mack. Why did you request that?

Mr. May~arp. Well, In view of the—as I said before, in view of the
current proceedings, I made the decision along with my wife that I had
exercised very poor judgment. So I decided to take the booklet back.

Mr. Mack. In other words, you did not think under the circum-
stanct;,s, then, that you would be able to fulfill your end of the agree-
ment?

Mr. Mayxarp. There was no agreement made, sir, on my part—none
whatsoever.

Mr. Mack. I see. You decided finally to give a portion of the gift
back; is that correct?

Mr. May~narp. Well, the entire gift had not been made. I just de-
cided to start to make the payments myself, which I have been doing.

I\(Illé Mack. But you did not repay any of those payments already
paid?

Mr. May~xarp. No, sir.
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Mr. Mace. Why do you feel it is now wrong to continue accepting
them, and yet you do not pay back the balance that you have already
received? Is that because you have already complied with any ob-
ligﬁtion ou might have had for that portion of it ¢

r. YNARD. No, sir.

Mr. Mack. Well, I do not quite understand that, either.

Mr. May~Narp., Well, if I had the money, I would pay them back.

Mr. Mack. Isee. In other words, you would like to pay the whole
thing back?

Mr. May~arp. Well, if it is decided that due to poor judgment I
:should, I would try to pay it back.

Mr. Mack. Weﬂ, now, as a matter of fact, when you bought the
«car it was necessary to sign a sales contract for the balance of the
payments; was it not ?

Mr. May~NarDp. Yes, sir; I imagine so.

Mr. Mack. And you entered into that yourself, did you not?

Mr. May~arp. Yes.

Mr. Mack. You signed your signature.

Mr. Maynarp. Yes, sir.

Mr. Mack. And therefore you knew exactly how much money was
involved.

Mr. May~arp. At the time, yes, I knew exactly how much money
it was,

Mr. Mack. Well, now, as a matter of fact they also paid some in-
surance charges, carrying charges, and other matters, other expenses.
So they actually would have paid much more than just $2,600.

Mr. i[AYNARD. How much more, I do not know, sir.

Mr. Mack. Substantially more.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman. .

The Craarman. Mr. Devine.

Mr. DeviNe. I do not have any questions, Mr. Chairman.

I think the record should show that Mr. Maynard is somewhat of
a reluctant witness. And I do not think—I hope that no member of
the subcommittee commends him for his frankness here, because I
think he has been considerably less than frank to the subcommittee.

The CrAlRMAN. Mr. Moss.

Mr. Moss. Mr. Maynard, I have been looking at this rundown of
payments made on your behalf by Music Suppliers, Inc., to Universal
CIT Corp., General Motors Acceptance Corp., and is it the Newton-
Waltham Bank?

Mr. Maywnaro. I believe so, yes, sir.

Mr. Moss. Now, in each of these instances, this company did pay
monthly on contracts which you had executed for the purchase of an-
tomobiles, is that correct ?

Mr. May~xarp. Yes, sir.

Mr. Moss. I notice that in 1957, in January, Music Suppliers paid
$126.82. They paid successive payments then to the Newton-Waltham
Bank in January, February, March, April, May, June, and July.
These are all in equal amounts.

Then, a}{)garently you needed another automobile, and commencing
in September of the same year, payments of $125.50 for each month
were made to Universal CIT Corp. And they continued froni Sep-
tember of 1957 through October of 1958.
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Then again—there was a payment made in December of 1953 and
they continued until amortization of the contract, and then immedi-
ately you required another antomobile. And this company, out of its
regularly scheduled gratitude, proceeded to buy another one for you.
And the payments on that were $121.68 a month. And they con-
tinued from the 22d day of December 1958 to the 20th day of No-
vember 1959.

Now, wasn't it a fact that you had an agreement with Music Sup-
pliers, Inc., to pay you approximately $125, give or take a few cents.
‘each and every month for playing their records?

Mr. Maynarp. No, sir, it was not.

Mr. Moss. This was gratitude in advance?

Mr. May~Narp. It was not in advance, sir. And there is one slight
discrepancy there, a discrepancy

Myr. Moss. I certainly want you to correct me if I am in error?

Mr. MayNaro. I am begging the pardon of one of the members of
the committee. I have nottried to be reluctant here—-

Mr. Moss. I am not. the one. Do not address yourself tome. Iam
talking to you now. You answer my questions.

Mr. MAYNARD. You said that amortization was reached in 1958 on
one of my cars, and I decided 1 needed another one. As it happens,
the car that I had up to then, which was a 1957 Mercury station wagon,
was such a horrible car, I had spent

Mr. Moss. Well, that is a matter between you and Mercury. You
did get another car, didn’t you?

Mr. May~Narp. Yes, sir. But I am just trying to point out—

Mr. Moss. And each and every month, from January of 1957 until
November of 1959, these good people, out of an abundance of gratitude,
were paying for an automobile for you.

Mr. MaYNARD. Yes,

Mr. Moss. At approximately $125 a month.

Mr. MAYNARD. Yes, Sir.

Mr. Moss. And this was in no way a part of a clear understanding
of a payment for services?

Mr. May~aro. No, sir.

Mr. Moss. Are you aware of how they handled this on their books?

Mr. May~arp. No,sir, I am not.

Mr. Moss. They handled it as an advertising item. This was ad-
vertising. How did they know how many record hops you were
going to have? ITow did you know ¢

Mr. May~Narp. Well, I schedule them somewhat in advance.

Mr. Moss. Two years? Eighteen months? Tiwelve months?

Mr. May~arp. No, sir.

Mr. Moss. Six months?

Mr. May~aro. No, sir.

Mr. Moss. Four months?

Mr. MaynNarp. Two or three.

Mr. Moss. And yet these people, riding along, because they were
so fond of you, were willing to commit themselves for 18 or 12 months?

Mr. May~NarDp. Yes, sir.

Mr.Moss. To underwrite a contract for you——

Mr. MayNarp. Yes, sir.
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Mr. Moss. As a gift. Why would a company place a contract of
this type with a finance company, where they paid maximum interest
charges, rather than perhaps handling it through their own normal
commercial banking arrangements, where the cost would be con-
siderably less?

Mr. May~arp. I do not know, sir. )

Mr. Moss. Unless it was to hold you to your agreement with them.

Mr. May~arp. Idonot know, sir.

Mr. Moss. You had no agreement with them ¢

Mr. May~arp. No, sir.

Mr. Moss. You became a permanent employee—a full-time em-
ployee of WBZ in June of 1958?

Mr. May~arp. Yes, sir.

Mr. Moss. And up until that time, you worked part time?

Mr. May~narp. Excuse me, sir.

Mr. Moss. Well—

In June 1958 when I started with Westinghouse Broadecasting Corp. on a regular
basis——
what was the basis prior to June 1958 ¢

Mr. May~arp. I worked 1day a week.

Mr. Moss. As a diskjockey ?

Mr. MaynNarp. Yes, sir, I did a TV show.

Mr. Moss. Did anyone ever pay you, from gratitude or otherwise,
prior to your ﬁoing to work for the radio station as a diskjockey for
conducting a platter hop or exhibiting your knowledge of what might
be public desire with regard to a piece of music? t is, prior to
going to work for the station—did anyone ever pay you to conduct
a record hop or did they ever give you any money for having con-
ducted one, out of gratitude for your presentation of their records?

Mr. Maynarp. Do you mean before I started into radio?

Mr. Moss. Yes.

Mr. Maynaro. No, sir, that is the only job I have ever had since
I graduated from college.

r. Moss. When did you start in radio with this station?

Mr. May~arp. With WBZ% November of 1958.

Mr. Moss. Your affidavit says June of 1958.

Mr. Maynarp. Well, I started radio there. I started with TV in
June of 1958,

Mr. Moss. When did you first go to work for a radio station?

Mr. Mav~Narp. January 20, 1952,

Mr. Moss. While you were going to school ¢

Mr. Mayw~arp. No, sir, I had graduated in 1951, in the winter of
1951, at Boston University.

Mr. Moss. When was tf:e earliest date you learned these people who
distribn;;e records or sell records were unusually generous and grateful
persons?

Mr. Mav~arp. I could not correctly place the date, sir. I don’t
know. T have been in radio 8 years now, and I do not exactly know.

Mr. Moss. Was it any time prior to your becoming a diskjockey ?

Mr. May~arp. No, sir. 1 never knew the people prior to that.

Mr. Moss, That is all I have, Mr. Chairman.
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The Cuaman. Mr. Maynard, did it ever occur to you that there
was some reason why these companies, or this company, was paying
you money and maiing these payments, giving you a car and so
forth?

Mr. May~Narp. Yes, sir.

The CHAIRMAN. A reason for their doing this did occur to you?

Mr. MayNarp. Yes, sir.

The Cramyax. But the reason did not occur to you when they
started making the payments.

Mr. May~anp. Oh yes, sir. You mean from the very first gift
that anyone gave me?

The Cramraan. Well, as an example, you mentioned these pay-
ments of $1,300 a year for 2 years. Was there any particular reason
in your mind why this was being done?

Mr. May~Narp. Yes, sir

The Crraieman. Why?

Mr. May~arp. Because I, as I stated in my statement—I conduct
a great many record hops, which bring me in_front of some of the
best critics of records, popular 1°ecor(fs, and I am able to test the
potential of them firsthand. And whenever I had a chance, and saw
that a record I thought did have possibility from any reaction I got
to it, I would report it to anybody who I thought would be interested.

The CriarrMaN. And you would play it on your program?

+ Mr. May~arp. Not necessarily, no.
" The CramrMAN. Not necessarily. But you would play it sometimes?

Mr. MayNarp. Sometimes.

* The CuamrMaN. And in that way you would promote that record,
would you not?
* Mr.May~arp. Occasionally, yes, sir.

The CiarrMaN. It never occurred to you that the reason that these
payments were being mnade was for some pwrpose such as this?’

Mr. Mayxaen. It occurred to me, sir. But 1t was never stated that
Way, because there was never any definite statement on my part, nor
on theirs, that I play records on the air. ‘

The Cuamyan. Well, you state in your affidavit to Mr. O’Friel
that you never felt it wrong to accept this.

Mr. May~narp. That is right, sir.

The Criamraan. But after so many payments had been made on the
automobile, you thought enough about it to change things around
and start making payments yourself.

Mr. MayNarD. Yes, sir,

The Citamrman. Why did you do that?

Mr. May~Narp. Well, a lot of criticism has come to bear on the music
industry. And as I said beforehand, I had exercised extremely bad
judgment.

The Cramryan. Did you attend the great diskjockey convention in
Florida?

Mr. May~arp. No, sir, I did not.

The Cuaamrman. Anything further?

Mr. Lisuman. No, sir.

The Cramrman. Mr. Maynard, you have testified only, in my opin-
ion, as to what you have to testify to here. Obviously, some of these
things could have been cleared up, it appears to me, if you had been
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willing to speak very frankly and tell what appears to us from the
record are the actual facts.

Youmay be excused.

Mr. May~arp. Thank you, sir.

The Crrarryax. Mr. Alan Dary. ) .

Do you solemnly swear the testimony you give to this committee
will be the truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the truth, so help
you God?

Mr. Dary. I do.

TESTIMONY OF ALAN DARY

The Crammax. State your name.

Mr. Dary. Alan Dary.

The Cuairman. What is your address?

Mr. Dary. 14 Country Club Road, Melrose, Mass.

The Ciratkman. What is your profession or business?

Mr. Dary. Announcer.

The Criaryan. Radio and TV ?

Mr. Dary. Idosome TV, yes,sir.

The Criiairman. Mr. Lishman, you may proceed.

Mr. LisinaN. Mr. Dary, what s your position at WBZ?

Mr. Darv. A personality on the air,sir, a diskjockey.

Mr. Lisiyan. Did you ever receive money or any valuable con-
siderations from Music Suppliers, Inc., for the purpose of inducing
you to plazy, over the air, records which were distributed by those
companies ¢

Mr. Dary. No,sir, I have not.

Mr. Lisumaxn. Have you ever received any payments from Music
Suppliers, Inc.?

MP;'. Dary. Yes, I have.

Mr. Lisuisan. In what amount ? '

Mr. Dary. To the best of my knowledge, it is $100, and it usually
haﬁpens each Christmas time, as a Christmas gift.

r. Dary. Yes, sir.

Mpr. Lismyan. Did it happen last Christmas?

Mr. Dary. Yes, it did, sir.

Mr. Lisinman. Have you received material of value, other than
money, from other sponsors ?

Mr. Dary. Sponsors ?

Mr. Lisuman. Well, we will say advertisers on the station, WBZ.

Mr. Dary. T have some carpeting in my master bedroom which was
a gift. But in a way, I earned that. I spenta good deal of time with
the people at night, helping them plan programs on their advertising
campaign,

Mr. Lisayman. I will show you the bill for that carpeting, and ask
you to tell us the circumstances under which you received this materia).

Mr. Dary. That is the paid bill which was sent to me as paid.

Mr. Lisayman. And the amount of that bill is $650, purporting to
be a bill for carpeting? :

Mr. Dary. Yes, sir.

Mr. Lisuma~. And that carpeting was installed in your residence,
is that right ?
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Mr. Dary. My last residence, yes, sir.

Mr. LisaaaN. And could you explain why this gift of carpeting
was made to you by this Emerson Rug Co. for which you do com-
mercials on the air?

Mr. Dary. Why they gave it to me? I believe that Mr. John Riley,
who is the president of the Emerson Rug Co., was truly grateful of
the extra time that I spent with him, and% had purchased a good deal
of carpeting from him anyhow. And he was grateful for the job I
was doing on the air for him,

Mr. Lastaan. Well, would it be correct to say that in money, you
have received over a period of 3 years, approximately $400 or $500
from the record distributors in Boston ?

Mr. Dary. Yes, sir; and I think in each case it is a Christmas gift.

Mr.a Lisuman. Have you received other gifts from record distrib-
utors ¢

Mr. Dary. No, sir. I did receive a hi-fi from a record company,
but not a distributor.

Mr. Lisuman. Did you ever receive gifts of alcoholic beverages
from any record distributors?

Mr. Dary. Yes, sir; a couple of Christmas times I did.

Mr. Lisuyan. According to the records of Dumont Record Dis-
tributing Co., they made such a gift—billed in February 1958. And
another instance, i1t does appear to be for Christmas.

Mr. Dary. The one in mmary, when they gave it to me, it was
not a case of liquor it was less than a case—he said it was a belated
Christmas gift. Ile had only been in business a short time.

Mr. Lisiiaan. I am only stating the way we find it reflected on the
books of Dumont.

Mr. Dary. Yes; that is why it is in February.

Mr. Lisaman. And none of these payments or gifts were made to
induce you, as a diskjockey, to air the records of any record distribu-
tor, is that correct?

Mr. Dary. That iscorrect, sir. May I elaborate for just a moment?

Mr. Lisu»aN. Yes, sir.

Mr. Dary. I do a show from 10 until 2, in the morning through the
afternoon. I do my level best to play the type of music that an adult
audience would enjoy. Consequently, I do not get into the raucus
kind of sound that I had always associated payola with. I just
wanted to go on record as saying that.

Mr. Lisuiman. I have no further questions, Mr. Chairman.

Mr. Devine. No questions.

Mr. Mack. Mr. Moss.

Mr. Moss. You indicated that your show was one where you play
the type of music, which I believe, you characterized as not the raucus
type, which Kou usually associate with the term “payola.” Am I
correct in gathering from that statement that you had a general aware-
ness of the practice of payola?

Mr. Dary. Well, I have heard the word.

Mr. Moss. Well, now, I think up to this point you have been rather
direct and candid. 1iad you gone further and heard more than the
word? Hadn’t you a fairly good idea of the practice? Did you have
any knowledge of it at all, any rumors you heard floating around ?
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Mr. Dary. No, sir; that I must say no to. You mean specific peo-
ple and amounts

Mr. Moss. No. I am not askin you did X take it or did Y take
it. But did you have a general y well-defined knowledge of the
practice?

Mr. Dary. I cannot say honestly I did.

Mr. Moss. Were you shocked to learn of it here as it has been dis-
cussed in detail in the press?

Mr. Dary. I certainly was.

Mr. Moss. You were?

Mr. Dary. That is the truth.

Mr. Moss. Those areall the Test-ions I have.

The Cuamrman. How long have you been a diskjockey ¢

Mr. Dary. A pretty long time, sir, about 12 years.

The Cramuman. Did you attend the Miami convention ?

Mr. Dary. No, sir.

The CHaAtrMAN. Where did the 2,700 come from that went down
there? T can’t find anybody that went.

Mr. Dary. I wasn’t there.

The Crarrman. Do you have anything further, Mr. Lishman ?

Mr. Lisaman. No, sir.

The Cramryan. You may be excused.

Mr. Dary. Thank you, sir.

The Cramrman. Mr. William C. Swartley. Did you have a state-
ment to make to the committee, Mr. Swartley ¢

Mr. SwarTLEY. No, sir.

The Cramyan. Well, the committee does not fee] that they would
have any need to question you in view of the previous testimony re-
ceived this morning and this afternoon, so you may be excused.

Mr. Swarrrey. Thank you.

The Cuamman. Is Mr. Lanin in the room? Will you be here in
the morning, Mr. Lanin? Mr. Lanin will be the first witness in the
morning, followed by Mr. Givens, Mr. Wesley Hopkins, and Mr.
Charles Young.

The committee will meet in the morning at 10 o’clock in the Ways
and Means Committee hearing room on the first floor of the New
House Office Building.

The committee Wiﬁ recess until 10 o’clock tomorrow morning,

Whereupon, at 5:10 p.m., the subcommittee recessed, to reconvene
at 10 a.m., Tuesday, February 9, 1960.)
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TUESDAY, FEBRUARY 9, 1860

House oF REPRESENTATIVES,
SpECTAL SUBCOMMITTEE ON LEGISLATIVE OVERSIGHT
oF THE COMMITTEE ON INTERSTATE AND FOREIGN COMMERCE,
Washington, D.C.

The special subcommittee met, pursuant to recess, at 10 a.m., in the
Ways and Means Committee room, New House Office Building, Hon.
Oren Harris (chairman of the special subcommittehe{) residing.

Present: Representatives Harris (presiding), Mack, Rogers of
Texas, Moss, Springer, and Devine.

Also present: Robert W. Lishman, chief counsel ; Herman C. Beas-
ley, chief clerk to the special subcommittee; Beverly M. Coleman,

rincipal attorney; Jack Marshall Stark minority counsel; Oliver
%astland, chief investigator; and James P. Kell , investigator.

The CaarrMaN. The committee will come to order.

The first witness this morning will be Mr. Lester Lanin.

Will you stand, please, and be sworn ¢

Do you solemnly swear that the testimony you are about to give be-
fore this subcommittee will be the truth, the whole truth, and nothing
but the truth, so help you God ?

Mr. Lanin. T do.

The Caamrman. Have a seat.

TESTIMONY OF LESTER LANIN

The CHARMAN. State your name for the record.

Mr. LaNiN. Lester Lanin.

The CHaRMAN. What is your residence address?

Mr. Lanin. 42 West 58th Street, New York City.

The CuammaN. What is your profession ¢

Mr. Lan1n. Orchestra leader, and I send out man groups through-
out the country. I do not know what definition tgat would be.

The Cramman. Mr. Lishman, you may proceed.

Mr. Lisiaan. Mr. Lanin, do you have about 20 or 25 orchestras that
play under your name ¢

Mr. LaNIN. Yes.

s M:lé. Lisaman. Are all of these orchestras rehearsed in New York
ity

Mr. LanNiN. Yes, sir.

Mr. Lisaman. So that when they play at affairs they have memo-
rized their music and can play numbers on request without reading
the music?

95
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Mr. Lanin. That is right.

Mr. Lisumax. Is that one of the distinguishing characteristics of
your orchestral manaf;ement?

Mr. Lanixn. I would suppose so. We try and keep everything the
same, as you would tomato soup—if you buy it on Park Avenue or on
11th Avenue, it is the same kind of tomato soup. We try to make our
music the same.

Mr. LisaMan. Do you record for Epic Records?

Mr. Lanin. That is right.

Mr. LisaMan. Epic Records is a division of—

Mr. Lanin. Of Columbia.

Mr. Lisaman. Do you recall that your orchestra played at a good
neighbor block party in Brockton, Mass., on September 26, 1958, in
accordance with a program which had been arranged by Dumont
Distributors?

Mr. Lanin. Yes. The arrangements were with him, but, origi-
nallsliy—may I elaborate?

r. LisaMan. I would like to have fyou narrate the arrangements
that were made for the appearance of your orchestra at that block
arty.
P M¥ Lanin. I received a telephone call from Mr. Schicks.

Mr. LisuMaN. Who!

Mr. Lanin. Mr. Schicks of Epic Records. And he said, “Lester,
would you like to play something for charity in New England?” He
said, “The radio station up in New England has a contest for whoever
writes a letter of approximately 25 words, and if they won, why, their
desire would be to have this block party and they should win the or-
chestra—the best and most strongest letter would win the band there.”

I said, “That sounds all right to me.” )

Notwithstanding it bem% charity, our own practice is to play the
minimum for charity—we have to be paid the union scale, of course.
The practice is not the usual grices we receive. Ile mentioned two or
three or four dates, and we finally agreed. And then he said, “We
will pick any date convenient for ou,” and——

Mr. LisaMAN. Just a minute, Mr. Lanin. Did you tell Mr. Schicks
that the charge for the appearance of your orchestra would be $2,0002

Mr. Lanin. Originally, I said $2,500. And I said that $2,000 s the
minimum which we receive on any date. If we play a ballroom we re-
ceive a percentage in addition to that of 60—40, 45-55, or 50-50.

Mr. Listaan. In connection with the recordings you make for Epic,
are you paid a royalty or a flat fee? '

Mr. Lanin. A royalty.

Mr. LisumAan. And what is that royalty ¢

Mr. Lanin. Five percent.

Mr, Lisaman. Five percent on the records sold ?

Mr. Lanin. Yes, that isright.

Mr. LisumaN. Will you continue now?

* Mpr. Lantx. Then I was in touch, or he was in touch with me—Don
Dumont was—about arranging a date that would be convenient for
my orchestra to play. And we finally decided on a date that I would
be there. It was supposed to be a block party where everyone would
be. His strongest letter—that is, that the people wrete, who wrote
the strongest letter, they would win the orchestra. That was the
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Menally Retarded Organization of Brockton, Mass. And that is the
only thing I know, is that we would go there.

I'did not know exactly what we would do, except that I know there
was supposed to be no dancing, and it is a small station—maybe about
an hour and a half away where this was being held—we met some
place near Brockton, and Donald Dumont took us there, drove us
to this block party. And I asked the chief of police and the chief of
the fire department about it, and they said that there were over 35,000
people there. I do not know. That is about all I know.

Mr. Lisuman. Did you tell Don Dumont that your charge for this
affair would be $2,500

Mr. Lanin. I told him many places we play for not much more
than that. At private parties the people in the past 20 years have
paid it. We have standard prices. We do not overcharge or under-
charge anyone. We have standard prices. But for charity through-
out the country—we play from coast to coast—we keep it to a mini-
mum.

Mr. Lisuman. Do you know that the mentally retarded organiza-
ti&n there received approximately $400 of this relatively stupendous
affair?

Mr. Laxi~. I do not know anything about that at all, except what
I was told.

Mr. Lisuman. We keep hearing the word “charity” in here. I
would like to find out just how much this particular charity received.

Was it not, in effect, a business promotion stunt for the station in-
volved, according to the advertising that appeared in the Boston
newspapers?

Mr. La~tx. Well, to be perfectly frank with you—

Mr. Lisuyan. Were you familiar with the ads that appeared in
the Boston newspapers?

Mr. LaxiN. Not at all—not at all. I knew nothing about the busi-
ness end. I am an orchestra leader. I will be perfectly frank, when
they told me about this affair and said, “You will get a lot of ex-
glo?‘)%ge,” instead of receiving $2,500, why I asked it to be settled at

,000.

Mr. Lisuyxax. You asked who?

Mr. Lanix. This Don Dumont.

Mr. Lisuman. He is the head of Dumont Record Distributing Co.

Mr. Lanin. That is right.

Mr. Listiman. He said that he could not give you the $2,500¢

Mr. Lanin. No, he said—or I always say to many patrons through-
out America—I say, “You are not going to run this affair for a
benefit,” and that was the case. I had to get the $1,000 in order to
paKIthe band. We have expenses, and so forth.

r. Lisuman. Mr. Lanin, we are not critical about the scale.
We are just trying to find out the facts.

Mr. Lanin. Surely.

Mr. Lisaman. I would like to know now what your standard
charge was, whether you received it, and, eventually, how much you
actually did receive for it. As I un(ierstand it you told Mr. Dumont
that your standard charge was $2,500, is that it?y

Mr. LaNiN. More or less.

Mr. Lisayan. And he told you that he could not give you more
than $1,000%
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Mr. Lanin. That is right. ' o

Mr. Lisuaman. And you agreed to go for $1,000%

Mr. Laxin. Because it covered charity, which was in it. And
that—— )

Mr. Lisiatan. How much were you actually paid by Dumont
foxl'wyour appearance?

" Mr. Laxix. I sent a statement a few days after the engagement,
and a check was received for $400 and the balance was $600. :

Mr. Lisuman. That balance is still unpaid

Mr. Lanin. The balance is. That is why I am here. [Laughter.]
I have no other reason to be here than that.

Mr. Lisaman. Did you understand that WBZ undertook to lay
on your records as compensation for this $600 that was owed you?

Mr. Laniy. You must believe me, that so far as business dealings,
whatever transactions, you would be surprised when you record
for a company—the more you record for themn, the longer you are
there, the less you know what they do.

Mr. Lisiman. Would you not be assisted if WBZ laid on your
records? You were receiving a 5-percent royalty on sales of your
recordings, were you notf

Mr. Laniy. Do you mean if they exposed our records?

Mr. Lisuman. Yes.

Mr. Lanin. Definitely so. If they play our records over the air
it would help. And I do not see anygling collusive about that.

The CramrMan. You did not what?

Mr. Lanin. I beg your pardon?

The CirairRMAN. f(f,ld not eet the last part of your remark.

Mr. Laniy. I said that I did presume, and Mr. Dumont told me,
that they would be announcing “your name, that you are going to play
at this party, and in turn that exposure is not harmful,” for potential
charity. If the charity made $2 or $50,000—1I have played for charity
where they have made $350,000, as in Palm Beach. Ihave. I cannot
control what the charity makes.

Mr. Lisiiyan. We are all in favor of charity. We are trying to
find out how the commercial arrangements were made here.

Mr. Lanin. Surely.

Mr. Lisuaan. Nobody is against charitable contributions as such.
But, certainly, you were called upon to give more than a charitable
demonstration, in other words, you received $400 in cash?

Mr. LaninN. Yes.

Mr. LisuaAaNn. When you expected to receive $1,000. I am asking,
did you not, also, receive the laying on of your Epic records by WBZ
as part of the compensation for this whole situation?

Mr. Lanin. That is entirely up to the record company and Mr.
Dumont and the station. I do not have anything to say about those
things. And believe me, you cannot have anything to say—you do
not have anything to say.

Here are four statements asking for the $600 from Don Dumont.
And I know the $600 will be mailed me by Epic, because I added to my
royalties. That is why I did not worry about it, but these are four
bills.

Mr. Lisuman. ITow would this come to you from royalties?
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Mr. LaNiN. Because, if Don Dumont does not pay me, then Epic
will. a 1
. Mr. LisimaN. I have no further questions.
The Cizairyran. Mr. Mack ?
Mr. Mack. None at the present moment. :
. The CuarryMaN. Mr. Devine?

Mr. Devine. No.

The Cuamryan. Mr. Rogers?

Mr. Rogers of Texas. Were the people charged a fee for attendance
at this block party? :

Mr. Lanin. No, Mr. Rogers, it was just in the open air. You just
came right on to it on the open street.

Mr. Rocers of Texas. Who paid the $400 to charity ?

Mr. LaniN. You mean the $400 that I did receive—or do you mean
the $400 that was collected ?

Mr. Rocers of Texas. Yes, the charitable part.

Mr. Lanin. Just in regular barrels—the people went around and
tossed in money—the nice people of Brockton distributed pennies,
nickels, dimes, or whatever they had.

I was leading an orchestra. I was not paying too much attention
to that. That is all I observed. They could have had $4 million in
the barrels or 4 cents.

Mr. Rogers of Texas. You did not get to see the proceeds from the
barrels?

Mr. LaNnin. No, I did not.

s Mr. éROGERS of Texas. Mr. Lanin, who was supposed to pay you this
1,000

Mr. Lanin. Mr. Dumont.

Mr. Rogers of Texas. Mr. Dumont$

Mr. LaNiN, Yes.

Mr. RogErs of Texas. And he paid you $400¢

Mr. LaNiN. Yes, sir.

Mr. Rocers of Texas. I believe you said that the union scale re-
quired you to get $1,000¢

Mr. LaNiN. Approximately.

Mr. Rocers of Texas. And you only got $400%

Mr. LaNIN. Yes, sir.

Mr. Rocers of Texas. Is the requirement with relation to union
scales something that you have to comply with in regard to a labor
union ?

Mr. Lanin. Well, the union scale designates, first, the playing hours
of the engagement. It might be $30, $40 for that. Then he gets
mileage, so many dollars per hundred miles. Then he gets his tax
for the union. They must get that.

In addition, if they leave early enough you have to pay for their
dinner. You have to pay their transportation.

So you add the total up, the total budget together, and then if it
comes out to $954 you get $1,000.

Mr. Rocers of Texas. How does the union check up on whether or
not you get union scale as you are supposed to?

Mr. Lanin. Well, the union has standard contracts throughout—
they are the same contracts written for every band in America. The
only difference is that they pick your name on the top. I think that
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you pay $3,000 a thousand sheets. Every band, Paul Whiteman—
everyone has the same contract.

Mr. Rocers of Texas. Mr. Lanin, $400 was not the union scale in
this instance, was it ¢

Mr. LaNin. It was not—it most certainly was not.

Mr. Rogers of Texas. So what happens if you do not collect the
union scale, are you penalized by the union?

Mr. Lanin. No, tﬁe men are paid.

Mr. Rocegs of Texas. The men are paid?

Mr. Lanin. They are paid. They must be paid. They were paid
within 2 weeks of the engagement. I pay them on the 10th and 25th
of every month, 52 weeks of the year. We have not been paid. I
am not worrying about it. All I have to do is to get me a check from
the record company.

Mr. Rogers of Texas. That is not what I am getting at. Your
organization is not penalized by the labor union, for not getting union
s%ale, ?a,s long as you pay your musicians—that is all that they worry
about

Mr. Lanin. They gripe, Mr. Rogers, if you charge below the scale.
You would be penalized if you did. You'are rfectly right.

Mr. Rocers of Texas. Suppose you charge above the scale and col-
lect above the scale?

Mr. Lanin. Well, that is unlawful—that is collusive.

Mr. Rocers of Texas. Is that not what happened in this case?

Mr. Lanin. This is the setup. Here are the bills I have for that
$600, which I will have assoon as I leave tonight.

Mr. Rocers of Texas. And your books do not give credit to Mr.
Dumont ?

Mr. LaNinN. Mr. Dumont?

Mr. Rocers of Texas. Your books do not give Mr. Dumont credit
for anything except the $400 cash he paid you'?

Mr. Lanin. That is right.

Mr. Rocers of Texas. He paid you that by check ?

Mr. Laxin. I do not know how he paid it. I am sure it must have
been a check.
¢ MI; Rocers of Texas. Your best estimate is that he still owes you

600 ?

Mr. LaNIN. Yes.

Mr. Rocers of Texas. It is your intention to collect that from Mr.
Dumont ?

Mr. LaniN. Most definitely.

Mr. Rocers of Texas. Or from Epic Records?

Mr. Lanin. Right.

Mr. Rocers of Texas. Are you going to collect it as a debt from
Epic Records, or are you going to simply add it to your royalties?

r. LaNmv. I saw Mr. Dumont here yesterday. 1 do not thank that
there will be any doubt about him having the check in the mails today
or tomorrow. [Laughter.]

Mr. Rocers of Texas. Let me ask you one last question: Have you
ever participated in any program where you were not paid in money,
but entered into an agreement or an exchange of publicity for reco
made by your bands or for your name alone{

Mr. Lavin. Mr. Rogers, no.
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Mr. Rogers of Texas. You never have?

Mr. Lanin. I am not in that line of business. I have albums. I
have played them for years. We have ’glgyed a few albums on other
engagements. We have done so for Tiffany, Whitney, and many
others. We just played albums.

Mr. Rocers of Texas. I am rather acquainted with your music. I
have a teenage daughter. I hear it every day.

Were you at the Dade County convention in Miami?

Mr. Lanin. I happened to be in Palm Beach at the time, and went
down, not as a member of it, because I am not a DJ, but to look over
the beautiful hotel. I loved it. I had no business there.

Mr. Rocrrs of Texas. And you did not enter into any transactions
down there? For your name or your records?

Mr. LaniN. No. You can verify that statement, Mr. Rogers. Idid
not attend one meeting, because I had no right to be there.

Mr. Rocers of Texas. Thank you. That is all, Mr. Chairman.

The CaamrMaN. Mr. Moss.

Mr. Moss. I have some questions, Mr. Chairman.

I find that I am somewhat confused as to what you played for in
Boston. You have mentioned it was charity?

Mr. Lanin. Surely.

Mr. Moss. You were contacted by Mr. Dumont ?

Mr. Lanin. Originally, Mr. Schicks of Epic.

Mr. Moss. Mr. gchicks?

Mr. Lanin. He is the sales manager of Epic.

Mr. Moss. Is Epic a regular label §

5 Mr. Lanin. That is a label, a subsidiary of Columbia Recording
0.

Mr. Moss. Of Columbia Recording?

Mr. LaNiN. Yes, sir.

Mr.? Moss. What is the relationship of Epic, Columbia, and Du-
mont

Mr. Lanin. Epic makes its own labels under its own name. And
the distributors of Epic records are individual men, different com-
panies, throughout America. And Dumont is one in New England.
And they have another one in California.

Mr. Moss. Then Dumont contacted you?

Mr. Lanin. That is right.

Mr. Moss. And you went at a reduced price?

Mr. LaNiN. Yes.

Mr. Moss. And it was promoted by WBZ in Boston ?

Mr. Lanin, That is right.

Mr. Moss. That is, the contest was promoted by them$

Mr. LaNin. That 1s right.

Mr. Moss. And you agreed?

Mr. LaN1N. Yes, as long as everything——

Mr,;1 Moss. At this point, what was charitable other than the cut

rice?
P Mr. LaniN. The charitable part was that they said, as I mentioned
previously, that they were announcing over the radio that any charity
who wrote in this beautiful, strongest letter, would win this so-called
Lanin orchestra for the block party.
Mr. Moss. Any responsible charity ¢
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Mr. Lanin. So long as it was charity. And the one in Brockton
won.

Mr. Moss. And then the charity would have you available and they
could sell tickets to the block party ¢

Mr. Lanix. No tickets. It was convenient for me to attend.

Mr. Moss. You were in partnership for the charity. What did
they do, pass the hat ¢

Mr. LaniN. When we got there—I do not know what kind of a
thing it was—I cannot t;elfyou how Brockton is situated, but there is
a great big court.

r. Moss. That does not matter.

Mr. Lanin. They had about 35,000 people, they claimed. No one
paid—they just assembled there.

Mr. Moss. You entered into this?

Mr. LANIN. Yes.

Mr. Moss. To go up there for $1,000%

Mr. Lanin, Yes.

Mr. Moss. Which is not your regular fee?

Mr. LaNIN. Yes.

Mr. Moss. And you were to play for the charity winning the con-
test. Certainly, you had no trouble about the type of promotion that
would be used by the organization in presenting it ¢

Mr. Lanin. I had a perfect understanding that Mr. Schicks and
Mr. Dumont, that is, with them, that they would be advertising this
block party, whoever won it, over the radio extensively.

Mr. Moss. And WBZ would be advertising the entire contest?

Mr. LaNiN. Yes.

Mr. Moss. And you would be advertised—the contest and you?

Mr. Lanin. We were the orchestra.

Mr. Moss. By you, you are referring to the Epiclabel ¢

Mr. LaNiN. Yes.

Mr. Moss. Are you a recording orchestra for any other label dis-
tributed by Dumont ?

Mr. Lanin. No, no.

Mr. Moss. Only Epic?

Mr. LaNiN. Yes.

Mr. Moss. How many recordings have you made?

Mr. Lanin. Many.

Mr. Moss. Was your understanding that the charity would not sell
tickets to the block party ¢

Mr. Lantvy. I must be perfectly frank about the workings of this
charity. I knew nothing—I knew nothing—I only knew——

Mr. Moss. I am confident that you are a reasonably prudent busi-
nessman. You appear to be somewhat successful. I cannot believe
that you were in complete ignorance as to specific details when you
undertook this engagement. I think you know that full well—

Mr. LaNiN. Mr. Moss——

Mr. Moss. That you knew what the terms of the agreement would
be. I would like you to recite the terms of that agreement.

Mr. Lanin. That is right. The agreement, I repeat, was to play
at our convenience for a certain agreed and specified sum. There 18
no use beating around the bush. You like exposure in this game. If
they play your music on the air or on television, it is helpful.
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Mr. Moss. You were told then, that as a part of this arrangement,
there would be an increased exposure of Lanin’s recordings over
WwBZ? .

Mr. Lanin. I was not told that, as much we were a part of the
agreement. They had to get a band. They could have gotten the
late Tommy Dorsey. - :

Mr, Moss. That it would be an indirect benefit ¢

Mr. Lanin. A benefit to me.

Mr. Moss. You would have exposure through this?

Mr. Lanin. That is right.

Mr. Moss. So it was full consideration to you in determining that
you would participate in this promotion ¢

Mr. Lanin. Yes. I am sure that I am not otherwise. In my heart
and soul I felt that the exposure was correct, and it would not do us
any harm. It was ethical. And I think I have nothing to cover.

Mr. Moss. When was this affair?

Mr. Lanin. September 26, 1958,

Mr. Moss. September 26, 1958.

Mr. LaNiN. Yes.

Mr. Moss. And you billed the Dumont Co. for $1,000; they sent
you $400¢

Mr. Laxin. That is right.

Mr. Moss. And now some 14, 15 months later, $600 is still unpaid.
What is your custom, as a businessman, in collecting fees from
clients ? '

Mr. Laxiv. The people that we do business with—with whom we
do business—the social set of America—I have to be very careful—
and I always try and talk things over and have signed statements.

Mr, Moss. IHave you ever used an legal remedy ?

er_.fLANIN. Never in my life. thave never visited an attorney in
my life.

Mr. Moss. Have you ever made a request for payment ¢

Mr. Lanin. I write—I consistently write. And then my account-
ant sometimes writes.

Mr. Moss. Do you have an agent ?

Mr. Lanin. Never.

Mr. Moss. You collected everything that is owing?

Mr. La~in. Due to the people with whom we go business, the top
social set of America, I feel it is a package—I feel that the gross
that I derive from playing for these people overbalances a few peo-
ple who maybe cannot or are not in position.
¢ MI; Moss. Did you follow the normal method of collecting the

600 ¢

Mr. Lanin. That $600 is like, in the bank. My checking account is

glore than $600, because Columbia Record Co. can surely put up
600.

Mr. Moss. You are dealing with the distributor?

Mr. LaNin. Yes.

Mr. Moss. The distributor of Epic labels ?

Mr. Lanin. Yes. And any other.

Mr. Moss. Did Epic undertake to underwrite it ?

Mr. Lanin. That is right. I agree with you most definitely.
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Mr. Moss. I do not want you to agree with me. I want you to tell
me whether this is correct.

Mr. LaniN. You get exposure. Then you hope that when people
get to know you, like any other product, 1f you make a certain can of
soup, and advertise it more than another, you get the sales, although
the other may be just as good.

Mr. Moss. Epic will pay because Epic got the $600 together?

Mr. Lanin. 1 do not say because of their exposure.

Mr. Moss. Why did they undertake to pay a bill by another com-
pany which is not a part of their own organization—they have the
relationship with the firm as the distributor of their products.

Mr. LanIN. Yes.

Mr. Moss. Normally, the manufacturer does not undertake to under-
write the debts of his distributors, or to guarantee them. Why, in this
instance, are they the underwriter of Dumont ?

Mr. Lanin. I will be perfectly frank with you. I have not spoken
to anybody in Epic.

Mr. Moss. Why do you assume that Epic would pay it for Dumont ¢

Mr. Lanin. Well—

Mr. Moss. Is there anything unusual about it? Unless there is
something in the background.

Mr. LanNin. So far as I am concerned I made an agreement with
Don Dumont to be paid $1,000. And he is manager of Dumont.

Mr. Moss. He is an officer of Epic?

Mr. LaNinN. Noj; of Dumont. They originated and set up this entire
cam aiﬁn and——

Mr, Moss. I understand that.

Mr. Lanin. I do not care where I get the money—I do not care
whether it comes from the moon.

Mr. Moss. You have complete confidence that either Columbia,
Efl)élc, or somebody, apparently, will pay ¢

r. LANIN. Yes.

Mr. Moss. Because until yesterday you had more or less a standing
hope of Dumont paying and were relying on Epic?

Mr. Lanin. I did not abandon the hope at all. In fact, I think Mr.
Dumont, if he would have only sent a check a year and a half ago,
I do not think it would be necessary for me to be here. That is a
fact, Mr. Moss. I mean, they would or they could have just put a
check in the mail.

Mr. Moss. Yes; but I still cannot figure why you feel that Epic
would pay the bill.

Mr. EANIN. I do not say that I feel they will. Isay I can demand
it, because that is my com¥any—I am contracted to them. They have
the original agreement. I do not think it will reach that point.

Mr. Moss. You can demand that Epic pay you the $600 which Du-
mont owes you—why should they pay somebody else’s bill? That is
what I cannot figure out.

Mr. Lanin. I do not know whether it is someone else’s bill. I mean,
if these people——

Mr. Moss. Epic was in on the affair as clearly a record promotion

roject ?

P Mr. Lanin. I would presume that such was the case. If Epic told
me. Evidently, they were interested.
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Mr. Moss. Another thing, you say you worked for them. Do you
8o presume that it isthat ? )

Mr. Lan1n. T would believe that you are perfectly right.

Mr. Moss. You do assume that?

Mr. Laxin. Yes; I mean

Mr. Moss. Why ¢

Mr. Lanin. If they called you to play a block party, and they called
you for a charitable affair, I do not think there is anything collusive
about doing it. . .

Mr. Moss. I do not think that there is anything collusive about it.
All I want to know is why you assume that Epic would pay. You
made it clear that you thought that Epic and Dumont were together.
I agree with you. “Those are all of the questions I have, Mr. Chair-
man.

The CrarMaN. Mr. Mack.

Mr. Mack. I would like to ask you about Dumont. You know
Dumont’s first name; is it Don Dumont ?

Mr. Lanin. Yes.

Mr. Mack. Do you know him quite well 2

Mr. LaNiN. Quite well? No. I know that he is the distributor
of Epic Recording Co.’s records and many others. And I know that
when you record you know the different distributors that sell your
records.

I repeat every artist is interested in seeing that his records are
sold, to get them out and to get exposure. I think that is business
in the United States in general on every product, Henry Ford, and
General Motors, and so forth.

Mr. Macxk. So you are acquainted with him?

Mr, La~iN. With Don Dumont—personally, I have never associ-
ated with him.

Mr. Mack. You seem to be quite familiar with his operation ?

Mr. Laxix. His operation—I am not really familiar with his opera-
tion. I know he is a creative man. And I suppose that he works up
a publicity campaign which was to benefit charity. Iam so sorry that
the charity did not benefit financially. It was a publicity campaign
which would in all probability benefit the sale of records, Maybe
that is where Mr. Dumont would come in. And I would be unhappy
if it was not legitimate and unethical and collusive. I am not in.
terested in anything that is shady. I have a pretty good reputation,
if you look up my record.

r. Mack. Do you know him well enough to know that he has a
reputation for paying his bills?
r. Lanin. That I do not.

Mr. Mack. Youdo not know him that well §

Mr. Lanin. No; I do not.

Mr. Mack. What excuse, would you think, that he would have for
not paying this bill, due for over 15 months?

Mr. LNIN. I think Mr. Dumont must be sitting in this room nox.
I'saw him here yesterday.

Mr. Mack. ly am hoping that I will have an opportunity to ask
Mr. Dumont. At this time I am asking you.

Mr. Lanin, I think that he just feels that he just started—there
is no reason for it—why get this over with—I do not understand, I
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did not have to be here, it could have been avoided a thousand per-
cent—I have nothing to do with these hearings. It is not worth my
while. He should have paid it ages ago. Mr. Dumont is in the room
now, I am sure.

Mr. Mack. Did he give any excuse like saying that he was short
of money ?

Mr. Lanin. No, no; not like that.

Mr. Mack. And you had asked him—you had corresponded with
him on several occasions before?

Mr. Lanty. Never corresponded—just sent him a bill.

Mr.. Mack. You had general correspondence only of that kind?

Mr. Lanin. Yes; sure.

Mr. Mack. You did that on several occasions?

Mr. Lanin. I notice that my bookkeeper sent four bills here.

Mr. Mack. What are the dates on the bills?

Mr. Lanin. October 30, 1959; May 13; October 30, 1959 and there
is one, January 28, 1960.

Mr. Mack. The first one you sent to him was in May of 1959

Mr. Lan1x. The first we sent was right after the engagement. We
sent it the first part of the month after the engagement—maybe on the
first.

Mr. Mack. That was before they sent you the $400¢

Mr. Lanin. Yes; that is right.

Mr. Mack. As a result you received a check for $400¢

Mr. Lanin. Yes; that is right. And I think ersonally, Mr.
Dumont should have just put the check in the mail for $1,000 and I
would not be here today.

Mr. Mack. I think that we are in agreement on that. I was just
wogdering why. You have indicated that he had plenty of money
an

Mr. Lanin. I think he is in here. Ie is just foolish about the
matter. Why don’t you call Mr. Dumont himself?

Mr. Mack. Looking back upon it, you think it is foolish; correct ?

Mr. Laviv. I think so, too. Why in the devil—does he think I am
a millionaire or do not need the money ?

Mr. Mack. Before coming before this committee in Washington,
you thought he had been foolish ¢

Mr. Lanin. That was yesterday.

Mr. Mack. Thank you very much.

The Criamkyay. Mr. Lanin, how far ahead are you booked in your
schedules ?

Mr. Lanix. Well, I have dates on parties up to 1968—June, Sep-
tember, and December, the three periods. I have many months in the
next few years where we do not have one engagement, but those 3
months we have bookings ahead.

The CHarMAN. Of course, that is commendable. Naturally, it
shows that your orchestras are in great demand.

Mr. Lani~. Ihope so, Mr. Chairman. :

The Criairmax. I think that your record speaks for itself. You are
pretty hard to get, are you not ?

Mr. Laniy. Once you have made an agreement for your present
services, you must go forward.
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The Cuamrman. You do have some vacancies throughout the year;
that is, through each period of time ¢

Mr. Lanin. Yes. The more you know about the business, the more
i:ou feel that this junior prom will need you, and you hold off a little

it ; there is nothing, but you hope maybe they will call you. Any an-
nual national affair of importance, you wait 1t out a little bit. Vz’hen
they call you, as to a coming-out party or something like that, I put
the date down. And then thatis settled}.'

When they call for another orchestra, then you submit the other.
You cannot put it up for more than 9 months in advance—you cannot
book for more than that. You invite them to book 2 or 3 years in ad-
vance, but the average commercial date is possibly a year at tops.

But fortunately f%r me, I have many, many gookings. In fact, I
expect to do so.

he CrairMAN. You had no difficulties filling the engagement for
this particular block party, did you?

Mr. Lanin. They made the date convenient for my orchestra. They
were very nice about it. I did not interrupt an engagement some place
else. Thef' arranged this block party when it was convenient for my
band to play it. So I did not lose anything. And still I have made
it a firm practice to play all charitable events around America at a
minimum fee—no charge for my personal services.

The Cuammaxn. That is commendable, of course, too, but the pur-
pose of this meeting, the so-called block party or dance was a promo-
tion for your own orchestra. Would you say also a promotion for
the records involved ¢

Mr, LaNin. Mr. Chairman, I would say without hesitancy that is
strictly a commercial venture, although I do not claim I am not chari-
table, {;ut it was, also, business on getting exposure.

The CHAIRMAN. A commercial venture—it was an exposure and, so
far as you were concerned, a matter of business, and the charitable
phase of it was just simply an addition to it ?

Mr. LaNiN. Noj it was charitable that night. If you know my past
history I think you will find me not otherwise.

The Ciramraran. I am not referring to your part of it. I am talk-
ing about those who promoted it for the purpose of exposing the
records.

Mr. Lanin. Certainly, Mr. Chairman,.

The Cirairstan. I suppose you do not think that this committee
will collect the $600 debt for you ?

Mr. Lanin. Thank you very much. I think you have done a grand
job. T am not here for that under the ethics of what this committee is
meeting for. Thatis what I am trying to convey.

The Cuamryan. You seem to be so sure that you are going to get
the check.

If there is nothing further, you may be excused.

Mr. Lanin. Thank you.

The CrarMAN. Our next witness is Mr. Givens.

Will you stand and be sworn ¢ )

. Do you solemnly swear that the testimony that you are about to
give before this su{)committee will be the truth, the whole truth, and
nothing but the truth, so help you God ?

Mr. Givens. I do, sir.
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TESTIMONY OF GEORGE WILLIAM GIVENS

The CuaiRMAN. What is your name, please, for the record ?

Mr. Givens. For the record, my name is George William Givens.

The CralrMaN. What is your residence ¢

Mr. Givens. 1584 Beacon Street, Brookline, Mass.

The CuairmaN. What is your profession or business ?

MMr. Givens. I am manager of radio station WORL in Boston,
ass.

The CuamrMaN. You may proceed, Mr. Lishman.

Mr. LisamMaN. Were you at station WBZ at one time?

Mr. Givens. I was.

Mr. Lisuman. In what capacity were you there?

Mr. Givens. As a producer, and later as musical director of the
radio station.

Mr. Lisuman. Do you know Mr. Paul G. O’Friel ¢

Mr. Givens. Yes, sir.

Mr. Lisuman. He is general manager of WBZ?

Mr. Givens. That is true.

Mr. Lisuman. Then he was general manager when you were em-
ployed by that station?

Mr. Givens. Yes, sir.

Mr. Lisuman. Did Mr. O’Friel assign to you the task of rebuilding
the record library of WI3Z?

Mr. Givens. Hedid, sir.

Mr. Lisuman. About what time did he give you that assignment?

Mr. Givens. If memory serves, this assignment was given to me in
July of 1958. It came at a time when I was due to go on vacation.
I went on vacation and came back in August. And I will say that
we began to rebuild the WBZ library in September of 1958.

Mr. Lisuman. What was the condition of the WBZ record library
at that time?

Mr. Givens. Its contents were very poor. They had very few re-
cordings, at least, not as many as an independent music operation
should have.

Mr. Lisiiman. Did Mr. O’Friel give you certain instructions with
regard to procuring long-playing phonograph record albums that
were needed by WBZ ¢

Mr. Givens. Instructions?

Mr, Lisumax. Yes, sir.

Mr. Givens. Yes, sir.

Mr. Lisuman. Did he give you instructions as to how you were to
approach record distributors?

Mr. Givens. I would not say they were instructions, sir. I would
say it was the result of a general agreement among Mr. O’Friel and
myself. Mr. O’Friel wanted me to secure these records without cost.

Mr. Lisuman. Did he, also, indicate to you that he wanted you to
contact record manufacturers as well as record distributors to ob-
tain these records free of cost ¢

Mr. Givens. Perhaps I might give a little background. It was
impossible for us to get these records from the distributors.

Mr. Lisuman. The local distributors, you mean ¢

Mr. Givens. Yes,sir. I am referring to local distributors.
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Mr. Lisuman. Why was that impossible; could you not have pur-
chased them? ’

Mr. Givens. Yes, sir.

Mr. Lisuman. But you mean it was impossible to get them free?

Mr. Givens. Yes, sir; because of the uantity required—because
of the number of recordings required to rebuild this library. I went
to the local distributors and approached them on the possibility of
getting records in this q}Ix‘antit%', and they felt that it was out of the
question economically. hey felt that it was establishing a very bad
precedent from their standpoint to give so many records.

Mr. Lisusan. May I interrupt ?

Mr. Givens. Yes, sir.

Mr. Lisaman. From the testimony heard by this subcommittee, it
is standard practice for a station to receive record albums free of
charge. Do you agree with that testimony ¢

Mr. Givens. Not in that quantity, sir.

Mr. Lisiman. Proceed with your testimony.

Mr. Givens. They felt that it would be establishing a very bad
precedent to grant record albums in that uantity, because if they
did it for one, they would have to do it for others. And if we wanted
to pursue it furtier to do it on the national manufacturers level.

'IPhe Cramrman. To make them available free of charge?

Mr. Givexns. Yes, sir.

Mr. LisuMaN. Mr. Givens, in your discussions with Mr. O’Friel
concerning this assignment to obtain free record albums, was Mr.
Norman Prescott present at these discussions ?

Mr. Givens. Yes; he was.

Mr. Lisuman. And could you describe what you and Mr. Prescott
did in carrying out the assignment given to you by Mr. O’Friel as.
station manager of WBZ?

Mr. Givexs. To carry out the assignment, Mr. Prescott and I went
t6 New York City for 3 or 4 days—I do not recall ofthand the exact
number of days—3- or 4-day trip to New York. At that time we
contacted, Norm or myself, all 10 record manufacturing concerns.

We ap%roa,ched them on the possibility of rebuilding the library.
And this basically, essentially, is the procedure we followed.

Mr. Lismyax. Well now, to refresh your recollection did you con-
tact a Mr. Shulman, the national promotion director or manager for
Roulette Records?

Mr. Givens. Yes, sir.

Mr. Lisumax. Did you contact a Mr. Joe Kolsky, president of
Roulette Records ?

Mr. Givens. Yes, sir.

Mr. Lisuyman. Did you contact a Mr. Charles Schicks of Epic:
Records ?

Mr. Givens. Yes, sir.

Mr. LisumaN. And Mr. Arnold Maxin, president of MGM Records #

Mr. Givens. Yes, sir.

Mr. LisumaN. And Mr. Irv Jerome, sales manager of MGM
Records?

Mr. Givens. Yes, sir.

Mr. LisumanN. And Mr. Sidney Goldberg, vice president of Decca
Records?

56861—60—pt, 1——8
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Mr. Givens. Yes, sir.

Mr. Lisiaran. And Mr. Don Ovens, national promotion, Capitol
Records?

Mr. Givens. Yes, sir.

Mr. Lisuman. And Mr. Jerry Wexler, president of Atlantic
Records?

Mr. Givens. Yes, sir.

Mr. Lisaman. And Mr. Bob Shad of Mercury Records?

Mr. Givens. Yes, sir.

Mr. Lisinan. And Mr. Sal Peruggi of RCA Victor?

Mr. Givens. Yes, sir.

Mr. Lisinan. And Mr. Jack Burgess, sales manager of RCA
Vietor?

Mr. Givens. Yes, sir.

Mr. LisiivaN. And Mr. Lee Hartstone of London Records?

Mr. Gvens. I did not contact Mr. Hartstone personally, but Mr.
Prescott did.

Mr. Lisintan. And Mr. Mitch Miller of Columbia Records?

Mr. Givens. Yes.

Mr. Lisiman. Now, in your contacts with each of the officials of
these record companies, what did you say with respect to your being
there before them?

Mr. Givens. We pointed out the exact purpose or our reason for
the trip to New York. We pointed out to the individuals you have
just indicated, we were there in New York for the purpose of re-
building the WBZ library. We indicated we had come to them for
their assistance in doing this. These are the gentlemen we had to sce
in ordsr to get records In any quantity, particularly the quantity we
wanted.

Mr. LisiimaN. When you approached, let us say, Decca Records,
what quantity did you indicate that Decca Records should supply free ¢

Mr. GivENns. WVﬁatever quantity I, as musical director of the radio
station, deemed essential to building up the Decca phase of our
library.

Mr. Listiman. Did you ask Decca Records, and specifically, Mr.
Goldberg, for approximately 200 free albums?

Mr. Givens. More if needed.

Mr. Lisiaan. And what was his reaction to that request ¢

Mr. Givevs. As I recall, Mr. Goldberg sat back in his chair, looked
us both right in the eye and said, “I have never done this before. I
will do it thisonce. I will not do it again.”

Mr. Lisiian. In other words, he was rather reluctant about giving
you 200 or more long-playing record albums?

Mr. Givens. Yes,sir, he was.

Mr. Tastiatan. Free?

Mr. Givens. Yes, sir.

Mr. Lisiman. Did you meet a cordial response from any of the
other persons you contacted ?

Mr. Givens. Yes, sir, all responses were cordial.

Mr. TasuyaN. But did you meet any reluctance on the part of any
of these people in furnishing such a large volume of free album
records?

Mr. Givexs. Not reluctance, no, sir.
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Mr. LisumaN. And were you successful in this mission ?

Mr. Givens. Yes, sir.

Mr. Lisuyman. Do you recall approximately how many long-play-
ing record albums you obtained free as a result of this New York

trip?

f[r. Givens. It will have to be approximate, sir.. I would say
-approximately 1,000.

Mr. Lisuman. Yes. And did you also endeavor to obtain free
record albums elsewhere than New York City ?

Mr. Givens. Other than my initial contact with the local distribu-
tors, sir, I made no effort to contact outside New York City, because
iél nearly every instance the manufacturer is located in New York

ity.

L%’r. Lisiiman. During your trip to New York did you contaet Mr.
Sam Clark of AmPar Records?

Mr. Givens. Mr. Clark was not there.

Mr. LisumaN. Who did you contact in his organization #

Mr. Givens. Mr. Irwin Good.

Mr. Lisuyuan. Did you succeed in getting them to give you free
records? Do you recall how many you were able to get from that

coxﬁparg?

r. Givens. Not as many as some of the others. We were offered
a catalog to check over what we needed. I would say—now, this is
an awfully broad generality, but I would say between 50 and 100.

Mr. Lisuman. Now, isn’t it true that most record manufacturers
at the time you were engaged on this mission, to get them free, had
clubs to which a station had to subscribe, or could subscribe, and
pay a sum of money, for record albums?

Mr. Givens. They were not necessarily clubs. These are called
record services for radio stations.

Mr. Lisuman. Can you describe briefly what the nature of that
service is?

Mr. Givens. The nature of this service provides any radio station
with X numbers of recordings which are released by the various com-
panies at a very liberal fee. The fee usually runsless than a dollar
an album, You are guaranteed, usually, a minimum of 50 releases
a year. Sometimes it goes 75, sometimes 100. For this, you pay a
-fee,$ ;lepending on the company, ranging anywhere from $35 to $50
or $75.

Mr. Lisuman. Well, now did you emphasize in your contacts
with these record company people that even though they let you have
the records for \WWBZ, that they would never be paid for these records?

Mr. Givexs. Yes, sir, I did.

Mr. Lisnman. Did you indicate to them that WBZ would lay on
the records of the labels that they manufactured?

Mr. Givens. We indicated that the records we came for would be
used. I honestly have no recollection of having indicated that we
would give further extension to laying on records. We made it very
clear that any records we took we took because we needed, and they
would get definite exposure on the air. But as far as indication
pertaining to what we would do in the future, I was in no position
to make a commitment of that kind. And I honestly do not feel
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we did indicate that there would be anything in the future as far
as playing of records is concerned.

Mr. Lisaman. Who besides Mr. O’Friel was aware of your trip-
and Mr. Norman Prescott’s trip to New York, to secure these free
records ¢

Mr. Givens. Why, any of the management of radio station WBZ,
which would include Nfr O’Friel, it would include the program
manager.

Mr. Lisuman. Who was that?

Mr. Givens. The program manager? Mr. Melvin Bailey.

Mr. Lisaman. And when you returned to Boston, did you have &
meeting with Mr. O’Friel, or any other official of the station concern-
ing your trip ¢

r. Givens. Yes, sir; I met with Mr. O’Friel.

May I go back, sir,so I can clarify the record ?

Mr. Lisuman. Yes, sir.

Mr. Givens. In addition to this, our headquarters personnel were
aware that this trip was being conducted.

Mr. Lisaman. By headquarters personnel, could you identify them?

Mr. Givens. The Westinghouse Broadcasting Co., operates on a
headquarters station basis. The headquarters personnel are national
program managers, national vice presidents in charge of programing,
and so forth. These people were aware that this trip was being made
to New York.

Mr. Lisuman. Would you please identify the gentlemen by name?

Mr. Givens. Mr. Richard Pack is the vice president in charge of

rograms. Mr. Bill Kalen is the national program manager for the

Vestinghouse Broadcasting Co.

Mr. FLisuman. And how did you know that they knew about your
t,riﬁto secure these free records?

r. Grvens. Well, in New York I visited them. I advised them
this trip was being made for this purpose. And I am sure that Mr.
O’Friel must have advised them we were also going to undertake this.
As a matter of fact, as I recall, Mr. Kalen had occasion to be in Boston
and I mentioned it to him then. This was before the trip.

Mr. Lisaman. Is it usual for radio stations to send people out on
a mission of this kind ?

Mr. Givens. This is the first time I had ever gone on such a mission,

Mr. Lisuman. Have you ever heard of ang’ other representative of
a radio station undertaking a similar mission ?

Mr. Givens. No, sir; I have not.

Mr. LisHMAN. And how long have you been in the radio and tele-
vision business?

Mr. Givens. I am 36 years old. I have have been in it since I
was 11.

Mr. Lisaman. Now, while you were at station WBZ, were any of
these albums played?

Mr. GIvens. Yes, sir,

Mr. Lisaman. Was it announced that they were freebees, that they
had been received free of charge at the time they were played?

Mr. Givens. No, sir; they were not.

Mr. Lisumaxn. Now, as station manager, is it of WORL?

Mr. Givens. Yes, sir.
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Mr. Lisaman. Are you familiar with whether or not the Herald
Trayveler, a newspaper in Boston, publishes or advertises in the radio
section programs on station WORL?

Mr. Grvens. They do not carry our listings. ) :

Mr. Lisiiman. Have they ever carried your listings?

Mr. Givens. Not to the best of my knowledge.

Mr. Lisuman. Do you know whether the station had made attempts
to have the ITerald Traveler carry your listings?

Mr. Givens. Yes, sir, we have.

Mr. Lisuaran. And how did you make these attempts? o

Mr. Givens, Our program schedule is made out weekly. This is
common practice in the industry. ) .

Mr. Lisuman. And have you made direct contact with officials of
the Herald Traveler?

Mr. Givens. I have not,sir.

Mr. Lisuman. Do you know whether officials of WORL have?

Mr. Givens. I do not know, sir.

Mr. Lisiaxn. Do the other newspapers in Boston carry a listing
of station WORL programs?

Mr. Givens. Yes, sir, they do.

Mr. Lisu»an. And the Herald Traveler, then, is the only news-
paper which fails to carry a listing of WORL?

r. Givens. Ithink I am safe in saying yes, sir.

Mr. Lisuman. Do you feel that that is attributable to the fact
that the Herald Traveler itself has a competing radio station?

Mr. Grvens. I don’t know the reason.

Mr. Lisuman. Now, there is no question that Mr. O’Friel knew
that you had to tell these companies that they should supply these
records absolutely free of charge to WBZ?

Mr. Givens. I made this aﬁsolutely plain to them. I didn’t want
any misunderstanding on this, because this represented a consider-
able amount of recordings.

Mr. Lisuman. This was not some kind of an individual attempt
by you and Mr. Prescott to gain some fame in the station by getting
these records free on your own?

Mr. Givens. No, sir.

Mr. Lisuman. In other words, it was in accordance with either
direct instructions

Mr. Givens. Well, sir

Mr. Lisuman. Or a statement made to you by Mr. O’Friel, that you
went on this mission ?

Mr. Givens. Well, sir, I couldn’t undertake a 4-day business trip
to New York City without the knowledge or acceptance on the part
of our management.

Mr. Lisuyan. But the purpose of the tri[g was discussed in ad-
vance with you, Mr. O’Friel, and Mr. Prescott ?

Mr. Givens. So much so that I prepared an itinerary at least
10 days in advance, and notified the people that I was coming.

Mr. Lisuman. Now, were these requests for free albums, did they
include classical or semiclassical merchandise ?

Mr. Givens. No, sir, this was confined strictly to the pop field.

Mr. Lisuman. Strictly to popular music?
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Mr. Givens. Yes, sir. There were no classical albums included
in this at all.

Mr. Lisaman. When you contacted record companies, did they give
you their catalogs, and ask you to pick out the albums that you
desired ?

Mr. Gvens. Yes, sir, they did.

Mr. Lisaman. And was Mr. Prescott there on such occasions?

Mr. Givens. Yes, he was.

Mr. Lisuman. In some instances?

Mr. Givens. Yes, he was.

Mr. Lisuman. And when you reported back to Boston, with Mr.
Prescott, to Mr. O’Friel, did he congratulate you on the success of
your mission?

Mr. Givens. Yes, sir, the three of us were rather pleased with the
results. We were given an assignment and carried it out.

Mr. Lisinzan. How much do you estimate it would have cost WBZ
if it had had to pay for the furnishing of its library with the long-
playing record albums?

Mr. Givens. Well, there is a misconception in some areas as to cost
to radio stations. Radio station service would enable the station
to get this at considerably less than a consumer would pay, and as
a part of this service that we covered earlier. These records would
cost the radio anywhere from $0.75 to $1, which varies from the list

rice.
P Mr. LisumaN. As contrasted with——

Mr. Givens. With the list price.

Mr. Lisnman. $4¢

Mr. Givens. Of the commercial album, which runs $3.98, $4.98,
and in some instances as high as $5.98.

Mr. Lasiiman. I have no further questions.

The Cramrman. Mr. Mack?

Mr. Mack. What was your position with the radio station ?

Mr. Givens. At this time, this we are discussing now?

Mr. Mack. Yes.

Mr. Gmvens. I was the music director of the radio station.

Mr. Mack. And in that capacity, would you be in charge of the
library ¢

Mr. Givens. Yes, Mr. Mack, I would be.

Mr. Mack. When Mr. O’Friel appointed you to this position, did
he indicate how much money would be available to you for pur-
chasing records?

Mr. Givens. No, sir, I had no indication what the budget was, or
even if there was a bu(iget.

Mr. Mack. Did you ever ask him if there would be—if it would
be possible to buy records?

Mr. Givens. Yes, sir; I inquired of the possibility of availing our-
selves of the record services.

Mr. Mack. And what did he say?

Mr. Givens. He indicated there would not be.

Mr. Mack. In other words, he was determined to secure records
without paying for them?

Mr. Givens. If he could.
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Mr. Mack. Now, I noticed that you testified to the effect that this
was his idea rather than yours, to go to New York. Is that correct?

Mr. Givens. Yes, sir.

Mr. Mack. And you testified to the effect that it was not customary ¢

Mr. Givens. Well, now, wait, just a minute, gentlemen, if I may.
May I go back?

Mr. Mack. Yes, I want it to be clear.

Mr. Givens. If memory serves, and I have played this over in my
mind, it has been over a year since it has ha pened now, and at the
time it obviously didn’t ‘take on this signilg:ance—l have tried to
resolve as clearly in my own mind—when this assignment was given
me, by Mr. O’Friel, with the thought of getting the free records from
the distributors—this is how it began, the distributors on the local
level—I remember thinking at the time that this is rather a difficult
task, it is rather awesome in its proportion. And I went to Norm
and asked him at the time how this could be done. And if memory
serves, it was his suggestion that we go to New York, not Mr. O’Friel’s.
Mr. O’Friel agreed that this would be the next step. He then sanc-
tioned the trip, and Mr. Prescott and I left for New York City.

Mr. Mack. If I remember the testimony yesterday, he indicated
that it was his idea, and that he said it was entirely customary.

Mr. Givexs. I did not hear any testimony yesterday, sir. I am
trying to tell you basically what I know.

Mr. Mack. I understand. And it was his understanding that all
of the stations, many stations had secured this.

Mr. Givens. My recollection is when I was given—-—

Mr. Mack. We are trying to tie down the definition of ayola,
and we had a slight difference of opinion on this matter. And he
indicated that it was customary, almost standard procedure, for radio
stations to go in and secure free records.

If I understood your testimony this morning correctly, you indi-
cated that it is the only case you have ever heard about.

Mr. Givens. T gave that as my understanding, to the best of my
knowledge, sir.

Mr. Mack. That isall the questions I have.

The Cuamman. Mr. Springer?

Mr. SeriNGER. Mr. Givens, just one or two question.

At the time that you went to get the records from Mr. Goldberg—
is that the correct name?

Mr. Givens. Mr. Goldberg, of Decca Records.

Mr. Springer. Did I understand you to say that at that one stop
you got about a thousand records?

Mr. Givens. No, sir, I would say our total was a thousand records.
I would say approximately 200, give or take.

Mr. SeriNGer. Now, you knew that they were given to you free.
and they understood they were given to you free?

Mr. Givens. Yes, sir.

Mr. Seringer. Now, did yvou make them an promises in return?

Mr. Givens. Only that the records we took from them would very
definitely be used on the air, that they wouldn’t be wasting their time
on records, that the records they gave us would be played.

Mr. SeriNGeR. In other words, the inducement for the free records
was that you were going to play them ? .
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Mr. Givens. Yes, sir.

Mr. Srrincer. And that was clearly understood ?

Mr. Givens. Yes, sir.

Mr. Serincer. That is all, Mr. Chairman.

The Crairman. Mr. Rogers?

Mr. Rocers. Mr. Givens, in what capacity were you employed at
the station? :

Mr. Givens. In charge of the library, the musical director of the
radio station.

Mr. Rocers. Well, does that put you in a policymaking position,
or

Mr. Givens. Yes, sir, it does—or did.

Mr. Rocers. In other words, you handed out the records to the
diskjockeys?

Mr. Givens. Well, it isn’t as simple as that. I was in charge of
the records which the diskjockeys used. They were free to go ahead
and choose at their own discretion. I merely kept a check on them.

l\(Ilr. Rocers. Did they discuss with you which records should be
used ?

Mr. Givens. No, sir.

Mr. Rogers. They just told you what they wanted, and you gave
it to them ¢

Mr. Givens. Yes, sir.

Mr. Rocers. How long were you with that station ?

Mr. Grvens. I came to WBZ—well, I was with Westinghouse
Broadeasting Co., actually since 1951, until December of 1958.

Mr. Rocers. Are you a native of Boston?

Mr. Givens. No, sir, Iam not. Iama native of Elmira, N.Y.

Mr. Rocers. And did you say you had been working in this since
you were 11 years old ¢

Mr. Givens. Yes, sir.

Mr. Rocers. Now, Mr, Givens, when you went to New York, did
all of the record companies know that you were going to the other
record companies?

Mr. Givens. I can’t say that they did know. I would assumne that
they did. I don’t think you would send out a two-man team to visit
one record company, sir.

Mr. Rocers. You think they were afraid if they didn’t give you
some records you would %o to the others?

Mr. Givens. No, sir, because I think they thought we were going
to the others.

Mr. Rocers. And they didn’t want the other company to get an
advantage over them ?

Mr. Givens. I would only be speculating.

Mr. Rocers. Yes. Well, that is what I'am doing.

Could you have gotten these records b yourself, you think ¢

Mr. Givens. Not then. I don’t think I could have gotten those rec-
ords by myself.

Mr. Rocers. Why?

Mr. Givens. I had only been in Boston a very short time, and at
that time I was just part of the hired help.

Mr. Rogers. You were not one of the top 10 DJ’s?

Mr. Givens. No, sir.
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Mr. Rogers. Were you one of the top 10 librarians? Did they
have any top 10¢

Mr. gIVENS. Mr. Rogers, I may have thought so, but there was
nothing categorically to indicate I would be.

Mr. Rocers. I was wondering what yardstick they used to deter-
mine this top 10 in the DJ group. Do you know about that$

Mr. Givens. Well, I think that is kind of intangible. I would say
the effect you have on your audience, your rating structure, your
influence with your audience.

Mr. Rogers. Who makes this?

Mr. Givens. Oh, polls are taken.

Mr. Rogers. By whom ?

Mr. Givexs. Magazines, trade publications, telephone calls are
made, ballots are distributed.

Mr. Rocers. Who finally decides on the top 10¢ It looks to me
like you would have a whole bunch of groups of 10’s. Everybody
would think they were the best picker, wouldn’t they ¢

Mr. Grvens, Mr. Rogers, I wouldn’t have the slightest ides as to
how I would determine the top 10 diskjockeys in the country.

Mr. Rocers. But I noticed in your statement you said Mr. Pres-
cott was one of the top 10.

Mr. Givens. He won a poll.

Mr. Rogers. Who put on this poll ?

Mr. Givens. I don’t recollect. I do recall when I went to Boston
that one of the first things in checking back and trying to find out
about the people I was working with and for that a poll had been
conducted and that as a result of this poll Mr. Prescott had been
awarded the distinction of being one of the top diskjockeys in Amer-
ica. I couldn’t tell you ofthand what the poll was.

Mr. Rogers. And he volunteered his services to go down as one of
the top 10 DJ’s and put the pressure on these record companies ?

Mr. Givens. I think Norm volunteered his services as a diskjockey,
to go down and help me in the project, yes, sir.

Mr. Rocers. Well, now, you say volunteered his services to go down
and help you in the project. Was the project to put the pressure on
the record companies to get some records free ?

Mr. Givens. Yes, sir.

Mr. Rocers. That is what Mr. O’Friel wanted you to do, wasn’t it¢

Mr. Givens. He wanted us to get free records, yes, sir.

Mr. Rogers. And the men in the executive branch of this organiza-
tion, at the policymaking level, as you stated, knew about it, and
underwrote it, did they not ¢

Mr. Givens. Yes, sir.

Mr. Rocers. Now, Mr. Givens, you spoke of the Herald Traveler,
is that a newspaper?

Mr. Givexs. Yes, sir; it is.

Mr. Rocers. Do they own a radio station ?

Mr. Givens. A radiostation? Yes, sir; they do.

Mr. Rogers. What is the name of that ¢

Mr. Grvens. Radio station WHDH.

Mr. Rogers. Do they carry schedules of other radio stations?

Mr. Givens. Some radio stations, yes, sir.

Mr. Rogers. They don’t carry yours?
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Mr. Givens. No,sir; they don’t carry ours. .

Mr. Rogers. Does that cut down on your listening audience, be-
cause they don’t carry it ?

Mr. Givexs. Well, I think it places us at a disadvantage, not to have
.our listings carried in any newspaper, large or small.

Mr. Rocers. You mean you give it to them, but they won’t carry it?

Mr. Givens. We give it to them, and they don’t carry it.

Mr. Rocers. They don’t carry it?

Mr. Givens. For whatever reason. I don’t know the reason.

Mr. Rocers. Sort of payola in reverse, isn’t it? You are injured,
your station is injured by it, you think? * You think you would have
a bigger listener audience?

Mr. Givexs. We are not helped by it.

Mr. Roeers. Have you ever offered to pay them to carry it?

Mr. Givens. I never have.

Mr. Rogers. What is your position now at WORL#

Mr. Givens. I am the station manager.

Mr. Rocers. Do you have charge of seeing that the listening au-
dience is increased ¢

Mr. Givens. Yes, sir.

Mr. Rocers. Have you made any overtures at all to the Herald
Traveler to get them to carry this?

Mr. Givexs. Not personally, sir.

Mr. Rocers. Have you had any discussions with them as to why
they won’t carry it?

Mr. Givexs. No, sir, I have not.

Mr. Rocers. Do you expect to?

Mr. Givens. Nof right offhand. You have given me considerable
food for thought, however.

Mr. Rogers. Do you think it is an unfair practice for them not to do
it when they are carrying their own#

Mr. Givexns. An opinion?

Mr. Rocers. Yes, sir, an opinion.

Mr. Givexs. Yes, sir, it is my opinion it is.

Mr. Rocers. Have you reported it to the FCC#%

Mr. Givens. No, sir, I have not.

Mr. Rogers. Do you intend to?

Mr. Givens. No, sir.

Mr. Rocers. You mean whether they carry it or not you don’t in-
tend to report it, in connection with their radio station.

Mr. Givens. This has been the furthest from my mind.

Mr. Rogers. It is a battle between you and the Herald Traveler?

Mr. Grvens. I just figure that I can paddle my own canoe on this
one.

Mr. Rogers. Now, Mr. Givens, have you ever received any payola,
for the want of a better term? Have you ever received any cash,
gifts, or anything of value?

Mr. GIvENS, (%ther than the run-of-the-mill Christmas presents,
I have received no payola, sir, no, sir, I have not.

Mr. Rogers. You have not?

Mr. Givens. No, sir.

Mr. Rocers. What did you say, in the run-of-the-mill#

Mr. Givens. Christmas—I have received gifts from record com-
panies at Christmastime, when I was on the air.
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Mr. Rocers. Well, now, what do you mean, when you were a disk-
jockey?

Mr. Givens. Yes, sir.

.. Mr. Rocers. What kind of gifts were those?

Mr. Givens. Billfold, gift certificates.

" Mr. Rocers. Anything in the billfold ¢ ,

Mr. Givens. No, sir. Tie clips, cuff links, and about a year ago I
received three jars of jelly.

Mr. Rocers. Everything a little less than the price of a good ham?

Mr. Grvens. Yes, sir.

Mr. Rocers. But you never did get paid any cash or anything of
that kind ?

Mr. GiveEns. I received three gift certificates.

Mr. Rocers. For what?

Mr. Givexs. Well, one was for $15, one was for $20, another for
$20. That was the total extent of the gift certificates. I bought
two shirts with one, and had to put $30 with the other two to guy
a coat that I didn’t need in the first place. So it cost me money.
That is the extent of it.

Mr. Rocers. That is what usually happens with gift certificates,
Mr. Givens. Isympathize with you.

Now, as manager of the present station, have you had any difficulty
in refusing any activities of this kind in recent months?

Mr. Givexs. Refusing activity of this kind? I am sorry, Mr.
Rogers, I don’t follow you.

Mr. Rocers. I said—well, have you been offered anything in recent
months?

Mr. Grvexs. No, sir.

Mr. Rocers. To engage in these activities?

Mr. Givexs. No, sir.

Mr. Rocers. When was your last offer made, or when was you last
gift received ?

Mr. Gvexns. I received a gift—I received some smnall items this
Christinastime.

Mr. Rocers. You think those were tokens of esteem, rather than
an{IthirExg to influence you?

Mr. Givens. Well, I was no longer in a position to be influenced,
because I had left the air, and I think these were just a hangover
from my diskjockey days, from people who didn’t know I was no
longer active on the air.

Mr. Rocers. Did you send them back ?

Mr. Givexs. No,sir; I did not.

Mr. Rocers. I believe that is all, Mr. Chairman.

The CrAIRMAN. Mr. Devine?

Mr. Devine. Mr. Givens, do you think there is anything morally or
legally wrong—of course I am asking your opinion—on this trip to
New York for WBZ?

Mr. Givens. No, sir; I must be honest with you. When I made
this trip I made it cooperatively. I don’t think there is anything
legally wrong with it. I was a little remiss—I felt remiss from a

ersonal stan?ipoint. I kind of felt I was up there with my hat in my
and, getting a pretty considerable amount of merchandise from these

people.



120 RESPONSIBILITIES OF BROADCASTING LICENSEES

Mr. Devine. Begging for a handout, so to speak ¢

Mr. Givens. Yes, sir.

Mr. DeEvine. But based on the cost to the distributor, on each of these
records, say Decca, for instance, it didn’t cost them more than, say,
$100, $150; did it ?

Mr. Givens. But I think the thing that they were concerned with is
the precedent it established.

r. DeviNe. But you didn’t % just to one record distributor and
promise to play their records? You hit 10, maybe, in New York?

Mr. Givens. We picked the 10 that we thought represented the
major labels, the cream of the crop as far as backlog material was
concerned.

Mr. Devine. And you made the selection of records, rather than
taking what they gave you; is that correct?

Mr. Givexs. I did the selecting.

Mr. éDEVINE. You indicated w%nat you wanted, and they gave those
to you

r. GIVENs. Yes.

Mr. DeviNe. Rather than their telling you had to play a certain
record if they gave you the rest?

Mr. Givens. Yes.

Mr. Devine. Has anyone ever given you free cigarettes marked
“Sample, not to be sold” ¢

Mr. Givens. No, sir. Look, I don’t like to take on a holier-than-
thou attitude. Whenever somebody offers me a cigarette, I say “No,”
that I don’t smoke. But that is the reason.

Mr. Devine. You know the practice in the tobacco industry, to
pass out free samples?

Mr. Givens. Yes, sir.

Mr. Devize. Do you see anything wrong with that?

Mr. Givens. No, sir.

MI‘.?DEVINE. That is also the practice in some other industries; is
it not

Mr. Givens. I believe it is.

Mr. Devine. Has your present station WORL—have they sub-
seribed 2to this record service, or do they get free records from time
to time?

Mr. Givens. We take free records which are mailed to us. But as
soon as I assumed the managership of WORL the first thing I did
was buy the major record services.

Mr. Devine. Was WBZ at the time you made ;our trip to New York,
if you know, in rather shaky financial condition ?

Mr. Givens. Was WBZ in shaky financial position? No, sir.

Mr. DeviNe. As far as you know they coulé) have afforded to sub-
scribe to the record service, rather than to beg for handouts?

Mr. Givens. Yes, sir.

Mr. Devine. I believe that is all, Mr. Chairman.

The CuamMaN. Mr. Moss?

Mr. Moss. Mr. Givens, you indicated that in these thousand albums,
you had only popular music.

Mr. Givens. Yes, sir.

Mr. Moss. You were seeking the albums to replace a library out-
moded because it was made up of 78’s ¢
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Mr. Givens. That is true.

Mr. Moss. How did you acquire, or did you acquire, a library of
classical and semiclassical music? .

Mr. Givens. Mr. Moss, I can’t answer that, because our classic
library—I am going to give you what I think we did. I can’t—our
classic library was used for an entirely different purpose. This was
used for ourri‘:‘M facility. And, to the best of my knowledge, we paid
for our FM library.

Mr. Moss. Is it the custom, in ycur 25 years’ experience, for sta-
tions to pay for their libraries?

Mr. Givens. I would say it is becoming more so through the use of
the record services which are available today.

Mr. Moss. Well, you have had a considerable period of time to ob-
serve. What has the custom been ?

Mr. Givens. I can remember the days when I used to go into record
stores and buy records for my radio station, just as a consumer would
buy records today.

{’Ir. Moss. Stations, of course, now are primarily dependent upon
recorded music, are they not$

Mr. Grvens. Nearly wholly.

Mr. Moss. A similar situation to TV and its film library, correct?

Mr. Givens. I would say that this is a good comparison.

Mr. Moss. Is it the custom for the ﬁfm library to be given, or is
that purchased ?

Mr. Givens. Not having affiliated with any television outlets, I can-
not answer that. I Woulf say that they pay plenty for their television
library, their film library.

Mr. Moss. In your 25 years of experience, have you encountered any
precedent for the rather unusual—well, I won’t use that term—the very
extensive demands of WBZ for recor(iings?

Mr. Givens. Mr. Moss, I have not.

Mr. Moss. And in your present station, you buy your records?

Mr. Givens, Ibuy the services which I think are essential to provid-
ing us with adequate or more than adequate——

Mr. Moss. And the labels you receive through the mail—-

Mr. Givens. Are kept and incorporated into our library.

Mr. Moss. And are they the better known labels?

Mr. Givens. They are all labels, Mr. Moss.

Mr. Moss. I think that is all I have, Mr. Chairman.

The CramrMaN. Mr. Givens, let me, on behalf of the committee,
thank you very much for your appearance here and your testimony.

You may be excused.

Mr. Givens. Thank you, sir.

Mr. Joseph Finan. :

You will be sworn. Do you solemnly swear the testimony you give
to this committee to be the truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the
trath, so help you God ? :

Mr. Finaw. I do.

TESTIMONY OF JOSEPH FINAN

The CHaryMan. Have a seat. VWhat is your name?
Mr. Fina~. Joseph Finan.
The Cuarrsyrax. What is your address?
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. Mr. Finan. 1097 Wittlesey Lane, Rocky River, Ohio.

The CHAIRMAN. What is your business or profession, Mr. Finan?t

Mr. Finan. Currently, I am in charge of promotion and contact,
for the Head Wholesale' Record Distributing Co. in Cleveland.

The CratrMaN. Mr. Lishman, you may proceed. !

Mr. Lisaaan. Mr. Finan, by what radio station were you formerly:
employed ¢ '

Mr. Finax. KYW, Westinghouse Broadcasting, in Cleveland.

Mr. LisamaN. Approximately when did you enter employment
with station KYW ¢ ‘ :

Mr. Finan. It was October of 1956.

Mr. LisaymaN. And what were your duties with KYW?

Mr. Finan. I was hired as a diskjockey, my program in the first
half olf my employment being aired between 12 and 4, and later from'
2 until 6. '

Mr; Lisaman. Eventually, did you have a show of your own, ex-
cept Sunday, from 10 a.m., to 2 p.m., daily? .

Mr. FinaN. No, sir. I worked originally from 12 noon until 4,
and then when the realinement in scheduling came about I worked
from 2 until 6 o’clock, 6 days a week.

Mr. LisiyaN, When was your employment at station KYW
terminated?

Mr. Finax. 2:15, December 3.

Mr. Lisayan. Did you resign or were you fired ¢

Mr. Fixan. I was discharged.

Mr. Listiyax. Who notified you that you were being discharged?

Mr. Finan. Mr. Tooke, Frank Tooke.

Mr. LisumaN., Who is Mr. Tooke?

Mr. Finan. He was the new vice president in charge of the Cleve-
land operation, of both radio and television.

Mr. Listaran. And what reasons did he give for discharging you?

Mr. Finan. Violation of company policy.

Mr. Lisuman. Did he identify that company policy #

Mr. Finan. Well, T knew what he was referring to. It wasn’t
completely identified. It was in regards to activity, outside activity,
promotional, and involving record companies and distributors.

Mr. Lisaman. Well, before—did he just call you to his office, and
discharge you?

Mr. Finan. No, sir. We had—around November 1 I was called
in and asked if I had ever engaged in any outside activities, if I had
ever received financial assistance, or remuneration from record com-
panies, distributors, or any outside source, and I answered that ques-
tion by saying I had.

Mr. Lisaman. Did you furnish him information at that time, or
Westinghouse information at that time, concerning the amounts you
had so received ¢

Mr. FInaN. Yes, sir.  We dictated a memorandum. It was quite
a frantic session. But, to the best of my knowledge, in order to co-
operate with Westinghouse, I dictated a memorandum at that time.

Mr. LisamaN. Who was present at that frantic session?

Mr. Finax. Mr. Woodward.

Mr. LisaymanN. Who is Mr. Woodward ?
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" Mr. Finan. He is, I believe, assistant vice president, special as-
sistant to Donald McGannon, president of Westinghouse Broadcast-
ing.

Mr. Lismyan. Who else was present ¢ '

Mr. Fivan. Ernest Wendell, program manager. May I refer to
my notes, sir ?

Ar. ListmaN. Yes, sir; refer to any paper you desire.

Mr. FinaN. Ernest Wendell, program mana er, Carl W. Vander-
grift, general manager of KYW, and my Cleveland attorney, H.
Donal(f Zimmerman.

Mr. Lisuman. And at this first meeting, were you.requested to
furnish your employer with a list of the amounts you received from.
various record distributors, or record manufacturers? ‘

Mr. Finawn. Yes, sir; I was.

Mr. Lisuman. And did you furnish that list ¢

Mr. Finiwn. I furnished him——

Mr. Lisuman. Did you furnish such a list?

Mr. FiNaw. Yes, I did, with the exception, at that time, I did not
name the people involved in—1I named the actual sums, but I did not,
name the people. I named the circumstances. I did name Mainline
Cleveland, Inc. '

Mr. Lisuman. And when did you furnish this list ?

Mr. Finan. This was approximately November 1 or 2—somewhere
in November.

No, I am sorry. I am about a month premature. This list—we
had discussed this question of outside activities around November 1.
There was a policy stated at that time concerning it. The list was
furnished actually only 5 days prior to my dismissal.
¢« Mr. LisumanN. On December 3¢

Mr. FINaN. Yes. It would be the last day—2 days—of November,
or the first of December, somewhere in there.

Mr. Lisuman. Do you have a copy of that list with you ?

Mr. FiNaN. Do I have the memorandum ?

Mr. LisamMaN. Yes, sir.

Mr. Finan. I have the memorandum here, sir, yes, sir; my copy.

Mr. LisamaN. Whom in Westinghouse did you submit this list to?

Mr. Finan. It was dictated in the office of Igi Donald Zimmerman,
and then was delivered into the hands of Carl Vandergrift, the gen-
eral manager.

Mr. LisiimaN. And, thereafter, did you have another meeting with
Westinghouse officials, where you had ‘a discussion about the material
in the list ¢

Mr. FiNaN. Where I had a discussion about the material in the
memorandum? No. After the memorandum was submitted, and
subsequently, after a colleague’s, Wes Hopkins’, memorandum was
submitted, that was on Tuesday—one da; transpired, and I believe
we were éischarged on Thursday. The last memo went in Tuesday
night. They were waiting for Mr. Hopkins, because it tied in with
mine. -

Mr. LisamaN. Who is Mr. Hopkins?

Mr. Finan. He is a colleague of mine on the station. He was an-
other diskjockey on the station.
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Mr. Lisuman. Now did your memorandum indicate that you had
received checks from Mainline Cleveland, Inc.?

Mr. Finan. Yes, sir.

Mr. LisumaN. Who are the officers of Mainline Cleveland, Inc.?

Mr. Finan. Bill Shibley is president, is one; James Shibley, vice
president. They are RCA Victor distributors in all fields, apphances,
radio, and television. Myron Berneson is in charge of their record
division.

Mr. LisumaN. What arrangements did you have with Mainline
Cleveland, Inc., in return for which they gave you sums of money

Mr. FiNaN. My arrangement was not with Mainline Cleveland, Inc.
My arrangement originally took place with Mr. Allen Clark, field
representative of RCA Victor.

r. Lisaman. Well, now, could you describe Allen Clark’s duties
with RCA Victor, so far as you could observe?

Mr. Finan. Mr. Clark was a field representative, as I understand,
charged by Victor, not only to handle promotional activities, but he
was liaison between Victor and their distributor, in this case an inde-
pendent distributor. He also was a troubleshooter in the retail area.

Mr. Lisuman. Of records?

Mr. Finan. Of records only, yes, sir; in pop records only.

Mr. ListaN. Well, did Alfen Clark first contact you in connection
with this arrangement that you eventually made with Mainline?

Mr. Finan. %es, SiT,

Mr. LisuyaN. And under what circumstances did he meet with you
the first time?

Mr. Finan. Well, of course, I had met him many times previously.
He had worked in the area for approximately 6 months. Prior to
that, he was assistant to the field representative, Bob Krueger, who
was transferred to California. So I had met him on many occasions.
At that particular time RCA Victor was having a great deal of dif-
ficulty in supplying the market with a commercial product. They
were depending primarily on the sales of Elvis Presley records, and
they were having extreme difficulty even with their standard artists,
such as the Ames brothers and Dinah Shore, in selling their product.

Mr. Clark approached me, and before that Mr. Krueger had sug-
gested subtly, or unsubtly, that some arrangement might be worked
out.

Mr. ListataN, Who is Mr. Krueger?

Mr. Finan. He was the originaj’ field representative for RCA Vie-
tor. He has been in Cleveland, to my knowledge, 4 years. I have
been a diskjockey but 4 years. And I met him shortly after I started
a program on radio station KYW.

Je had suggested on numerous occasions, and we had many occa-
sions to meet for cocktails, or for dinner, that some arrangement might
be worked out, and I denied this possibility because of the fact that
the product didn’t deserve sufficient attention that he wanted. Mr.
Clark, in our meeting, suggested a different approach, which I was
very open to hearing. He suggested that due to Victor’s releass pro-
gram, which was quite large, they were in the habit of releasing seven
or eight records a week, that I might be hired to screen these records,
to help them, or to give them knowledge of which records had com-
mercial possibilities in my estimation.
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. T said that this might be acceptable, that if there was a good
product, I would be very happy to advise them in that capacity. But
that—we talked with no guarantee of airplay, no specific number of
-airplays at any specific time. .

Mr. Lisnyan. Well, about what date was this that you had this
‘conversation with Mr. Allen Clark?

Mr. Finan. This was sometime early, possibly in January 1958.

Mr. LisumaN. Do you know a Mr. Myron O. Berneson?

Mr. FinaN. Yes, I know Bernie very well.

Mr. LisaMan. And is it correct that he is employed by Mainline
Cleveland, Inc.?

Mr. FiNaN. Yes, sir; he is the manager of their record division.

Mr. LisaumMan. And is it true that Mainline Cleveland, Inc., is a
-division of RCA Victor records?

Mr. Finan. No, they are not owned by RCA Victor records. They
.are an independent distributor for RCA Victor.

Mr. Lisiysan. They are franchised ?

Mr. Finan. They are franchised ; yes, sir.

Mr. LisumaN. Now, Mr. Finan, I have before me an affidavit of
Mr. Myron O. Berneson, and I would like to read a paragraph or two
from it, and ask you if this is substantially correct, insofar as it makes
reference to you.

Mr. FinaN. Yes, sir.

Mr. Lisamax. In this affidavit of Mr. Berneson, which was verified
December 2, 1959, it is stated, on page 2—pages 2 and 3—of the copy
I have before me:

Affiant further states that Mr. Allen Clark told him, the affiant, that when he
had contacted Joe Finan, and had asked Finan to give more attention to RC.A
label popular tunes on his radio program, Joe Finan had advised Mr. Clark that
he would play and give special promotional attention to specific RCA label
popular tunes for a fee of $50 per week, for the special attention and promotion
given each specific RCA label or release; and affiant also states that Mr. Allen
Clark further advised him, the affiant, that Joe Finan would also insure that
Wesley Hopkins, another prominent KYW diskjockey, who had a 4-hour disk-
jockey radio program following Finan’s 4-hour diskjockey radio program, would
also play and devote special attention to RCA label popular tunes for the same
fee of $50 per week, for each specific record or release promoted: and affiant
states further that as a result of the verbal arrangements made by Mr. Allen
Clark, the affiant began advising Joe Finan and Wes Hopkins of the names of
the particular RCA label records that Mainline Cleveland desired Joe Finan and
Wes Hopkins to devote special attention thereto, and for which special attention
and services and promotion, Joe Finan and Wes Hopkius received payment of
$50 weekly for each specific record or release so favored.

Now do you confirm that the sworn statements of Mr. Berneson are
correct insofar as they relate to the references to yon and Mr.
Hopkins?

Mr. FiNax. Sir, may I take that paragraph you just read in parts,
to more fully explain?

Mr. Lisuyman. Yes. I will hand it to you, sir.

Mr. Fixax. Well, No. 1, Mr. Lishman, attending this meeting, over
a drink were Allen Clark and myself. The approach that he had, in
my understanding, was entirely different than from what Mr. Berne-
son said Mr. Clark has told him. I have no knowledge of what Mr.
Clark has told Bernie.

56861—60-—pt. 1-—9
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We discussed a service of selection, and bringing to bear both our
commercial senses on whether or not any specific %ictor record had
possibilities for commercial airplay.

I couldn’t, No. 2, speak for W’és Hopkins, or for Chuck Young,
because it was just not my prerogative.

No. 3, $50 per week, special attention and promotion given each
specific RCA label record or release, I think the record files that are
available to this committee, if they are still there, and they usually
are kept at KYW, would show that I played quite a few RCA Victor
records. And if I have been paid $50 per week for special attention
and ({)romotion iven each RCA record label promotion or release, I
could conceivably, at some time over the past period of 2 years, been
making from them, alone, as high as $600 or $700. I can only refer
you, for substantiation of that, to the KYW daily record of my show,
which has been kept for the last 2 years.

Once again I have no knowledge of what Mr. Clark said to Mr.
Berneson, because at the meeting, the initial meeting between Al and
myself, there were just the two of us sitting there discussing the
proposition. My understanding was that I was selling him a service,
and that service was to consult with him, or tell him, out of the
seven or eight Victor releases, which one or two had the capabilities
or possibilities or none at all, if that was the case. And that was
my understanding for quite a while.

r. Lispyman. Well, Mr. Finan, in other words, you don’t agree
with Mr. Berneson’s affidavit?

Mr. Finan. No, sir; I do not.

Mr. Lisiman. Q\Vell, do you agree that you were paid any sum
of money for promoting or paying special attention to specific RCA
label records or releases*

Mr. Finan. Yes, sir; I do agree that I paid specific attention to
‘some of their releases. But it was before the fact of playing. There
was never a guarantee for specific playing.

Mr. Lisuyan. And did you receive payment of sums of money
from Mainline Cleveland, Inc., for doing that?

Mr. Fivan. Yes, the checks came through Mainline. I assumed
it was—in fact, I was told it was a bookkeeping procedure, that the
distributor and RCA wished to work out.

Mr. Lismyan. I have here photostats of 12 checks of Mainline
Cleveland, made payable to your order during the period September
1958 to September 1959, together with &)hotostatic copies of two other
checks, which you will exlain later. would like to show you the
photostatic_copies of these checks. Now, Mr. Finan, in order to
save time, I will read you the check number, its date, and the amount
to indicate whether what I say is correct according to these photo-
static copies, that you have befz)re you. And I will start with check
No. 29907.

Mr. Fivan. Yes, sir.

Mr. Lisiiman. And that is dated September 12,1958

Mr. FinaN. Yes, sir.

M. Lisuyan. In the amount of $50?

Mr. Finan. Yes, sir.

Mr, LisaEMAN. And you received that from Mainline Cleveland,
Ine.?
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Mr. Finan. Yes, sir.

Mr. Lisaman. The next one is No. 29777, and is dated September
4, 1958, payable to your order, in the amount of $50.

Mr. Finan. Yes, sir.

Mr. Lisaman. The next one is No. 30163, dated October 8, 1958,
in the amount of $150.

Mr. Finan. Yes, sir.

Mr. Lisamax. The next one is No. 30279, and it is dated September
15, 1958, in the amount of $50.

Mpr. Finan. Yes, sir.

Mr. Lisuman. The next one is No. 30619, and it is dated November
15, 1958, in the amount of $150?

Mr. FINaN. Yes, sir.

Mr. Lisaman. And the next one is No. 30914, and is dated Novem-
ber—December 7—is that November or December ¢

Mr. Finan. November.

Mr. Lisuman. November 7, 1958, in the amount of $150.

Mr. FINaN. Yes, sir.

Mr. Lisunmaxn. The next one is No. 31263, dated December 2, 1958,
for $100.

Mr. Finan. Yes, sir.

Mr. Lisuaan. The next one is No. 31266, dated December 2, 1958,
and it also is for $100.

Mr, FinaN. Yes, sir.

Mr. Lisayax. The next is No. 31908, dated January 14, 1959, $50.

Mr. FiNan. Yes, sir.

Mr. Lisiiman. The next one is No. 34257, dated June 23, 1959, $50.

Mr. FiNan. Yes, sir. .

Mr. Lisiman. The next one is 34350, dated July 1, 1959, $150.

Mr. Finan. Yes, sir.

Mr. Listaran. The next one is 35109, dated August 13, 1959, $50.

Mr. Finan. Yes, sir.

Mr. Lisuman. Now that makes a total, according to our computa-
tions, o7f $1,100 received by you from Mainline Cleveland, Inc.; is that
correct ?

Mr. Fixax. Would you give me the figure again, sir?

Mr. Lisiyan. $1,100.

Mr, FixaN. From Mainline Cleveland—uvell, that is substantially.
I have a thousand dollars. Intermittent periods from February 1958
through January 1959, yes, sir.

Mr. Lisnman. Now for what purpose did you receive these pay-
ments ?

Mr. Fixaw. It was my understanding that when T was called either
by Mr. Berneson, Mr. Clark, or their promotion girl, Betty Elkins,
that T would indicate to them what I thought were their substantial

roducts, airable on KYW. To attest to that fact, on the checks that

was sent, on the flap, the part that we detached and kept for our-
selves, they charged buack the cost of this service to various specific
records, The first time I got a check bearing this kind of notation,
I questioned it.

Vell, one of the records I had been playing was a good record. The
other record I had never played, wouldn't play, and never considered
it. airable, The explanation given to me at that time was it was a
bookkeeping procedure, and that I shouldn’t worry my head about it.
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And naively enough, I didn’t worry my head about it. But that was
‘the explanation given to me.

Mr. LisuMAN.- Now in connection with these stubs that you saw, do
you recall that some of them would contain names of records such as
“Lollypop”?

Mr. Finan. Yes, sir.

Mr. Lisiiman. And “Blue, Blue Day™?

Mr. FinaN. Yes, sir.

Mr. Lisunman. And “Blue Boy”?

Mr. FinaN. That record I don’t remember at all, sir.

Mr. Lisinian. Well

Mr. FinaN. There were names similar to that.

Mcr. Lisinman. “Look Who's Blue” and similar names ¢

Mr. FiNaN. Yes, sir; there were names,

Mr. LisiaaN. And was the notation on these stubs to the effect that
the amounts appearing thereon were payments to you for having
aired these particular songs or records ¢

Mr. Finan. The use of the word “promotion” was on the check
stub. And these particular songs were listed. I am not sure of all
the listings. But I know, as well as I am sitting here, that I never
played a record called “Lollypop.”

Mr. Lisuman. Do you know whether Mr. Hopkins did ?

Mr. Finan. I have no way of telling. We did our shows se arately.

Mr. Lisian. Well, in other words, if the books of the Mainline
Cleveland, Inc., contain notations on the check stubs similar to what
you have described, and what I have just mentioned, they are not
correct ?

Mr. Finan. Well, they are correct, sir. They appear there. There
is no doubt about it.

Mr. Lisaman. There is no doubt about them appearing on the
check stubs?

Mr. Finan. Noj; they are there. That was not my question. My
immediate question to Al Clark was I never played this record and
I won'’t play this record. Why is this particular notation here? He
told me it was a bookkeeping procedure—this is very often done in
the record industry; they charge back expenses to particular song
accounts. This comes out of the publishing and the revenue from
the record.

Mr. Lisiiman. Now do the 12 checks which I have just identified as
having been received by you from Mainline Cleveland, Inc., the record
distributor for RCA Victor, represent all the money or payments
that you received from Mainline?

Mr. Finax. From Mainline, according to my notations, according
to my tax returns, $1,000, intermittent periods, from 1958 through
January 1959. In 1959, 1 received a total of $300 from them. I be-
lieve the discrepancy that youn and I had is due to the $150. There
was $150 in cash. And I can’t recall the date of that. I just remem-
ber that it was there, because I had a notation.

Mr. Lismayx. Would that be on or about May 13, 1958% 1 will
show you a photostatic copy of a canceled check of Mainline Cleve-
land which may help you to refresh your memory about the cash pay-
ment made.
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Mr. Finawn. I cannot verify whether this is the exact time. I have
no knowledge of this check. 1have never seen it.

Mr. Lisuman. Well, is it a fact that Mr. Berneson of Mainline was
the person who made the cash payments to you?

Mr. Finan. I would imagine. I cannot remember the incident.
As I said, I only have that notation for my own records at home. It
could have been Berneson; it could have been Mr. Clark; it could
have been Betty Elkins. I cannot remember who gave me the money.

Mr. Lisiatan. Who is Betty Elkins?

Mr. Finan. She is in a promotion capacity. She calls on the radio
stations, delivers the new records, and the like.

Mr. Listiman. Did you or any members of your family receive any
other things of value from Mainline, Inc.?

Mr. FiNaN. Shortly after my association with KYW, and com-
pletely unsolicited, a Victor television color set was sent to my home.

Mr. Lisuman. And that is all that you received, other than the
checks and cash you have already testified to?

Mr. Fixan. Yes, sir. To the best of my ability to remember.

Mr. Lisiiatan. Do you know, or have you heard, whether Main-
line Cleveland, Inc., was reimbursed for any of the money paid you by
any other person or company %

Mr. FiNan. T don’t know, but I imagine they were. The system
of extra records, freebees, given by the manufacturer to the distribu-
tor to cover special services, promotion, and the like, is a common
practice and has been since I have been involved, and before I was
involved in the record industry.

Mr. Lisnyan. Do you know whether any of the checks that were
made payable to you by Mainline, Inc., were reimbursed in money
by RCA Victor?

Mr. FiNan. I have no way of knowing what their arrangement
was. I do know, on Mr. Clark’s say-so, that Victor was backing the
arrangement that he had with me.

Mr. Lisiyan. Have you heard of Cosnat Distributing Co.?

Mr. Fixax. Yes,sir.

Mr. LisitmaN. Now what arrangement did you have with Cosnat
with respect (o its records?

Mr. Fixax. My association with the president of Cosnat, Mr. Jerry
Blaine, goes back to practically the first day I went on the air 4 years
ago in Cleveland. During a period of 1 year, in which I was un-
known in the market, he was more than friendly, on absolutely no
basis except that I was on the air. I was on a wealer station; I could
do absolutely nothing for him. However, he did say to me at that
time that if he could—if I possibly ran across any material, original
material, coming out of the Cleveland market—and there were many

eople who would go and write a song, get a group together and cut
1it—that if I sent it to him, it would be possible to work out a financial
arrangement for the work on my behalf.

I submitted a number of records to Cosnat, or to Jubilee, or to Mu.
Blaine. None of them were acceptable to Jerry.

Later he suggested that rather than my sending this material, that
he should put me on the basis of looking out for material for him.

Now what his motives. were in that, and how I accepted it are two
different things, possibly. But at no time for Jerry Blaine or for
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Cosnat Distributing did I ever play a record a specific number of
times or give guarantee of specific play.

Mr. Lisaman. Mr. Finan, have you identified Jerry Blaine as an
official of Cosnat Distributing Corp. ?

Mr. FinaN. Yes, sir; he is the president.

Mr. Lisaman. Is that a New York record distributing company ?

Mr. FinaN. Yes,sir. They have five or six branches.

Mr. Lisian. And do they own or control J.G. Records?

Mr. Finan. Jubilee Records; yes, sir.

Mr. Lisuman. J.G. Records.

Mr. Finan. Jubilee and J.G.—I am sorry. That is a subsidiary
label.

Mr. LisiimaN. And that is a record manufacturing company owned
and controlled by Cosnat ?

Mr. Finan. I'believe there are two separate corporation entities, sir.
They are run as separate operations. I do not think the distributing
controls the manufacturing, or the manufacturing the distributing.

Mr. Lisaman. Well, is it a fact that you had an arrangement with
Cosnat that you would receive approximately $25 weekly?

Mr. FinaN. Yes,sir. May I explain that more fully?

Mr. LisiimaN. Yes.

Mr. Finan. In 1 week’s average time, on a station such as KYW,
which is an important station 1n an important market, one of the
major breakout markets—and to explain this, this is where a record
is exposed, and if the action starts there, it usually spreads to other
parts of the country. This is true of Cleveland, Detroit, Pittsburgh,
Philadelphia, and sometimes Boston. .

We receive each week a fantastic amount of records. It could be
10 a day; it could be 20 a day. It has been as high as 200 a week. It
is a physical—was a physical im{)ossibi]ity for me to listen to each
and every record that came in. I just could not do it.

The arrangement was also based on the fact that Jerry asked not
that I play his records, but that I listen, give special attention in
listening to his records. He was worried about his records being lost
in the shuffie. He never asked for a guarantee, and he never got it.
But I did especially look out for his records, and I did sit down with
them many times at home, and off the air, after hours, to see what
substantially was there that could be played.

Mr. Lisuyan. Now for how long a period of time did you get this
$25 weekly from Cosnat Records?

Mr. FinaN. From Cosnat?

Mr. LisumaN. Yes, sir.

Mr. Finan. Approximately 25 weeks in 1958, and approximately
25 weeks in 1959—a continuing 50-week period in the 2-year period.

Mr. Lisaman. And do you know whether Mr. Hopkins, your col-
league diskjockey, also had similar weekly payments of $25 from
Cosnat ¢

Mr. Finan. I was aware that he had some arrangement, but that
arrangement was lis own. I was not aware of how much of what
was involved.

Mr. Lisuyan. Well, now, coming to J.G. Records, did you also
have an arrangement with J.G. Records whereby you obtained $25
weekly from it ¢
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Mr. FinaN. Yes, sir.

Mr. Lisuman. For how long a period did you receive the $25 weekly
payments from J.G. Records?

Mr. Finan. Well, this was concurrent with the $25 from Cosnat.
Now these two companies are owned, overall, by the same company.
And this did not indicate that any more special attention was going
to be given to Jubilee or to J.G. or to any record that Jerry dis-
tributed in Cleveland. It was simply a bookkeeping way of handling
it, and I believe it was paid for tax purposes in that fashion. The
total was $50 a week for a 50-week period.

Mr. Lisuyan. Now did there come a time, Mr. Finan, when you
had an arrangement with Mercury Record Co. in Chicago?

Mr. FINaN. Yes, sir.

Mr. Lisuman, What is Mercury Record Co.’s business?

Mr. Finan. They produce pop singles, pop albums, and a limited
classical catalogue.

Mr. Lisaman. And did you have an agreement with Mercury
Records whereby you would be paid $50 weekly ?

Mr. FinaN. Yes, sir.

Mr. Lisnyan. And for how long a period did this $50 weekly pay-
ment from Mercury Records continueg

Mr. FinaN. Approximately 2 years—1958 and 1959.

Mr. Lisiiman. Now who paid you the money from Mercury ?

Mr. Finan. The money was paid by the local branch manager, Mr.
Wade Whitman, in Cleveland.

Mr. LisumaN. Do you know whether Mr. Hopkins, your colleague
diskjockey, had a similar arrangement ?

Mr. FiNaN. I was aware that there was an arrangement. Once
again, this was something that I could not tell. I could not tell how
much at the time, or just what his specific arrangement was.

Mr. Lisuman. Now is it correct that in addition to the weekly pay-
ment received from Mercury, that you would from time to time receive
additional payment for benefits?

Mr. Finawn. Additional payments from Mercury ¢

Mr. LisumaN. Yes.

Mr. Fivan. I cannot recall any additional payments.

Mr. Lisayman. Or through Mr. Wade Whitman ¢

Mr. Finan. Additional compensation through Mr. Whitman; no,
sir. I could not recall any additional compensation.

Mr. Lisuman. Was alf’this com(})ensation of $50 weekly for the 2-
year period you have described made by check ?

Mr. Finan. No. Payment was made in cash and a withholding
statement made at the end of the year.

Mr. Lisaman. Now what was the purpose of your receiving—we
will go back now to Cosnat.

What was the purpose of your receiving for a 25-week period at a
stretch, $25 a week from Cosnat ?

Mr. FinvaN. Mr. Lishman, with due respect to you, may I suggest
that we tie the Cosnat payment and the J.G. payment together, be-
cause they were absolutely from the same company, the same consid-
eration was involved in both.

Mr. Lisaman. All right.

Mr. Finan. It was a total payment of $50.
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Mvr. Lisnaan. Well, T am trying to break them down. I want to
find out if you were performing a different service for J .G. as Cos-
nat. But you say you performed the same services for both of them.:

Mr. Fixan., Well, J.G., that was not my prerogative. That is the
way the company wanted to pay it. Basically I was performing for
Cosnat.

Mr. Lisiiman. What did you do to earn the $25 a week from each of
those companies—Cosnat and J.G.?

Mr. Finan. Cosnat is an independent distributor, sir. They have
approximately 40 lines, 40 different lines. The big business in the.
record business today is in the independent label. What Jerry asked
me to do,and what 1 performed, and this is the extent of what he asked
me to do, was to look out for his records, to at least listen, because it
is a well-known fact that many diskjockeys do not listen, and as I said
earlier, cannot listen, because of the tremendous volume of records
that come in.

So for the $50 a week, the special attention I gave, both after work-
ing hours on the station and at home, was to listen to all Jerry’s rec-
ords, not only Jubilee and J.G., but the other labels that he distributed,
such as Atlantic and Roulette and on and on.

Mr. Lisunman. Did you ever play any of the records that were dis-
tributed by Cosnat?

Mr. Finax. Yes, sir. e has had many fine records.

Mr. Listiaran. 1id you ever play any of these records while they
were what is called fresh, that is, new ?

Mr. Finax. Fresh—yes, sir. I began playing a lot of records, some
for the first time.

Mr. Lisiaan. Did any of these fresh records of Cosnat which you
aired over KYW, become hits?

Mr. Finax. Yes, sir; a few did.

Mr. Lisnnan. Did you receive any extra compensation when as a
result of such airing a hit was developed from a fresh record?

Mr. Finax. From Cosnat, sir?

Mr. Lisumax. Yes.

Mr. Finax. No, sir.  From time to time I would get a gift from
Jerry, but it was not—he never made reference to what it was for or
why.

Mr. Lisiiatan. What kind of a gift would you receive?

Mr. Finax. Cashmere sweater, a billfold that was extraordinary,
that had special handwork. They were substantially good gifts, very
good taste.

Mr. Lisiiaay. Now, in connection with the 2-year period that you-
received $50 a week from Mercury Record Co. in Chicago, what did
you do to earn that $50 a weck ?

Mr. FinaN. Well, Mercury was having the same problem as RCA-
Victor and Decca in not knowing how to make a commercial record.
And they were in difficulty not only in Cleveland, but all over the
country.

Once again, the basis on which we arrived at the arrangement was.
that I should give special attention in listening to each and every.
record. There are many times when I have absolutely refused to play,
a Mercury record that was bad, in spite of any consideration. And
there seemed to be no hesitancy on their part to accept my judgment
of a record.
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Mr. Lisuman. Well, who did you make this arrangement with?
What official of Mercury Record Co. entered into this arrangement
with you?

Mr).’ Finan. Mr. Art Talmadge, vice president of Mercury.

Mr. LisamaN. And was he the man that first contacted you to work
out this arrangement ?

Mr. FINaN. Yes, sir,

Mr. LisamaN. You did not go to him?

Mr. Finan. Never.

Mr. LisumMaN. And did he come to Cleveland ?

Mr, FiNan. The first time I met Art Talmadge was when he sug-
gested that I accept 50 percent ownership of a song called “Hesitation
Hop,” recorded by Ralph Marterie. He also mentioned at that time—
we talked about giving as much original material—this is something
that each and every record manufacturer and publisher asked for
when he came in, because a lot of material came to the disc jockeys.
And we sent him a couple of things, suggested a Sarah Vaughan re-
cording to him, which bombed, and ma(}i’:a no money. And he later
arriveg at this same arrangement.

As for asking him, Mr. Talmadge came to Cleveland on numerous
occasions and spoke to me personally.

Mr. Lisauman. Well, did you make your arrangements with him
during the summer of 1958¢

Mr. Fixax. It mnust have been earlier. T have down here May 1958,
That could be some indication that that is when it started.

Mr. Lisnman. Now, in these arrangements that you had with
Cosnat and J.G. and Mercury Record Co., were they in writing or
were they all oral?

Mr. Finan. They were oral, sir.

Mr. LisimaN. Now, are you familiar with the Big Top Record Co.
of New York City?

Mr. FiNaN. Yes, sir.

Mr. Lisuyman. And is.it correct that Big Top is owned by Hill &
Range Publishing Co., a musie publisher in New York?

Mr. Finan. Yes, sir.

Mr. Lisuman. Do you know Big Top’s manager?

Mr. Finan. Yes, sir,

Mr. Lisayan. What is his name? Would it be John Beanstalk?

Mr. Fivan. Yes, Johnny Beanstalk—I am sorry.

. Mr. Lisuman. Did he approach you in Cleveland on behalf of Big
Top Record Co.?

Mr. Finan. Yes, sir.

Mr. LisamaN. When did he do that?

Mr. Fivan. I do not have a date here. I just have the amount of
the check. And I don’t remember—I can’t remember when

Mr. Lisiiman. Do you have an approximate date? Can you give
us an approximate time?

){1‘. ?ilx.ax. Sometime last year. It could be maybe April, March
or April.

' Mr. Lisiian. Now, what request did Mr. Beanstalk make of you
on behalf of Big Top?

Mr. Finan. He wanted to pay me for playing his records.
hM;‘. Lisuyan, Did you have any correspondence with him about
that?
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Mr. Finan. Not to my knowledge. I had a secretary and a man-
ager that handled a great deal of that.

Mr. Lisuman. And how much did Mr. Beanstalk agree to pay you
on behalf of Big Top Record Co.?

Mr. Fixan. After coming to me with the record, we sat down,
we listened to the record, we listened to a couple of his things, as a
matter of fact, and I rejected one because it was not worthy of air
play. The other record did sound like a hit to me, and I accepted $150
at that time to give that record extra consideration and play.

Mr. Lisuman. What was the name of that record?

Mr. Fixaw. Sir, I played so many I cannot remember specifically.
I am sorry, I cannot remember.

Mr. Lisiiman. Well, did you receive more than that one payment
from the Big Top Record Co.? '

Mr. Finan. Yes, sir, we made a similar arrangement on two other
records.

Mr. Lisiman. And during what year was this?

Mr. Finan. This was all in 1959, to the best of my knowledge.

Mr. Lisumax. And how much did you receive by way of checks
from Big Top Record Co. in 19591

Mr. Finan., Well, each time it was $150. I think there were three
checks involved. That is what my records show—about $450.

Mr. Lisuman. Did you, while you were a diskjockey on KY'W, air
any of the records of Big Top Record Co. during 1959 ?

Mr. FivaN. Yes, sir. I aired a number of their records—possibly
seven or eight. I was paid for three. Each record was $150 apiece.

Mr. Lisuman. When you give special consideration to a record,
could you give us an idea as to how many plays that would mean on
the air? Would that mean four times in a 4-hour period, or what?

Mr. FinaN. No, sir. It was against station policy. It wasagainst
Westinghouse policy, as promulgated by Mark Olds, the program
director, that no record should be played more than once on a show.

When I say special consideration, that consideration might be a
matter of 3 days, because when you are playing a record you get an
immediate reaction, the kind of reaction where people call the retail
stores after they have heard the record, or the kind of reaction from
your fellow workers on the station. Perhaps your manager will say
that is a bad record. And that might be all the special consideration.

There is never a guarantee that can possibly be given. And a record
on KYW, according to station policy, was only allowed, only in special
instances with few exceptions—and that nsually dictated by the man-
agement, for overall station promotion—there are a few exceptions—
we are only allowed to play it once a show, as the records on my show
for the last 2 years will tend to show.

Mr. Lisaman. Now, Mr. Finan, did there come a time when you
had an arrangement with United Artists Record Co. of New York
City?

Mr. FinaN. Yes, sir.

Mr. LisumaN. Was this arrangement oral or in writing?

Mr. Finan. This was an oral—there was an oral arrangement. I
did not correspond. ILester Leeds, who is now deceased, made the ar-
rangement WitI;l me, and wrote me from time to time.
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Mr. Lisnuman. About when did Mr. Leeds, a United Artists ofiicial,
make this arrangement with you?

Mr. Fivan. It started early—I believe to the best of my knowl-
edge—these are in my records. I have not got the specific date or the
specific week. It was either February or March of 1959.

Mr. Lisnyan. ITow long did it continue?

Mr. Fixan. A period of about 6 months.

Mr. Lisnman. And what were the terms of this oral arrangement
that. you had with Mr. Leeds?

Mr. Finan. I received $100 a month.

Myr. Lisuaa~, For what purpose?

Mr. FinaN. Once again, manufacturers are constantly aware,
afraid, and sensitive to the fact that diskjockeys may not look at that
material. And that is all they ask me to do.” Because they knew I
maintained control of the show. So I promised them that every
record that I heard, every record that came in, I would listen to. I
promised them no specific play.

Mr. LisumaN. Did you play any of the records of United Artist
Records Co., while you were a diskjockey at KYW ¢

I\.Ir(.l FiNaN. Yes, sir, I played many of their records over a 2-year

eriod.
P Mr. Lisuman. And during the time that you were receiving this
hundred dollars a month from the company, did you have any success
in developing any of their fresh records into hits?

Mr. Fina~. I cannot remember any record I was rimarily re-
sponsible for. I suppose I contributed to the sales o any records
that I played on my show.

Mr. Lisnman. Well, now, did there come a time, Mr. Finan, when
%ou ;md an arrangement with the Shad Record Co., of New York

ity ?

Mr. Finan. Yes, sir.

Mr.2 L1sunman. And about when did you enter into this arrange-
ment ?

er. Finan. This arrangement took place over the last 7 months
of 1959.

Mr. LisuMaN. And what were the terms of this? Was it an oral
arrangement ?

Mr. Finan. Yes, sir.

Mr. LisumaN. What were the terms of this arrangement

Mr. Finan. $200 a month.

Mr. Lisuman. And for what purpose?

Mr. Fivan. For consideration of—special attention and listenin
to his records, and if I liked them, of course playing them, as I di§
with any label.

Mr. LisamaN. For how long did that agreement last ?

Mr. Finan. Seven months, sir.

Mr. Lisuman. And did you play any of the records of the Shad
Record Co., during the time that you were receiving these payments?

Mr. FiNnanN. Yes, I did.

Mr. Lasuman. You played them on the air, over KYW ¢

Mr. FinaN. Yes, sir.

Mr. Lisuman. And did you contribute, in your opinion, to causing
any so-called fresh records of Shad to become a hit ?
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Mr. Finan. I could not take credit or responsibility for starting
any particular record or enthusing people about his particular records.
Certainly once again I probably contributed.

Mr. Lisuman. Now, there came a time, Mr. Finan, when you had
an arrangement with Hugo & Luigi Productions of New York City, is
that correct?

Mr. Finan. Yes, sir.

Mr. LisuyaN. Was this an oral agreement?

Mr. FinaN. Yes, it was, sir.

Mr. Lisman. And who contacted you on behalf of Hugo & Luigi
Productions?

Mr. Fixan. Hugo & Luigi.

Mpr. Lisunan. }%ugo’s last name is Peretti?

Mr. Fixax. Well, this is going to sound strange, but I never got
their last names attached to the right man, although I have known
them a couple of years.

Mr. LisuyaN. Is Luigi’s last name Creatori?

Mr. FiNaN. Yes.

Mr. LisiyaN. And are Hugo & Luigi an independent producing
team who have arrangements with RCA for release of their records
under the RCA label? .

Mr. Finax. No, sir. Now they are in complete charge of the
Victor operation as far as artists and repertoire are concerned.

Mr. Lisiaan. In other words, Hugo & T.uigi are now A. & R.
men for RCA Victor.

Mr. FinaN. Yes, sir.

I\gr. Lisumax. And as A. & R. men, do you know what their duties
are?

Mr. FinaN. Yes, sir.

Mv, Lisiaran. What do they do?

Mr. Finan. They find, sometimes write, select, produce—that
would be the extent of their duties now.

Mr. Lisaman. Do they select artists who will be recorded ?

Mr. Fivan. Yes.

Mr. Lisuyan. And they select the songs that will be used by the
artists?

Mr. Finan. Yes, sir.

Mr. Lisuyan. They have a very important influence in the record
business; do they not?

Mr. Finan. Tremendous.

Mr. Lisinran. Now, when were you contacted by Hugo & Luigi to
provide services to these experts?

Mr. Frxax. Well, it was shortly after they began their association
with RCA Vietor.

Mr. Lismyraxn. In other words, these men who were so expert. that
RCA Victor hired them for their skill and knowing what would be
a commercial success on records felt that they had to come to you to
get the benefit of your skill as a consultant?

Mr. Fixan. No, sir; I did not say that.

Mr. Lisiatan. Well, what did they hire you for?

AMr. Finax. We discussed an arrangement of $200 a month.

Mr. Lisumax. Yes, sir.

Mr. Fixan. For special consideration to their records. There was
no discussion at that time of breakdown as to——
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Mr. Lisuman. With Hugo & Luigi, then, you were not a consultant.

Mr. Fivan. We did not discuss consulting at all.

Mr. Lisuman. And did they undertake to pay you, and did you
receive $200 a month ?

Mr. Finan. Yes, sir.

Mr. Lisaman. How long did that last?

Mr. Finan. Seven months.

Mr. Lisnman. What consideration did you give for receiving this
$200 a month from Hugo & Luigi?

Mr. Finan. In the first place, the first thing I did for them, before
the consideration, before the fact, was select 2 man to represent them
promot}ionallg in the northern Ohio area. When he left them, I was
also responsible for selecting his successor. And, of course, I would
be more than aware of their records in making up my show, in this
particular case.

Mr. LisuaaN. And did you use RCA Victor label records during
the time yon were receiving this $200 a month from their A. & R. men,
Hugo & iuigi?

Mr. Finan. Yes, sir.

Mr. Lisuyan. Now, Mr. Finan, did there come a time when you
had an arrangement with Decca Record Co., of New York City?

Mr. Mack. Mr. Lishman, is it going to take some time? The hour
is 12:30.

Mr. Lisisan. We have several more record companies and distribu-
tors. We have quite a few questions in addition.

Mr. Mack. Under the circumstances, since it is now 12 :30, I think
the committee should recess and we will resume the questioning at
2 o'clock this afternoon.

(Whereupon, at 12:30 p.m., the hearing was recessed, to reconvene
at 2 p.n. of the same day.)

AFTERNOON SESSION

Mr. Mack (presiding). The committee will come to order.

When we recessed this morning, we were receiving testimony from
Mr. Joseph A. Finan.

Mr. Lishman, do you have some additional questions?

Mr. Lisnman. Yes.

Mr. Finan, did there come a time when you made arrangements
with Decea Records Co., of New York City, concerning payments that
company would make to you?

TESTIMONY OF JOSEPH FINAN—Resumed

Mr. Finan. It was through Decca ; yes, sir.

Mr. Listnran. Were these arrangements oral?

Mr. Finan. Yes, sir.

Myr. Lisiiaran. And who in Dececa contacted yon with regard to this
arrangement ?

Mr. Finan. He was——

Mr. Lisuman. Was it Mr. Glazeman ?

Mr. Finan. No, Mr. Bill Glazeman, although he was the general
manager for Decca—they own their own distributing setup in Cleve-
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land—it was through his general manager who was there such a
short time that I never really

Mr. LisitaN. Was his name Bob Gerhard ?

Mr. Fixan. Bob Gerhard; that is the name. I do not know him
except his first name is Bob; is that correct ?

Mr. LisumaN. Yes. And it was Mr. Gerhard, the general manager
of Decca ?

Mr. Finan. He was under Mr. Glazeman and under Mr. Bill
Green. He wasthe third in line.

Mr. LisumanN. And about when did he contact you?

Mr. Finan. This one is really very difficult for me to remember.
I think it was somewhere in the middle of 1959, somewhere in the
summer of last year.

Mr. LisuaaN. What was the nature of your discussion with Mr.
Gerhard on behalf of Decca Records?

Mr. Finan. He was interested in a particular record and the dis-
cussion I had with him was so short and so perfunctory that I cannot
recall the name of the record, along with the actual arrangements,
although I think it was—the money that was involved was $150, 1
believe, in cash.

Mr. Lisayax. Did you discuss an arrangement whereby you would
receive four payments of about $100 each with Mr. Gerhard?

Mr. Fixan. KTO, nothing ever like that was indicated that was to
be done.

Mr. Lisuman. For what purpose did Mr. Gerhard wish to make
these payments to you?

Mr. Finan. For a special consideration given to this particular
product.

Mr. LisriaaN. What was this particular product?

Mr. Finawn. This particular product was an off-brand record.
And when I say off-brand, I mean a small record manufacturer that
Decca had taken over for national distribution. I cannot recall the
name of the record or even the label. I do know that it was a small
company that had decided to allow Decca to distribute its records
nationally.

Mr. Lisaman. Did you, while you were a diskjockey in KYW, air
this record on the air?

Mr. Finan. Very, very briefly. I aired the record, and the record
had absolutely no potential, and I immediately stopped playing the
record and so indicated to Bob.

Mr. Listyan. How much did you actually receive in total, approx-
imately, from Decca Record Co.?

Mr. Finan. I can remember one payment of $150. I cannot re-
member $400—four distinct separate payments.

Mr. Lisaman. What was the special consideration that you ren-
dered for this record ?

Mr. Finan. That I should listen to this particular record, report
back to him whether or not it was airworthy. And if I liked it, to

lay it.

P Iyreported back that I did not like it, and I did not play it.
I played it for a couple of days. And it had absolutely nothing.
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Mr. Lisuman. Did there come a time when you had an arrange-
ment with the Cameo Records Co. of Philadelphia with respect to the
payment of money to you ?

r. Finan. Yes.

Mr. Lisuman. About when did you make these arrangements?

Mr. Finan. This was in 1959. gnce again I have no dates listed
in my records. It could be anywhere from April to the summer.

Mr. Lisiyan. Was thisan oral arrangement ¢

Mr. FiNnaN. Yes, sir.

. M?r. Listiaan. And who contacted you on behalf of Cameo Records
0.

Mr. FinaN. The owner of Cameo, Mr. Bernard Lowe.

Mr. Lisiman. Is he in Philadelphia ?

Mr. FinaN. Yes, sir.

Mr. LisuMan. Isit spelled L-o-w-e?

Mr. FinaN. Yes, sir.

Mr. Lisiiman. Now, what business is Cameo Records Co. in?

Mr. Finan. Cameo Records produces top singles, that is, the 435
variety of records for the market.

Mr. LasunmaN. What was the substance of those oral arrangements
you had with Mr. Bernard Lowe on behalf of Cameo Records?

Mr. Finan. Well, it involved once again verifying—of course, eve
record manufacturer thinks he has a hit—most of them do not. In his
particular case he not only had a hit, but he was starting a new artist
who later was proven to ﬁe one of the top, young Bobby Riddell—it
was one of the tops in the country. He asked for my opinion on the
basis of the first record of Bobby Riddell. I indicated to him at that
time that I not only liked the record, but as soon as possible I would

be happy to promote Bobby Riddell’s interests through record hops,
having ﬁobby appear in Cleveland. And this was the basis of the
arrangement.

Mr. Lisunman. And how much was paid to you by Cameo Records?

Mr. FinaN. In 1959 I received checks for a total of about $450.

Mr. Lisuman. Have you ever received any other cash or valuable
material from Cameo Records?

Mr. Finan. No, sir. This was what my record indicates. I cannot
recall anything else.

Mr. Lisnman. Did there come a time when you made an oral ar-
rangement with Carlton Records of New York City, for the payment
of sums of money to you?

Mr. Finan. Yes, sir.

Mr. Listyan. About when did you make this arrangement with
Carlton Records?

Mr. Finan. In June of 1958. And the amount of money involved
there was $650.

This arrangement was changed in 1958. And I received—and these
are approximate figures—two checks amounting to, approximately,
$400. This was based on the sale, or the impact of the Carlton Record
in the market. It wasa payment after the fact.

Mr. Lisuman. Who contacted you on behalf of Carlton Records?

Mr. Fivan. I spoke at one time to the president of Carlton, Mr. Joe
Carlton. )

Mr. LisiyaN. And the arranagement yon had with him was oral?

Mr. Fixan. Yes, sir.
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Mr. Lisiman. And what was the purpose of paying you these sums
of money ¢

Mr. Finan. Well, Carlton, to give you some background, Mr. Carl-
ton was for many years with the RCA-Victor and he decided through
his own methods of distribution, sales promotion and all of the prob-
Jems that are inherent in owning and running a record company, that
he would go on his own. He was fortunate enough to get himself
a couple of good artists like Bryant and it was based on the number
of releases. Joe released oh, I would say, maybe 10 records, of which
I listened to 2 of the 10. We accepted or I accepted, rather, 2 that
I thought were airable, and so reported to him.

Mr. Lisuman. Did you, also, have an arrangement whereby you
were to receive a 2-cent commission on each record sold in that area?

Mr. Finan. Yes. Once again this was based on the fact that, No.
1, I believed that the record was airable on KYW. Naturally, I re-

orted that this record could contribute to our competitive position
in Cleveland, and to my enhancement as a diskjockey. And we
worked out an arrangement whereby for 215 cents—no, yes, 214
cents per thousand sold in the Cleveland area, and 3 cents if the rec-
ord went over 20,000.

Mr. Lisiman. About how much in total did you receive?

Mr. Fixax. To the best of my recollection—and this is not an exact
figure—there were two checks amounting to somewhat in the neigh-
borhood of $400.

Mr. Lisuymax. Mr. Finan, did you air any records of Carlton Rec-
ords during your period over station KXY W'

Mr. Fixan. Of the 10 releases they had I felt 2 were airable. And
later was proven right by the fact that they were hits all over the
country.

hMr.2 Lisiaran. Were those fresh records at the time you introduced
them ¢

Mr. Finan. They were not fresh to the Cleveland market alone—
they were new records, yes, sir, but they were released in five markets,
Detroit, Philadelphia, Chicago, and Pittsburgh.

Mr. Lisiiaan. Mr. Finan, I believe there have been 10 companies
from whom you have received payments of money including Mainline,
is that correct?

Mr. Finax. I did not count them, Mr. Lishman. I will accept that.

Mr. Lasuaan. Will you check that?

Mr. Finan. Well, I have more than that here.

Mr. Lisiman. Are there any other companies with whom you had
arangements for receiving money in connection with phonograph
records?

Mr. Finan. Yes, sir, Epic Records, in August of 1959. And this
took place over a period of, perhaps, 4 months. I am very vague—
very vague on this.

Mr. Lisuyan. Yes

Mr. Finan. For a total of $400.

Mr. Lisiiman. Who made your arrangements—who made the ar-
rangements with you on behalf of Epic Records?

Mr. Finan. This was handled between the promotion manager of
Epic and the local distributor. And I cannot remember—they change
promotion managers of that company so rapidly, I cannot remember
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which one this was, but the name of the local distributor is the Custom
Distributing, since out of business, and that was Mr. Henry George.

Mr. LisumaN. How much money did you receive under that oral
arrangement ?

Mr. Finan. That was for $100 a month. And it was a total of $400.

Mr. Lisuman. And for what purpose did you receive that money—
what services did you render for it?

Mr. Finan. Once again, as in the case of many of these companies,
especially Epic or RCA-Victor, they needed help outside of their own
organization, in_their own department, their own promotion men,
who were surprisingly deficient in being able to market a product
that was commercial, and they went to the outside, to the people
such as myself who have had a background in the business and under-
stand the record business and broadcasting for help. Once again, tell-
ing them what their probabilities were with the artists they had.

They had a number of releases, too many in fact. Probably—
well, I hesitate to give a figure, but it was 10 to 15. And all of these,
perhaps, in that time they had a Roy Hamilton record that was aec-
ceptable and of quality for the air.

Mr. Lisaman. Mr. Finan, is not Epic Records a division of Co-
Jumbia Records?

Mr. Finan. Yes.

Mr. ListiaaN. Does not Columbia Records have A. & R. men?

Mr. Finan. They are separate entities, sir.  Whether it is for tax—
it is not for tax purposes. Columbia is under the direction of Mitch
Miller and they produce one kind of music. Columbia prides itself on
the fact that it produces everything in the field of popular except—
with the exception of rock and roll.

Epic hand}es some of the rhythm artists they have, and some of the
rock and roll tunes that were not too successful.

Mr. Lisuman. Did you air any Epic Records while you were on
KYw?

Mr. Finan. Yes.

Mr. LisumaN. At the time that you were receiving this money?

Mr. Finan. Not only during the time, but before and long after.
The only record that I called them specifically about, the only record
that I suggested they had an opportunity of promoting through their
fieldmen was the Roy Hamilton release.

Mr. Lisuman. And do I understand you correctly that you received
these payments for the purpose of being a consultant to that company
with regard to the commercial possibilities of the records?

Mr. Finan. Yes, sir. That is the tag that has been put on the
thing. That is substantially exactly what it is, special services for all
of their materials, telling them which is bad and whether this is good,
and I cannot conceivably in good conscience do it over the station.

Mr. Lisiiman. Does not Epic have its own A. & R. men?

Mr. Finan. They have a number of them. That is one of the
problems.

Mr. Lisaman. What other record companies did you have arrange-
ments with whereby you received payments of money or other valuable
consideration ?

Mr. Finan. Do you have Cosnat ?

56861—60—pt. 1——10
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Mr. Lisuman. Yes. About when did you make your arrangements
with Cosnat?

Mr. Finax. I hope that you will forgive me. I did the best job
that I possibly could in coming down here to give as candid and as
complete information as I possibly could, but some of these dates are
vague, because through the years I have dealt with 400 record com-
panies, and 10,000 records, and Cosnait was in 1959, and I received
three checks from them in the evaluation of about $600.

Mr. Lisaman. Do you recall who on behalf of Cosnat made this
arrangement with you?

Mr. Finan. George Paxton is the president. I did not talk to
George. Now I have a lapse of memory. Myron King, the second in
command.

Mr. Lisaman. And for what purpose did you get this payment
from Cosnat?

Mr. Finan. Well, once again, each one of these arrangements, and
each one of these record companies, have common problems. This

articular company was born out of a publishing house, the Paxton

ublishing House, and they were new to the field of recording, and
they were fighting and struggling and spending a great deal of money,
perhaps as %igh as $10,000 on each recording and promoting records
and having people in the field, and most times this came to naught,
and rather than do this they once again enlisted the services of people
they considered expert, such as myself, to tell them whether or not
it was worth an investment, and each record is separate, a separate
financial entity—whether or not they should invest the $10,000 or
twenty, or whatever is necessary, or should they forget it.

In many instances I told them to forget it. In a couple of instances
I told them that they had something.

Mr. Lisuman. Did you air Cosnat records over KYW §

Mr. Finan. Yes, sir; before, during, and since that.

Mr. Lisaman. Are there any other record companies with whom
you had similar oral arrangements?

Mr. FinaN. Meridian Music is a publishing firm.

Mr. LisumaN. About when did you enter into that arrangement?

Mr. Finan. This was, once again, these are—this is on the label—
sometime in 1959, the Wren label.

Mr. Lisuman. Approximately how much did you receive from this
company ?

Mr. Finax. A total of $300. I believe that was two payments of
$150 each.

M?r. Lisuman. For what purpose were these payments made to
you?

Mr. Fivan. Well, once again, it was verification. These people
who spend all of this money in the record business which involves
great amounts of money, have to verify, even though they believe they
have a hit—the people and their family and their relatives believe
they have a hit—they do not believe this is essentially true, because of
the nature of the business.

A record that everybody thinks can be a hit can be nothing but a
dud. They wanted to verify in their own opinion from, perhaps,
not only me, but other jockeys—I am not aware whether other jockeys
in any other parts of the country were consulted—they wanted to
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verify whether or not the record was worth their investment, which
would be substantial, and they would make this on the basis of a
cross section of many different places, including mine.

Mr. LisuMaN. Arethere any other companies?

Mr, Finan. London Records.

Mr. Lisaaan. When did you make that arrangement ?

Mr. FinawN. In this particular case the arrangement was made for
me. There was no arrangement made. There was no formal under-
standing. As a matter of fact, Mr. Walt McGuire, who is sales man-
ager of London Recording, asked me on many occasions if I would
place them on KYW. “I am unable to do this, Mr. McGuire.” And
the people that were mentioned before had, he said. And I told him
that I did not think that was proper. His problem was that of hiring
a promotion manager to cover Cleveland, Columbus, Youngstown,
Akron, and the like. He asked me if I would help him find such a
promotion man. And I immediately suggested Mr. Frank Barry.
Frank was subsequently hired and in a 6-month period performed out-
standing service—made London a factor in our market for the first
time in a couple of years. And to the best of my recollection the $200
was a gift after the fact.

Mr. Lisuman. Did you air London records at this time over KYW?

Mr. Fixan. In the 3-year period I aired many London records,
:lllbums, everything I possibly could play within the context of my

ow.

Mr. Lismyan. What other companies made payments of money or
other things of value to you?

Mr. Finan. Madison Records.

Mr. LisumaN. When was that arrangement made ?

Mr. Finan. Once again, Mr. Lishman, I have, as I said, wracked
my brains so that I would come in with the fullest information pos-
sible. I canonly say it wassometime in 1959.

Mr. LisumaN. Who contacted you on behalf of Madison ¢

Mr. FinaN. A very good friend, Larry Uttel.

Mr. LisuyaN. And what was the nature of the arrangement that
you had with Madison Records?

Mr. FinaN. Larry had invested what money he had in making a
record called the “Soldier Boy.” Ile asked me for my help as a
friend, which he got immediately, but only after I had known the fact
that it was playable, and that was proven to be correct, because it did
become a record that climbed not only in Cleveland, but all over the
country. And after that particular fact became true, Larry got
orders. I was given acheck for $150.

Mr. Lisuman. Did you air any records of the Madison Co. over
KYw?

Mr. Fivan. I aired that particular record. He had three releases
following that. I did not feel that they would contribute to the bet-
terment of KYW and our market.

Mr. LisrimaN. What other companies ?

Myr. Finan. Thatisit.

Mr. LisiimaN. That isit?

Mr. Finax. Yes,sir.
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Mr. Lisuman. As I counted that, that makes a total of 15 record
companies from whom you received payments of money or other
valuable considerations.

Mr. Finan. Those are the ones that I have listed.

Mr. Lisuman. Did any record company, instead of making pay-
ments of money to you, make loans to you?

Mr. FinaN. Yes. I received a loan which I am still paying back
for $1,700—I owe $1,700 on the loan right now.

Mr, LisamaN. What company made the loan ¢

Mr. FinaN. Chess Recor({)s.

Mr. Lisiiman. What was the total principal amount of the loan?

Mr. Finan. I think it was $2,000.

Mr. Lisuuman. Was it $2,500, rather than $2,000 ?

Mr. Finawn. It was about a year and a half ago. That very well
could be.

Mr. Lisaman. It could very well be $2,5002

Mr. FinaN. Yes,sir.

Mr. LisumaN. Do you have any papers with you whereby you
could verify that figure ?

Mr. FinaN. No,Idonot. I really—

Mr. Lisiiman. Would you acce;)t the figure of $2,500 as being the
loan that Chess Records made you ?

Mr. FinaN. Yes, sir.

Mr. Lisanan. Chess Records is located in Chicago?

Mr. Fixan. Yes, sir.

Mr. Lisuman. And what officer or employee of Chess Records
arranged this loan for you?

Mr. Finan. Well, I talked to both Uttels, very close friends for
4 years, and I picked up a phone, and I asked him for the money,
and he gave it to me.

Mr. Lisiman. Did they ask you to air any of their labels over
KYWwW?

Mr. Finan. No, sir.

Mr. Lisuman. Have you, as a matter of fact, aired such a record
label over KYW ?

Mr. Fixan. Since the first day I have been on the air with WJAL—
they are very close friends of mine.

Mr. LisumaN. What interest rate was charged you on this loan
of $2,5007

Mr. FinaN. To my knowledge, none, since there might be, it is
conceivable, but I do not think I was charged any interest. I do
not think there is any interest.

Mr. LisumaN. Did you give a note for this loan ?

Mr. Finan. No, sir; my personal word.

Mr. Listiaan. Wasit given to you in cash ?

Mr. Finan. No. I believe it was—I believe it was sent by check.

Mr. LisumaN. And when it was sent by check did a letter accom-
pany the $2,500 check ?

Mr. Finan. That I cannot remember, because, actually, I do not
handle the financial end. It went to my wife. She knew it was coming
and she took care of it from there.

Mr. LisiimaN. When was that made repayable?
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Mr. Fivan. There was no stipulation. I told them that I would
make every effort to pay it back within a matter of 6 months, if it
became possible.

Mr. LisumaN. Were there any other companies from whom you
‘obtained loans in the record business?

Mr. Fivan. No, sir; not to my knowledge, no.

Mr. Lisuman. Well, now, going back, excluding the loans, just con-
fining ourselves to the 15 record companies from whom you received
payments of money, would you accept the figure of, approximately,
$15,000 as the amount you received from these 15 companies over about
a 2-year period ?

Mr. FinaN. Yes, $5,000 in 1958 and $10,225 in 1959. That is ex-
clusive of the loan. I did not——

Mr. ListiaN. That is exclusive of the value of any gifts?

Mr. FinaN, Yes.

Mr. Listiman. Now, to clarify the record, first of all yott were
employed as a diskjockey by KYW ; is that correct?

Mr. Fivan. Yes,sir.

Mr. Lisirman. How many hours a day were you required to devote
to your duties as a diskjockey ?

Mr. FiNaN. There was no actual requirement. The total time put
in at the station, both for radio and television—I had extensive tele-
vision responsibility at K YW—would amount to reporting in, approx-
imately, at 12 o’clock, when I was working 2 to 6, and I usually left
there at night at midnight, a total of about 10 hours. And most of the
record listening would be done at home, since most of the records were
mailed to my house.

Mr. Tasuman. You received a salary from KYW ¢

Mr. Finan. Yes, sir.

Mr. Lisiman. What was that salary?

Mr. FivaN. Do you mean totally from radio? I have never broken
it down; the total from radio and television last year was approxi-
mately $38,000 or $40,000.

Mr. LisiyaN. What were your duties as a diskjockey? Was there
not the matter of listening to records, that would be suitable, to be
aired over KYW by you as such diskjockey ?

Mr. FiNaN. Yes, sir; it was. In the industry, realistically, no
broadeasting company, including Westinghouse, expects its men to
listen to each and every record. It is just a physical impossibility.

Mr. Listiman. I appreciate that, but a part of your duties as a
diskjockey, for which you were paid this salary, ‘was listening to
selected records to see whether they were suitable for airing over that
station: is that correct ?

Mr. Finan. Yes, sir. And this I did. As a record was kept by
Westinghouse in Cleveland, catch as catch can, they kept it the last
2-year period—I know for the last year I listened to not only the
people mentioned here, but to Columbia, to Capital, and all of the
other record labels.

Mr. Lisimax. In connection with your duties as a diskjockey, in
connection with determining what records were suitable and airable,
there was the actual airing of the records?

Mr. Fixan. The airing of the record : yes.

Mr. Lismyan. And comments made by you concerning the records
-and other matters ¢
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Mr. Finan. Yes, sir. o

Mr. Lisuman. Did you comment on the records as they were being
played?

Mr. Finan. From time to time. I can explain.

In the beginning of the independent radio, Cleveland was one of
the best markets in the country for record manufacturers. And when
there was no competition in the industry, so far as independent opera-
tion was concerned, we had a man working in the market who com-
mented on each and every record. And this was his method of
selling records and selling everything else.

However, with competition being introduced, and more quality
programing comin, a{;out, this screening and making stupendous
statenients, just did not seem substantially to be the way to sell. So
that as a matter of business application, and as a performer, using
that sense that would make the station money and myself, I usually
restricted my comments on records. I would say somet%'ing, naturally,
about some of the records of some of the companies here involved mn
this, That was the extent of it. It was not a question of constantly
using repetitious and flowery phrases and drive.

Mr. LisumaN. Well, Mr. Finan, for example, would you say in
connection with a fresh record by one of these companies from wﬂom
you received money, “You may have heard Frank Sinatra and Dinah
Shore, but the record you are about to hear is going to be a smash-
eroo.” Would you use such language as that in commenting upon a
record that you were to air?

Mr. Finan. Well, that is a part of my vocabulary. I am not—

Mr. Lisaman. I am just trying to dget your technique that you used
in promoting or giving special consideration to these records.

Mr. Finax. I think I said just about that in representing every
companies’ offering at one time or another that I thought that this
record was going to be a hit. I might have used the word “smash,”
or

Mr. Lisuman. Would you, introducing the record, use the names
of admittedly great talent, we will say, like Dinah Shore and others,
and then work in some unknown artist’s record on this pitch as war-
ranting the attention of the listening public?

Mr. Finan. No, sir. This I would not, for this reason : I mentioned
the record earlier of Bobby Riddell. I believe myself that this youn
man was going to be a star. And when I talked about Bobby Riddeﬁ
I talked about an artist.

They might be involved in a good piece of material. They would
have one record and you would never hear from them again. I would
not say that Joe Smith on this particular record is a great artist com-
pared to Sinatra. It would be foolish to say so.

And No. 2, I have never believed in that. I tried to maintain as
reasonable an attitude as possible on the air.

Mr. Lisaman. Well, Mr. Finan, we have you having a salaried
position as a disc jockey, and as I understand your testimony you were
acting in three other capacities for certain other companies than
KYW, and you correct me if I am wrong—with respect to some record
companies you gave your services in terms of special consideration to
the records, is that correct ¢

Mr. FinaN. Yes,sir.
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Mr. Lisriman. Were some of these 15 companies you performed such
services for and received payment for just simply from istening to the
record and evaluating the commercia,l] possibilities ?

Mr. Finan. Yes,sir.

Mr. Lisuman. And for some of these companies you acted as a
consultant, is that correct ?

Mr. Finan. Yes,sir.

Mr. Lisuyan. As to the commercial quality of that product?

Mr. Finan. Yes.

Mr. Lisuman. You have testified that it took you, approximately,
10 hours a day to take care of your duties as a disec jockey for KYW.

About how many hours a day would you devote to your clients who
were paying you for special consideration ?

Mr. Finan. At my house each evening through the daily mail I
would receive, perhaps, 15 records. Some of these records would
require 20 seconds listening, because you could determine immediately,
having a feel for the business, that something dreadfully is wrong with
this particular record.

Other records I would listen to time and time and time again, to
see what the camulative effect was on me.

Other records I would listen to and would know immediately that
this was a good record.

The total time—the time spent is not the kind of time that I could
give a time estimate on. I cannot possibly tell you. I did not punch
a timeclock on it.

I'realize that it is incredible to believe that this much money is paid
for this kind of service, but I beg you to understand the peculiarity
of our record business. It is a business in which millions and millions
of dollars are involved. I do not know how anyone else operates in
any other Fart of the country. I know that on my premise, first and
foremost, from a practical application standpoint, $40,000 a year is
a very fine position as I had at KYW. And the happiness I had at
being there.

I equate that against the $5,000 or $10,000 for 1959.

I did perform these services, but these services never in any way
jeopardized my independent judgment of what kind of material
should go on, because my basic responsibility to my family and myself
and to KYW was to maintain a competitive position, to become No.
1% whifchl we did in that market—which we did through the coopera-
tion of all.

Mr. Lisaman. I would just like to have you approximate, if you
can, Mr. Finan, about how many hours a day was spent. on your work
of special consideration and listening and as a consultant ?

Mr. Finan. Well, if I were to equate it in the time I spent, I would
say, at least, an hour a day was spent outside of the area of the
station listening at the station, too, that I did at home. The work
that was involved—1I did not use this word “consultation”—comparin
with my colleagues in the business field. Many times I would cal
many friends who were on the air and ask them, “Do you, also, think
this is a good or bad record?” I wanted to compare my own judg-
ment. As these companies want to verify theirs.

Mr. LisumaN. Mr. Finan, do you have an interest in any record
company ?
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Mr. Fixan. Yes, sir, I own a record company.

Mr. Lisuiman. What is the name of it?

Mr. Finan. Cosmic.

Mr. Lisiiman. Who do you own it with ?

Mr. Finan. I own it with attorney H. Donald Zimmerman.

Mr. Lisiiman. Did you own it while you were with station KYyw?

Mr. Finawn. Yes.

Mr:l Lisuman. Did you air the records of Cosmic while you were
there?

Mr. Finax. Yes, sir.  We made several records and I aired two.
I aired one. The other one was given to Art Record for distribution.
‘As our records will show the other record became what we thought
was a national hit, being played on all of the stations throughout
the country and achieved a certain amount of popularity. That
record has——

Mr. Lisiaan. Is that not the Chess label ?

Mr. Finan. Yes.

Mr. Lisaman. Chess loaned you the $2,500%

Mr. FinaN. Yes.

Mr. Listaran. Were the Cosmic records aired by you fresh records?

Mr. Finan. Yes, sir. We invested money and time in the studio
on the records. They were ours—original in the Cleveland area.

Mr. LisuyaN. You believe that as the result of your airing these
records it helped some of them %

Mr. FinaN. The first record—we lost on the first one $1,000. On
the second record which we thought was a hit, we got a return of,
perhaps, 100,000 records, with a total income on the record of $5,000,
which was divided among the officers and the people that worked
in Cosmic Records.

Mr. Lisamax. Mr. Finan, do you know Mark Olds?

Mr. Finan. Yes, very well.

Mvr, Lisnyan. What was his position at station KYW ¢

Mr. Finan, He was the program director.

Mr. Listiman. Did Mr. Olds ever offer you anything of value in
return for playing a particular record ¥

Mr. Finan. No, sir.

Mr. Listyan. Or for playing a record of a particular company ¢

Mr. Finan. No,sir.

Mr.ll;nsnMAN. What person on KYW selected the records that you

layed?

P I\JIZr. Fivan, The primary responsibility for selecting records was
our librarian, Charles Young, but we all—every disc jockey there—
had an opportunity to select a certain amount of recor(}s that came to
his attention. And if Mr. Young did not like them, we could go to the
program director.

Mr. Lisiaan. Did anyone connected with KYW ever put any
pressure on you to play a particular record ?

Mr. Finan. What kind of record ?

Mr. Lisumax. Either indirect, or pressure with regard to your
holding the job?

Mr. Finan. No.

Mr. Lisiman. Pressure by offering you money #

Mr. FixaN. No,sir.
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Mr, LisumaN. Or any other kind of pressure ?

Mr. FinaN. No. There was a time when I was asked to play a
record, but I did not for a moment.

Mr. Lisuxan. Who asked you to play it?

Mr. Finan. In that particular case I was asked by Mark Olds to
listen to it. He asked me to listen. He was a very fair guy. He asked
me to make up my own mind. I did. I played it out of courtesy for
another person in our relationship, and after putting it on the air for
2 days, decided that it would not be a hit, and I stopped playing it.

Mr. LisumaN. Mr. Finan, do you know Mr, Bud Wendel ?

Mr. FiNaN. Yes,sir.

Mr. Lisuman. What was his position or what position does he
hold now ?

Mr. Finan. He is the program director.

Mr. Lisuman. Do you know Mr. Gil Faggen?

Mr. FinaN. Yes, sir, he is the music director of KYW.

Mr. LisumaN. Mr. Charles Getz?

Mr. Fixax. Yes.

Mr. Listimax. What is his position ?

Mr. Fivan. Charlie is in charge of promotion—promoting activi-
ties for the station that will affect the public image of the station.

Mr. Lisiman, Did any of these persons ever bring pressure on you
of a.nyekind to play records of a particular company or a particular
record ?

Mr. Finan. I think it was—the fact that these gentlemen, Bob
Wendel, no; Charlie (ietz was formerly with the New York Giants,
very much interested in sports, spent a great deal of time and effort
i making an album called “Iistory of the Cleveland Indians,” which
has been a very fine album, and has been received in the Ohio Valley.
He asked me, but with the proviso if I would look at it, if T would
play it and I said that I would. I played it a couple of times. It
was a fine album. There was no pressure and no thought of losing
my job doing anything that might violate my friendship with these
people.

Mr, Listiyan. Do you recall in October 1959 that the record album
“Rendezvous™ was requested to be featured ?

Mr. Fixax. “Rendezvous” by whom, sir?

Mvr. ListuyaN. That is the title of the album.

Mr. Finaw. I cannot remember it, the request, because I cannot
remember the album.

Mr. Lisuyan. Do you recall the Spotlight record list ?

Mr. FiNnaN. Yes, sir.

Mvr. LisumaN. And the Top 40 tune list ?

Mr. Fixan. Yes,sir. Ilived with it a long time. :

Mr. Lisuyan. Did any of the personnel at Westinghouse indicate
to gou@ what, on these lists of songs, you should air while a disc
jockey ¢

Mr. Finan. Well, “The Spotlight Record” is a record that would
require playing, but there was no jealous or private jurisdiction over
“The Spotlight Record.” There were many times that I could bring
in a record and have it spotlighted. We did that, as a matter of
policy. We took the very best. records we thought possible, and we
played them on all shows. As far pressure, the only pressure was that
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it was management policy—management dictated out of New York—
and not privy to anyone’s private concern in Cleveland.

Mr. LisaMan. Do you recall any personnel at \Vestinghouse telling
you that they would like a record on, “What a Night,” sung by the
Chippendales?

Mr. FinaN. Yes. Bob Wendell told me that, sir.

Mr. Lisiiyan. Rather urged you to air that record ?

Mr. FinaN. When you say “urged”

Mr. Lispuan. Did he try to suggest to you

Mr. Finan. He suggested only this, that he thought it was a very
fine record. I listened to the record, and I concurred. And that,
subsequently, was proven by the fact that it was a national hit, not
only in Cleveland.

Mr. Lisiryan. I have no further questions.

Mr. Finan. May I just say this. I would like to go back to one
thing that I said earlier. I tgought I made it clear, but I would like
to go back to the RCA-Victor—Main Line affidavit. In that affidavit
it was stated that I had asked Mr. Clark express consideration to pla
the record and that I would receive $50 per week per specific record.

I said earlier in my testimony this morning that if this were the case
there would have been times when I could have conceivably made $500
or $600 a week from Main Line.

I made from Main Line, as a matter of fact, and it is a matter of
record which contradicts the affidavit, $1,000 within the period of
1958, and 1959 $300. As a matter of fact, for some reason, these were
intermittent periods. They became dissatisfied. I do not know what
was in their mind. I was charged by the vice president of the corpora-
tion that, that is, in the Cleveland papers, of inventing the word
“payola,” which T deny. I also never sought Mr. Berneson. I never
asked for money. And their dissatisfaction, and their asking me
and strongly suggesting that I play certain records that I did not
want to play brought this whole procedure to an end.

‘We also mentioned a record earlier today, “Lollypop”—not only my
version, but I consistently played the Katy version of the Chordettes.
This I recall from this morning.

Mr. Lisuman. Thank you.

The CHAIRMAN (presiging). Mr. Mack.

Mr. Mack. This morning you said it was a station policy for them
to lazy only one record, one particular record on one program, is that
right ¢

Mr. Finan. Yes, sir, with the exception of extreme circumstances
when we altered this, that such a record should be given extra con-
sideration. It was the opinion of everyone there.

Mr. Mack. I am interested in the exceptions, When did you
decide that there would be exceptions?

Mr. Finan. Well, for example, Mitch Miller—I think it was a
Mitch Miller album, on the Confederacy—coming up to the 100th
anniversary of the Civil War. It was a new album. It was being
featured by other stations. We were always sensitive to pure com-
petitive situations. After we became the No. 1 station in town we
wanted to maintain that position. We wanted to continue that as
much as possible daily.
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When we got the new album, the history of the Civil War, the
War Between the States, we featured it. And we featured it ex.
tensively over a period of about 3 or 4 days.

Mr. Mace. Who made the decision in this case? Did you make the
decision or did the manager of the station make the decision ?

Mr. Finan. Well, at all times the policy decision, a decision involv-
ing our policy of playing music, was made after suggestions, perhaps,
from a disc jockey, perhaps from the record librarian, perhaps from
management, perhaps from the girl in the continuity department, that
this might be & good idea, and that it was a cooperative effort at all
times. There was no one person who was completely in charge or
responsible for that music or what we did in the way of promotion.

There would be times for a period of 1 or 2 weeks when you decided
to play those records that sold a million, that people wanted to hear,
and we would feature one of those every 10 minutes. And this was
agreed to by everybody, the program director, the disc jockeys, and
the record librarian and sometimes the girl who worked in continuity.

Mr. Mack. There was no hard and fast %)olicy as to who had the
authority to make the decision, is that correct?

Mr. FinaN. I never had the authority .

Mr. Mack. Let me see if I understand. You had to talk with three
or four other people in the station before they would finally agree
that you could make an exception and play a record twice on the
program ?

Mr. FinaN. Yes, sir. If there was a valid reason that a record
should be played twice on the show, it was taken under advisement by
the record librarian. He was, of course, the one who reported to the
program manager. In an independent operation such as ours the
manager works very closely with the record librarian and with the
disc jockey.

Mr. Mack. The program manager makes the decision, or had made
the decision ¢

Mr. Finan. Well, ultimately, in the chain of command somebody
had to be charged with the responsibility. He might have OK'd it—
simply OK’ssomebody else’s idea.

Mr. Rogers. And he would have to approve the recommendation
that you had made, or the recommendation the librarian had made, is
that correct ¢

Mr. FinaN. Yes,sir.

Mr. Rocers. Thank you very much.

The CraRMAN. Mr. Devine?

Mr. DeviNe. Mr. Finan, getting back to the day of your discharge
from KYW, I believe you said that occurred at 2: 15 in the afternoon,
on December 3.

Mr. FiNaN. Yes,sir, I remember it very well.

Mr. DeviNe. And the reasons given to you by whoever that person
was were “outside promotional activities,” is that correct ? -

Mr. Finan. I have a letter of discharge. I would like to read this,
rather than saying something, which might conceivably.
Mr. DeviNe. Does it get to the point or wander all over the road ¢

Mr. Finan. Well, may I read just a portion, and you can stop me.
I think it isself-explanatory.
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Reference is made to numerous conversations you have had with representa-
tives of KYW over the past several weeks. It is concluded from these.con-
versations that there is no doubt that over the recent past while employed as a
radio personality of KYW, you have received from third party interests, sums
of money and other considerations which individually and in the aggregate
reached excessive proportion. While it is obviously suspected that these sums,
were paid in consideration of your taking action in preferential handling of
the giver’s records, labels or company, and this fact need not necessarily be
established in order for the conduct to be in violation of a relationship existing
between you and the station.

Mr. Devine. Do you know when your station people first had the
information that you were engaged in these activities?

Mr. Fixan. No, sir, I don't. The first time we had a discussion is
when they called me in on approximately November 1, and asked
me if I had been participating in outside activities. I answered in the
affirmative. And that is the first time we had a discussion specifically.

Mr. Devine. You had no discussion with your station manager in
the year or so before this letter ?

Mr. Finax. No. sir.

Mr. Drvize. Would you say that the practice in which you were
engaged as a “consultant,” is 2 common practice in the broadcasting
industry generally?

Mr. Finan. 1 am not hedging on the answer, because I honestly
don’t know. I have heard payola as a specific word that was born
in the music business very, very long ago. It was tradition and cus-
ton, there are variations on it, in my own mind.

Mr. DeviNe. Well, let’s confine it, then, rather than the general
industry—let’s confine it to the Ohio area, such as in Toledo, Akron,
Columbus, Dayton, and Cincinnati, in addition to Cleveland.

Mr. Finan. T have no idea.

Mr. Devine. You have no knowledge?

Mr. Fixax. No, sir.

Mr. DeviNe. Now, this $38,000 to $40,000 figure that you related
awhile ago, would you again identify what that relates to?

Mr. Finan. Well, that is not strictly from radio.

Mr. Devine. That is your overall income?

Mr. Fixay. That is my overall income from KYW. Tt was paid
in a lump sum.

Mr. Devine. What specifically was your salary for KYW in the
year 19587

Mr. Fivan. In 1958 approximately the same—it was avound
$37,000. and perhaps $19.000 to $20,000 of that was from radio.

Mr. Devine. You spoke of London records, and one Frank Perry
as a promotion man.

Mr. Finan. Yes, sir.

Mr. Devine. You said he was a promoter not only in the Cleveland
area, but also Akron, Columbus, and so forth.

Mr. Finan. Yes, sir, the records in Ohio are distributed from two
sources—out of Cincinnati, and out of Cleveland. Many of the pro-
motion men of these companies will call on Akron. Columbus—from
Cleveland, will call on Akron, Columbus, Youngstown, and the smaller
communities.

Mr. Devine. Could you identify those companies, please?

Mr. FinaN. Well, yes, I can identify the distributorships who touch
those areas. Cosnat, Head, Mercury, Victor—I am not sure about
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Victor. Their promotion is rather shabby. I don’t think they get
down to Columgus. Columbia, I don’t believe they go to Columbus,
either. King. All of these at one time or another, Mr. Devine, will
make a trip into Columbus to visit the stations, to drop into the retail
‘'stores, to see whether or not their merchandise is being prominently
featured.

Mr. DeviNe. These contacts are made through promotion men; is
that correct ?

Mr. Finan. Yes, they call on the stations to see if the stations are
being serviced, if they are getting their records by mail, if the jockeys
are getting theirs, and the like.

Mr. Devine. That is all, Mr. Chairman.

Mr. Rocers. Mr. Finan, what age man are you?

Mr. Finan. 32,sir.

Mr. Rocers. How long have you been in this radio-TV business ?

Mr. Finan. I have been in entertainment, radio and television for
10 years. Ihave been a disc jockey for 4.

Mr. Rogers. Did you ever have any other kind of job? Did you do
other work of any kind ?

Mr. FinaxN. For brief periods of time, I was an actor after getting
out of school.

Mr. RoGers. An actor?

Mr. FinaN. Yes.

Mr. Rogers. You mean in motion pictures ?

Mr. Finan. No, sir, the legitimate stage.

Mr. Roeers. Now, you said you got $38,000 to $40,000 a year. Novw,
was that, say, for 1958 ¢

Mr. FinaN. Yes, it was approximately that for 1958,

Mr. Rogers. In 1958. Now, did you have other income ?

Mr. Finan. In 1958%

Mr. RogErs. Yes.

Mr. Finan. No,sir—other than the income I have stated here.

Mr. Rocers. Well, now, what is that income ¢

Mr. FinaN. The $5,000 from these outside activities.

Mr. Rogers. In other words, your total income, then, was somewhere
around $43,000, for 1958?

hMr. Finan. I can’t recall the exact figure, but somewhere around
there.

Mr. Rocers. Well, now, this amount of $5,000, was that all of the
money you received from these record companies and other people on
the outside, over and above your salary ?

Mr. Finan. No, no, no. I see what you are driving at. No, I was
doing record hops, also, at the time.

Mr. Rogers. You were doing record hops?

Mr. Finan. Record hops, yes, sir.

Mr. Rocers. That is the kind where they don’t put them on the air?
’fl‘hey ?just have block parties—that sort of thing—and you get paid

orit?

Mr. FiNaN. Yes, sir, I got paid for it. Organizations would have,
such as PTA’s, school groups, school classes, would have a record hop.
I would attend, and play records for the teenagers.

Mr. Rocers. Couldn’t the teenagers play those records?
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Mr. FinaN. Well, the teenagers, thankfully, liked to see the person-
alities they listen to on radio. And our being there enhanced the fact
that the PTA or whatever group was sponsoring it would garner them-
selves a greater audience.

Mr. Rocers. And you did ad libbing during this time, did you not?
That is, discussing the records at the record hops? You would say
this is a Dececa record ¢

Mr. Finax. As a matter of fact, never, whether it was at Westing-
house, KYW-—as a matter of fact, that is policy at Westinghouse, we
never mentioned specific labels. That was absolutely stated policy.
You were not allowed to mention a specific label. You could say this
is such and such a record by so and so, but you could not mention the
label or show preferential treatment. At a record hop, I was too busy
conducting dance contests. The first hour and a-half was involved in
signing autographs, conducting dance contests, giving away records,
and the like, there was no chance——

Mr. Rocers. Who paid you for this service ¢

Mr. Finan. Well, we usually operated, not in 1958, but the last year
we operated on a 50-50 split, most likely. The PTA and myself,
after they took out the minimal expenses, they would get 50 percent
and I would get 50 percent.

Mr. Rogers. Fifty percent of what?

Mr. Finan. Of whatever came in. Sometimes I would go home
with $40, and other nights, I think, the most I went home with was
$200. These were in small towns.

Mr. Rogers. You mean people had to pay to get into the record
hops? They werenot free ?

Mr. FiNaN. No, they were not free. They were for the benefit of
the PTA and mysel{.

Mr. Rocers. Did you ever receive any money from the record com-
panies for playing certain records at these record hops?

Mr. FiNan. No. They would be interested, very interested, in
knowing what kind of reaction there was. This is one of the ways
that a diskjockey finds out what the kids, the teenagers like. You play
a record, and if they come up and ask you to repeat the record seven
or eight times, you have a pretty good indication. So they would be
interested. DBut that all contributed to the fact that when I gave them
an opinion on a record, there was subsequent backing, in my own mind,
or verification.

Mr. Rogers. That is what I am coming to. How did you know they
were interested in this—record companies? Would they come to see
you. and ask you ?

Mr. Finan. That they were interested in record hops? They were
not interested in record hops.

Mr. Rogers. No, wait a minute. You said that they were interested
in what records were played at these record hops. Now, what I want
to know is how do you know which record companies were interested ?
Did ;}}ey come to you and say, “Mr. Finan, which records did you
plav?

Mr. Finax. Mr. Rogers, during an average day, I would talk on the
phone with at least 10 to 15 different record companies. It got so
had that the station refused to allow me to take calls on the air. I
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was in constant contact. And when I was on the air, my manager was
talking to them.

Mr. Rogers. Now, was that the consultation service ?

Mr. FinaN. Yes, and that was constant. It was immediate and
constant at all times.

Mr. Rocers. And the record companies were paying you for that
consultation service?

Mr. Finan. That was my understanding of it, Mr. Rogers.

Mr. ?Roonks. Was that the $5,000 you got, over and above your
salary?

Mr}.’ FinaN. Yes. AsIindicated, with the couple of variations that
I told Mr. Lishman, and the $10,000 this past year.

Mr. Rocers. You got $10,000 in 1959, and ,000 in 19587

Mr. FInaN. Yes,sir.

Mr. Rocers. Now, how much did you get out of the record hops?

Mr. Finan. The record hops? ~ Well, due to the fact that I was
on television late at night, I could only perform on Saturdays, and I
never worked during the summer.

MI;. Rocers. I know. But how much did you get out of it for a
year?

Mr. Finan. I am trying to arrive at that, because I didn’t put that
down here.

I would say it averaged, maybe, $100 a Saturday or a weekend. I
would say maybe thirteen, fourteen hundred dollars—maybe $2,000.

Mr. Roeers. Now, did you consider any of this as gifts or earned
income? THow did you consider that?

Mr. Finan. From the record hops?

Mr. Rogers. From all of it, over and above your salary.

Mr. Finan. Everything I considered earned income.

Mr. Rocers. Everything. And you reported everything on your
income tax?

Mr. Finan. To the best of my knowledge, yes, sir.

Mr. Rocers. Well, I mean, now, you are the only one that has any
knowledge about what your income was.

Mr. FINaN. And I am not very good with figures. But I know that
as far as Internal Revenue, that we are straight as we possibly can be.
This was all considered by me earned income.

Mr. Rocers. And it was reported as such, and was not considered
gifts for any purpose ?

Mr. Fivan. No, I never listed anything as gifts.

Mr. Rocers. Did you get ang gifts of any kind from any of these
people—cars, or suits of c%othes 2

Mr. Finan. I never got cars or suits of clothes. I got shirts. And
I will admit that they were good shirts. I got a couple of cashmere
sweaters. And I got an RCA Victor television set from Mainline, very
early in my career as a diskjockey, which I didn’t solicit, it was sent.

Mr. Rocers. Those are what you call fringe benefits? = You didn’t
report those?

Mr. FinaN. You mean did I report the receipt of a color TV set?

Mr. RocErs. Yes.

Mr. FINnaN. On my income tax?

Mr. Rogers. Yes.
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Mr. Fixax. No, I didn’t. At that time, I didn’t have anybody
handling my taxes, because my income early In my career was the kind
that my wife and I could sit down and figure out. I didn’t realize
that was a reportable item.

Mr. Rogers. What was that set worth

Mr. Finan. I havenoidea. To Mainline?

Mr. Rocers. How long ago did you get it?

Mr. Finan. About 3 years ago.

Mr. Rogers. They were selling for about a thousand dollars, then,
were they not ?

Mr. Finan. It was almost a 50 percent markup.

Mr. Rogers. I don’t know about the markup. But if you had gone
in a retail establishment, and bought one, it would cost you about $900
t0$1,000%

Mr. Finan. Well, I know it is a substantial gift, but I never valued
it at how much.

Mr. Rocers. Now, did you testify that you never at any time ap-
proached anyone, any company, or any person whomsoever, and t;o{)d
them that you would {e glag to render this service for so much money ¢

Mr. Finan. Mr. Rogers, I know this is incredulous for anybody to
believe who is not in our industry, and I want to repeat it. Millions
of dollars are made in this industry every year. It has grown since
the growth of independent radio after the advent of television. These
amounts, while they may seem very substantial to the public, to many
people in this room, and to you, to the record companies, were not
insignificant—money isn’t insignificant—but it was the kind of invest-
ment that might save them thousands of dollars—has saved them
thousands of dollars. Now, having my own little record company,
and after all the sweat and toil that we put in, with recording the
material, with spending hours on the phone with artists, and people,
and promotion, I know myself, in my own little venture, how much
verification a man needs. A record manufacturer, who 1s dealing
in thousands of dollars

Mr. Rocers. That is a good speech, but what I am getting at is
this. Do you ask any of these record companies to help you out a
little bit on the side ?

Mr. Finax. Mr. Rogers, I never did. And I want to verify this
by going back to the record, and going right back to the affidavit that
I wasshown here.

Mr. Rogers. All 1 want isthe answer.

Mr. Fixan. No,Ididn't.

Mr. Rocers. Did you or didn’t you?

Mr. Fixan. 1absolutely did not.

Mr. Rocers. How long had you been doing this before you started
taking these side payments?

Mr. Finax. Approximately a year and a-half.

Mr. Rogers. Did you discuss it with your employer?

Mr. Finax. No,sir, I did not.

Mr. Rocers. Did it seem sort of unusual, or odd, or sort of immoral
to you to be doing it ?

Mr. Fivax. No, sir, it did not seem immoral, because I felt I was
rendering a service.

[P
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Mr. Rocers. But you were employed by this radio station and TV
station, were younot ?

Mr. FiNan. Yes,sir.

Mr. Rocers. And it was during the time that they were paying you,
that you were enga%ing in these consultation services for whic%x you
were also being paid?

Mr. Finan. g{y primary responsibility was working for KYW,
radio and television, which I performed to the best of my abilities.
And1 felt that in no way was there a conflict of interest,

Mr. Roeers. Well, why didn’t you discuss it with them, then?

Mr. Finan. I discussed outside promotional activities when my
contract was renewed. My first contract was for 2 years. At that time,
at the time of the renewal of the contract, I sat with Mr. Gordon Davis,
and I asked him to insert in the contract—1I told him that for personal
reasons I had to make more money, and I wanted to be involved in
outside Erom.obional activities. Mr. Davis, and the management of
KYW, had been, up until the time they fired me, I am sure, sub-
stantially assured that I would perform my duties objectively, which
I still believe I am. And he, rather than putting it 1n the contract,
we talked about a gentlemen’s agreement, which was entirely logical,
because this man was a gentleman. He said I could do, I could operate
in outside activities. \%hen I formed the record company, I was——

Mr. Rocers. Did he ever ask you to give him a percentage of the
money you were getting ?

Mr. Finan. Never.

Mr. Rogers. Turn it over to the company ¢

Mr. Finan. Never.

Mr. Rocers. Well, Mr. Finan, when you were doing this, didn’t
you—you appreciated the fact that the reason they were paying you
this amount of money, which you say doesn’t seem like much to these
record companies, but it may Ke appreciable to us—didn’t you under-
stand and appreciate the fact that they were doing this in order to
gain an unfair advantage insofar as the advertisement of their records
was concerned, or to pushing something onto the public, the public
might not want?

Mr. FinaN. What these gentlemen felt, I have no way of telling.

Mr. Rocers. I am talking about what you felt.

Mr. Finan. No, I didn’t%eel in the slightest that they were gaining
an unfair advantage, because——

Mr. Rocers. You don’t think they have been handing you $50 a
week just for fun, do you?

Mr. Finan. I had turned down—if I (fot $10,000 last year, and
$5,000 the year before, I have turned down a like sum, because
somebody asked me if I would play a specific record a specific number
of times on the air. And I have denied that request at any time it was
made. I did not feel that any company on this list was getting an
unfair advantage.

Mr. Rocers. Well, why do you think these people gave you this
money ? .

Mr. Finan. I think these people gave it to me to emotionally settle
their own stomachs, rather than having ulcers, where they could
verify in their mind, sitting in New York, that Joe Finan, and KYW,
and the people on their station, who are very important to them,

56861—60—pt. 1——11
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because we are the route by which they expose their product,; they
called us and said, “is this a good record?” We would say yes. They
would say, “is it capable of being on KYW?” We would say yes. No
mention of a specific play. Many times these people called up and
said, “what about this record?” We said, “it is a dud, forget 1t, we
can’t possibly play it.” o
. Mr. Rocers. You may have come upon an ulcer cure that will pay
you more than the payola. I never heard of a remedy like that curmg
a disease or ailment just by them paying-out money. I have hear
about a lot of them paying it out an({) not getting-cured. - :

Mr. FINaN. “’ell[: they got value received in the substantial moneys
they saved in not spending for 3,000 diskjockeys services all over the
country. . d . oc?  afla

Mr. Rocers. They were trying to take a shortcut here to get.aw
unfair advantage actually, no matter what words you put it'in, were
they not? If they had not gotten a service out of you that would
prodélce that result, they wouldn’t have paid you that money, - would
they? : % 3 et

Mr. Finan. No, sir, I think there is no doubt about it.: They
thought they were getting value received. I

Mr. Rocers. That is all, Mr. Chairman. R AR

The CraairMaN. Mr. Moss? : - Do

Mr. Moss. Mr. Finan, do you feel that they were paying you the
money to get your expert judgment as to the marketa%ility- ofi'the
recordings? . aa opa =

Mr. FinaN. Yes, sir, that is exactly how I feel. . Y 0°0:

Mr. Moss. And you had a total of 15 clients? . .

Mr. FinaN. Yes, sir. . : S

Mr. Moss. Are you still acting as a consultant to Mercury Record,
CO ? . ‘ . ;: '

Mr. Finan. No.sir. I will speak to that point. " ;

Mr. Moss. Let’s just check these. Are you acting as a consultant. to-
Cosnat Distributing Corp? : 3 oof1peg

Mr. Finax. On occasion; yes, sir. B

Mr. Moss. When was the last time? T

Mr. Fivan. Oh, approximately 2 weeks ago, when I got on the
phone and talked about : )

Mr. Moss. And did they pay you for that?

Mr. Finan. Not yet. S

Mr. Moss. Have they made an arrangement to pay you for it?.

Mr. FinaN. Yes, sir. , :

Mr. Moss. How many of these clients have you retained ¢ Sy

Mr. Finan. Have retained my services now?

Mr. Moss. Yes. o

Mr. Finan. Well, none of them, but I would like to expand om;
that point. i . :

Mr. Moss. None of them have retained your services?

Mr. Finan. No. . i

Mr. Moss. Did they stop their paymeuts, then, some time toward,
the end of 1959? -

Mr. Finan. Yes, sir, they stopped when I asked them to stopy
which was the day I was fired. . .

Voral

» et

vty o, [RLFIrN]

1

Letan
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Mr. Moss. Well, if they were buying your exgert knowledge, why
did you2 ask them to stop just because you had been taken off the
ayroll?

P ﬁffr. Finan. Because, sir, in being fired and discharged, I am now
under a cloud of suspicion, and I was hoping that I wouldn’t have to
embarrass any of them, even by discussing what I made, which might
be misunderstood, and I asked them to stop the payments, and at
the same time dissolved my board membership in DJA for the same
reason. I am still capable of being a pretty good diskjockey, but I
really don’t want to embarrassanyone.

Mr. Moss. Well, let’s go back now. You say you are 32. You
have been in radio and television for a 10-year period, approximately
4 years, thelast 4 years, as a diskjockey. :

Prior to becoming a diskjockey, what were your duties?

Mr. Finan. I spent a year working in an advertising agency. I
was in charge of time buying, media, production. It was a small
agency. I did everything in the operation. But most of my work
was done with buying time on particular stations, and understanding
which stations could deliver to our advertisers the most money for
their dollar spent.

Mr. Moss, Is that an agency councerned only with the buying of
radio and TV time, or was it a general agency dealing with other
medin as well ? , :

Mr. Fixan. It dealt with other media as well. But I specifically,
being knowledgeable in the radio-TV field, dealt only with radio
and TV. Newspapers were handled elsewhere. : ‘

Mr. Moss. Prior to the year with the advertising agency, what
did you do?

Mr. Fixan, Prior to that, I was radio staff announcer.

M. Moss. With what station ?

Mr. Fivan. I started with WTAM, which later became KYV.
Prior to that, I was at WPIC, in Shavon, Pa. And prior to that

Mr. Moss. Staft announcer?

Mr. Fixax. Staff announcer, and playing records. And prior to
that, I was working in Butler, Pa., in my hometown. That is where
Istarted in radio.

Mr. Moss. And how long were you in Butler?

Mr. Finan. InButler, I'spent a year.

Mr. Moss. When did you leave Butler, Pa. ?

Myr. Fixan. Well, T have been in radio and television 9 years. In
1951, and 1952, T went to WPIC in Sharon.

Mr. Moss. When did you go to—

Mr. Finvax. In 1953, a year later.

Mr. Moss. When did you first start as a diskjockey, or playing
records, as part of your announcing activities ?

Mr. Finan. The first time I played records was in Butler, on
WISR. It was a music and news station, which is the only kind of
station operative in a market of 28,000 to 30,000 people. At WPIC,
I did the same, plus delivering newscasts. I did everything on both
those stations. :

When I came to WTAM, it was at that time still affiliated with the
National Broadeasting Co., and I made staff announcements and sta-
tion breaks, and delivered infrequent commercials. 1 left there. I
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went into the advertising agency for a year. And then I went to
WJW, about a year and a half prior to my employment in KYW. I
was employed October 1956 at KY, so it must have been 1955—early
1955 that I was at WJW.

Mr. Moss. Is W.JW where you first became a diskjockey ?

Mr. Finan. Well, in the strict sense of the word, yes. A diskjockey
in a major market. But I was charged with that same responsibility
on my first two radio jobs. WISR and WPIC.

Mr. Moss. Well, did you have a regular program, regularly sched-
uled program of recorded music at those stations?

Mr. Finan. Yes, 1did.

Mr. Moss. But up until approximately 2 years ago you hadn’t been
retained as a consultant by anyone, on its problems of distribution
ortalent?

Mr. Finan. Distribution, in those small markets, is nonexistent—
a nonexistent business, because those records at Sharon come out of
Pittsburgh, Pa.

Mr. Moss. That is the point I wanted to get at. Were you really
of the opinion that in the course of this background which you have
just stated that you had developed expert knowledge, marketable

nowledge, of the problems of the distribution of recordings.

Mr. Finan. Yes, sir, I think I did. I put in an initiate at two
stations, where I was constantly—

Mr. Moss. How did you deal with distribution of recordings as an
emﬁloyee of a station which broadcast rather than sold music?

r. Finax. Would you rephrase that ?

Mr. Moss. How did you gain knowledge of the problems of distribu-
tion when you were employed by a station which broadecast music,
but did not sell it ?

Mr. Finan. Well, no station I have ever worked for has sold music.
A certain amount of exposure——

Mr. Moss. We have heard others who have claimed to have become
expert in problems of distribution, working in a field which has a
peculiar t)(zlpe of divorce from the problems of distribution. And I
am puzzled as to how you gained this expert knowledge in a field
which is very competitive, where there are many experts who have
gained their expert knowledge in that field, and not in a related field.

Mr. FINAN. x1)‘here are not that many experts, although it is a multi-
million dollar business. The number of people involved in the busi-
ness, proportionately to other businesses, is relatively small.

Mr. Moss. You feel, then, that you gained an expert knowledge
about distribution problems as an employee of a radio or TV station?

Mr. Finan. Yes, sir; because distribution in records differs radi-
cally from the distribution of, for example, sparkplugs.

Mr. Moss. Well, before you go any further—I had a little bit of
acquaintance with the marketing of recordings, quite a number of
years ago. And I don't think the difference is quite as marked as you
would indicate. Maybe there have been problems as a result of the
multiplying of labels in recent years, but there have been increased
opportunities for those in radio, as radio has converted from network
programing to its status now of being virtually in many areas an
electronic jukebox. These things have all act.e! to create, perhaps,
peculiar problems in gaining the advantages which a radio exposure
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can give to an otherwise unknown artist, or label. But aren’t those
primarily a new type of problem which has developed ?

Mr. Finan, Well, Mr. Moss, first you learn the records, and you
understand what makes a commercial record.

Mr. Moss. What makes a commercial record ¢

Mr. FiNan. Iamsorry I said that.

Mr. Moss. I am not.” I have it down as a question I would have
asked later.

Mr. Finan. Well——

Mr. Moss. Itsounds good to you ¢

Mr. Finan. It depends on so many things. If I were availed of an
opportunity to take 10 records and sit down, and listen to the merits
of the 10 records—a record must be commercial., By commercial, I
mean it must be in tempo with the psychological impact of the times.

Much of our music has been frenetic. Much of our society and many
of the world problems we have had, as human beings, contribute to
the frenetic music that we have had. You understand that if you are
an expert in recognizing music, hence the rise of rock and roll, which
was not synthetically induced by diskjocke: 8, as I have heard charged
in other areas, but which I think, only as a layman, is directly attribu-
table to the problems that affect us all.

In the area of a ballad, it must be commercial—the story must be
a story that is told for the broadest mass audience, Intellectual levels
are taken into consideration.

Mr. Moss. What level do you aim for?

Mr. Finan. Well,Iam not a record manufacturer, sir. I am only—

Mr. Moss. Telling people whether they should continue to market,
push it, or take it off. You have to impose the same judgment the
manufacturer would.

Mr. Fixan. I only try to interpret what I think the public wants
at the time that I am asked a specific question. I am not trying to
dictate a specific pattern a record must follow, or a story line m a
ballad. And I try to acquaint myself with as many facts as possible
to arrive at that judgment.

Mr. Moss. How do you judge the principal ingredients in a com-
mercially successful record ?

Mr. Finan. For today’s market, in the——

Mr. Moss. No, did you use audience reaction ?

Mr. FINaN. Oh, yes; there are many ways.

Mr. Moss. Well, what type of audience reaction did you use?

Mr. Finan. There is the immediate audience reaction, after a rec-
ord is played on the air. First and foremost you make a judgment,
should the record be played. After it is played on the air, if it is a
hl!:l ll'ecoi'd, there is an immediate reaction, through inquiry at the re-
tail level,

Mr. Moss. How do you coordinate that with your activity ?

Mr. Fivan. Do1?

Mr. Moss. How? How do you relate one to the other?

Mr. Finan. Geographically, in the northern Ohio area, if we are
getting requests for a record all over town, if the inquiry starts, this
1s the beginning of a spark that might inflame a hit. Then there is the
request action we get. Those inquiries through the mail, saying please

play such and such a tune for so and so. Then there is a reaction that
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a record gets in other parts of the country. Wé watch very carefully
Chicago, Detroit. :

Mr. Moss. You watch sales across the country ? :

Mr. Finan. Yes, we watch sales, as the sales are interpreted through
our trade magazines, Broadeasting, Cashbox, Variety, Billboard.

Mr. Moss. Who put together your top40? . .

Mr. Finan. The primary responsibility for putting together the
top 40 list was our record librarian. ;

Mr. Moss. Were you required to play the recordings on the top 40,
a given number of them % o . g

Mr. FnaN. Yes. It just made good sense to play the hit records,
and we certainly did. That was policy. To get as many hits on the
radio as possible. : ‘

. Mr. Moss. Did you have a secondary responsibility here, or do you
%ia,ve a cooperative responsibility with the library in formulating the

ist 4

- Mr. Fixan. We had a top 40, and an adjacent 30 at times and some-
times an adjacent 40 records, records we ‘called the up and comers.

Mr. Moss. Did you assist in putting together the list ?

Mr. Frxaw. I didn’t actually physically assist, but I conld suggest
a record, either to our record hibrarian, or if lie was not in agreement,
t]u;v})rogl-nm director was the final judge.

- Mr. Moss. But you could submit records?

Mr. FINaN. Yes.

Mr. Moss. But were you normally requested to express an opinion?

My, Frxan. Oh, yes; we worked very cooperatively at KYW, and
were constantly exchanging views about records. ' .

Mr. Moss. I asked you if, in the normal course of putting together
a list of 40 hit tunes, whether or not it was customary to have you go
over the list and express your opinion as’to the accuracy of the list—
whether it correctly reflected ? '

Mr. Fixax. Noj; it wasn’t my job to call the retail stores. - But in
most cases :

Mr. Moss. I asked you if you went over the list.

_Mr. Finax. Oh, yes; 1T went over the list, and nsnally we were all
in agreement with the list, as it was pre] rared.

Mr. Moss. You called the local retail stores to determine what the
public was requesting in record sales?

M. Frxax. This is based on the premise that if a customer spends
a dollar for a record. this is a solid vote of confidence in that record.
And if it happens throughout the city, and throughout northern Ohio,
this looks like a substantial hit.

Mr. Moss. Now, you stated that this never jeopardized—these vari-
ous consulting arrangements, never jeopardized your independent
judgment ; is that correct ?

Mr. Finax. No,sir.

Mr. Moss. Did it have a tendency to restrict the arca in which that
independent judgment was exercised ?

. Mr. Frxan. No, sir; my record lists are, I am sure, on file at KYW
for. as I said, the last vear or 2 years. I played all labels, many labels
that are not mentioned here.

Mr. Moss. That isn’t what I asked you. I asked you if it had a
tendency to restrict the area in which this independent judgment was
exercised.
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Mr. Finan. Idon’t believe so: : : :

Mr. Moss. Now, you testified that you would.go home in the evening,
and listen to 10-or 15 new recordings, that you couldn’t possibly listen
to all of them. Now, you had clients, 15 of them. And they were
paying you for a measure, at least, of attention to their labels. So you
felt honorbound to earn your fee. You listened to them sufficiently
to pass judgment. "Then didn’t you have to disregard some that you
might have listened to otherwise ? _

«Mr. Fixan. No,sir: - '

Mr. Moss. You mean you would have played all of them anyway ?
- Mr. Fixan. Most of them. Anything a € . -

Mvr. Moss. Did you play all of them always?

- Mr. FiNan. Anything that was on the air, anything that has been
on the air, under my jurisdiction, my 4 hours, I would have played
anyway., -

+* Mr. Moss. How do you know? Did you play all that you received ?
- Mr.Frvan. No,sir. A lot of records I rejected, whether they were
elient’s or anyone else’s. , :

- Mr. Moss. You rejected without even listening ?

© Mr. Finan. No, Idid listen to them. :

Mr. Moss. Did you listen to all of the records you received ?

Mr. FixaN. Yes, sir;to the best of my ability. But it was a physi-
cal impossibility te listen to 200 a week.

Mr. Moss. Did you listen to all of the records you received? You
have given a very equivocal answer. I want a direct answer. The
answer is “No,” 1sn’t it? - You stated that you did not listen to all
that you received. - :
»» Mr. FiNan: No,sir.

» +Mr. Moss. Now, you have really fouled us up. Let’s start over. .

Did you listen to all that you received ? C
- Mr.? Finan. To every record that came into the station under my
name/?

-~ Mr. Moss. To every record that was sent: to you, did you listen to it ?
Did you play'it? Not on the air, but did you play and listen to it?

Mr. FinaN. Substantially the greatest proportion of records were
either listened to by myself, the client’s records naturally, or by my
manager. ‘

Mr. Moss. Well, now, your manager couldn’t exercise your judg-
ment. -

. Mr. FinaN. After working—— :
- Mr. Moss: I am talking of the independent exercise: of your own
judgment, because you stated that your independent judgment, that
cannot be in anyway the judgment of your manager. It is your judg-
ment. Therefore, 1t would be a case of your listening to it. ~ Now, you
did not play all of the records you received, did you?

Mr. Finan. I did not physically play all the records I received, no,
sir: I did not physically play all the records I received.

Mr. Moss. And not having played them, then certain of them were
not given the benefit of your independent j udgment ?

+ Mr. Finan. Of my listening?

%\h. Moss. That is right. But your client’s recording were listened
to?

Mr. Finax. Inthe main; yes, sir.




164 RESPONSIBILITIES OF BROADCASTING LICENSEES

Mr. Moss. So you could earn your fee?

Mr. Finan. Yes,sir.

Mr. Moss. So at least to the extent that you had these 15 clients,
and listened to their records, you narrowed the opportunity for listen-
ing to someone else ?

Didn’t you?

Mr. Finan. Well, seemingly on the surface here. I can only verify
or corroborate what I am saying by a production of my record lists.

Mr. Moss. That only shows me what you played. It doesn't show
me what you didn’t listen to.

Mr. Finan. Well, that is a very difficult thing to answer, Mr. Moss,
with all due respect.

Mr. Moss. I think it is so difficult to answer, because it shows when
you devote your time to activities of your clients, that you finally
reached a point where you have to disregard others. You do ‘create
an area of preference here, and you do definitely limit the area in which
you can exercise that judgment. To that extent, you create an unfair
advantage for those who have paid you on the side for services which
may or may not have a real value, but certainly did gain them the
opportunity to have their product considered, with the possibility of
it being aired on the station where you were an employee.

That is all the questions I have, Mr. Chairman.

The Cramrman. How much family do you have, Mr. Finan?

Mr. Finan. Thave three sons.

The CratrmaN. I don’tbelieve I have any more questions.

I will say that it appears to me a rather pathetic, tragic situation,
as a fine-looking young man, a successful young man ‘in business, that
you would progress to the osition of a $40,000 salary, -and then
jeopardize your position, an(s) what you had worked for, by letting
someone, obviously trying to promote their own particular product,
bring you into little $50 and $100 incidents here and there, adding
up to a substantial sum.

To me, that reflects pretty bad light, in connection with the industry
who would try to impose themselves on you, and jeopardize what
otherwise appeared to be a very bright future in this field.

1 am sure you have thought about that a great deal since, and will
think about it some more as the days go by.

Did you have any other comments you wanted to make?! You
have been here a good long while.

Mr. Finvan. No, sir; other than the fact that I have -appreciated
the very fair treatment that I have gotten before the committee.
There are areas in broadcasting it pains me to see taking such a bad
beating. I think a clarification of our industry and the prerogative
of future legislation is in your hands. I hope that I have contributed
to that in some small way. And thank you, once again, for your
treatment.

The CuatrMan. Well, you certainly have helped to point up a sad
situation within the industry.

Sometimes, as it has been said before, and I think it is very true,
that those engaged, after being entrusted to the powerful spectrum
of the broadcasting industry, apparently forget you are to operate in
the public interest, and start operating in some other interest, more
so than in the public interest.
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It should not be an indictment against the entire broadcasting
industry as such. But it certainly reflects on the entire industry, and
it should be a warning to all concerned that there are principles and
practices that are decent and that the American people are going to
make sure they are followed.

You may be excused. Thank you very much for your appearance.

This wiﬁ conclude the hearings for today. The committee will
recess until 10 o’clock in the morning, and we will return to the caucus
room in the Old House Office Building. The first witness in the
morning, when we reconvene at 10 o’clock, will be Mr. Wesley Hopkins.

(Whereupon, at 3:45 p.m., the committse recessed, to reconvene at
10 a.m., Wednesday, February 10, 1960, in the caucus room, Old House
Office Building.)
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. House or REPRESENTATIVES,
SPECIAL SUBCOMMITTEE ON LEGISLATIVE OVERSIGHT
o¥ TIE COMMITTEE ON INTERSTATE AND FOREIGN COMMERCE,
Washington, D.C.

The special subcommittee met, pursuant to recess, at 10 a.m., in-the
Caucus Room, Old House Office Building, Hon. Oren Harris (chair-
man of the special subcommittee) presiding.

Present: Representatives Harris (pr esxdmrr), Mack, Rogers of
Texas, Moss, and Devine,

Also present: Robert W. Lishman, chief counsel; Herman C. Beas-
ley, chief clerk to the special subcommittee ; Bev erly M. Coleman, prin-
cipal attorney; Jack Marshall Stark, mmorlt,y counsel; Oliver. East-
land, chief investigator; and James P. Kelly, inv estlgqbol'

The Crratryan. The committee will come to order.

At the outset, I would like to acknowledge that Mr. Joseph Finan
has requested a furtller appearance this morning to read a statement.
Mr. Finan was given the opportunity at the close of his prepared tes-
timony yesterday to make any further statements that he desired,

Since I have not had an opportunity to go over this four-page
statement and in view of the time that has elapsed we w111 hold this
in abeyance. :

The first witness this morning will be Mr. Wesley ]Iopkms

Will you be sworn, Mr. Ilopkins? Raise your right hand.

Do you solemnly swear that the testimony you will give to the sub-
committee will be the truth, the whole truth, and nothmg but the
truth, so help you God ?

Mr, Hopxixs. I do:

TESTIMONY OF WESLEY HOPKINS

The CrairmMan. State your name for the record.
~ Mr, Hoprins. My name is Wesley Hopkins.

The CrairMaN. What is your residence ?

Mr. Horkins. 30400 Wolf Road in Bay Village, Ohio.

The Cramdan. What is your profession, Mr. ITopkins?

Mr. Hoprins. At the present time I am unemployed.
. The CHATRMAN. Mr. Lishman, you may proceed.

Mr. Lisuman. Mr. Hopkins, have you been employed in the 1mst by
station K'YW in Cleveland ?

Mr. Hoprins. Yes, sir.
167
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; %IVI QLISH)IAN'. On what date did you enter employment with
KY'W?

Mr. Horekixns. I started with KYW in the year 1956—February of
1956.

Mr. Lisuman. In what capacity?

Mr. Horxins. I was hired as a radio personality, diskjockey on
that station.

Mr. LisumaN. And prior to going to KYW in 1956, what occu-
pation did you have?

Mr. Horkins. Well, as a matter of fact—I am at the present time
33 years of age—and 1 have been in radio broadcasting and TV work
all my life, T'started when I was 17 in it.

Mr. Lisuman. Were you with a radio station prior to 19567

Mr, Horkins. Yes, sir.

Mr. Lisuman. What station ?

Mr. Hopkins. That particular station was in my home town which
isin Trenton,N.J. We callit WTTM.

Mr. Lisuman. And for how long a period were you at WI'TM ?

Mr. Horkixs. I worked there fgrom 1953 until I joined KYW in
1956.

Mr. Lisaman. What was the nature of your occupation at WI'TM ¢

Mr. Hopkins. I was hired as a program manager, the program
director and, also, I did the early morning record show there.

Mr. Lisusxan. Prior to your employment by WTTM in 1953, had
any other radio station emp%oyed you?

Mr. Hopxins. Yes, sir; I worked in New York City for radio sta-
tion WNEW.

Mr. Lisuman. During what period did you work for WNEW ¢

Mr. Hopkins. It was for a period of 2 years, from 1951 until 1953.

Mr. Lisaman. What was the nature of your duties at WNEW ¢

Mr. Hopkins. Basically, staff announcer there.

Mr. LisumaN. And prior to being at state WNEW, had you been
with any other radio station?

Mr. Hopkins. Previous to that, I was employed in my home town
with radio station WTTM. I started there in 1944. 1 worked there
until I joined the New York station.

Mr. Lisuman. How did you start in 1944 ¢

Mr. Hopkins. What I actually did ¢

Mr. LisuaaN. What was the nature of your first job in the radio
station ¢

Mr. Hoprins. 1 was staff announcer, sir.

Mr. Lisuaan. At station KYW, you were a staff announcer and a
diskjockey, or were you more than that?

Mr. Hopgins. Well, it is true, I was on the staff, but I think that
I was hired primarily to work on the air as a diskjockey.

Mr. Lisuman. Did you have a show except Sunday, every day?

Mkr. Hopxins. Actually, for quite a long time I worked 7 days a
week.

Mr, TisumaN. When was your employment at KYW terminated ?

Mr. Hoprixs. The exact date, I believe, was December 3, 1959.

Mr. Lisaman. And did you resign voluntarily, or were you
discharged?
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Mr. Horpkins. I was discharged. L

Mr. Listtman. What person{g what official of KYW, did the actual
discharging? .

Mr. ﬁoxgxms. The gentleman’s name was Mr. F. A. Tooke. He is
the vice president for V estinghouse Broadcasting, Inc. )

Mr. Lasuman. Was anyone else present when Mr. Tooke discharged

ou?
7 Mr. Hopkins. When I was actually fired ?

Mr. LisuMaN. Yes. .

Mr. Hopkins. Yes, sir. The general manager; his name was Carl
YVandergrift.

Mr. EISHMAN. Any other person present{

Mr. Horkins, Atthat time; no, sir.

Mr. Lisuman. Did you receive your discharge orally or in writing ¢

Mr. Horrins. I was fired by a two-page letter.

Mr. Lisuman. Do you have that letter with you?

Mr. Hopxins. Yes, sir.

Mr. Lisuman. May I see the letter, please ?

Mr. Hopkins. Yes.

Mr. Lisuman. Would You mind reading this letter into the record,
as being the one that was actually received by you from Mr. Tooke o
December 3, 19591

Mr. Hopkins. Yes, sir; I will be glad to. It is dated December 3,
1959, and addressed to Wesley Ifopkins, 30400 Wolf Road, Bay
Village, Ohio:

DEAR MR. HOPKINS : Reference is made to the numerous conversations you have
had with representatives of KYW over the past several weeks, It is concluded

labels, and companies, this fact need not necessarily be established in order for
the conduct to be in violation of the relationship existing between you and the
station. This is based upon the fact that the receipt of such sums of money would
serionsly impinge upon your effectiveness and the impartial selection that is ex-
pected of a diskjockey and the reliance of the public upon the integrity of the
ultimate program.

In view of these facts, under the contract with you dated February 13, 1958,
there is no other course for the station to pursue but to terminate your services
effective immediately and to declare such contract at an end.

Your fullest assistance to this committee is strongly urged: so much so that,
on vour request, KYW will suspend the finality of the ahove termination by
offering to review your entire case at the conclusion of the committee’s procee-l-
ings and findings and in the light of your cooperation and the facts as they will
then exist. This offer should not be interpreted as any assurance in advance of
your being reinstated. This cannot be done.

Obviously, this is no obligation now on your part in this matter. The offer
will be a continuing one and is made without prejudice. If you become associated
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with another broadcasting station or enter other activities that would represent
a conflict of interest, then no purpose would be served by leaving this offer

outstanding.
It is hoped, in any case, that you will give this your serious consideration.

Very truly yours,
F. A. TookE, Vice President.

Mr. Lisiiman. Subsequent to the receipt of this letter, did you have
any conversations with Westinghouse officials concerning your firing?

Klr. Horkins. Yes,sir.

Mr. Lissiyan. With whom did you have conversations?

Mr. Hopkins. Mr. Carl Vandergrift, the general manager of the
station.

Mr. Lasunan. And with any other persons?

Mr. Horkins. I think Bud Wendel, the program director, was there
at the time. '

Mr. Lisiman. About when did you have these conversations?

Mr. Hopkins. It wasapproximately November 1, 1959.
| MLQ Lisunan. That was prior to your receipt of this discharge
etter¢

Mr. Horkins. Oh, considerably.

Mr. LisuMaN. Subsequent to your receipt of that letter, did you
have any discussions with Westinghouse officials?

Mr. Horkins. I be% your pardon—no,sir. .

Mr. LisuMaN. Well now, prior to receiving the December 3, 1959,
letter, did you have discussions with any Westinghouse officials?

Mr. Horkins. Yes. On that particular date they called me in.

Mr. LisumAN. And what was the substance of that discussion that
you had on November1?

Mr. Hoprins. Mr. Vandergrift, the general manager of the sta-
tion, informed me that he had reasonable proof that I had been
accepting money from outside interests, outside recording interests,
and he advised me to stop it immediately, which I did.

Mr. Listaan. Did he tell you from whom he had received this
information ¢

Mr. Hopgins. No,sir; he did not.

Mr. Lisiaan. You know of Mainline of Cleveland, doyounot?

Mr. Hopkins. Yes,sir.

Mr. Lasmaan. What is the business of Mainline Cleveland?

Mr. Horkins. They are in the record and music business. They
have many of the RCA-Victor products. I believe they are the dis-
tributors there for RCA-Victor in the northern Ohio area.

Mr. Lisuman. That includes records?

Mr. Hopkins. Yes, sir.

Mr. Lisuman. I would like to show you a photostatic copy of 12
canceled checks of Mainline Cleveland, Inc., made pa able to your
order, and I will read the check numbers, the dates, and the amounts,
and ask you if they are correct, and ask you, if in fact, you received
each of the amounts mentioned from Mainline Cleveland, Inc.

The first of the checks is numbered 29778, and it 1s dated August 4,
1958, in the amount of $50; is that correct ?

Mr. Hopkins. Yes, sir.

Mr. ListaN. The next check is numbered 29909, dated August 12,
1958, in the amount of $50; is that correct ?

Mr. Hopkins. Yes,sir.
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+ Mr. Listiman. The next is numbered 30162, and it is dated Sep-
tember 8, 1958, in the amount of $150; is that correct ?

Mr. Hopkins. That is correct. : '

. Mr. LisunmaN. And the next is numbered 3027 8, and is dated Sep-
tember 14, 1958, in the amount of $50. '

‘Mr. Hopkins. September 15,

Mr. LisiiMAN. TEis list has September 14. Correct me if this list
isincorrect. September 15 ? .

Mr. Hopxins. This says the 15th yes, sir.

. Mr. LisimaN. The next check is numbered 30617 and it is dated
October 15, 1958, in the amount of $150; is that correct ?

Mr. Hopkins. Yes,sir.

' Mr. Lisuaran. The next one is numbered 30915 and is dated Novem-
ber 7, 1958, in the amount of $150; is that correct ?
' Mr. Hopkins. That is correct.

Mr. Lisiaran. The next one is numbered 31364, dated December 2,
1958, in the amount of $100, is that correct ?

Mr. Hopkins. Yes,sir.

- Mr. Lisiaan. The next one is numbered 31365, and is dated Decem-
ber 2, 1958, in the amount of $100; is that correct ?
“ Mr. Hoprins. Yes,sir.

Mr. Lisuman. The next one is numbered 31909, and is dated Jan-
uary 14, 1959, in the amount of $100; is that correct ?

Mr. Hopkins. That is correct.

Mr. LisuyaN. The next one is numbered 34264, and it is dated June
26,1959, in the amount of $50; is that correct ?

Mr. Hopkins. Itis dated 9-24-59 here.

Mr. Lisuman. I will accept that.

Mr. Hopkins. Itis 6-24-59 here.

Mr. Lisuaman. I will take the date on the check.

The next one is numbered 34349. It is dated J uly 1, in the amount
of $150; is that correct ?

Mr. Hopkins. Thatisright.

Mr. Lisasran. The next one is numbered 35108 and it is dated Au-
gust 13,1959, in the amount of $50; is that correct ?

Mr. Hopkins. Yes,sir.

Mr. Lisuman. The total of these checks received by you from Main-
line Cleveland, Inc., was $1,100, is that correct ?

Mr. Iopkins. The figure I have here is a thousand.

Mr. LisiimaN. You admitted the individual items.

: Mr. HopgIns. Yes,sir.

Mr. Lisunan. That they are correct ?

Mr. Hoprins. Yes.

Mr. Lisauman. Whatever that adds up to, that is the amount, and it
appears that it is $1,100.

Mr. Hopkins. Very good.

Mr. Lisaaran. Is$1,100 correct?

Mr. Hopxins. Yes, sir.

Mr. Lisiman. In addition to receiving these checks from Mainline
(Cleveland, Inc., did you, through Mr. Myron Berneson of Mainline
Cleveland receive certain amounts in cash ?

‘Mr. Hopkins. I never recalled any cash ; no, sir.
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Mr. Lisuan. Mr. Hopkins, we have here the affidavit of Mr. Myron
O. Berneson, who is employed by Mainline Cleveland, Inc., and in his
affidavit he states, and I quote:

The first payment of money to Joe Finan and Wes Hopkins were in the amount
of $50 cash to each individual as evidenced by a copy of Mainline Cleveland,

Inec.'s, canceled check No. 27832, dated 2-17-58, payable to the order of Myron O.
Berneson, attached hereto and made a part of this affidavit.

And again in this affidavit he states:

Mainline Cleveland, Inc., second payment of moneys to Joe Finan, Wes Hop-
kins, and Charles Young were to the best of the affiant’s recollection in the
amount of $150 cash to each of the three individuals just named, as evidenced
by a copy of Mainline Cleveland, Inc.'s, canceled check No. 29944, dated 5-13-58,
payable to the order of Myron O. Berneson, attached hereto and made a part
of this affidavit.

Does that refresh your recollection that you did receive a $50 cash
payment and $150 cash payment from Mr. Berneson ¢

Mr. Hopkins. Sir, 1 would not dispute those figures. In my own
records here I have in the year 1958 I received from RCA a thousand
dollars, and in the following year, 1959, $300. So that is $1,300.
This is what I have in my records. I do not dispute that.

Mr. Lisiaran. What arrangements did you have with Mainline
Cleveland, Inc., for making these payments?

M. Hopkixs. Well, actually, the arrangement with Mainline per-se
actually began with RCA-Victor records, and the local field dis-
tributor that RCA-Victor had.

Mr. Lisuman. Isthat Mr. Clark?

Mr. Hopkins. Mr. Clark, yes.

Mr. Lisuman. Did he contact you?

Mr. Hopgins. Yes,sir.

Mr. LisasraN, What did Mr. Clark say to you ?

Myr. Hopxins. He asked me if I could help him. It seems at that
particular time, as I recall, this was in the early part of 1958, he
said that RCA-Victor was in a great deal of difficulty in putting
records on the market and getting people behind them and promoting
the records at that time. Ile asked me if I would help him and
assist him and give him my opinions on their record releases that
were coming out.

Mr. Lisuman. Did he indicate to you that he felt that RCA records
were not being aired sufficiently on KY'W?

Mr. Horkins. Yes, sir: I believe he did say that.

Mr. Lisuaman. And what did Mr. Clark propose to do, so far as
you were concerned

Mr. Horkins. So far as I was concerned—I am sorry.

Mr. LisuMaN. Yes.

Mr. Horxins. So far as I was concerned. I think all he expected
from me was my opinion on the releases that came out from time
to time, what I thought about the records, if I thought they had any
commercial potentiality.

Mr. Lisuman. Well, in your capacity as a diskjockey for KYW
did you, in fact, air RCA-Victor records?

Mr. Horkins. Oh, indeed.

Mr. Lisiiaan. During the time that you were receiving these pay-
ments for Mainline Cleveland, Inc.?
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Mr. Horrins. Yes, sir.

Mr. Lisaman. Did Mr. Clark in his conversations with you indicate
how these payments would be made ?

Mr. Hopgins. Well, I believe, as I recall, he said the payments
would be made through Mainline, Inc., the local RCA-Victor dis-
tributor—they were to be made by check, and that half of the money,
as I understood, would come from RCA and half from Mainline, Inc.

Mr. LisumaN. And did you actually perform the services that were
contemplated in your arrangement withgir. Clark?

Mr. Hopkins. 1 tried to, sir.

Mr. Lisuman. Well, would you describe what services you did
perform?

Mr. Horkins, Surely.

Mr. Lisuman. And did you, among other things make any written
recommendations either to Mr. Clark or Mainline Cleveland con-
cerning records?

Mr. Hopkins. Never any written recommendations that I can re-
call, sir. The setup, to the best of my recollection, was as follows:
RCA on the average would come out with about, oh, perhaps in the
neighborhood of 20 to 25 per month releases, perhaps more. Mr.
Clark would see to it that I got the records, sometimes way in advance
of the national release date.

He inquired what I thought—what I thought about the records,
if they had any appeal, in my opinion, and I in turn would speak
with him,

Mr. LisimaN. You would speak with Mr. Clark?

Mr. Hopgins. Yes, sir.

Mr. Lisuman. About how often during this time did you speak
with Mr. Clark about these records?

Mr. Hopkins. I saw a great deal of Mr. Clark—on the average I
would say twice a week.

Mr. Lisuyan. Would he, personally, have the records delivered
to your home?

Mr. Hopkins. Yes, most. of the time. Sometimes when he thought
he had a particular exciting release he would rush it down to the
radio station.

Mr. Lisiyan. And on occasion you played these records over the
aiv in your capacity as a diskjockey ?

Mr. Hopkins. Oh, yes, sir.

Mr. Lisnmax. Did you have an arrangement with Mercury Record
Co. of Chicago whereby they would make certain payments to you?

Mr. Hopxins. Yes, sir.

Mr. Lisaman. About when did you make this arrangement ?

Mr. Hopkins. I believe my association with Mercury started in the
springtime of 1958—1 believe the month was May.

Mr. Lisumax. With whom did you meet on behalf of Mercury ¢

Mr. Hoprins. I met with the local representative of Mercury %ec-
ords. The chap’s name is Mr. Wade Whitman.

Mr. Lisaman. Did you ever meet President Talmans of Mercury
Records?

Mr. Hopkins. I think I met him once.

Mr. Lisuman., What was the proposition that Mr. Whitman made
to you?

56561—60—pt. 1——12
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Mr. Hopkins. Practically the same as RCA-Victor. At this par-
ticular time the major labels—the major recording companies—were
in a great deal of turmoil. The smaller labels, the smaller companies
were cracking through with a lot of great hits, a lot of the national
hits. And they were frankly concemeg.

Mercury, at that time, as I recall, did not have—at this particular
time in May, might have had one national hit.

Mr. Lisiiaan. Did they complain to you that their labels were not
receiving sufficient airing on KYW?

Mr. Hopkins. No, I do not think they did.

Mr. Lisuman. Did they complain that their labels were not receiv-
ing what they believed adequate airing on other stations?

Mr. Hopkins. No, sir; that statement was not made to me, if I

recall.

Mr. Lisiaan. As I understood, they came to you to find out what
means they could pursue which would insure that their records would
receive wider distribution ; is that correct ? -

Mr. Horkins. Not necessarily distribution, as I look at it.

Mr. Lisuman. Wider sales?

Mr. Horkins. Wider sales.

Mr. LisuMmaN. Is not one of the most important elements in the sale
of records, the airing of the record over a radio or a TV station?

Mr. Hopkins. Definitely. ’

Mr. Listiman. And yet you were not told that they felt slighted in
not having their records aired either over KYW or any other station?

Mr. Horkins. No, I think at this time, I think they were in their
own minds convinced something was wrong in their own organization.
They felt that they were not putting out commercial records.

M}x,'. LisiimaN. Did they invite you to come into their own organiza-
tion and study their personnel setup ?

Mr. Horkins. No, sir.

“Mr. Lisuman. Did you?

Mr. Hopkins. No,sir.

Mr. Lisasan. Is it a fact that what you did, chiefly, was to listen
to the records that they sent you, either in whole or in part, and then
give your judgment as to whether they were what would be known as
a commercial record ¢

Mr. Hopkins. That is true, sir. They wanted for sure for me to
listen to the records.

Mr. Listiatan. And this was the only arrangement that you had with
Mercury Records?

Mr. Horkins, Yes.

Mr. LisimaN. And under the terms of that arrangement, did you
receive weekly payments?

Mr. Hopkins. Yes,sir.

Mr. Lisuman. How much did you receive weekly from Mercury
Records for this service? ’

Mr. ITopkins. I believe it was $50 a week.

Mr. Lisiiman. For how long a period did that continue? -

Mr. Horkins. As I say, I believe it started in May of 1958 and it
ended when Mr. Vandagrift called me into the office, the station man-
ager, and: told me to stop all outside activity, which was approxi-

mately December 1, 1959.
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Mr. Lisnaran. Mr. Hopkins, did you enter into an oral arrangement
with Cosnat Distributing Corp. of New York, whereby you would
receive certain sums of money from that company?

Mr. Hopkins. That I did, sir.

Mr. LisumaN. What business did Cosnat Distributing Co. have.

Mr. Horkins. This is strictly a firm that distributes and sells many
record labels. They may have as many as 30 or 35. They distribute
them pretty much on a national basis.

I think they have five or six offices around the country.

Mr. Lismman. What official or employee of Cosnat contacted you in
regard to this arrangement ?

Mr. Hopkins. Mr. Jerry Blaine, the president of the firm.

Mr. Lisiiman., Did Mr. Blaine tell you that he did not feel that
Cosnat labels were receiving the airing on the stations that they
deserved ?

Mr. Horkins. No, he did not make that particular complaint.

Mr, Lisman. What complaint did Mr. Blaine have?

Mr. Horkins. He actually did not have any complaint.

Mr. LisumaN. What reason did he give for desiring your services?

Mr. Hoprins. He wanted to make sure that I would not miss
listening to his records.

Mr. Lisuman. Did you furnish him with advice concerning the
quality of his records?

Mr. Hoprins. Not so much Mr. Jerry Blaine himself, but I did talk
almost daily with his local Cosnat representative.

Mr. LisiimaN. Who was the local representative?

Mr. Hopkins. His name is Mr. Michael Lipton.

.Mr. LisumaN. And is it a fact that Cosnat records would be given
to you, to which you would listen, and then give the benefit of your
reaction to Mr. Lipton?

Mr. Horxins. Thisis indeed true, sir.

Mr. Lisuman. And did you receive weekly payment for this
service?

Mr. Horkins. Yes, sir.

Mr. LisiyaN. And how much each week did you receive?

Mr. Hopkins. I believe the sum was $25 a week.

Mr. Lisiyan. And for how long a period did you get this payment
of $25 a week ?

Mr. Horkins. To the best of my recollection, it started in June
of 1958, and this also ended about the same time as my association
with Mercury Records, and the date there would be about December 1,
1959.

Mr. Lisnaman. Do you have anything showing the amount that
vou received in total?

Mr. Horkixs. Yes,sir.

Mr. LisinzaN, From Mercury Records Co. ?

Mr. Horkixs. From Mercury ?

Mr. Lisiiaran. Yes.

Mr. Iorxixs. To the best of my ability, sir, I believe in 1958 I
received $1,450, and in 1959, 1 received $1,950. o

Mr. Lisiyan. Now, with Coosnat, do you have any figures showing
the approximate total that you received from that company?

Mr. ITorkixns. Yes, I have,sir.
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Mr. Listiaan. Would you please state what they are?

Mr. Hoprkins. The figure for 1958 was $675, and in 1959, $1,000.

Mr. Lisuman. Mr. Hopkins, did you also have an arrangement
with Big Top Record Co. of New York City, whereby that company
would pay you certain sums of money ?

Mr. Hoprins. Yes,sir, I did.

Mr. Lisiaran. You understand that Big Top is owned and con-
trolled by Iliil & Range Publishing Co., a music publishing firm in
New York?

Mr. Horkixs. Yes.

Mr. Lisiiman. Who, on behalf of Big Top, contacted youn to work
out this arrangement ?

Mr. Horkixs. I believe the chap’s name was Bienstock—I do not
know how to spell it,

Mr. Lisiiyax. And was Mr. Bienstock the Big Top manager in the
Cleveland area?

Mr. TIorxins. No, I believe he was their national manager out of
New York.

Mr. Lisumax. Did this company have what you would call regular
record releases?

Mr. ITorkins. No. They were a smaller company.

Mr. Lisiimax. What reasons did Mr. Bienstock give to you for
securing your services ¢

Mr. Hoprxixs. Again, I think the basic reason was that he was con-
cerned that this was a small company. And, certainly, a highly com-
petitive field, and he was concerned and, perhaps, rightly so, that his
records would be lost in the shuffle, and I think he wanted some sort
of guarantee that I would take the time and the effort to listen to
his records in their entirety.

Mr. Lisaman. This arrangement was made and consummated at a
time when you were a diskjoc'fxey for KYW, isthat correct ¢

Mr. Horkins. That is right.

Mr. LisumaNn. And did you ever make any written report to Big
Top Records concerning your work for them ¢

Mr. Horkins. Not that I recall.

Mr. Lisuman. For how long a period did this arrangement with
Big Top continue?

Mr. Horkins. This was a sporadic kind of arrangement. I had no
association with them whatsoever the year 1958. As I said, they did
not have too many releases.

Mr. Lisaman. About how much in total did you receive from Big
Top Record Co.?

Mr. Horkins. I can tell you exactly,sir. It is $300 for the year 1959.

Mr. LisumMaN. And nonein 1958¢

Mr. Hopkins. No, sir.

Mr. Lisaman. Did you have any arrangement with United Artists
Record Co. in New York City ?

Mr. Hopkins. No.

Mr. Lisuman. Or with the Shad Record Co. in New York?

Mr. Horkins. Yes.

Mr. Lisaman. With whom did you make your arrangements—was
this arrangement for the payment of money to you made by the Shad
Record Co. ?
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Mr. Hopkins. Yes, sir.

Mr. Lisuman. With whom did you make that arrangement ?

Mr. Hopkins. Mr. Robert Shad. I believe he is the president of
the firm.

Mr. Lisuman. About when did you make that arrangement ?

Mr. Hoprins. This, also, is placed in the year 1959. I believe it
‘was sometime in the spring.

Mr. Lisaman. This was an oral arrangement ?

Mr. Hopkins. Yes, sir.

Mr. LisumaN. And what were the terms of this oral arrangement ?

Mr. Hopxins. He was to pay me $75 a month.

Mr. Lisaman. For what purpose?

Mr. Hopkins. This, again, was a very small company and in a tre-
mendous recording field—he wanted my assurance and my word that
I'would take the effort and the time to listen to his records.

Mr. Lisaman. Is it a fact that during the time that you were a
disl:ljocke?y at KYW you played some of the Shad Record Co. re-
cordings?

Mr., ﬁopxms. Yes, sir.

Mr. Lisaman. And the same is true with regard to the Big Top
Record Co. recordings ?

Mr. Horkins. That is true,

Mr. Lisuman. Can you state the approximate total of the amount
You received from the Shad Record Co.?

Mr. Hoprins. For the year 1959 I believe the figure was $575.

Mr. Lisuman. And you received nothing other than that?

Mr. Hoprins. No, sir. That is to the best of my recollection.

Mr. Lisuman. Now, Mr. Hopkins, did you have an arrangement
with Hugo & Luigi Productions ?

Mr. Hopkins. No, I did not.

Mr. Lisaman. Did you ever have any arrangement with Hugo &
Luigi as individuals when they were A. & R. men for RCA-Victor?

I\E. Horxkins. No, sir.

Mr. Lisuman. Did you have an oral arrangement with the Decca
Co. of New York City ¢

Mr. Hopkins. No, sir.

Mr. Lisuman. Were you not contacted in the summer of 1959 by
Bill Glazeman of Decca Record Co. ?

Mr. Hopkins. No, sir.

Mr. Lisuman. Do you know Bob Gerhard ?

Mr. Hopkins, Yes.

Mr. Lisuman. Did he speak to you on behalf of Decca Records?

Mr. Hopkins. Practically all of the time.

Mr. Lisimvawn. Did you enter into any arrangements with him
whereby you received sums of money for the playing of certain of the
Decca records?

Mr. Hoprins. For the playing of certain Decca, records?

Mr. Lisuman. Well, let us say, first of all, for any purpose.

Mr. Hopgins. This was extremely minute, as I recall, sir.

Mr. LisaumaN. Would the amount be, or would it amount to, about
two or three cash payments of $75 each from Mr. Gerhard ?

Mr. Hoexixs. That could be correct, sir.
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Mr. Lisitmax. What was the purpose—and who is Mr. Gerhard?
Mr. Horxixs. Mr. Gerhard at that time, I believe, was the pro-
motional director for Decca, Coral, and Brunswick Records for -the
Cleveland area. :

Mr. Lisisan. And for what purpose were these two or three
cash payments of $75 made to you by Mr. Gerhard?

Mr. Hopxins. These were, as I recall it, individual cases, with new
records. They were not even released on the national market, and he
was concerned with whether or not they had a chance of taking off or
of reaching some sort of popularity in the Nation. And since Cleve-
land was a basic, what they call a breakout market for a record, why
he wanted by opinion on the releases.

Mr. Lisiyan. Did you have an arrangement with Cameo Record
Co. of Philadelphia wf,lereby you received payments of certain swmns
from that company % ‘

Mr. Hopkins. Just one time, sir. C

Mr. Lisayan. Who was the person who contacted you on behalf of
Cameo—was it Mr. Bernard Lowe? '

Mr. Horxins. No, sir; it was not. I believe he is-the president of
the company. I believe the local promotion man did. ‘

Mr. Lisuyan. And for what purpose did he contact you ¢

Mr. Mopgins. They thought—I think the particular record that
they had in mind was by a new artist—I think it was Bobby Riddell.
This, as I recall, was his first record—his first release. And they
wanted my opinion whether or not I thought the record had a chance
to make it. :

Mr. Lisuman. And did you receive certain cash payments from
Cameo Records for this service ? :

Mr. Hopxins. I canonly recall one, sir. at 0

Mr. LisumaN. How much was that? : :

Mr. Hopkins, I believe it was $75. o S

Mr. Lisuaan. Did you have any arrangements with Carlton’'Ree-
ords, New York City*? :

Mr. Hopkins. Yes,sir. . % .

Mr. Lisaman. That arrangement involved the payment to you of
certain weekly payments ? : :

Mr. HopPEINS. Yes, Sir. T

Mr. Lisaman. Who in behalf of Carlton contacted you to make this
arrangement ? :

Mr. Horrins. Mr. Joseph Carlton, the president-of the company.

Mr. Lisunan. When did he first meet with you, approximately?

Mr. Hoprins. This, I believe, was in June of 1958. to

Mr. Lisuaan. And what did Mr. Carlton say to you at that time ¢

Mr. Hopkins. At that particular time Carlton Records was a fairly
new comFany. They more or less were just beginning to get their
feet on the ground, as it were. And I think he felt that he needed
some assistance in picking the correct record for national reléase.

Mr. Lisuman. And what amount of compensation was your fee for
these services? '

Mr. Horkins. It was $25 a week, sir.

Mr. Lisuman. For how long a period ¢ :

Mr. Hopxins. That started in June of 1958, and this ended the early
part of 1959, I think, perhaps in the month of March.
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Mr. LisumaN. Mr. Hopkins, about how much in total did you get
from Carlton Records? .

Mr. Hopkins. For the year 1958, I am sure the amount .was $650.
And for 1959, $300. S .

Mr. Lisuman. Now, with respect to the companies. from whom you
received payments, do you have before you the. approximate total
received {zy you from all of these companies, including Mainline
Cleveland ? )

Mr. Hopkins. Approximate total; yes, sir. For the year 1958 I
believe it will come to approximately $5,000. And for the year 1959,
approximately $7,000. . .

Mr. Lisuman. And during this time, what was your salary at
KYW?¢ :

Mr. Hoprixns. I got a raise in 1959.. Let’s see. In 1958, I. think
the average, sir, it was about $400 a week, both years. .

Mr. Lisuman. $400 a week. . . ) .

Now, in addition to the companies already testified to, from whom
you received the payments, are there.any other companies in the rec-
ord business from whom you received payments, either by check or

‘by cash? . . :
yMr. Hoprins. Yes,sir. C .

Mr. Lisaman. Would you name the first of these companies, please ?

Mr. Hopkins. Yes,sir; Jubilee Records. . .

Mr. Lisaman. Where 1s Jubilee Records located ?

Mr. Hoprins. In New York City, I believe is the home office. - .

Mr. LisumaN. Yes. : . . :

Mr. Hopkins. They are actually a subsiduary—I am not sure that
is the correct term here—they are tied in with the Cosnat Distributing.
I received from Jubilee, for the year 1958, $675. . :

MQr. Lisuman. And for what purpose was that payment made to
you? : - o 4

Mr. Horrins. The arrangement here was not so much—they didn’t
particularly want my opinion so much on the: records, as they were
concerned that I might miss them in the shuffle. On the average, we
received at the radio station about 200 records a week, which is prac-
tically—well, it is almost an impossible thing to listen to all of these
records. I think they wanted some sort of a guarantee that I would
‘take the time to hear them. : T :

Mr. Lisuman. And then would you report back orally to their
regresentative, as to the commercial quality of the records you listened
to? P

Mr. Hopkins. Yes,sir; I would. g

Mr. LisumaN. And what other record company did you have a
similar arrangement ?

Mr. Hopkins. Well— : : :

Mr. Lisuman. Did you receive anything in- 1959 from Jubilee
Records?

Mr. Hoprins. Yes,sir. -

Mr. LisumaN. How much did you receive in 1959 ¢ '

Mr. Horxins. To the best of my knowledge, the figure here is $225.

Mr. Lisaman. You received a total of approximately $875 from
Jubilee ?

Mr. Hopkins. Yes,sir.
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Mr. Lisuman. With what other companies did you have an ar-

rangement for the payment of compensation to you?
r. Hopkins. Coed Records, sir.

Mr. Lisaman. And who contacted you on behalf of Coed Records?

Mr. Hoprins. Mr. Marvin Cane. { am not sure of his title.

Mr. Lisaman. And what did Mr. Cane wish you todo?

Mr. Hopkins. This was an extremely smal¥ company at the time.
They only put out one or two releases, perhaps, every 2 or 3 months.
Even though they were a small company—because of the fact that
they were a small company, they were concerned about the outlay that
they had to make to produce a recording of a commercial nature. They
wanted some sort of a guarantee that I would listen to their records,
and tell them what I felt about them.

Mr. Lisaman. And how much money did you receive from Coed,
for these services?

. Mr. Hopkins. I have here a figure of $275, sir, and I think that
is—

Mr. Lisuman. Thatis for both.years?

Mr. Hoprins. Yes,sir.

Mr. Lisuman. Now, did you have an arrangement with any other
companies, in addition to Coed ¢

Mr. Hopkins. From the End Recording Co.

Mr. LisiimaN. What arrangement did you have with the End Re-
cording Co.?

Mr. Hoprins. This particular sum that I received was for listening
to one record that the Er)m.d. I can’t recall what it was, sir.

Mr. L1sumaN. Andhow much were you paid for that ?

Mr. Hopkins. $200.

Mr. Lisuman. Do you. remember whether you aired that record
over KYW?

Mr. Hopkins. I don’t recall the name of the record. As I recall, I
wasn’t too impressed with it.

Mr. LisaMaN. You don’t remember, though, whether it went out
over the air?

Mr. Hopkins. As I recall, T wan’t so impressed with their release,
and I don’t think I did play it. '

Mr. Lisaman. Who.contacted you.on behalf of End Records?

Mr. Hopkins. The local distributor, the local promotion man for
End Records. His-name escapes me at this time, sir.

Mr. Lisuman. Now, with what other companies. did you have an
arrangement.

Mr. Hoprins. That is basically it, sir.

Mr. LisumMaN. What is the approximate total of the amount that
you received from these additional companies? I make it out to be
$1,275, or thereabouts. Is that correct?

Mr. Hopkins. I will accept that, sir. I haven’t had it broken down
that way.

Mr. Lisaman. About $1,400?

Mr. Horkins. I will accept that,sir.. I haven't broken it down that
way.

Mr. Lisuman. Now, did you ever receive any gifts from a company
in the record business?

Mr. Hopkixs. Any major gifts, sir?
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Mr. Lisuman. Any gifts.

Mr. Hopkixns. Yes, sir.

Mr. Lisuman. From what companies did you receive these gifts?

Mr. Hopkins. Practically all of them. But this was at
Christmastime.

Mr. LisumMan. Were any of these gifts of a substantial nature?

Mr. Hopkins. No, sir.

Mr. Lisumax. What, in your opinion, would be the market value
of the most expensive gift you received in that manner ¢

Mr. Horkins. I would say $25.

Mr. Lisuman. Did you have an interest in any company that is in
the record or radio business? :

Mr. Hopkins. No. I do net, sir.

Mr. Lisaman. Did you have at the time you were a diskjockey at
KYw¢?

M. Hopkins. Unfortunately, I never had an interest, sir.

Mr. Lisuman. Did any record company or record distributing com-
pany ever make a loan to you?

Mr. Horxkins. No, sir.

Mr. Lisuman. And are the payments you have testified to here this
morning, approximately all the payments that you received from
persons in the record business while you were employed as a disk-
jockey at KYW ¢

Mr. Hopkins. Yes, it is, sir.

Mr. Lisuman. While you were at KYW, did any official of the
station at any time, suggest to you rather strongly, a record or a label
that you should air?

Mr. Hopkins. Never, I would say, by using force or muscles, sir.
It was suggested once in awhile. But—if I could work in a particular
record on my show.

Mr. Lisayan. Ihave no further questions, Mr. Chairman.

The Crairman. Just one point I wish to clarify Mr. Lishman that
I did not understand fully.

This concerns the $5,000 which the witness received in 1958, and the
$7.000 in 1959. Who wasthat from ?

Mr. Hopkins. You mean the grand total, sir, for 1958 ¢

The CuarMaN. Yes. That was a total you received of the funds
you have described for 1958

Mr. Horkins. Yes, sir. In 1958 I received an approximate total
of $5,000.

The CrarrMan. And 1959 ¢

Mr. Hopkins. And the year 1959 approximate total of $7,000.

The Cuairman. That clearsit up.

Mr. Mack ¢

Mr. Mack. I have no questions.

The CHAIRMAN. Mr. Devine?

Mr. Devine. Mr. Hopkins, rather than the broad general term of
payola, would you describe the moneys you received from these vari-
ous record companies as a listening fee, rather than payola in its
broadest sense ?

Mr. Hopkins. Absolutely.

Mr. DeviNe. Did you, during the time that you were a diskjockey
for KYW in Cleveland, did you at any time ever lay on a record
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merely because you had received a fee from that distributing company ¢

Mr. Horkins. Absolutely not,sir. o

Mr. Devine.iAnd, to the contrary,-did-you at any time,as a disk-
jockey for that station, intentionally lay off of a record that may have
{)een popular elsewhere for the reason that that distributing company
did not:pay youafee? - -« i T P =

Mr. Horkins. On my word of honor, no,sir. -

. Mr. Deving:.J: will ask.you one: further question, Mr. Hopkins.

Did you personally . ever initiate the collecting of a.fee from any
given distriEuting company, or was the fee arrangement always ini-
tiated by the record company itself? - -~ - - :

Mr. Hoprkins. I assure you, sir, it was not necessary on my-part to
go out fishing, as it were. I was contacted in every case by the re-
cording firm. oo el e . :

Mr. Devine. Your answer to that, then, would be that you never did
initiate the collecting of the: fee, -or a fee: arrangement with a dis-
tributing company, is that right ¢ - - :

Mr. Horkins. Thatis quite right.

Mr. Devine. And one final question. Was there any particular
aréa in the facilities' of K’'YW that' was khiown as the payola booth?
- Mr. Hopkins. I read about that in the ‘local Cleveland newspaper,
one of the local Cleveland newspapers. I believe the particular indi-
vidual quoted was Mr. Shipley, Mr. James Shipley, the vice president
of Mainline in Cleveland. And, as I recall the article, I believe he
referred to the third Hoor men’s room as the payola booth.

. Mr. DeviNe. Doyouknow why? -

Mr. Hopxins. No,Idonot.

. Mr. DeviNe. You don’t know who happened to tag that name?
- Mr. Hork1ins. No, I donot. . '

Mr. DeviNe. Do you have any personal knowledge of payola as such
within the State of Ohio? ~ -

* Mr. Hopxins. Not to my knowledge, sir.

Mr. DeviNe. No further questions.

+ The Citamrman. Mr. Rogers? - ' *

Mr. Roeers. Now, Mr. Hopkins, how much money did you get al-
together from this source outside of your regular salary ¢

Mr. Horikins. From this particular source, sir?

Mr. Rocers. Yes.

" Mr. Horkins. Well, for 2 years the approximate total would be
$12,000.

Mr. Rocers. And you call that a listening fee?

Mr. Hoprrins. Yes, sir,in most cases.

Mr. Rocers. That would be a lot of listening, wouldn't it—$12,000
worth of listening ?

Mr. Iorkins. I feel that I worked fairly hard for it.

Mr. Rocers. Well, did you listen more one week than you did an-
other week? I noticeyou got different sized checks.

Mr. Hoekins. No. ~That would basically depend on the number of
releases from the various' companies. '

Mr. Rocers. In other words, you were obligated to listen to anything
they sent up to you, for these fees?
 Mr. ITorkins. Well, I felt that this wasmy duty, yes.
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Mr. Rocers. Well, now, Mr. Hopkins, you speak of this as a listen-
ing fee, and you have referred to the term payola. Now, would you
define payola forme? Give me your idea of what you mean by payola.

- Mr. Hoprins. My definition of the word payola is play for pay.

Mr. Rocers. Playing for pay?

Mr. Hopgins. Yes,Sir. ’

- "Mr. Roders. But it wouldn’t include listening for pay %

Mr. Hoprxrxs. -I don’t thinkso. - : 3 9 o«

Mr. Rocers. Well, now, could you enlarge on that just a little bit?
You say playing for pay. You mean playing a record on the air, and
being paid to play that on theair? o -

Mr. Hopkins. Well, I would like to say here, sir, that never in my
broadcasting career did I accept any money for specific air play at a
specific time. ' C

-Mr. Rocirs. Well, but you did receive money for specifically lis-
tening to a record at a specific time, or specific times, didn’t you?-

Mr. Hopkins. Yes, I did,sir.

" Mr. Rocers. And ‘you don’t deny that you played some of those
records on the air that youlistened to? - :

- Mr.Hopkins. Not at all. ' -

. Mr. Rocirs. But your position is that insofar as your pay was con-
cerm;d, it was only for the listening part, and not for the playing

Mr. Horkixs. Yes, I do,sir. I maintain that my judgment was not
influenced by a particular, we will say, Carleton record. If I hap-
pened to like the record I would play it, and if I didn’t I wouldn’t
play it, regardless of the listening fee. ’

Mr. Rogers. Regardless of the listening fee ¢

" Mr. Hoprins. Yes,sir. -~ = )

Mr. Rogers. But you did play a lot. of the records that you listened
to which were sent to you by companies who were paying you this
listening fee ? SRR

Mr. Horxins. Yes,sir, if I liked the record. -

- Mr. Rocers. Did you play more records from the listening fee com-
panies or more from the ones that didn’t pay you listening fees?

- Mr. Horkins. I never actually broke it down, sir. It didn’t influ-
ence me in one way, I assure you.” To me the most important thing
was my show, and my program on the air. And in order to maintain
high ratings and popularity, in a very competitive business, you have
got to play the best record at all times. And this, to me, was the most
important. thing. - ’

"Mr. Rocers. -And the money that these people paid you, didn’t in-
fluence you one bit in the world ¢ ' 2 € '

Mr. Horxins. Not as far as air play is concerned, no, sir.

Mr. Rogers. Well, how did it influence you? -You say it didn’t
influence you as far as air play.

Mr. Horxins. Well, if I listened to one of their records and I
thought it was good—remember, they were paying me to take the time,
the time away from my show and home, to listen to their particular
product. If I liked therecord,I would play it.

‘Mr. Rogers. Was the time you were using to listen to this, the same
time you were being paid for by the radio station ¢
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Mr. Hopkins. No, sir. No. My arrangement with the station
was that I had a 4-hour record show, and that is all I was contracted
for.

Mr. Rogers. And you didn’t do any of your listening in that 4-hour
period ?

Mr. Horkins. No. It would be an impossibility.

Mr. Roerrs. Did yon discuss with your superiors, or the people
employing you, whether or not you ought to be doing this?

Mr. Horkins. No, sir, I did not.

Mr. Rocers. Never did discuss it ?

Mr. Hoprins. No,sir.

Mr. Rocers. Did you get discharged?

Mr. Hoprins. Yes,sir.

Mr. Rogers. Why did you get discharged ¢

Mr. Hoprins. Well, as I testified before, the radio station appar-
ently did not like the idea of my accepting fees from recording

companies.,

MII)‘. Rocrrs. What did they say about it? We know that they must
not have liked something you did, because they discharged you. But
what did they say about 1t? When they discharged you—did they
say, “Mr. Hopkins, you are discharged, you have been doing things
we don’t like.” Or did they pinpoint it#

Mr. Hopkins. I was fired via this two page letter, sir. And it
goes into detail why I was fired.

Mr. Rocers. You put that in the record ¢

Mr. Hopkins. Yes.

Mr. Rocers. Now, did you talk to anybody about it? Didn’t you
talk to someone about that letter?

Mr. Hopkins. Well, when I was discharged, this letter was handed
to me by the vice president for Westinghouse in the Cleveland area,
Mr. Tooke.

Mr. Rogers. Mr. Tooke?

Mr. Hoprins. Yes,sir.

Mr. Rocers. And what did he say to you when he gave you the
letter? “Read this on your way out?” What did he say to you?

Mr. Horkins. Mr. Tooke was fairly new in the market, unfortu-
nately for him. And he was quite disturbed. He was broken up about
it. He was very sad.

Mr. Rocers. How do you know he was broken up about it? What
did hesay?

Mr. Hopkixs. To the best of my recollection, sir, he thought it was
a shame that a young fellow, who had worked so long in the broad-
casting business, became involved in something that apparently did
not look quite right.

Mr. Roeers. You said he was new at the business. You mean he
was still honest? He hasn’t been in the business long enough to get
tainted, or what?

Mr. Hopkins. You are speaking of Mr. Tooke ¢

Mr. Rogers. Mr. Tooke, yes. .

Mr. Horkins. Mr. Tooke, I am sure, has been in the broadcasting
business for years. No. I meant he was new to the Cleveland market.

Mr. Rocers. New tothe Cleveland market?

Mr. Horrins. Yes,sir.



RESPONSIBILITIES OF BROADCASTING LICENSEES 185

Mr. Rocers. Oh, they have different codes of ethics in different
markets?

Mr. Hoprins. No. He was vice president for Westinghouse, and
I'believe he worked for a time in Boston. He was their representative
in Boston. And then he was transferred to Cleveland.

Mr. Rogers. Well, is the Boston code of ethics and the Cleveland
code of ethics different ¢

Mr. Hopkins. I shouldn’t think so.

Mr. Rogers. I shouldn’t either, from the testimony we have heard.

What did Mr. Tooke say that disturbed him about this, Mr.
Hopkins? Did he say he tKought it was dishonest, unfair?

r. Hoprins. No, as I recall he didn’t say that. He thought it
was a shame. He said, “I have some very bad news for you. I have
a lgtter for you which I have dictated, and You are not going to like
it

Mr. Rogers. And you didn’t, did you?

Mr. Hoprins. No, I did not.

Mr. Roaers. Well, he did discuss at length with you what you had
been doing, didn’t he ?

Mr. Hopkins. Mr. Tooke did not, sir; no, not at great length.

Mr. Rogers. Who did ?

Mr. Hopkins, Mr. Carl Vandergrift, the general manager of the
station did.

Mr. Roeers. And did he take the position that what you had done
was wrong #

Mr. Horkins. He maintained that it was against company policy,
what I had done.

Mr. Rocers. You mean unethical or wrong?

Mr. Horkins. He didn’t define it, sir. He said it was against the
coxbrllipany policy, and that is why I was being fired.

r. Rogers. You gathered, though, did you not, Mr. Hopkins, that
they considered this as an unfair, or illegal, or an immoral practice and
that was the reason they let yougo?

Mr. Hopkins. It was never actually defined in those words, sir.
T}}&y used the phrase company policy, and that was it.

: r. Rogers. Company policy ¢ ’%’hat 1s all they ever told you about
it ?

Mr. Hoprins. Yes, sir.

Mr. Roaers. And you just assumed that that was the only thing
involved. They didn’t teil you anything about doing it in the future,
or whallcfrour future might be in this business ¢

Mhr. opkINs. Well, via this 2-page letter, they had some comment
on that.

Mr Rocers. No, I am referring to their talk with you, Mr. Hopkins.
Letters say one thing, and mouths sa another. Surely they talked
to a young man like you about a thing like this, before they discharged
you.

Mr. Hoprins. Well, the first time the talked to me at all about
any of these outside interests that I hady was on November 1, 1959.
I was called into the office by Mr. Carl Vandergrift, the general
manager at the station, and he said it had come to his knowledge
that I had been accepting fees, accepting money, from outside
Interests, from recording companies, et cetera. This was against
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company policy, and would I please stop it, which I did immediately.
This was November 1, 1959, or thereabouts, approximately. '

Mr. Rocers. And youstopped it?

Mr. Horkins. Yes,sir.

Mr. Rocers. Now, when did you get this letter?-

Mr. Hopxins. The letter is dated December 3, 1959. .

Mr. Rocers. About a month after he had warned you to quit it? -

Mr. Iorkins. That is right.

Mr. Rogers. And you did quit it?

Mr. Hopkins. Icertainly did. :

Mr. Rocers. Then you didn’t expect this letter, didyou?

Mr. Hopkins. No, I must confess Ididn’t. :

Mr. Rocers. And he never talked to you about it again after that?
He just said “you are out™? And you have not been back working
for him since December 3%

Mr. Hopkins. No, sir; I have been unemployed since that time.

Mr. Rocers. You are not working now ¢ '

Mr. Horkins. No,sir. .

Mr. Rocers. Have you made attempts to get placed in other radio
or television businesses? '

Mr. Hopkins. Not really; no. .

Mr. Rogers. You have made no applications of any kind ¢

Mr. Hopkins. Noj; I have not. o :

Mr. Rocers. Have you run up against any situations where you
think you could be employed if it hadn’t been for this situation? -7

Mr. Horkins. Not as yet,sir;no. Notasyet. : C

Mr. Rocers. You have not. Do you expect to, Mr. Hopkins?

Mr. Hopkins. I don’t know.

Mr. Rocers. You do hope to go back into radio and television,
though ¢ -

Mr, Hopxkins. I certainly do. It is about the only thing I know
how to do.

Mr. Rocers. How old are younow ¢
. Mr. Hoprins. 33. .

Mr. Rocers. Were you ever engaged in any other business before
you got into radio and TV'? : d

Mr. llorxins. No; it has been my only occupation.

Mr. Rocers. No other business of any kind? Never worked for
anyone else?

Mr. Hopkins. No, sir.

Mr. Rogers. You wouldn’t be familiar, then, whether there were
sidle payments in other businesses of any kind? -

Mr. Horkins. Only from hearsay, what I have heard.

Mr. Rogers. What do you mean by that? ,

Mr. Hopgivs. Well, I think the term “payola” is fairly well ac-
cepted in many businesses in America, not necessarily in the broad-
casting industry. :

Mr. Rocer. And you say you got that from hearsay? Did you get
it, from other people in the radio and TV business?

Mr. Ilorkixs. Well, of late they have had a quite a lot of comment

on it.
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Mr. Rogers. As a matter of .fact, a lot of the people that you dis-
cussed this with, the people you were operating with, think that goes
on in all businesses; don’t they? Co : e

. Mr. Horrins. I have heard that :opinion expressed many times,
sir. : - . 5 oo o G s & 9

Mr. Rocers. And actually that was your feeling and philosophy
about it, wasn’t it—take whatever you can get? agdl 5 @ T

Mr. Horkins. Ididn’t look at it that way.at all,sir.

Mr. Rocers. You looked at it as a listening fee ? Cor :

Mr. Horgivs. I thought I was doing a genuine service; yes..

Mr. Rocers. Well, let me ask you one more question about that, and
then I will quit. a c -

Mr. Hopkins, you said you never did solicit anybody ¢

Mr. Hopxins. Never. : ) G F o

Mr. Rocers. Did the ones that came and talked to you about it, say.
“We want to hire you to do some listening, Mr. Hopkins.”

Mr. Hoprins. Yes, sir. : w .

Mr. Rocers. To listen to our records, and we are going to pay you
$50 or $150 a week to do that ? i N ol

Mr. Horkins. They wanted -to be guaranteed that their records
would not be lost in the shuffle. ' o% 003l o s @ g ¢

Mr. Rocers. Now, what do you mean by that? I have heard that
expression—would not be lost in the shufile. What is the shufile,

Mr. Horrins. Well, I can’t emphasize too much

Mr. Rogers. What they meant, Mr. Hopkins, was to be sure that
their records were to be played on theair? :

Mr. Horkixs. I didn’t take it that way. That was not my inter-
pretation at all. They came to me, and they wanted me to just listen
to their records. C o : a d

Mr. Rocers. Yes, sir; I understand, and you did that. You played
quite a few of their recordson theair.. . ... - ] .

Mr. Horgins. If T liked the records, I would play them. If I
didn’t, I certainly would not. oo

Mr. Rogers. That isall. C e

The Cuairman. Some of the records you liked, though; didn’t
vou? ) o hH .. : ' fa
" Mr. Hopkixs. Yes, sir. o o

The Cuamyan. Mr.Moss? .. . . i C :

Mzr. Moss. Mr. Hopkins, did your employer ever discuss with you
the policy of the station in this area prior.to November 1959.¢

Mr. Horkixs. No,sir. io Co . :

Mr. Moss. You had a-total, I think, of 16 years in broadcasting.
Have you heard of rayola in broadcasting prior to the time it was
brought into the spotlight last fall?

Mr. Horrins, Yes, sir. , :

Mr. Moss, Do you think that others who had spent many years
in broadecasting had a general knowledge of the practice? Mr. Tooke,
for example? :

Mr. Horkixs. I have no way of knowing, sir, I don’t know.

Mr. Moss. T am not asking you if you knew. /1 said do you -think
that you had a general knowledge of the practice? g ;

Mr. Horkins. You are asking for my opinion?.... «

)




188 RESPONSIBILITIES OF BROADCASTING LICENSEES

Mr. Moss. Oh, yes; thatis all I want.

Mr. Horkins. My opinion is“Yes.”

Mr. Moss. In other words, it isn’t something that occurred so rarely
as to be an exception in broadcasting ¢

Mr. Hopkins. I think the term was certainly bandied about, sir;

es.

Mr. Moss. When. you entered into these agreements, verbal agree-
ments, and I think you have indicated the first was in 1958

Mr. Horkins. That is eorrect, sir.

Mr. Moss. Did you have any reason to believe that it might be con-
trai;'fy to the policy of your company ¢

r. Hopkins. Since company policy had never been stated, to the
best of my knowledge, I wasn’t aware of it.

Mr. Moss. How were you first brought into this activity of accept-
in%{pal};ments for—what you have defined as opinion or advice?

r. Hopkins. 1 am not sure I understand you, sir. You mean the
first time I was approached #

Mr. Ross. Yes.

Mr. Hopkins. The first time that I was approached, as I can recall,
was by Mr. Clark, Mr. Allen Clark, from RCA-Victor Records.

Mr. Moss. Did you ever discuss with Mr. Clark any other employees
of your station ¢

Mr. Hopkins. No. This was none of my business, sir.

Mr. Moss. Were you aware that other employees also had been
engaged as advisors or consultants?

Mr. Hoprins, At the time that Mr. Clarke spoke with me, he men-
tioned that he had already made this type of an arrangement with
one other employee of this particular station, yes, sir.

Mr. Moss. Did he suggest that the two of you coordinate your views
as the marketability og records, on the commercial value of records?

Mr. Hoprins. He didn’t suggest it.

Mr. Moss. He didn’t ¢

Mr. Hoprins. No.

Mr. Moss. What happened when he got an opinion from you that
a record had very high commercial appeal, and from another disk-
jockey on the same station that it hxuf no merit at all?

Mr. Horkins. It could happen that way, yes.

. 9Mr. Moss. If you felt it had high commercial value, did you play
1t?

Mr. Hopkins. Yes, sir,

Mr. Moss. Did you play a record for Decca by Bobby Riddell?

Mr. Hopxins. 1 don’t believe that was on the Decca label, sir. I
think it was on the Cameo label.

Mr. Moss. You were requested by Mr. Gerhardt to listen to a
recording—I think you indicated in your testimony earlier—a record
by Bobby Riddell ¢

Mr. Hopgins. Yes, sir.

Mr. Moss. Did you play it?

Mr. Horrins. Yes, sir, it was an excellent recording.

Mr. Moss. And was this the instance where you received just
$75, and that is all you ever received from Mr. Gerhardt?

Mr. Hopkins. This particular arrangement was not with Mr.
Gerhardt, sir.
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Mr. Moss. Who was it with?

Mr. Hopxkins. It was with the local promotion man for that par-
ticular label, I believe it was Cameo. I just can’t remember his
name.

Mr. Moss. Oh, Cameo?

Mr. Hopkins. Yes, sir.

Mr. Moss. That is correct. So, for Cameo, the promotion man
contacted you and asked your informed opinion on the commercial
merits of a recording by Bobby Riddell, and you listened to it, and
s}Isrouasaid it had it, and you went ahead and played it, and you got

752

Mr. Horkins. They paid me a fee for giving my opinion on this
particular record. You must remember that in this case Bobby Rid-
dell at the time was an unheard of artist. He was brand new. I be-
lieve this was his first recording in the business. To the best of m
knowledge, this was his first record. They were concerned wit
whether or not they should put a lot of money in promotion, and back
this boy, nationwide ads, et cetera. They thought they had a potential
hit. Iagreed. Itwasa wonderful record.

Mr. Moss. But you did play the record, you did get $75, and this
was the only transaction you had with Cameo ?

Mr. Hopkins. Yes, sir.

Mr. Moss. Do you have any knowledge of this statement which
Mr. Finan sent to the committee this morning ¢

Mr. Hopxins. Do I have knowledge of it, sir ¢

Mr. Moss. Yes.

Mr. Hopgins. If

Mr. Moss. Well, 3’
of the statement ?

Mr. Hopgins. Not in great detail, no, sir.

Mr. Moss. Would you agree with this quotation from the state-
ment : “I am authorized by Mr. Hopkins to say that he joins me in this
statement”? Is he authorized by you to make that statement 2
hMr. Horgriws. I frankly wasn’t aware that it was written down
that way.

Mr. Moss. Well, now, that is what I asked you. I asked you if he
was authorized by you to state that you ;joined him in the statement.

Mr. Hopkins. Since I actually haven’t read the statement, sir, I
would defer on that.

Mr. Moss. Did you tell him to go ahead and issue it, and you would
join him in it ?

Mr. Hoprins. Well, I don’t think you quite understand. I have not
read this at all, really, in detail. Andy—

Mr. Moss. Let’s put it another way. I understand this statement
has been released to the press, and commented on before the TV
cameras:

I am authorized by Mr, Hopkins to say that he Joins me in this statement.

Is this a true statement? Is he authorized to make this statement on
your behalf? Yesorno?

Mr. Hoprins. Yes.

Mr. Moss. He is authorized? That is fine. Then I assume that
you are underwriting the content of the statement ¢

oumean have I read it, the answer is “No.”

id you discuss with Mr. Finan the general content

56861—60—pt. 1——13



190 RESPONSIBILITIES OF BROADCASTING LICENSEES

Mr. Horkins. Yes, sir. )
Mpr. Moss. Are you aware that he makes the observation that—

1 have never granted a single record or a single company preferential airtiine
for the money that we received from those companies. Insofar as I can see,
the only thing that this commmittee has to the contrary is an affidavit from a
distributor in which the latter says he heard that I made commitments for air
time. Under oath, I state this is not so. All this committee has to do is examine
the station logs—

et cetera.
Are you aware of this portion of the statement ¢
Mr. Horxins. 1 would agree with that ; yes, sir.
Mr. Moss. Were you here yesterday ?
Mr. Horxkins. Yes. sir.
Mr. Moss. I am going to read here a portion of the transcript of
esterday and ask whether you believe the committee is farfetched in
its conclusions. In discussing contracts by people from Decca, or
Gerhardt, I believe Mr. Lishman asked :

What was the nature of your discussion with Mr. Gerhardt on behalf of Decca
records, Mr, Finan?

Ile was interested in a particular record. The discussion I had with him
was so short and so perfunctory that I cannot recall the name of the record,
along with the actual arrangewents, although I think it was, the money that
was involved was $150, I believe, cash.

Mr. Lishman said, For what purpose did Mr. Gerhardt wish to make these
statements to you?

Mr. FINAN. For a special consideration given to this particular product.

Myr. LiIsHMAN. What was this particular product?

Mr. ¥FinaN. This particular product was an offbrand record, and when I say
offbrand, I mean a small record manufacturer that Decca had taken over for
national distribution. I cannot recall the name of the record, or even the label.
I do know that it was a small company that had decided to allow Decca to
distribute its records nationally.

Mr. LisgMaN. Did you, while you were a dickjockey at KYW, play this
record on the air?

Mr. FINAN. Very briefly, I aired the record, and the record had absolutely no
potential. I immediately stopped playing the record and so indicated to Bob.
@ Mr. LisgMAN. How much did you actually receive in cash from Decca Record

0

Mr. FINaAN. I can remember one payment of $150.

Mr. LiIsHMAN. What was the special consideration that you rendered for this
record?

Mr, FINAN. That I should listen to this particular record, report back to him
whether or not it was airworthy, and if I liked it, to play it. I reported that I
did not like it, and I did not play it. I played it for a couple of days, and it
had absolutely nothing.

Now, he admits that he aired it, he admits that he played it. He
admits that it had no merit, and he goes on to say that he played it
for a couple of days.

Did the committee, in your judgment, infer incorrectly, that he had
in this iustance, at least, received the direct payment for a specific
service on behalf of a particular record?

Mr. Hopkins. I think in this particular case perhaps he was look-
ing for comment, some sort of comment, from the listening audience,
perhaps to help gage his opinion.

Mr. Moss. Are yon aware that we have been informed by Westing-
house that they don’t have these logs referred to?

Mr. Iorkins. Iamsorry, sir, I didn’t hear.
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Mr. Moss. Are you aware that the Westinghouse people have in-
formed us that they don’t have the logs referred to in this statement,
as to what wasbroadecast ?

. Mr. Iorxixs. This is the first time I have heard it.

Mr. Moss. They are not available to the committee,

Mr. Lisuman. May Iinterrupt, Mr. Moss ¢

Do you know what the practice is at KYW in the keeping of logs?

Mr. Horxins. T was always under the impression that the station
logs and music logs, records, were kept at least for a year.

Mr. Lisiratan. Where did you get that impression ?

Mpr. Iorkins. Well, pretty much general knowledge, I must admit.
I think I heard it from the record librarian of the station.

Mr. Lisuyan. Did you ever see the logs that had been kept there
fora year?

Mr. ITorkins. Not fora year. Isaw them kept

Mr. Lisuman. Well, what is the basis in fact for the statement I
have just read that we could have obtained this information from logs
in possession of that station? Did you see those logs there?

Mr. Horkixs. T have seen music lists

Mr. Lisuyaxn, T am not asking about music lists. Did you see these
logs in that station ?

Mr. ITorxixs. How long ago, sir?

Mr. Lisitatan. Atany time.

Mr. ITorkins. Yes, sir.

Mr. Lisiaran. Iow long ago was the last time yousaw them?

Myr. Horkins. Around the first of December.

Mr. Moss. Mr. Hopkins, you said that perhaps Mr. Finan was try-
ing to get audience reaction on this record which he stated flatly had
nothing.

Mr. Horkixs. Well, perhaps——

Mr. Moss. Did you sometimes Play records that had nothing ¢

Mr. Horxixs. If I thought a record had nothing, I would not play
it, sir, no.

Mr. Moss. You would not play it?

Mr. Horkixs. I would not.

Mr. Moss. Have you ever played one that you thought had nothing ?

Mr. Horxins. Ihope not.

Mr. Moss. This happened here. You subscribed to this statement.
The committee has apparently been very harsh with this young man,
in taking his own words at face value, his testimony of yesterday. Do
you still subscribe to that view ?

Mr. Horkins., Subseribe to what view, sir?

Mr. Moss. To the view that we have been very unfair here. The
statement that you authorized as your own.

Mr. Horgins, Yes, sir.

Mr. Moss. You still think we have been unfair to conclude, from
the transeript which I just read to you, that the payment of these funds
had any bearing on the playing of a record, even in one instance?

Mr. Horkins, Never in my case, sir, no, sir.

Mr. Moss. I am not asking you about your case. I am asking you
about this statement which I read to you, and the transeript of
testimony which I read to you.
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Mr. Hopkins. T think in the particular case—I have no way of
knowing—but T would assume in this particular case Mr. Finan was
looking for public reaction to the record. Perhaps he thought he
would give it a play for one or two days and see if there was any
reaction whatsoever, and this might help his judgment.

Mr. Moss. Then he was getting his payment there in advance of
rendering a judgment ?

Mr. Horkixs. Well, perhaps he thought this would—-

Mr. Moss. He was being paid to determine what the audience
reaction was to a recording, is not that the case? Is that what you
are trying to say?

Mr. Horxkixns. Idon’t lookat it in that light at all.

Mr. Moss. He was going to get the audience reaction. In his own
opinion it had nothing. So he played it for a cou le of days. And you
assume that that was to get audience reaction? EJ)i‘rankly, for some of
the stuff I have heard on some of these programs, I don’t doubt but
what a lot of it has been played on that same basis. The reaction
probably has been in many instances like my own, to snap the thing off,
as quickly as possible.

Were you aware that these record companies, for instance, Mainline,
never listed their payments to you on their invoices to RCA as pur-
c}%ashing? advice or paying for consultation services? Are you aware
of that?

Mr. Hopkins. I am aware of that, on the flap of the particular
checks that we received, several particular records were named. And,
as T understand, this was some sort of a bookkeeping arrangement that
Mainline had with RCA.

Mr. Moss. Oh, it was. It is one which was required, T think, in
general that any business, in order to properly substantiate its trans-
actions and maintain a true and accurate set of books for tax pur-

oses, true and accurate set of books in the instance here of one check,
5100 to you, and $100 to Mr. Joseph Finan, says:

KYW record promotion, December 1958. “Don’t Tarry Little Mary.” “Rudolph
the Red Nose Reindeer Cha Cha.”

Promotion. Those records which had to be fully substantiated
in the corporate accounting of RCA-Victor branded this as what it
was, promotion. In each and every instance, KYW promotion—
there are four of them here. And, again, it is promotion and check
to Mr. Finan, Mr. Hopkins. And each and every one of these, care-
fully documented records of the companies, as payments for
promotion.

Vow—incidentally, did RCA consult with you as to whether “Ru-
dolph the Red Nose Reindeer” was an appropriatae Christmas piece?

Mr. Hopkins. “Rudolph the Red Nose Reindeer”; is that the
cha cha cha?

Mr. Moss. Yes.

Mr. Horkins. Idon’trecall. Idon’tthink they did.

Mr. Moss. You were paid for that. Did you have any expert
judgment on that ?

Mr. Hopkins. As T recall, I was not asked about that particular
record.

Mr. Moss. You say, then, that this record of the payment by RCA
is inaccurate, and does not reflect the facts?
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Mr. Hopkins. Absolutely.

Mr. Moss. You left the employment of Westinghouse Broadcasting
December 3,1959¢

Mr. Hopkins. Yes,sir.

Mr. Moss. How many companies were clieuts of yours at that time?
Or immediately prior to that time?

Would 15 be an accurate summation ?

Mr. Horkins. Iwould say more like 12, sir.

Mr. Moss. How many companies are you now acting as adviser to?

Mr. Horkins. Not one.

Mr. Moss. You still have the same competence, the same good
judgment you had before leaving Westinghouse, haven’t you!?

Mr. Hopkins. Yes, sir.

Mr. Moss. You characterize yourself as presently unemployed ?

Mr. Horkins. Yes, sir.

Mr. Moss. Would you be interested in having any clients on this
consulting basis ?

Mr. Hopkixs. Yes, sir.

Mr. Moss. Any of them sought you out?

Mr. Horxins. Not at the present time.

Mr. Moss. Doesn’t that sort of lead you to conclude that perhaps
they were interested in one of your connections rather than your
judgment ?

Mr. Horxins. Perhaps they feel now that I have lost touch with
the business

Mr. Moss. Oh, you lose touch with the business in such a brief
period ¢

Mr. Hopkins. Yes,sir; it isan amazing thing.

Mr. Moss. Your expert judgment diminishes? You no longer have
the same value to your client ¢

Mr. Hopkins. I didn’t mean that.

Mr. Moss. What else did you mean ?

Mr. Hopkins. I meant that the record market is constantly chang-

ing.

%Ir. Moss. I hope it is for the better.

Mr. Hopkins. I hope so, too. New trends, various gimmicks for
records. Perhaps they feel I am not up on it, since I have been out of
work for a cou f; of months.

Mr. Moss. Well, but in each of the days you have been out of work,

ou would have been just as receptive to a contact. The day after you
eft you were certainly interested in finding something else to do.
Did any of them contact you then? Have they sought you out at all
since you left KYW?

Mr. Hoprins. No, sir; theg' have not.

Mr. Moss. They have not?

Mr. Hopkins. No, sir.

Mr. Moss. And that doesn’t suggest to you at all that they were
interested in your connections as a (%iskjockey?

Mr. Hopkins. I think they felt at the time that I had——

Mr. Moss. You have everything you had then, excepting the oppor-
tunity to air the record ; isn’t that correct ¢

Mr. Hopkins. That is true.
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Mr. Moss. Aud they no longer want to pay you for your judgment ?

Mr. lorxins. Not as far as I know,sir.

Mr. Moss. That seems to be true of some of your colleagues.

You indicated in your statement that some of the officials of KYW
had stléongly suggested, I Delieve, that you play records; is that
correct ¢

Mr. Horkixs. I don’t think I used the word “strongly,” sir, no.

Mr. Moss. Well, what did you use?

Mr. Hopxkins. They suggested on occasion that I play a certain
record; yes.

Mr. Moss. Were they just ofthanded suggestions, or did they pursue
it?

Mr. Ioprkins. No.

Mr. Moss. They never did make more than the offhand comment, -
“I wish you would play such-and-such”?

Mr. Horkins. That is true, sir.

Mr. Moss. Did you ever play any of the records they suggested ?

Mr, Hopxivns. Yes.

Mr. Moss. Who were some of the people who requested that you
play these records?

Mr. Horxins. Two of the individuals at the station.

Mr. Moss. Two?

Mr. Horkins. Two of the individuals at the station.

Mr. Moss. Executive personnel?

Mr. Horxins. Yes, sir.

Mr. Moss. Policy personnel?

Mr. Horxins. At that particular time, yes.

Mr. Moss. High policy?

Mr. Horkins. Yes. Two of the individuals there pooled their re-
sources and formed a rather small producing company. As a matter
of fact, I think they only produced one record, one albumn.

Mr. Moss. Who were those two individuals?

- Mr. Horkins. The names are Mark Olds. Mark was the program
director at the time. Ile is no longer there. The other individual is
Charles Getz. Ile was in charge of promotion at the station, and I
believe he is still employed there. They got together and produced
an album, an LP, and I just don’t recall the label. But it was a special
salute to the local baseball team, the Cleveland Indians.

Mr. Moss. That was fairly safe, then, in that case. Was that the
only instance ?

Mr. Horkins. Yes, sir.

Mr. Moss. The only instance where you were ever requested to play
a record by executive personnel ?

Mr. Horkins. There was another time. Again, this was in an off-
hand manner. I think the individual involved had a friend who wrote
the song, and he suggested if I liked the record, why don’t I spin it
a few times?

Mr. Moss. Did you like it ¢

Mr. Horkins. Noj; Ididn’t.

Mr. Moss. Well, I must admit at this point in regard to the policies
of your employer, I am certainly at a loss to determine what they might
be. I know that in Boston they retained personnel who had done about
the same thing you did and were fired for it. And in Boston they
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seemed to be very diligent in going out and making rather heavy
demands on the recording industry for the building up of a library.
Rather a confused policy. It certainly doesn’t appear to be one of
consistency.

I think that is all the questions I have, Mr. Chairman.

The Cuamryan. Mr. Hopkins, has your entire years in the broad-
casting business been as a diskjockey ?

Mr. Horkins. Primarily,sir. Either that or as staff announcer.

The CriairMaN. You were being paid a salary of a little more than
$20,000 a year; were you not?

Mr. Horkins. During iny employment at KYW ; yes.

The Cnarrman. How long were you employed at that station ?

Mr. Horkins. Not quite 4 years.

The Crairyan. Four years?

Mr. Horxins. Not quite 4.

The Ciatrman. Now, you have recounted item by item, as the rec-
ord shows, that in addition to your regular salary, you had been receiv-
ing payments from the companies which you have so indicated here.
In 1958, in addition to your salary, you ‘were paid a total of some
$5,000, according to your own statement.

Mr. Horxins. Yes, sir.

The Cuamarax. In 1959, you were paid, up until December 3, 1959,
in addition to your regularsalary, $7,000, approximately, according
to your own statement ?

Mr. Hopxins. Yes,sir.

The Craryan. Did your employer know that you were receiving
any or all of these payments from these record companies?

Mr. Horkins. I have no way of knowing, sir. I just don’t know.

The Ciramrmax. Well, then, so far as you know, they did not know
about it?

Mr. ITorkins. I don’t know.

The Crramrman. Did you ever tell them ?

Mr. Horkins. No, sir.

The CriairmaN. Was it ever mentioned in any way before the first
of November 19597

Mr. Horkins. Oh, perhaps in a facetious manner; yes.

The CnairmaN. By your employer ?

Mr. Horkixs. Not by my employer, but perhaps by a few members
of management; yes.

The CuairMan. In other words, are you telling the committee
that this was mentioned and sort of accepted as a fact, everything
was all right, nobody said anything about it ? '

- Mr.- Hopxins. Well, as I say, sir, I have no way of knowing if
they were aware of the arrangements that I had or not. All I know
is that in a facetious mannner, hardly ever, really, but once in awhile,
in a kidding way, yes, it would be mentioned.

The CuARMAN. You never did admit to them that you were receiv-
ing thismoney, did you ? :

' Mr. Horkins. They never asked me, sir. I would have if I hap-
pened to be asked.

The CitalrMAN. You never did tell them?

Mr. Hopxins. The first time they asked me I told them.
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The Criairman. But that was nearly 2 years afterwards, from
the time these arrangements had been made?

Mr. Hopkins. That is correct.

The Crairman. Did you have any such arrangements prior to
19587

Mr. Horxkins. No,sir; I did not.

The CramrMaN. If the record companies had not approached you
in this manner, and had not offered you these amounts for the purposes

ou have tried to justify, then you very likely would not have received
1t, would you?

Mr. Hopkins. I don’t follow you, sir, I am sorry.

The Cuairyman. If the mcouf’ companies who paid you these weekly
or monthly sums had not come to you, and made a proposition to
you, then you would not have been engaged in this practice, would
you?

Mr. Horkins. That is absolutely right, sir.

The Cuatryax. If the record companies had not come to you, and
made the proposition to you, which you accepted, and for which you
recei?ved the money, you very likely would not have lost your job, would
you?

Mr. Horkixs. I would say that is right.

The CruairmMAN. You have lost your job, have you not ?

Mr. Horxins. Most assuredly.

The CuairmMaN. Would you say that was pathetic or not ?

Mr. Horkins. Well, I am not exactly broke at the moment.

The CurarmAN. In other words, you are not willing to say that be-
cause of these practices and because you have lost your job, in a profes-
sion you have followed for 12 years, that that would not be pathetic
insofar as you were concerned ?

Mr. Hopkins. I would say that my current situation, sir, is far from
pathetic. I expect to work again,and soon.

The CnamrMan. But you think it is all right, though, and just
another matter of course that you were fired ?

Mr. Hopgins. As a matter of course ?

The CHATRMAN. Yes.

Mr. Horrins. Iam sorry, I don’t understand you, sir.

The CHAlrMAN. You don’t think there is any significance insofar as
your own personal life is concerned, that you were fired for these
practices?

Mr. Horkins. As faras my own personal life is concerned ?

The CHAIRMAN. Yes.

Mr. Hopkins. No.

The Cramrman. You do not. It is very difficult for me to under-
stand the attitude of a man who has had 12 years in a business, and is
approached by record companies for a specific purpose, which has
been stated here, assuming that your testimony—the facts—are the
truth, as you honestly and conscientiously intend it to be—and then
because of that you Kave lost your employment and over $20,000 a
year. And you say that you don’t think there is anything unusual
about it ¢

Mr. Hopkins. Oh, I didn’t say that,sir. Certainly it is an unusual
situation. But I believe before, you used the term pathetic.
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The CHarMaN. You don’t think it is pathetic?

Mr. Hoepgins. I don’t think my current situation is pathetic at all.

The CiramrmMan. I am not talking about your current situation.
I'am talking about the fact that you got fired because of these practices.

Mr. Horpkins. I think it was unfortunate.

The CrarrMaN. You think it is unfortunate, and not pathetic?

Mr. Hoerins. That is the way I feel about it, sir, yes.

The Cramman. Well, do you think, then, that Mr. Finan—he lost
approximately a $40,000 job—that it was only unfortunate, and that
there was nothing pathetic about it ?

Mr. Hopxrns. I think he expects to work again, and very, very
soon, sir,

The CuairmMan. But you don’t think it is pathetic that he would
get lured into, as you have, accepting payments from these recording
companies, which he did, and for which you both lost your employ-
ment? And you don’t think that is pathetic at all?

Mr. Hopkins. As far as I was concerned, no, I do not. It was a
business arrangement, and I was performing a service, which I cer-
tainly did.

The CrairyaN. You do not think that we are so naive as to fall
for the kind of explanation which you have given to a situation where
the facts will speak for themselves, do you, Mr. Hopkins?

Mr. Horkins. All I know is, sir, that I am telling you the truth.

The Cuairmax. Now in the statement in which you have joined
Mr. Finan, the second objection raised was to a statement I made
yesterday, that such was illegal. You have testified that these innu-
merable checks, which totaled up to some $1,100, from Mainline
Cleveland, Inc.—are you aware of the fact that the Federal Trade
Commission has filed a cease and desist order proceedings against
Mainline Cleveland, Inc.?

Mr. Hoprins. Yes, sir; I have read it.

The CrarmMaN. You are aware of the fact that this is a distrib-
uting company for RCA ?

Mr. Hopgins. Yes, sir.

The CHAIRMAN. Are you aware of the fact that the Federal Trade
Commission filed proceedings also against RCA ¢

Mr. Hoprins. Yes.

The CHAIRMAN. Are you aware of the fact that proceedings were
also filed against Cosnat Distributing Co. ?

Mr. HHopkins. Yes, I believe I read about it.

The CuamrmaN. Are you aware of the fact that proceedings were
filed against the Bernard Low Enterprises, which owns Cameo Record
Co.?

Mr. Horkins. Yes.

The Cuatrman. These are all proceedings filed by the Federal
Trade Commission, because of unfair trade practices; is that right?

Mr. Hoprins. AsIinterpret it,sir. Iamnoexpert. I don’t know.

The CaamrMaN. Yes. Well, now, if that was not illegal, then such
procedures could not be filed, could they ?

Mr. Hopgins. I cannot see that I have done anything illegal, sir.

The Cuamrman. No. It is all right, then, for one to receive, but
it is bad for one to pay?

Mr. Hopkins. I guess it all depends on your point of view.
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The Cuairmax. Probably it does.

Now, you are considered to be, were considered to be, one of the
outstanding diskjockeys in the country; weren’t you?

Mr. Horkiwns. I hope so.

The Cuairman. You have worked for that reputation?

Mr, Horkins. Yes, sir.

The Cirairaan, 1 think it is commendable that you were able to
malke a reputation of that kind.

Now, as a matter of fact, a diskjockey can take any record, if it
has any substance to it whatsoever, and through the broadcast medium,
make it a very popular record ; can’t he ?

Mr. Horxins. 1 disagree, sir.

The CuamrMman. You do not think that the playing of records
through the broadecast media has anything to do with forming the
opinion of the people regarding that particular record ?

Mr. Horkins. 1 think it can help. But I think that the basie thing
is that it has got to be what we call in the trade a commercial record.
The record, in slang, the record has got to have “it”. And if it hasn’t
got “it”, it is not going to make it commercially, no matter how often
you play it. It just won’t happen.

The Cramryax. Then is it true that a lot of records that have “it”
never are brought to the attention of the public, and therefore the
public does not have the benefit of that record ?

Mr. Horxins. This conceivably could happen; sir, yes. It could
happen. Although I find it hard to believe. I think somewhere in
the Nation, if a record was released, and it had any potential at all,
I am sure that someone would come to that conclusion. .

The Ciamraan. Well, obviously, Mr. ITopkins, your testimony here,
I think, has been very frank, and I think the facts speak for them-
selves. And in my humble judgment, they need no further
interpretation.

Mr. Lisuiatan. May I ask one question?

Mr. Hopkins, have vou heard of the practice in the broadcasting
industry of “covering™ a record ?

Mr. Horxins. Yes, sir.

Mr, Lisuman. Ilave you ever participated in covering a record ?

Mr. Horxins. No, sir.

Mr. LisuimaN. What is this practice of covering a record?

Mr. Horkins. I think what is meant by the term is that a record
may come out by a certain company, and perhaps other companies
may hear about it. They may decide in their minds that this partic-
ular record has potential. It may make it in the national market.
And perhaps we should put out a version of the same tune. And I
think that is what is meant by covering a record.

Mr. Listisran. Well, let’s get into this a little more.

Is it a fact that a record may be produced by a small company,
by an unknown composer, and rendered by an unknown artist, and
on a comparatively unknown label. A diskjockey will air it, find
the reaction good, and immediately tip off RCA Victor, or Columbia,
that this is a wonderful record, and they better go out now and cover
it, and smother it, with a rendition of their own on a big label. Do
you know of that practice?

Mr. Horxins. I don’t know of it personally, but I am sure it could
happen; yes, sir.
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Mr. Lisaman. And that is what covering a record means ¢

Mr. Hopkins. Yes, sir. -

Mr. Lisnaan. And the diskjockey’s function in the covering
operation is extremely important ; isn’t it ?

Mr. Horkins. Well, in this day and age, sir, I don’t think it makes
any difference any more. A small company has just as much chance
of getting a national hit as a big company. In fact, I think most
of tﬁle top lists around the country, and the trade magazines, I think,
would bear me out, that most of the lists are made up of recordings
from smaller companies. Not necessarily from the major labels.

Mr. LisiaraN. I have no further questions, Mr. Chairman.

The Citarrman. Mr. Hopkins, that will be all for you, and you
may be excused.

Mr. Horkins. Thank you, sir.

The Crairmax. Thank you very much for your appearance here.

Mr. Horkins. You are welcome.

The Cramyrax. The committee will recess until 2 o’clock.

(Whereupon, at 12:05 p.m., the committee recessed, to reconvene
at 2 p.m,, the same day.)

AFTERNOON SESSION

The CrHAIRMAN. The committee will come to order.

Mr. Young, will youstand and raise your right hand ¢

Do you solemnly swear that the testimony you are about to give to
this subcommittee will be the truth, the whole truth, and nothing
but the truth, so help you God ?

Mr. Youxne. Ido.

TESTIMONY OF CHARLES YOUNG

The Criamrmax. Where do you live, and what is your address?

Mr. Youne. I live at 2814 Walbrook Avenue, Cleveland, Ohio.

The CuairyraN. What is your business or profession ?

Mr. Youna. At the present time I am unemployed.

The CratryaN. You may proceed, Mr. Lishman.

Mr. Listman. Mr. Young, by what radio station were you formerly
employed ?

Mr. Youne. By radiostation KYW in Cleveland, Ohio.
; {\[1‘ ?Lxsmmx. And when did you begin your employment with

KYW?

Mr. Youxa. In February of 1957.

Mr. Lisiaran. Prior to that time had you been employed by a radio
station ?

Mr. Youne. No. Before this I was employed mostly by radio dis-
tributors and record distributors.

Mr. Listrman. Idid not hear your answer.

Mr. Youxe. Not before 1957,

Mr. Lisuyax. So that your first employment by a radio station
wasin 19577

Mr. Youne. Yes.

Mr. Listian. What were your duties at station KYW ¢
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Mr. Youne. I was the music librarian of radio station KYW. My
duties consisted of keeping the library stock with the latest long-
playing records, to screen and catalog the albums, to maintain a con-
stant look for the top ones for the station’s use.

Also to make available the many songs that were in the catalog.
To take care of the longplay albums, and to keep in contact with the
jobbers and the distributors pertaining to the most popular songs, to
check the trade magazines, Billboard, the Cash Box, YI/)'ariety; to assist,
when asked, with the work of KYW in programing shows, and to
produce shows when called upon.

Mr. Lisuman. Were grou the music librarian for the Joe Finan
and Wes Hopkins shows*

Mr. Youxa. I was the music librarian for KYW which consisted
of all of the shows on that station.

Mr. Lisumax. Those are two of the shows on that station ?

Mr. Youne. Yes, they were.

Mr. Lisuyan, They were on that station?

Mr. Youxa. Yes.

Mr. Lisiaran. In connection with your work, involving such maga-
zines as Cash Box, did you ever send lists to Cash Box indicating the
most popular records which were being played at your station?

Mr, Youna. We issued a list weekly which went to all of the trade
magazines. Sometimes they used our lists; sometimes they did not.
Sometimes they published them ; sometimes they did not.

Mr. Lisnyan. Did any record distributor ever come to you and
ask you to put his labels on the list that you forwarded to Cash Box?

Mr. YouNg. Many record distributors came to me asking listings on
this.

Myr. LisHyax, Did you do that?

Mr. Youna. Yes, I did to the extent that they had a song that was
one of the top songs on our station and in the stores, and appeared on
our sheet, it would be sent to Cash Box. and they would use it.

Mr. LisinaN. Do you recall whether or not any of these labels were
owned by Chess Records?

Mr. Youna. Would you repeat the question, sir

Mr. Lisuyan. The information you furnished to Cash Box, with
respect to the most popular songs broadcast over your station—I
asked you if you recall any of such recordings bearing a Chess Re-
cording Co. label?

Mr. Youneg. Yes.

Mr. Listiatan. Chess, as I understand it

Mr. Youne. Chess Recording had some very popular songs in the
period that I was with the radio station. _And I suppose that some of
them were listed in the lists forwarded to Cash Box.

Mr. LisitmaN. You were here when Mr. Finan testified yvesterday
that he had received a loan of $2,500 from Chess ¢

Mr. Youna. Yes, I was here.

Mr. LisHyax. And were yon here when he testified concerning the
payment he received from, approximately, 15 record companies ?

Mr. Youne. I washere.

Mr. Lisuman. It is apparvent that the list to Cash Box consisted of
the most popular records on your station, and were also recordings of
the 15 companies Mr. Finan received payment from?
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Mr. Youne. Some of these were, because of the popularity of the
songs that were listed on our sheet. And in reference to the songs
that were selling in the stores—records that were programed over
national television shows, which helped the songs become popular,
and because of that we tried to give an honest description of what
was going on in that area. That is why some of these records were on
our sheets.

Mr. Lisuman. I would like to ]?ursue this topic in more detail
later on, but right now. I will ask you when your employment at
station KYW terminated ¢

Mr. Youna. In November of 1959.

Mr. Lisnman. In November ¢

Mr. Youne. Ithink it wasthe Ist of November.

Mr. Lisayan. Did you resign, or were you discharged ?

Mr. Youne. I was discharged.

Mr. LasumaN. What official of Westinghouse discharged you ?

Mr. YounNe. Mr. Bud Wendel, the program director.

Mr. Lasuman. What did he say when you were discharged; did
he do this in writing or orally?

Mr. Youne. He explained two or three or four little reasons, one
being the fact that he thought I was taking money or checks, or what-
ever he called it, something to that effect, a statement like that, that in
his belief I was receiving money and to list the particular sums that I
was getting paid for it.

Mr. LisumaN. Now are those all of the reasons that were given to
you by him?

Mr. Younc. No; there were some which he mentioned having to do
with the way the library was being run. There were some other little
items. I cannot remember them. They were immaterial.

Mr. Lisuman. Are you familiar with the distributor for RCA-
Victor records in northern Ohio known as Main Line Cleveland, Inc.?

Mr. Youwe. I am.

Mr. LisumaN. Did you receive checks from Main Line ?

Mr. Youne. Idid.

Mr. Lisuman. Do you remember who signed those checks ?

Mr. Youne. No; I do not remember who signed the checks.

Mr. Lisuman. What arrangements did you have with Main Line
Cleveland for receiving these checks?

Mr. Youne. To the best of my knowledge I had never committed
a]rlly arrangement with Main Line Cleveland to receive checks from
them.

Mr. Lisaman. Well, for what purpose did Main Line Cleveland
give you these checks?

Mr. Youne. Main Line Cleveland, the promotion man, came to me,
and submitted a certain amount of sums to me regularly for my
opinion, what I thought of them, and I gave my honest opinion. 1
never asked Mr. Clark of Main Line Distributing for a check, money,
pertaining to the songs that he submitted to me. They did send me
checks. T never askef for them. I gave them my personal opinion on
the song. It did not influence me one way or the other. And I
accepted the checks,

Mr. Lisaman. If Ishould tell you that we have the canceled checks
made to your order by Main Line Cleveland during the period August
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3, 1958, to August 13, 1959, in the amount of $50 each and totalin
$450—some of them $100 each—would you accept that as the tota
amount you received in checks from Main Line Cleveland ?

Mr. Youne. Seeing I have no records with me—ny wife has them—
1 suppose that would be true.

Mr. Lisusman. Well, we will show you the checks if you would like
to see them.

Mr. Youne. No;I believe you are citing the true facts.

Mr. Lisuyaxn. In addition to receiving checks from Main Line
Cleveland, Inc., did Mr. Burneson ever give you cash ¢

Mr. Youna. Not to the best of my knowledge; no.

Mr. Listiman. Did you ever receive money or other valuable con-
siderations from companies other than Main Line Cleveland who
were engaged in the record business ?

Mr. Youna. Yes; Lhave.

Mr. Lisunman. Would you please name these companies and the
amounts you received ?

Mr. Youne. Idonot have my records with me. I received money—
1 received cash from Mercury Records—I think maybe one or two
checks: some from Time Records, from Roulette, one or two checks
from Coed Distributing, Cosnat Distributing. Offhand, I think that
might be all—X am not sure.

Mr. Lisiaan. That is all that you can recollect at the present time?

Mr. Young. Yes.

Mr. Lisuman. And, approximately, how much did you get from
Mercury Records ?

Mr. Younae. To the best of my recollection, at first I think I re-
ceived a couple of $50 checks—%50 in cash, and then $100 in cash.

Mr. Listiaay. That would be $200, approximately, from Mercury ¢

Mr. Younc. No; I received intermittently six or seven, maybe, or
maybe more—I just do not know offthand.

Mr. Lisiiman. Can you give us an approximate total of what Mer-
cury paid you?

Mr. Youna. I would say eight or nine hundred dollars.

Mr. Lisuman. Eight hundred ¢

Mr. Youne. Eight or nine hundred dollars. Maybe less—I do not
remember.

Mr. ListimaN. You ca